
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Monday, 7 October 2019 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 14)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

6. Local Plan - Statement of Community  Involvement (Pages 15 - 76)

The following report seeks Cabinet approval of the Statement of 
Community Involvement, attached at Appendix 2.

The Statement of Community Involvement sets out the Council’s 
approach to consultation on planning matters such as the Local Plan, 



Planning Applications and Neighbourhood Planning. The current 
Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in March 2007; it is 
therefore necessary for the Council to review its Statement of Community 
Involvement.

7. Local Plan - Draft Development Management Policies Document (Pages 77 - 
324)

The following report seeks Cabinet approval to consult on the draft 
Development Policies Document attached at Appendix 4 in January-
February 2020.

The Development Management Policies Document sets out detailed 
policies which once adopted would be used to determine planning 
application for development in the Borough, along with policies set out in 
other documents which together form the Borough’s adopted 
development Plan.

8. Local Plan - Local Development Scheme (Pages 325 - 
354)

Cabinet approval is sought for the Local Development Scheme.

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places 
a statutory duty on the Council to maintain an up-to-date Local 
development Scheme. The revised Local Development Scheme would 
fulfil this requirement.

9. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held 
on 11 September 2019 

(Pages 355 - 
362)

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

12.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members



Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cabinet

Monday, 9 September 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinder Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Note: Councillors Dakota Dibben, Bob Lane, Leslie Hoskins, Diane Marsh, Jordan Meade 
and Alan Ridgers were also in attendance.

David Hughes Chief Executive
Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning and Development)
Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing Assets)
Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Simon Walsh Service Manager (Communities)
Bal Chattha Compliance & Projects Manager
Shazad Ghani Planning Manager (Policy)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

15. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2019 were signed by the Chair.

16. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared an interest in agenda item 17 (Future use of land at North East 
Gravesend) as the company he worked for currently had a charge on one of the plots being 
considered. Cllr Burden left the Chamber during consideration of this item.

17. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

No decisions other than those already circulated had been made.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 9.09.2019

2

18. Corporate Plan: 2019-23 

The Director (Corporate Services) informed the Cabinet that the Corporate Plan presented 
the Council’s ambition for the Borough over a four-year period. Alongside a suite of 
corporate objectives and associated policy commitments, the Corporate Plan will set the 
tone and guiding principles from which all Council activity will be based over the 2019-23 
period. 

The Council’s current Corporate Plan ran for the 2015-19 period.  Work had been carried out 
by officers over the last year to draft and implement a new Corporate Plan reflective of 
community needs and aspirations, the key ambitions of the elected administration for the 
Borough over the 2019-23 period and, ultimately, the financial position of the Council.

To commence the project, a 12-week public consultation exercise commenced in November 
2018 and over 800 responses were received from Gravesham residents, businesses and 
community groups providing over 2,500 individual pieces of information and intelligence 
relating to community requests for Council provision and priority intervention. The exercise 
also enabled participants the opportunity to rank each of the Council’s key services in terms 
of their individual level of perceived importance. The information obtained from this process 
was collated and analysed and acted as a sound baseline throughout the development of 
the policy commitments in the draft Corporate Plan.

In addition to the public consultation, the new Corporate Plan had been prepared in full 
consideration of a base of intelligence relating to community needs as detailed in the 
Council’s Gravesham Community Profile. The comprehensive study included a variety of 
datasets, including local health data outlining core public health concerns for the resident 
population and, in addition, the study considered key existing strategies the Council currently 
had in place, including the Local Plan Core Strategy. 

At the heart of the new Corporate Plan, there will be three corporate objectives, each with 
their own portfolio of activities and initiatives but, importantly, designed to work with and 
support each other for the benefit of the local community:

 #1 People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive 
Borough their home;

 #2 Place: a dynamic Borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community; and

 #3 Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to 
continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong 
governance environment.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that, alongside the development of the new 
Corporate Plan, a full review was also being undertaken into the existing Performance 
Management Framework (PMF) to ensure that the Council continued to effectively achieve 
against its stated objectives and deliver a consistently high quality services for local 
residents. The PMF will form the basis of corporate performance reporting to Members 
during the 2019-23 period.

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the new Corporate Plan will be presented to 
the next meeting of Full Council on 8 October 2019 for formal adoption. Following formal 
adoption, the plan will be officially launched.

Page 6



Cabinet 9.09.2019

3

With regard to the PMF, the Cabinet stressed the importance of qualitative data and that 
consideration also needed to be given to those measures that the Council had no direct 
control over e.g. crime statistics.

It was also requested that the new Corporate Plan be proofread prior to formal adoption as 
typographical errors had been noticed. 

The Cabinet thanked the Corporate Performance Team on the work that had been 
undertaken to date.

Resolved that the draft Corporate Plan 2019-23 (Appendix 2) be endorsed subject to 
it being proofread and delegated authority be given for any further updates to be 
made by the Director (Corporate Services) in consultation with the Leader of the 
Executive, prior to submission to Full Council for formal approval and adoption.

19. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Legal shared service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the shared service had a second successful 
year and drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report which detailed the 
objectives and key areas of focus that had been met.

The review identified that there had been some staff shortages in the Information 
Governance (IG) Team that had impacted on the service and an audit undertaken in May 
2019 recommended that: “An arrangement should be put in place to ensure engagement 
takes place between working group lead officers and IG, with Wider Management Team 
receiving progress updates on GDPR compliance and once implementation has progressed 
sufficiently, a compliance framework should be put in place.” Therefore, the Corporate 
Change Team had been commissioned to produce an action plan identifying key areas of 
focus for the IG Team moving forward.

The Cabinet welcomed the additional resilience referred to in the report and stated that this 
together with an improved response time needed to be a key priority moving forward.

The Cabinet commended the support that had been provided by Legal Services at formal 
meetings. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

20. Annual Review of the HR Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the HR shared service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

The Director (Corporate Services) drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report 
which detailed the objectives that had been met.

Page 7



Cabinet 9.09.2019

4

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that one of the key priorities moving forward will 
be the recruitment of additional resource to provide a more permanent solution and increase 
the HR presence at both sites. 

The Cabinet stated that Gravesham needed to continue to have a good working relationship 
with the union. 

The Chief Executive advised that Gravesham had established a Joint Staff Forum which 
consisted of HR, the union and staff representatives.   

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

21. Main store roof at Brookvale 

The Director (Housing and Operations) advised that Potter Raper had been retained to 
provide a feasibility study relating to the future use of the Brookvale site and a significant 
precursor for future use would be for the roofs to be in a good condition. 

As a starting point a camera survey was undertaken to obtain an understanding of the 
current condition of the roofs and it was revealed that they were in need of significant work. 

Prices were obtained from the Breyer Group, the Council’s term contractor, in order to 
understand the level of outlay required.  Three options were given together with an 
estimated price for each which had been set out in sections two and three of the report. It 
was recommended that option two be progressed which would replace the single skin sheet 
with new Plastisol coated 120mm thick composite roof panels (coating one side) to include 
new double skinned GRP roof lights to the existing layout.

The Director (Housing and Operations) advised that, although not included in the above 
estimates, a project group had been looking at how better use can be made of the large 
training room at Brookvale and the office area below. Limited natural light affects both areas 
and the roof works would provide an opportunity to have more natural light to the first floor 
office and potentially the office below. It was therefore proposed that additional 
rooflights/wells relating to these offices be added to the specification. The feasibility of fixing 
solar panels to the new roof will also be investigated as part of the project and will be added 
if viable.

The Chair advised that the above works would require the 2019/20 capital programme to be 
amended therefore Full Council approval would be required.

Resolved that the Cabinet recommends to Full Council that option 2 be progressed 
and the Director (Communities) in consultation with the Director (Housing & 
Operations) and Assistant Director (Corporate Services) be authorised to appoint 
consultants to tender the roof replacement of the main store at Brookvale with the 
results of the tender being reported to Cabinet prior to acceptance.

Page 8



Cabinet 9.09.2019

5

22. Housing Delivery Action Plan 

The Planning Manager (Policy) advised that, to meet the Government’s requirement as set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance, 
Local Planning Authorities who had delivered less than 95% of their respective housing 
requirements between 2015-2018 were required to produce and publish an Action Plan that 
assesses the causes of housing under delivery and identifies actions to increase delivery in 
future years. 

The Government intended to publish the Housing Delivery Test results in November each 
year however the results for the current period were only published on 19 February 2019. 
The results covered the period 2015 – 2018. For the period of 2015-2018, the Council had 
scored 64% in the Housing Delivery Test. This result means that the Council will need to 
produce an Action Plan as per the requirements of the NPPF. The Action Plan analyses the 
causes of under delivery and demonstrates the Council’s commitment to responding 
positively to the challenge of increasing housing delivery.

The Planning Manager (Policy) advised that, due to the nature of the Borough’s land supply, 
the Housing Delivery Action Plan would need to be kept under review. Work was being 
undertaken by Officers on a regular basis to identify why major sites in the Borough had 
stalled or to identify any issues which may be impeding delivery with a view to working with 
developers to overcome these issues. This work would continue and work on the Local Plan 
would be expedited as the Housing Delivery Action Plan on its own would not address the 
land supply issues in the Borough.

The Cabinet acknowledged the need to identify sites for development and welcomed the 
proposal for officers to work with developers to progress stalled sites within the Borough.

The Leader stated that the Council was also looking at its own sites to bring forward 
affordable housing however stated that Ward Councillors must be consulted on the proposed 
sites to ascertain whether development would be appropriate or not. 

The Chief Executive advised that the Government was looking at initiatives to sanction 
developers and strengthen the powers of local authorities to support the buildout of 
stalled sites including a more active use of compulsory purchase powers.

The Cabinet supported the use of compulsory purchase powers for stalled sites.

Resolved that the Housing Delivery Action Plan be approved and published on the 
Council’s website.

23. Local Plan Review 

The Planning Manager (Policy) advised that to meet the Government’s requirement as set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), Local Authorities were required to 
review the policies within their adopted local plans in order to assess whether they needed 
updating. Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the adoption date of a 
plan. Such reviews were also a legal requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 2012 (as amended).

The Borough’s Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted by Full Council on 30 September 
2014. Therefore, the review must be completed by 30 September 2019.

Page 9



Cabinet 9.09.2019

6

The Planning Manager (Policy) drew Member’s attention to the review as set out at appendix 
two of the report and highlighted that CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) will 
require modification in respect of the Borough’s objectively assessed development needs.

As stated in minute 22, the Leader reiterated that there will be a need to identify sites for 
development and invited all Members to work with the Labour Group to consider the best 
options for meeting the Borough’s needs. 

The Planning Manager (Policy) advised that failing to identify sufficient land could mean that 
decisions would be taken out of the hands of the Council and made by the Planning 
Inspectorate and/or an external team appointed by the Government. The Planning Manager 
(Policy) advised that he would provide Member of the Cabinet with a copy of the relevant 
legislation outside of the meeting. 

Resolved that the Local Plan Review be approved and published on the Council’s 
website.  

24. Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter One 

The Cabinet received the first budget monitoring report for 2019/20 showing the position up 
to 30 June 2019. 

The Cabinet noted the information provided on:- 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2019/20, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements. 

The fact that the budget was being well managed was acknowledged and appreciated by the 
Cabinet. Officers confirmed that the Council will continue to maintain robust budgetary 
control actions to ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the 
Council’s finances. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided the Cabinet with an overview of the 
one year spending review announcement and advised that it was better than expected.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report and thanked the Assistant 
Director (Corporate Services) and her team on the work that had been undertaken to date.

Page 10



Cabinet 9.09.2019

7

25. Carbon Monoxide (CO) Detectors in Council Owned Housing 

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) advised that Gravesham Borough Council had a 
duty of care to its tenants to ensure that their health and safety would not be put at risk 
through the use of gas appliances and installations. The Council also had a responsibility 
under the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) Regulations 1998 which require landlords to 
adequately and competently install, maintain and service all gas installations, appliances, 
flues and installation pipe work under their liability, specifically installations within its housing 
stock. 

Under current regulations in Scotland and Northern Ireland, it was also a requirement that all 
residential properties whether that be in the private rented sector or social housing sector 
have CO detectors installed anywhere a combustion appliance was installed. This would 
include all gas or solid fuel appliances. However, in England the regulations were different 
and only apply to the private rented sector and not to social housing. 

Although there was no legal obligation on the Council to install CO detectors, the Council, as 
a landlord takes the health and safety of its tenants very seriously. In addition to other safety 
measures already installed in Council owned properties, the installation of CO detectors 
would provide increased protection for tenants and their families in their homes.

To install a CO detector in all applicable Council owned housing, approximately 5,000 
properties, it would cost in the region of £175,000. Swale Heating had confirmed that it could 
commence installation week commencing 2 October 2019 which would be carried out during 
the annual gas servicing visit. Once installed, the detectors would be checked annually and 
recorded on the Landlord’s Gas Safety Record (LGSR) which would form part of the existing 
arrangement with Swale Heating with no additional cost.

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) advised that significant savings had been achieved 
through proactive reprofiling of work programmes and the reprocurement of gas installation 
and servicing contract as detailed in section two of the report. It was proposed that the cost 
of installing CO detectors could be met from these savings. 

Resolved that the installation of carbon monoxide detectors in all Gravesham 
Borough Council housing stock where a fuel burning appliance is installed be 
approved. 

26. DSO Building Management Policies and Management Plans 

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) advised that, as a Landlord, the Council had a duty 
of care to its tenants to ensure that their health and safety would not be put at risk. This 
would be achieved by ensuring that all relevant regulatory and legislative requirements were 
met and monitored for compliancy. 

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) advised that the DSO Building Management Team 
at Brookvale had undergone significant change over the last three years with a restructure 
undertaken to align the service to meet the responsive, planned works and compliancy 
needs. As part of this period of change, new processes and procedures had been put in 
place to ensure that tenants were kept safe in their homes whilst also ensuring legislative 
and regulatory compliance. 

Page 11



Cabinet 9.09.2019

8

Therefore, the following six polices had been developed in conjunction with colleagues, 
external agencies and Members to not only reinforce the new working practices but to allow 
transparency and provide accountability within the service:-

 Asbestos Policy & Management Plan;
 Gas Safety Policy & Management Plan;
 Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria;
 Lift Maintenance Policy & Management Plan;
 Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy & Management Plan; and
 Fire Safety Policy & Management Plan.

The draft policies had been submitted to the Housing Cabinet Committee on 3 July 2019 for 
comments and discussion. The policies were commended and a decision was made to 
recommend to the Cabinet that the six policies be adopted.

The policies will be subject to an annual review or when there is a significant change to 
either the regulatory or legislative requirements.

Resolved that the policies relating to Asbestos Management, Gas Safety, Water 
Hygiene and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria, Lift Maintenance, 
Construction and Maintenance Safety and Fire Safety in Council owned housing as 
recommended by the Housing Cabinet Committee in July 2019 be adopted.

27. Exclusion 

Resolved pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that the 
public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that, if members of the public were present 
during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

28. Future use of land at North East Gravesend 

Vice-Chair in the Chair

The Cabinet was presented with a report which sought approval to undertake a master 
planning exercise for land at North East Gravesend and to enter into negotiations with two 
current landowners with a view to either acquiring their property or entering into an 
agreement to bring forward the area in a coordinated and comprehensive manner in order to 
maximise development potential and improve the area more generally.

The Cabinet was advised that the sites detailed in the report were prime development sites 
for the area. There would a risk that, without a considered, co-ordinated approach to the site 
in its entirety, the full benefits for the community would not be realised. There was a desire to 
develop the overall site to promote health and well-being through carefully planned green 
spaces, introducing residential sites with retail outlets to support the community and 
development of complimentary employment use in the area.

The Cabinet expressed concern regarding the connectivity and infrastructure within the area 
and stated that this will need to be a key priority. 

Page 12



Cabinet 9.09.2019

9

Resolved that:-

1. authority be granted for the Council to engage consultants in a master planning 
exercise for the area as set out in section three of the report; and

2. delegated authority be granted for the Director (Planning & Development) and the 
Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with the Commercial Portfolio Holder 
and Chief Executive, to enter into negotiations with the owner of Plot one with a view 
to acquiring their land holding in the first instance including any overage provision as 
necessary; secure a coordinated and comprehensive approach to the area more 
widely through negotiation with the owner of Plot six and the land at Dalefield Way to 
the east of the Denton Caravan Site; and work with the owner of Plot one on a 
cohesive development proposal should agreement of terms for land acquisition not 
prove possible, as set out within section four of the report.

Note: Cllr John Burden left the Chamber during consideration of this item.

29. Write Offs 

The Cabinet was presented with Business Rates and Housing Benefits debts over £15,000 
that had now become irrecoverable. 

Resolved that authority be given to write-off the debts listed in Appendix 2 and 
Appendix 3 of the report.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.25pm

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 07 October 2019

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy)

Subject: Local Plan - Statement of Community Involvement

Purpose and summary of report: 
The following report seeks Cabinet approval of the Statement of Community Involvement, 
attached at Appendix 2.

The Statement of Community Involvement sets out the Council’s approach to consultation on 
planning matters such as the Local Plan, Planning Applications and Neighbourhood 
Planning. The current Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in March 2007; it is 
therefore necessary for the Council to review its Statement of Community Involvement.

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet members are requested to approve the Statement of Community Involvement 

(Appendix 2) prior to its publication. 

1. Background

1.1 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement is a document that sets out 
how local communities, businesses, organisations and statutory stakeholders will 
be consulted as part of the plan making process i.e. planning policy function and 
within the decision making process i.e. development management function. The 
benefits of stakeholder engagement include:

 Fostering local ownership of the plan making and decision taking processes
 Obtaining greater clarity of local priorities whilst disseminating strategic 

priorities 
 Providing greater clarity and transparency around both the plan making and 

decision making processes 
 Identifying and resolving potential areas of conflict

1.2 It is a statutory requirement (see section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)) for the Council to set out how it will consult the 
public on planning matters. Once adopted provisions within the Statement of 
Community Involvement become binding upon the Council. The existing 
Statement of Community Involvement was adopted in March 2007 and is in need 
of updating.

Page 15 Agenda Item 6



2

1.3 The requirement to produce a Statement of Community Involvement occurs under 
Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (PCPA 2004). 
When a Development Plan Document is subjected to examination in public, the 
Inspector must be satisfied that it has been prepared in compliance with the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement and that the Statement of 
Community Involvement itself meets with the requirements set out in the 
regulations.

1.4 The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 has introduced additional requirements for 
the Statement of Community Involvement by amending Section 18 of the PCPA 
2004. These are:

 A requirement to set out the Councils policies for involving interested parties 
in the preliminary stages of plan-making;

 A requirement to set out the Councils policy for any public involvement in 
relation to the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS); and;

 A requirement to set out the Councils policies for giving advice or assistance 
in relation to Neighbourhood Plans, Neighbourhood Development Orders and 
Community Right to Build Orders (Neighbourhood Planning).

1.5 New regulations brought forward by The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017, have also introduced a 
requirement for Local Planning Authorities to review their Statement of Community 
Involvement and Local Plans within five year periods. The amendment of 
regulation 10A inserts:

“Review of local development documents

10A.—(1) A local planning authority must review a local development document 
within the following time periods—

(a) in respect of a local plan, the review must be completed every five years, 
starting from the date of adoption of the local plan, in accordance with section 23 
of the Act (adoption of local development documents);

(b) in respect of a statement of community involvement, the review must be 
completed every five years, starting from the date of adoption of the statement of 
community involvement, in accordance with section 23 of the Act.”

1.6 A revised Statement of Community Involvement has been drafted to take in 
account these new requirements and is provided at Appendix 2. Planning Practice 
Guidance at Paragraph 035 (as revised 23/07/2019) makes it clear that there is no 
requirement for local planning authorities to consult when reviewing and updating 
their Statement of Community Involvement. 

2. Consideration

2.1 Gravesham last adopted its Statement of Community Involvement in March 2007, 
by virtue of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2017, the Council is legally required to ‘review’ the 
Statement of Community Involvement in order to determine whether it should be 
amended. Such a review has been undertaken by officers and a revised 
Statement of Community Involvement prepared. 

Page 16



3

2.2 The revised Statement of Community Involvement addresses the requirements of 
numerous regulations and policy changes that have taken place since March 
2007. It is important to note that once adopted, the Council must follow the 
Statement of Community Involvement. If the Council failed to do so (whether that 
be for plan making, determining planning applications or neighbourhood planning 
matters), the Council would be open to legal challenge. 

2.3 If the Council decides not to revise the Statement of Community Involvement and 
therefore does not go onto adopt a final version of the Statement of Community 
Involvement, it must set out its reasons for considering why no revisions are 
necessary to the March 2007 version of the document.

3. Next steps

3.1 If approved, the Statement of Community Involvement will be desktop published 
into a more user-friendly document and a plain English summary produced. These 
documents will subsequently be published on the Council’s website for members 
of the public and other interested stakeholders. 

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 17



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The duties to engage the community in planning matters and to prepare a 
Statement of Community Involvement arise from the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (section 18) as amended by the Planning Act 2008, the 
Localism Act 2011 and the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Costs for desktop publishing the document and producing a plain English summary 
of the document are to be covered by the Planning Policy Reserve budget.

Risk Assessment Ensuring the Council has an up-to-date Statement of Community Involvement 
reduces the risk of the soundness of planning decisions (Development 
Management) and the Local Plan being questioned.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the Statement of Community Involvement sets out how the community 
will be involved in planning related consultations and decisions.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 and 4

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Page 18

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the revised 
Statement of Community Involvement.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

0

Gravesham Borough Council
Draft Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI)
October 2019

Page 21



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

1

(This page deliberately left blank)

Page 22



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

2

Contents
1. Introduction .......................................................................................................................4

2. Why a new SCI is required ...............................................................................................6

3. The role of elected Councillors in the planning process ...................................................7

4. Overview of the planning process and the types of planning policy document and 
applications covered by this SCI..............................................................................................8

5. The Council’s overall approach to community involvement and engagement in the 
planning process....................................................................................................................13

6. Stages the Council will go through in making or revising a Local Plan document..........16

7. Stages the Council will go through in making or revising a Supplementary Planning 
Document...............................................................................................................................23

8. Stages the Council will go through in preparing Part 1 and Part 2 of its Brownfield Land 
Register..................................................................................................................................25

9. Gravesham Self Build and Custom Building Register ....................................................28

10. How the Council will support the preparation or revision of Neighbourhood Plans.....29

11. How the Council will consult the public on planning and other applications and 
development proposals..........................................................................................................31

12. Reviewing and updating this Statement of Community Involvement ..........................39

Appendix 1 - Publicity requirements for planning and other related applications ..................40

Appendix 2 – Glossary...........................................................................................................51

Page 23



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

3

(This page deliberately left blank)

Page 24



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

4

1. Introduction

1.0 Gravesham Borough Council (the Council) recognises the importance of engaging 
with the local community and other stakeholders when making decisions on planning 
applications and producing planning policy documents that stand to affect our area for years 
to come.  This accords with the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance and the principles 
enshrined in the Kent Planning Protocol.1

1.1 Whilst different groups and individuals are likely to have different views on what  is an 
appropriate development strategy for the future of Gravesham, such engagement brings 
positive benefits in terms of enabling dialogue and  by assisting the Council in attempting to 
develop a consensus on how we move forward in planning terms.

1.2 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is the Council’s overall strategy for 
ensuring we have effective community engagement in the planning process in those areas 
where Gravesham has responsibilities.  The SCI forms part of the statutory Development 
Plan – further detail of what the Development Plan comprises and why it is important is set 
out in section 4 of this document.

1.3 The Council’s Planning Department is responsible for producing a number of 
planning policy documents that form part of the Development Plan and determining most 
applications for planning permission and other related applications in the borough.  

1.4 An exception to this is the area covered by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
(EDC) where it, rather than the Council, is responsible for determining applications but not 
for producing Development Plan documents.  The area covered by the EDC for the purposes 
of determining planning and other related applications in Gravesham is shown on the plan 
on the following page.  Further detail on the responsibilities, role and planning functions of 
the EDC are available on its website at https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/ .

1.5 Another exception relates to planning policy and planning applications concerning 
minerals and waste matters, where the Kent County Council (KCC) is the relevant planning 
authority. The KCC has its own suite of Development Plan policy documents and associated 
guidance – including a separate Statement of Community Involvement which it relies on in 
publicising emerging policy documents and determining applications2.  Further details on the 
role of the KCC in this area are available on its website at https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-
planning-and-land 

1.6 Minerals and waste applications within the EDC area are determined by the 
Development Corporation, with the assistance of the KCC as overall minerals and waste 
planning authority.

1.7 The KCC also has powers to determine applications for its own development (such 
as in relation to school premises under its control).  In such cases, the Council is only a 

1 See http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/185729/Code-of-Corporate-
Governance-2017.pdf  and http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/278539/Kent-
Planning-Protocol.pdf 
2 KCC Minerals and Waste policy documents and the associated SCI are available on-line at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-
policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy 

Page 25

https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/
https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-planning-and-land
https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-planning-and-land
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/185729/Code-of-Corporate-Governance-2017.pdf
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/185729/Code-of-Corporate-Governance-2017.pdf
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/278539/Kent-Planning-Protocol.pdf
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/278539/Kent-Planning-Protocol.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

5

consultee on such applications and is not responsible for determining the application or 
undertaking consultations.

1.8 In addition, some major developments deemed to be Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) are dealt with directly by Government under a different 
planning system introduced under the Planning Act 2008.  Examples of such projects include 
the proposed Lower Thames Crossing to the East of Gravesend and London Resort to the 
West of the Borough.  

1.9 In such cases, it is the responsibility of the promotor of the scheme to set out how it 
will engage with the local community prior to submission of an application to Government.  

1.10 Under this system, the Council is consulted at various stages in the process but has 
no specific responsibilities itself to consult others – although it will still engage as appropriate 
with others in supporting the best interests of the area.  Details of how the Planning Act 2008 
system works and current projects that may have implications for our area are available on-
line.3 

1.12 In addition to the NSIP process, there are a number of other statutory provisions by 
which schemes can be permitted on a more ad hoc basis.  These include works to the 
strategic road network which fall below the NSIP thresholds and can be dealt with by an 
Order under the Highways Act 1980 (i.e. like the proposed improvements to the A2 Bean 

3 For details of the Planning Act 2008 regime and proposals that may affect the Gravesham area see 
the NSIP website at https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ 

Page 26

https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

6

and Ebbsfleet junctions) or even under a separate enabling Act of Parliament (i.e. as was 
the case with the Channel Tunnel Rail link). 

1.13 Gravesham Council wants to ensure that our community has the opportunity to 
participate effectively in the planning process where it has responsibility for planning 
functions.  This SCI has been prepared to explain how local people, businesses and other 
key stakeholders will be involved by the Council in the planning process.

1.14 This SCI is prepared under Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 (as amended) and reflects the latest relevant legislation, Government policy and 
guidance at the time of writing.  

1.15 The Council is required to comply with the SCI once it is formally adopted. 

1.16 The approach the Council takes on data protection and privacy when engaging with 
the community and consulting on planning and other applications is set out on our website.

2. Why a new SCI is required

2.1 Since the previous SCI was adopted in 20074 there have been changes to planning 
and other legislation.  These include both the introduction of neighbourhood planning under 
the Localism Act 20115, brownfield land registers and permissions in principle, and a public 
sector duty to avoid discrimination where relevant protected characteristics apply under the 
Equality Act 2010.6

2.2 These changes are reflected in this new SCI.  In considering the Council’s approach 
to consultation in drafting the new SCI, it has also been possible to draw on past experience 
and to take into account the effectiveness of previous consultations and changes in 
technology that have occurred in the interim. 

2.3 Once adopted, this new SCI will update and replace current arrangements made 
under the existing SCI, adopted in March 2007.

4 For the current Gravesham BC Statement of Community Involvement (2007) see 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/69815/SCI280307_1.pdf. It should be 
noted that there has been a change in process since the adoption of the 2007 SCI in that any update 
is no longer subject to independent examination by a Planning Inspector.
5 The Localism Act 2011 is available on line at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted .  Further information on 
Neighbourhood Plans and how they are formulated can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2. The part played by the Council in assisting 
the production of such plans is set out in section 7 of this document.
6 The Equality Act 2010 is available on line at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents . 
The protected characteristics set out in section 149 of the Act are age; disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; and sexual orientation.

Page 27

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/69815/SCI280307_1.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

7

3. The role of elected Councillors in the planning process7

3.1 Elected members of the Council are responsible to their electorate as representatives 
of their wards, as well as being decision makers for the whole Council area.  Councillors are 
both involved as policy makers in the Local Plan making process and in making decisions on 
individual planning applications referred to the Council’s Regulatory Board in accordance 
with its constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegated powers.8 

3.2 Members of the Council are included at all key stages in the Local Plan making 
process and take the formal decisions that allow it to progress through its various stages up 
to adoption.  Key stages of preparation of the Local Plan and other planning documents 
prepared by the Council are presented to Cabinet for decision making, with briefings also 
provided for other members on draft documents and the outcome of consultations via other 
committees.  The final adoption of the Local Plan is a matter for Full Council. 

3.3 Details of the role of members of the Council in the decision making process relating 
to individual planning applications and other types of application under the planning regime 
is set out later in this document.  

7 Information on your Councillors is available on the Council’s webpages at 
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1 
8 Details relating to the Council’s constitution and scheme of delegation etc. are available at 
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480 

Page 28

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

8

4. Overview of the planning process and the types of planning 
policy document and applications covered by this SCI

4.1 What is planning?

4.2 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute toward the achievement of 
sustainable development in the public interest, so as to meet the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Development 
can mean either the undertaking of physical works or a change in the use of land.9

4.3 Achieving sustainable development requires that the Council should attempt to meet 
a range of economic, social and environmental objectives in a way that responds positively 
to local context.  Planning therefore plays a key role in identifying what development is 
needed where and which areas or features of the borough need to be protected or 
enhanced.  

4.4 In so doing, the Council has to manage competing demands for housing, schools, 
business, infrastructure, greenspace, etc. to help shape places, build communities and to 
ensure significant environmental impacts are avoided or mitigated.

4.5 The Council’s role in the planning process

4.6 The Council is responsible for producing the Gravesham Local Plan and associated 
documents; as well as determining most types of planning applications in the borough.  The 
exceptions to this are set out in Section 1 above. 

4.7 In addition, not all development requires planning permission.  Some forms of 
development and changes in the use of land are either deemed by Government to be 
‘permitted development’ not requiring planning permission or only require ‘prior approval’ by 
the relevant planning authority.  The latter process can restrict what the Council can take into 
account in determining a planning application and often reduces the time period over which 
a decision must be made.  Failure to make a decision within the set time period can, for 
certain type of planning applications can result in permission being automatically granted.10

4.8 Aside from applications for planning permission, the Council also has responsibility 
for taking decisions on a range of other forms of application, such as those relating to listed 
building consent; applications for advertisement consent; works to trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Orders; and hazardous substances consents.   Within its area of jurisdiction, 
the Council also has powers to determine applications for Certificates of Lawfulness for 
existing or proposed uses or development and to take enforcement action against breaches 
of planning control.

9 The Government effectively defines ‘sustainable development’ as that which is consistent with 
national planning policy taken as a whole.  The definition of ‘development’ is set out at section  55 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents 
10 Permitted development rights applying to different types of development or land uses and the 
conditions/limitations that apply are set out in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development)(England) Order 2015 (as amended) available in its original form at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made 

Page 29

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

9

4.9 Where an application is made for planning permission, the Council is required to 
make a decision on it guided by the statutory Development Plan for the area.  The planning 
system is plan-led and any planning application must be determined in-line with adopted 
Development Plan unless material considerations (which can be quite wide) indicate 
otherwise11.  National planning policy and guidance, as issued by Government, are capable 
of being material considerations, although the starting point remains policy as set out in the 
Development Plan.

4.10 The weight that may be accorded to policies in a Development Plan that pre-date 
latest national guidance or those in preparation depends on their degree of consistency with 
national policy and (for plans in preparation) how far they have progressed and the extent of 
outstanding substantive objections.

4.11 Some forms of application dealt with by the Council are determined on a slightly 
different basis although both local and national policy may still be relevant in some cases 
where it reflects other statutory duties.  These include:

 Applications for listed building consent – determined in accordance with the 
provisions of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990;12

 Applications for certificates or lawfulness of existing or proposed use or development 
– determined solely on the basis of fact and the law; and

 Applications for prior approval of certain classes of permitted development – 
determined on the basis of national rather than Development Plan policy and only 
against set criteria.

4.12 In terms of plan making, the Council also has a legal duty to support and advise 
groups i.e. Parish Councils and Neighbourhood Forums preparing neighbourhood plans and 
neighbourhood development orders within the borough and to engage constructively with 
prescribed bodies on an on-going basis in preparing Development Plan documents.  The 
latter includes engagement under the Duty to Co-operate imposed under Section 110 of the 
Localism Act 201113.

4.13 Defining our community

4.14 For the purposes of this SCI, our community comprises anyone living, working, or 
undertaking other activities in the Borough of Gravesham.  This SCI also refers to other 
stakeholders (including individuals, groups and organisations) that have a direct influence or 
interest in planning decisions and matters in the borough.

11 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 applies – available on-line at 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents 
12 Specific duties are imposed on the Local Planning Authority in the exercise of its planning functions 
(s.66) and conservation areas (s.72) whereby special regard is to be given to the preservation of 
heritage interest see https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents 
13 For an on-line version of the Localism Act 2011 see 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 

Page 30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

10

4.15 Planning Policy Documents

4.16 The relationship between national planning policy, the adopted Development Plan 
and other planning policy documents is shown in the table below.  

National National Planning 
Policy Framework

Planning Practice 
Guidance

Development Plan 
Documents

Supplementary 
Planning Guidance 

and Documents

Other Documents

Kent County Council Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan 

(2016)

Supplementary 
Planning Documents

KCC Local 
Development Scheme 

(LDS)

Kent Statement of 
Community 

Involvement (SCI)

Kent Annual 
Monitoring Report 

(AMR)

Gravesham Borough 
Council

Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (2014)

‘Saved’ policies from 
the Gravesham Local 

Plan First Review 
(1994)

Supplementary 
Planning Documents

Adopted Policies Map 
(2014)

Gravesham Local 
Development Scheme 

(LDS)

Gravesham Statement 
of Community 

Involvement (SCI)

Gravesham Annual 
Monitoring Report 

(AMR)

Local – Parish or 
Neighbourhood 
Forum Level

Neighbourhood Plans 
(none at present in 

Gravesham)

Page 31



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

11

4.17 The above national planning policy and guidance, together with the relevant KCC 
and Gravesham development plan and other documents – including plans and other 
documents in preparation, can be viewed on-line at the following links:

National

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents and other documents – 
including plans etc. in preparation

 Kent County Council (minerals and waste local plan etc) – 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-
waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy 

 Gravesham Borough Council (local plan etc) – 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview 

Neighbourhood Plans etc.

 None currently in Gravesham

4.18 Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning Obligations

4.19 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that authorities can levy against 
most types of new development in their area to assist in paying for infrastructure including 
parks, schools, community facilities, health facilities, leisure facilities and transport 
infrastructure etc.  The ability to charge such a levy is dependent on the Council going 
through due process, whereby viability and the ability of development to support such 
additional cost is taken into consideration in formulating the levy.  In addition, some forms of 
development are precluded under national policy from having to pay such a charge.

4.20 Planning obligations are a different mechanism from CIL and can involve both 
financial and non-financial contributions from developments subject to enforceable legal 
agreement.  Such legal agreements are used when there is a requirement to address the 
impact of a development and the impact itself cannot be dealt with through a planning 
condition on the permission.   They can also be used where a development is required under 
policy to deliver certain benefits, such as a proportion of a housing development being in the 
form of affordable housing.

Page 32

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

12

4.21 Rules set out by the Government regulate where such agreements can be used and 
their relationship to CIL where this is also chargeable.  Currently, a CIL is not chargeable in 
Gravesham and the Council currently relies on planning obligations.

4.22 Further information on CIL and the Council’s approach to planning obligations is 
available on-line at:

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/community-
infrastructure-levy-and-planning-obligations

and on the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance website at

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy 

Page 33

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/community-infrastructure-levy-and-planning-obligations
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/community-infrastructure-levy-and-planning-obligations
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

13

5. The Council’s overall approach to community involvement 
and engagement in the planning process

5.1 Why we need to engage with the community in planning.

5.2 The Council believes that everyone who wishes to be involved in the proper planning 
of the borough should have the opportunity to do so.  It believes that effective community 
involvement and engagement can help to:

 Ensure that the diverse values of the Gravesham community are reflected in planning 
decisions and that people are genuinely involved in decisions that affect their lives or 
interests

 Bring together different people with different perspectives to increase shared 
understanding across community divides

 Allow the Council to identify options and solutions to planning issues at an early 
stage and increase public involvement in the decision making process.

5.3 However, it should be noted that views gathered from the community as a result of 
engagement are only part of the evidence upon which planning decisions (whether in 
relation to policy or decisions on individual applications) are made.

5.4 For example, in terms of planning policy, the Council would need to show a Planning 
Inspector at independent examination that a policy is ‘sound’ – i.e. that irrespective of 
community engagement it has been positively prepared, justified by the evidence available, 
effective, and consistent with national planning policy. 

5.5 In addition, when making a decision on a planning application, the Council can only 
take into account ‘material considerations’.  Whilst what is or is not a material consideration 
is capable of being established through case law, the weight attached to a material 
consideration is a matter of judgement for the decision-maker.  The decision maker must 
show that they have considered all relevant matters when reaching a decision.

5.6 The approach the Council will take in involving the community

5.7 The Council will seek to offer a range of opportunities to get the community involved 
in the production of new planning policy documents and will set out clear standards in 
respect of consultation on planning applications.  In so doing, the Council will seek to:

 Be clear about what decision is being made and the process and opportunities for 
involvement and engagement

 Engage with the community at the most appropriate time whilst supporting effective 
interaction between the interested parties

 Encourage involvement from different groups within the community, especially those 
with a specific interest or who are often under-represented

 Utilise communication methods that are relevant and effective in engaging local 
stakeholders, supporting greater use of electronic/online methods of consultation 
where appropriate 

 As a minimum, carry out proportionate consultation based on the arrangements and 
activities set out in this SCI.

Page 34



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

14

5.8 Statutory Consultation Requirements

5.9 The Council will (as a minimum) comply with statutory requirements for consultation 
set out in the relevant legislation (as amended), including:

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) 14– for planning policy documents.

 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended)15 – for 
neighbourhood planning documents.

 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 201516– for planning applications.

 The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 201717 - in 
terms of entry of sites on Part 2 of its Brownfield Land Register whereby permission 
in principle is granted.

 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990 (as 
amended)18 – for listed building consents.

5.10 The requirements of the above legislation form the basis of the arrangements and 
commitments set out in this SCI.

5.11 Detailed guidance has been issued by Government on publicity and consultation 
requirements applicable to different forms of planning and other applications.  This is 
available on-line at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters 

5.12 Duty to Co-operate

5.13 In undertaking its plan-making responsibilities, the Council is required by Regulation 
to work collaboratively, constructively and actively on an on-going basis with other 
‘prescribed bodies’ on cross-boundary strategic matters under the Duty to Co-operate.19

5.14 In addition to the ‘prescribed bodies’, the Council is also required to engage with 
other local planning authorities and the County Council to maximise the effectiveness of 
planning policy documents on strategic cross-boundary issues that may have a significant 
impact on two or more planning areas20.

5.15 Whilst it is a matter for discussion with others as to what may constitute such 
strategic cross-boundary issues and over what area there may be significant impacts that 
need to be considered, the Council will as a minimum engage with the following local 
planning authorities under this requirement:

14 Available on-line at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made 
15 Available on-line at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made it is likely that these 
will be amended following the introduction of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 – see 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted 
16 Available on-line at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made 
17 Available on-line at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made 
18 Available on-line at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1519/contents/made 
19 The prescribed bodies referred to here are set out in Regulation 4 of The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012.  This duty includes working with the Marine 
Management Organisation in terms of the development of Marine Plans and with the South East 
Local Enterprise Partnership in terms of wider strategic issues.
20 This requirement in relation to the Duty to Co-operate is set out in Section 33A of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/33A 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1519/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/33A


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

15

 Medway Council
 Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council
 Sevenoaks District Council
 Dartford Borough Council
 Thurrock Council
 Kent County Council

5.16 In addition, the Council engages with other local planning authorities and other 
stakeholders through a range of other groups and by attending workshops/seminars held or 
attended by bodies such as the Marine Management Organisation, the Environment Agency, 
Natural England, Historic England, and the main transport and infrastructure providers.  The 
Council also regularly attends meetings of the Kent Planning Officers Group (KPOG) and the 
Kent Planning Policy Forum (PPF) where Duty to Co-operate issues are discussed.  

5.17 It should be noted that the Duty to Co-operate is not, in itself, a duty to agree with 
those engaged through the plan making process.  However, in the absence of higher-level 
plans, it provides an opportunity for the different parties to work together to seek reasonably 
sustainable outcomes on cross-boundary issues.  

5.18 The Council will therefore continue to seek to establish areas of common and 
uncommon ground with adjoining local planning authorities and others on strategic cross 
boundary issues.  In the interests of transparency, details will be set out in statements of 
common ground to assist other participants and the examining Inspector in the local plan 
process at the appropriate time.

Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

16

6. Stages the Council will go through in making or revising a 
Local Plan document.

6.1 The Council is required to produce planning policy documents which set out the 
spatial strategy for the borough, allocate land for development for a range of different uses, 
and which form the basis against which applications for planning applications are judged.  
Consultation is primarily undertaken on draft policies and, on some occasions, on the 
evidence base that informs them.

6.2 There is also a legal requirement to keep such policy documents up-to-date so that 
they form an appropriate basis for decision making given periodic changes to national policy 
and changing circumstances.

6.3 The types of planning policy document the Council intends to produce or review are 
set out in the Local Development Scheme (LDS) for the borough and these constitute the 
key elements of the Local Plan for Gravesham.  The Council will periodically review the LDS 
and subsequently adopt a revised LDS, however this process does not include any external 
consultations. As set out in the table at paragraph 4.17 above, these Local Plan documents, 
along with the Minerals and Waste Local Plan and any Neighbourhood Plans, comprise the 
suite of documents that make up the Development Plan for the area.

6.4 Aside from the Duty to Co-operate, the Council is also required to consider whether a 
joint plan should be produced with neighbouring authorities as a means of dealing with 
strategic cross-boundary issues.21 To date, no such joint arrangements have been made, 
although the Council has undertaken work with its neighbours in terms of producing its 
evidence base to support policy.

6.5 Where the Council uses external consultants to carry out consultations, surveys or 
other forms of community involvement, such work will comply with this SCI.

6.6 The Council is required to go through a number of stages when producing a new 
Local Plan or revising policies in an existing one.  These stages are set out in the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).22

6.7 The tables below provide a synopsis of the legal requirements at each stage and 
what the Council will do both to comply with them and to engage effectively with the local 
community.  Details of both current and past consultations undertaken in relation to the 
Gravesham Local Plan are available on the Council’s planning consultation website at 
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/findConsultations

6.8 The Council accepts responses to consultations on planning documents in a number 
of ways, the preference is for such responses to be made via the Council’s consultation 
portal directly as this approach is more cost effective.  

21 The power to produce joint plans is contained within Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 available on-line at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/28 .  
22 See http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made 

Page 37

https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/findConsultations
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/28
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

17

Stage 1 pre- production/evidence base/ plan preparation – front loading/scoping stage Regulation 18
The council consults on the scope of the development plan document and issues and options. Regulations do not require the council the 
undertake a two-stage approach to Regulation 18 consultation; however the council may opt to undertake this additional non-statutory round of 
consultation to help better inform the content of the plan.

Legal requirements:
 Consult on Scoping Report for Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (including Strategic Environment Assessment (SEA)) as per regulations 9 

and 13 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (minimum 5 weeks)
 Consult relevant specific and general consultation bodies and other such residents or persons carrying on business in the borough 

appropriate on what a local plan of the subject matter ought to contain (no fixed period for consultation)
 Invite representations on issues that would have significant impacts on both the borough and another local planning authority, or 

significant cross-boundary issues and strategic priorities (sections 33A and 20(5)(c) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase (as 
amended) Act 2004) particularly from Local Enterprise

 Partnerships and Local Nature Partnerships and Duty to Cooperate bodies.

Optional:
 Make documents available at council offices and all libraries.
 Publish documents on the council’s website.
 Publicise in the Council’s web-based Consultation system.
 Article in council publications
 Press release and adverts
 Post/email summary leaflets to groups and organisations with questionnaire to structure and promote responses
 Consult area assemblies, community/neighbourhood bodies or any other future representative arrangements as appropriate.
 Hold workshop/meetings subject to assessed needs and/or requests with priority for elderly, young, black minority ethnic and disability 

groups
 On-street surveys/questionnaires
 Facilitated focus groups
 Social media

P
age 38



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

18

Stage 2 Plan preparation - formulation stage Regulation 18
The council considers reasonable alternatives, formulates the preferred strategy and composes a draft plan.

Legal requirements:
 Duty to co-operate obligations as set out in section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase (as amended) Act 2004
 Consultation on the SA /SEA in line with Regulations 12 and 13 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 2004
 Consult relevant specific and general consultation bodies and other such residents or persons carrying on business in the borough on 

what a local plan of the subject matter ought to contain (no fixed period for consultation).

Optional:
 Minimum 6 weeks consultation period
 Make documents available at council offices and all libraries.
 Publish draft documents on the council’s website.
 Publicise in the Council’s web-based Consultation system.
 Article in council publications
 Press releases and adverts
 Post/email summary leaflets to groups and organisations with questionnaire to structure and promote response
 Consult area assemblies, community/neighbourhood bodies or any other future representative arrangements as appropriate.
 Hold workshop/meetings subject to assessed needs and/or requests with priority for elderly, young, black minority ethnic and disability 

groups
 Staff drop-in sessions
 Exhibitions
 Email updates
 Social media

P
age 39



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

19

Stage 3 Pre-submission Publication Regulations 19, 20, 21
Six-week publication period for those dissatisfied or satisfied with the local plan to make formal representations to the inspector about the 
soundness of the plan.

Legal requirements:
 6 weeks formal publication
 Send to each specific consultation body a copy of each submission document and statement of representations procedure
 Send to each general consultation body the statement of representations procedure and notify where and when submission documents 

can be inspected
 Make available for inspection proposed submission documents (includes local plan, SA/SEA and supporting documents), and statement 

of representations procedure and form:
 at the principal council office and such other places as appropriate (usually interpreted as libraries).
 published on the council website.

Optional:
 Place advert in the local press
 Publicise in the Council’s web-based Consultation system.
 Article in council publications
 Press release and adverts
 Consult area assemblies, community/neighbourhood bodies or any other future representative arrangements as appropriate.
 Social media

Stage 4 Submission Regulation 22
This is the council’s proposed final version of the plan which is submitted to the Secretary of State for independent examination.

The council collates any representations made at pre-submission publication stage and submits these to Secretary of State along with all other 
supporting documents.

Legal requirements:
 Send each of the submission documents in paper form and electronically to Secretary of State
 Make available for inspection the submission documents (includes the planning document, submission policies map, SA/SEA and 

supporting documents), and statement of representations (Regulation 22(1)(c) statement), including copies of representations and 
statement as to where the plan and supporting documents are available:

P
age 40



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

20

 at the principal council office and such other places as appropriate (usually interpreted as libraries).
 published on the council website.
 Send to each specific consultation body and each general consultation body notification that the submission documents are 

available and when and where they are available for inspection
 Give notice to those persons who requested to be notified of the submission of the local plan to the Secretary of State that it has 

been submitted

Optional:
 Place ad in local paper

Stage 5 Independent Examination Regulation 24
An examination in public (hearing) may be held where an independent planning inspector will assess whether the document has been prepared 
in accordance with the Duty to Cooperate and whether the plan is sound.

The inspector may recommend proposed ‘main modifications’ to the plan to ensure its soundness and legal compliance if asked to do so by the 
council. Additional modifications may also be made to improve its clarity or make factual corrections. Main modifications will be advertised with a 
minimum 6 week period.

Legal requirements:
 At least 6 weeks before the pubic hearing, publish on the councils website, and notify those who requested to be notified, details of the 

date, time and venue for the examination and the name of the person appointed to carry out the Examination

Process for Main Modifications:
 Preparation of main modifications schedule
 Depending on the scope of the modifications further sustainability appraisal work may also be required.

Publication of proposed main modifications should reflect consultation requirements under regulation 19:
 6 weeks formal publication
 Send to each specific consultation body a copy of the schedule of proposed main modifications, sustainability appraisal (if applicable) 

and a representation form
 Notify each general consultation body where and when the schedule of proposed main modifications can be inspected
 Make available for inspection the schedule of proposed main modifications, sustainability appraisal (if applicable) and representation 

P
age 41



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

21

form:
 at the principal council office and such other places as appropriate (usually interpreted as libraries).
 published on the council website.

Stage 6 Post Examination Regulation 25
Following the hearing and publication of modifications if applicable, the inspector produces a report determining whether or not the document is 
suitable for adoption. The report will include recommendations and reasons to enable the plan to be adopted.

Legal requirements:
 Following the examination, make copies of the Inspector’s recommendations available at the principal council office and such other 

places as appropriate (usually interpreted as libraries) and publish on the council website
  Give notice to those persons who requested to be notified of the publication of those recommendations, that the recommendations are 

available

Optional:
 Issue press release
 Article in local paper.

Stage 7 Adoption of local plan Regulation 26
The plan is amended in response to the inspectors recommendations and is adopted by a full council meeting.

Legal requirements:
 Make available on the council website and in the principal council office and such other places as appropriate (usually interpreted as 

libraries), the plan, adoption statement, SA /SEA report, and details of where the plan is available for inspection
 Send a copy of the adoption statement to those who requested it
 Send a copy of the adoption statement to the Secretary of State

Optional:
 Place ad in local paper
 Article in local paper

P
age 42



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

22

6.9 Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA)

6.10 Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council 
to carry out a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of each of the proposals and policies set out in 
the draft Local Plan and prepare a report of the findings of that appraisal. This is intended to 
consider how the Local Plan contributes towards the objective of delivering sustainable 
development in the area and whether the strategy and policies are an appropriate response 
when considered against reasonable alternatives. 

6.11 In parallel with the SA, the Council will also carry out a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA).  This has a slightly narrower focus than the SA, in that it considers only 
the environmental effects of the Local Plan whereas the SA also looks at the wider economic 
and social effects.

6.12 In accordance with requirements of the relevant Regulations, the Council will consult 
the relevant consultation bodies (Historic England, Natural England and the Environment 
Agency) when deciding on the scope and level of detail to be included in the SA/SEA.23

6.13 The Council will consult and invite public representations on the SA/SEA’s alongside 
consultation on Local Plan documents as part of an on-going and iterative process.

6.14 Providing Feedback on Local Plan documents in preparation

6.15 It is important that the public and other stakeholders are kept informed of issues 
raised as a result of consultations as a Local Plan progresses towards adoption and the 
position that the Council intends to take toward them.  

6.16 Before proceeding to the next stage in the plan making process, a report will be 
prepared for the consideration of members of the Council on representations received so 
that this information can help inform decisions to be made.  Such reports will be made 
publicly available via the Council’s website.

6.18 A formal consultation report will also be submitted alongside the draft Local Plan at 
the examination stage (Regulation 24).

23 See Regulations 12 and 4 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 at https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/made 

Page 43

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

23

7. Stages the Council will go through in making or revising a 
Supplementary Planning Document.

7.1 The Council is also given powers under legislation to prepare and adopt what are 
known as Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)24. These documents add further detail 
on policies in the local plan.  They can be used to provide guidance for the development of 
particular sites or on specific issues such as design. They are capable of being a material 
consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan itself.  They 
must be consistent with the local plan they are intended to support and cannot be used as a 
means of introducing or changing policy.

7.2 Existing SPDs and other guidance (including Conservation Area Appraisals) adopted 
by the Council are available on line at  http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-
building/supplementary-planning-guidance/supplementary-planning-guidance 

7.3 The Council is no longer required to specify within its Local Development Scheme 
that it intends to produce an SPD in advance.  Also, it is not necessary to undertake a 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) when preparing or adopting an SPD, although under 
exceptional circumstances a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) may be required 
where it is likely to result in significant environmental effects that were not assessed during 
the preparation of the Local Plan or other development plan documents.

7.4 Whilst the stages of preparation of an SPD are often similar to local plan documents 
forming part of the development plan, they are not subject to independent examination.  Also, 
there are no formal requirements to consult the public at specific stages during the 
preparation of an SPD, prior to it being adopted.

7.5 However, the Council is required to consult the public for a minimum period of 4 
weeks before an SPD is adopted and is obliged to take any representations received into 
consideration when deciding whether or not to adopt it.  Depending on the scope and 
purpose of the SPD, the Council may also undertake informal discussions and consultations 
with relevant stakeholders prior to wider public consultation.  Where relevant, the Council will 
consult and invite representations from the public and other stakeholders on any SEAs or 
screening reports/statements alongside the formal consultation on SPDs.

24 The regulations governing the production of SPDs are set out in Part 5 of the  Town and Country 
Planning (Local Plan)(England) Regulations 2012 at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made 

Page 44

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/supplementary-planning-guidance/supplementary-planning-guidance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/supplementary-planning-guidance/supplementary-planning-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

24

How the Council will engage at the SPD draft stage (prior to adoption)

The Council will undertake a consultation exercise for a minimum period of 4 weeks prior to 
the adoption of any SPD as per the legal requirement.  In so doing, it will use a variety of 
methods to consult and engage with the local community and other stakeholders.  These will 
include:

 Public consultation on documents by e mail and/or letter – including to those who 
have requested to be included on the Council’s consultation database.

 Consultation with the specific and general consultation bodies (including Parish 
Councils in the area) as per the local plan process set out above.

 Publicity on consultation by press notice
 Publicity and consultation via the Council’s website.
 Deposit of consultation materials for inspection at the Civic Centre and in local 

libraries.
 The Council may also use social media to publicise and update on the consultation 

process as appropriate.

The Council will also consider whether it would be beneficial to offer meetings or mount 
public exhibitions/drop in events where appropriate to do so.  In so doing and in considering 
representations (which may be in paper or electronic form, with both being accorded equal 
weight) regard will also be had to the Council’s responsibilities under the Equalities Act 
2010.

Steps the Council will take when adopting an SPD

Similar to the consultation on Local Plan documents, the Council will prepare a statement 
setting out the key issues that have been raised as a result of public consultation and how 
they have been considered in the SPD.  This will be made publically available through the 
Council’s website, with representations received reported to the Council when a decision is 
to be made on whether to adopt.  

As per the Local Plan process, the Council’s planning consultation webpage will also 
maintain a record of individual representations made on the draft SPD, consistent with legal 
requirements under the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2018. 

The Council will notify members of the public and other stakeholders of any decision to adopt 
the SPD through its website and directly to those persons who requested to be notified by 
email and/or letter and make both the SPD and an adoption statement publically available as 
per legal requirements25.

25 See Regulation 14 to the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 
at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/14/made 

Page 45

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/14/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

25

8. Stages the Council will go through in preparing Part 1 and 
Part 2 of its Brownfield Land Register

8.1 The Council is required26 to prepare, maintain and publish a register of previously 
developed land27 (the Brownfield Land Register) in its area which is split into two parts:

 Part 1 includes a list of all previously developed sites that are assessed as being 
suitable for housing and meet the criteria in the Regulations.

 Part 2 includes a list of sites from Part 1 that have been granted Permission in 
Principle (PIP) by the Council.  This is not mandatory and it is for Councils to decide 
whether sites should be included in Part 2.  

8.2 In Gravesham, much of the borough lies within an area that could potentially impact 
on internationally designated wildlife sites (i.e. sites covered by the provisions of the EU 
Habitats Regulations) and is likely to constrain inclusion in Part 2 under the Brownfield Land 
Regulations.28 In addition, sites that would require Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
would also be precluded from inclusion in the Part 2 register.  

8.3 To date, the Council has only progressed Part 1 of its Brownfield Land Register, 
details of which are available on our website at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register

8.4 Once a site has a Permission in Principle (PIP) and has been included in Part 2, a 
Technical Details Consent then needs to be submitted by the applicant to the Council and 
approved in writing before there is permission to build.  This is similar in content to a normal 
planning application, although the principle of development will have been agreed in 
advance.

8.5 Further advice on Brownfield Land Registers is set out in the Government’s Planning 
Practice Guidance on-line at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/brownfield-land-registers .

8.6 There are differing requirements for consultation before a site can be entered onto 
either Part 1 or Part 2 of the Council’s Brownfield Land Register.  Consultation on Part 1 is 
discretionary.  The Council may notify landowners and developers of sites either newly 
included in, or newly removed from, Part 1.

8.7 Consultation on PIPs is mandatory before they are included in Part 2 of the Register. 
The Council will consult for either 42 or 21 days, as required by the Town and Country 
Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017.  The Regulations also require the 
intention to include a site within Part 2 of the Register to be publicised by site notice for a 

26 See the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made and the Town and Country Planning 
(Permissions in Principle) Order 2017 at http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/402/contents/made 
27 Previously developed land in this context has the same meaning as prescribed by the NPPF (2019) 
and as set out in the Glossary to this document. 
28 See http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/regulation/14/made .  For normal residential 
planning applications within this zone, the Council applies a tariff system to assist in offsetting 
adverse impacts – see http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-
conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes 

Page 46

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/brownfield-land-registers
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/402/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/regulation/14/made
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/nature-conservation-and-landscape/thames-estuary-and-marshes


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

26

minimum period of 21 days and by publishing the relevant information on the Council’s 
website, allowing a minimum 14 days for representations to be made.  

8.8 Other requirements in relation to consulting Parish Councils and neighbourhood 
forums; infrastructure managers (in the case of land within 10 metres of a railway); county 
planning authorities; and other persons, bodies or authorities may also apply.29

8.9 Any representations received as a result of consultation will be taken into account by 
the Council in determining whether or not a site should be included on Part 2 of the Register.

8.10 The Council may also carry out informal discussions with landowners and 
developers, prior to publishing Part 1 and Part 2 of its Brownfield Land Register, in order to 
gain accurate information about site ownership and the ability to deliver as well as identifying 
the amount and type of development that might be accommodated on a site.

8.11 The Council’s Brownfield Land Register is published on its website.  It should be 
noted that the identification of sites for inclusion in the Register will be an on-going 
continuous process and the Council will seek to update it at least once a year, usually at the 
same time as its other monitoring reports are prepared and updated.  Information on the 
Register will also be reported to the Government each year.

8.12 Further consultation will be undertaken at the Development Management stage 
where any site included in Part 2 of the Register is subject to an application for Technical 
Details Consent.  

8.13 The following sets out what consultation and publicity the Council will undertake 
when compiling its Part 1 and Part 2 Brownfield Land Register.

29 See Regulations 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) 
Regulations 2017 at 

Page 47



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

27

Consultation and publicity on the Council’s Brownfield Land Register

Part 1 Part 2

Notification Optional
(For sites being entered and 

sites being removed from 
Part 1)

Mandatory
(For sites being entered and 

sites being removed from 
Part 2, following public 

consultation)
Public consultation on the 
register

Not required under 
Regulations

Yes

(42 days the first time Part 2 
is published and 21 days 

thereafter)30

Publicity Part 1 of the Brownfield 
Land Register is largely 
compiled from the 
Council’s existing 
Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment and therefore 
has regard to sites 
submitted for 
consideration by potential 
developers and 
landowners, as well as 
sites already known to the 
Council through previous 
development management 
activity.

The Part 1 Register is 
publicised through the 
Council’s website at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.u
k/home/planning-and-
building/local-
plan/brownfield-land-register

Publicity/consultation on 
inclusion or removal of 
sites from the Part 2 
Register is mandatory and 
the Council will advertise 
via site notice/its website/e 
mail and letter as required 
by the Town and County 
Planning (Brownfield Land 
Register) Regulations 2017 

30 See Regulation 9 of the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017.

Page 48

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/brownfield-land-register


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

28

9. Gravesham Self Build and Custom Building Register

9.1 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 requires the Council to keep a 
register of individuals and associations of individuals who are seeking to acquire serviced 
plots of land for self-build and custom housebuilding projects in its area. 

9.2 A serviced plot is defined as a plot of land which has access to a public highway; and 
has connections for electricity, water and waste water. There is a duty placed on the Council 
to have regard to the register when carrying out its planning, housing, land disposal and 
regeneration functions. 

9.2 Whilst the register provides valuable information on the demand for self-build and 
custom house building in Gravesham and forms a key part of the evidence base of the 
demand for this type of housing, there is no requirement to consult on it.  The numbers of 
people registered on it are reported through the Council’s annual Authority Monitoring Report 
(AMR) and direct to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
for statistical purposes.  Details of those who have chosen to register are confidential.

9.3 Further information of the Gravesham Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Register 
and fee payable are available on-line at 
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/selfbuild/consultationHome 

Page 49

https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/selfbuild/consultationHome


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

29

10. How the Council will support the preparation or revision of 
Neighbourhood Plans.

10.1 Neighbourhood Plans were introduced under the Localism Act 201131.  The 
preparation of such plans gives communities direct power to develop a shared vision for their 
neighbourhood and shape the development and growth of their local area. They can be 
prepared by Parish Councils, neighbourhood forums or community organisations that meet 
the criteria for qualifying bodies.  They are not prepared by the Borough Council.

10.2 Whilst a neighbourhood plan sets out the policies for the development and use of 
land in the area it covers, they are still required to be in general conformity with strategic 
policies in the Local Plan.  In particular, Government guidance requires that these policies 
set out a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas from the overall housing 
requirement for the borough.  Once adopted, a Neighbourhood Plan would have the same 
status as the Local Plan.

10.4 Those preparing neighbourhood plans are required to follow a legal process, which 
includes community consultation to ensure that the views of local people and other 
stakeholders have informed the content of the plan.  

10.5 Guidance on the preparation of neighbourhood plans can be found in the 
Government’s Planning Practice Guidance at:  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-
planning--2

10.6 The Council will assist communities in the process of preparing a neighbourhood 
development plan32 but the plan-making process itself must be community led.  Such plans 
are also required to undergo an independent examination and be subject to a referendum of 
the local community.  The Council has a statutory role in the preparation of neighbourhood 
development plans and orders, as required by the Neighbourhood Planning (General 
Regulations) 2012 (as amended).33  This role includes:

 Designating the neighbourhood area to be covered by the plan (regulation 5 stage) 
and neighbourhood forum (Regulation 8 stage);

 Publicising the submitted plan (Regulation 16 stage);
 Arranging and funding the examination (Regulation 17 stage);
 Publicising the examiner’s report and plan proposal decision (Regulation 18 stage);
 Arranging and funding the referendum; and
 Adopting the plan (Regulation 26 stage).

10.7 The Council will comply with its legal duties in respect of the preparation and 
adoption of neighbourhood development plans and seek to provide help and assistance to 
qualifying bodies within the limits of resources available.  Areas where the Council may be 
able to provide assistance include:

31 See http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 
32 This is the legal term for a Neighbourhood Plan under the legislation and Regulations.
33 See http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made .  A legal compliance guide has 
also been published by the Local Government Association/Planning Advisory Service dated 2015 
which is useful in understanding the system – see 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal-compliance-guide-pr-dc9.pdf 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/legal-compliance-guide-pr-dc9.pdf


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

30

 Providing advice on plan making process;
 Providing assistance on interpreting national and local planning policies to minimise 

conflicts;
 Providing electronic copies of background and evidence base documents;
 Helping the qualifying body to identify other possible sources of evidence that it can 

collate itself;
 Providing advice on public consultation;
 Supporting community events and workshops where appropriate; and
 Providing constructive comments on emerging plans or orders.

10.8 However, the Council would advise that undertaking to prepare a neighbourhood 
plan involves a considerable commitment in terms of time and resources by the qualifying 
body and early contact with the Council to discuss options would always be a prudent first 
step. 

Page 51



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

31

11. How the Council will consult the public on planning and other 
applications and development proposals.

11.1 This section of the SCI sets out how the Council will engage with and consult the 
community and other stakeholders when it receives and determines different types of 
planning or similar applications.  Information on the main types of consent that may be 
applied for (both on-line and direct to the Council) is available on the Planning Portal website 
at

 https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200126/applications/60/consent_types 

11.2 Planning legislation defines ‘development’ as including34: 

 building operations (eg structural alterations, construction, rebuilding, most 
demolition);

 a material change in the use of land or buildings;
 engineering operations (eg groundworks);
 mining operations;
 other operations normally undertaken by a person carrying on a business as a 

builder.
 subdivision of a building (including any part it) used as a dwellinghouse for use as 2 

or more separate dwelling houses

11.3 Planning permission is required for ‘development‘ unless specifically excluded by the 
legislation35.  Certain other types of work and changes of use can be carried out without the 
need for planning permission under what are known as ‘permitted development rights’.  The 
majority of these permitted development rights are set out in The Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended)36.  

11.4 This sets out the circumstances under which such rights do, or do not, apply.  
Permitted development rights apply to many common projects for dwellinghouses but do not 
apply to flats, maisonettes or other buildings.  Commercial properties have different 
permitted development rights to dwellinghouses.  Within Conservation Areas, Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, and for Listed Buildings, permitted development rights are more 
restricted.    Before some permitted development rights can be used, the developer is 

34 The legal definition of ‘development’ for planning purposes and what is excluded from the term is 
set out in s.55 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 at 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/55 .  Guidance on this is also provided on-line at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required 
35 Most permitted development rights are contained in the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended).  These are complex and subject to change and 
advice should be sought from the Council as to whether they may apply in particular instances.  
Guidance is provided on-line relating to permitted development rights applying to householders at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/60
6669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf.  It is also possible to 
apply for a Certificate of Lawfulness to determine whether or not works or a change of use can occur 
without the benefit of planning permission.
36 A detailed explanation of how permitted development rights operate is set out in the Government’s 
Planning Practice Guidance at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required 

Page 52

https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200126/applications/60/consent_types
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/55
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

32

required to first obtain ‘prior approval’ in relation to specific aspects of the development from 
the local planning authority.  This prior approval is required only in a minority of cases. 

11.5 It should also be noted that some permitted development rights may be removed 
either by an Article 4 Direction or by planning conditions attached to a previous grant of 
planning permission37.  In these circumstances, an application for planning permission would 
be required. 

11.6 Permission or consent may also be required for other types of work either under 
other legislation or separate provisions – for example works to Listed Buildings, protected 
trees, and advertisements. In addition, other consents may also be required which are 
covered by separate legislation that are not dealt with through the planning system – i.e. 
Building Regulation consent or environmental licencing etc.

11.7 How the Development Management process works

11.8 The Development Management team is responsible for making both decisions and 
putting forward recommendations to the Council’s Regulatory Board (Planning) on planning 
applications and other similar applications.38 Applications for planning permission are 
determined in accordance with policies set out in the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

11.9 Material considerations that should be taken into consideration in determining 
planning applications or at appeal include (but are not limited to):

 Overlooking/loss of privacy
 Loss of light or overshadowing
 Parking
 Highway safety
 Traffic
 Noise
 Effect on listed building and conservation area
 Layout and density of building
 Design, appearance and materials
 Government policy
 Disabled persons' access
 Proposals in the Development Plan
 Previous planning decisions (including appeal decisions)
 Nature conservation

However, issues such as loss of private views, negative effect on the value of properties, the 
impact of private covenants, boundary disputes or the suitability of the development in 

37 Article 4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 
(as amended) – see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf 
38 The Council’s current scheme of delegation to officers on planning applications and the area of 
jurisdiction of the Regulatory Board (Planning) are set out within the Council’s constitution, available 
on-line at  
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=2.222030
939.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374.

Page 53

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=2.222030939.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=481&path=480&_ga=2.222030939.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

33

regard to separate approval regimes, such as Building Control or premises Licensing are not 
material considerations. 

11.10 Most people get involved with the planning system when they either want to make 
changes to their own property or want to oppose a planning or other application with which 
they disagree. Whilst the Council will seek to notify affected parties on planning or other 
types of application in order to understand both issues and levels of support or opposition, 
this is only one factor that has to be taken into account when reaching a decision and it may 
not be the decisive one.

11.11 It is also important to note that there is a difference between ‘consulting’ statutory 
bodies on planning applications and ‘notifying’ members of the public so they can participate 
in the planning process.  The Council expects to receive a response from statutory 
consultees39, whereas involvement from members of the public is voluntary. In general 
terms, the Council is able to take decisions on planning applications without responses from 
the public typically following a 21 day consultation period (where a bank holiday falls within 
this period, it is added to the 21 days).  Where responses are received, these have to be 
taken into consideration, where relevant to planning, in the consideration of the application.

11.12 Most planning applications are decided by the Council’s Planning Manager 
(Development Management) under delegated powers, and not by the Regulatory Board. The 
planning applications that are referred to the Regulatory Board for decision are usually highly 
complex, major or contentious applications, referred to the Board either by a planning officer 
or Councillor.  The Board meets approximately 11 times a year to deal with applications 
placed before it.

11.13 Further details on how planning decisions are made; how to make representations; 
and opportunities for public speaking at Regulatory Board are set out on the Council’s 
website at http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-
permission/how-is-our-decision-made 

11.14 Pre-application advice and consultation

11.15 The Council offers a range of paid pre-application advice services to those 
considering a development proposal.  This provides applicants with an opportunity to identify 
and try to resolve any problems with their proposals; establish what supporting documents 
and plans would be required as part of the application; and, if applicable, can also provide an 
initial ‘without prejudice’ view as to whether a proposal is likely to be granted planning 
permission or not.  This can be very effective in identifying the likelihood of gaining 
permission at an early stage, and help to prevent unnecessary costs and delays at later 
stages.   

11.16 Further information on how to apply for pre-application advice; the service offered; 
and list of fees is available on the Council’s website at  
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-
permission/pre-application-service 

39 Details of the Statutory consultees the Council is obliged to consult on different types of application 
is set out in the appendices to this SCI. 

Page 54

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/how-is-our-decision-made
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/how-is-our-decision-made
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/apply-for-planning-permission/pre-application-service


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

34

11.17 In addition to the above pre-application service, the Council strongly encourages 
applicants to undertake public pre-application consultation with potentially interested / 
affected parties to identify and resolve issues in advance of submission.  Such front-loading 
should be seen as an opportunity to overcome delays within the planning process, reducing 
the risk of refusal or the need to deal with such issues at the application stage40.

11.18 For householder and minor applications, this may simply mean discussing proposals 
with owners of adjoining properties and properly identifying any potential constraints that 
need to be addressed and dealing with these at the pre-application stage.

11.19  For major planning application proposals41, the Council will seek to discuss the form 
of any such developer consultation with the applicant as part of its pre-application advice 
service.

11.20 Such early consultation should be as open as possible and provide a genuine 
opportunity for the local community to influence the design and form of the development 
proposed.  The extent of consultation will depend on the nature of the proposal itself and its 
likely impact – including impact on the local highway network and demands that may be 
placed on local services.  Factors such as scale, location, prominence, proximity and 
sensitivity of adjoining development are all likely to be relevant. 

11.21 Under certain circumstances, the Council will also encourage developers to enter into 
a Planning Performance Agreement.  Such agreements provide a project plan and bespoke 
timetable for the determination of any associated application.  It also makes sure that the 
Council has the necessary resources to make a timely and informed decision on any 
application whilst ensuring that Councillors, stakeholders and local communities are involved 
in any proposals.  Such agreements should also help with the submission of higher quality 
applications that are capable of delivering the sustainable forms of development needed in 
our area.

11.22 For all proposals, sharing information can help overcome potential objections and 
may provide an opportunity for improvements to the design and layout of schemes.  
Applicants are therefore advised to show what consultation has taken place during the 
preparation of their schemes.

11.23 Planning applications

Publicity, Notification & Consultation

11.24 Minimum legal requirements for publicity on planning and other forms of application 
are set out in Regulations issued by the Government42.    As well as publishing information 

40 Government advice on pre-application consultation is set out in Planning Practice Guidance at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/before-submitting-an-application 
41 In this context, ‘major development’ is defined as residential schemes for 10 or more dwellings or 
for a site of 0.5 hectares or more; or a commercial scheme of 1,000m2 of floorspace or for a site of 1 
hectare or more.  For full definition, see Glossary and definition under Article 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made  
42 See in particular, the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 
2015 (as amended) - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made ; the Town and 
Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 in relation to permissions in principle 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/before-submitting-an-application
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

35

on the Council’s website, the Regulations require certain specified applications to be 
publicised by way of site notice, a public notice in local newspapers and in some cases, by 
notification to adjoining owners or occupiers.  Parish Councils are also notified of planning 
applications within their areas and are invited to make comments.  A range of applications 
do not require any form of publicity or consultation.

11.25 A weekly/monthly list of validated and decided planning applications, help on how to 
find details of applications and advice on how to comment on a planning application can be 
found on the Council’s website at: 

 http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/view-planning-
applications/overview .

11.26 Within the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation area, the Council is only a consultee 
on planning applications, as it is also in regard to Kent County Council’s role as minerals and 
waste planning authority or (in some cases) relating to its own premises.  Because these are 
dealt with separately, those wishing to look at or comment on such applications should 
consult either: 

 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation’s planning website at  
http://applications.ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/online-applications/ 

 Or the Kent County Council’s planning applications website at 
https://www.kentplanningapplications.co.uk/Disclaimer?returnUrl=%2F .

11.27 The extent of consultation on a planning application, and the range of statutory 
consultees to be consulted and notifications issued, will vary according to the nature of the 
application and its location.  Representations submitted on a planning application form part 
of the Council’s publicly accessible register, published on the Council’s website.  

11.29 Whilst a developer may wish to alter an application following submission, there is 
only limited scope to do so, and amendments will only be accepted at the discretion of the 
case officer.  These may be accepted where it leads to a more satisfactory outcome but only 
where they do not significantly alter the character or description of the proposal.  

11.30 There are no general statutory requirements to re-consult on an amended planning 
application and the Council will not re-consult on every amendment proposed. Rather the 
case officer will make an assessment of the proposed amendment having regard to the 
nature and scale of the proposed alteration in order to determine whether further 
consultation is required. 

11.31 In those situations where the council considers re-consultation is necessary, a 
reduced time period may be allowed to make further representations. Copies of the 
amended plans will be available to view on the council’s website and the proposal 
description normally has the text “REVISED PLANS” annotated on the planning application 
description

granted upon entry of a site in Part 2 of a Council’s Brownfield Land Register - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made ; and the Town and Country Planning 
(permission in Principle) Order 2017 for consequential amendments to the 2015 Order - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/402/made/data.pdf 

Page 56

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/view-planning-applications/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/view-planning-applications/overview
http://applications.ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/online-applications/
https://www.kentplanningapplications.co.uk/Disclaimer?returnUrl=%2F
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/402/made/data.pdf


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

36

Decision Time Frames

11.32 The statutory time limit for the Council to determine most planning applications is 8 
weeks, whilst with major planning application proposals it is 13 weeks, or 16 weeks if the 
application is subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)43.  These time limits 
may be extended with the agreement of the applicant.  Applications such as ‘Prior Approvals’ 
often have different, and reduced timeframes.

11.33 In addition to the ability of landowners to gain ‘Permission in Principle’ to develop 
sites by inclusion on Part 2 of the Council’s Brownfield Land Register, it is now possible to 
apply for such a permission in the case of development comprising nine residential units or 
less, with less than 1,000 m2 commercial floorspace and/or on a site of less than 1 hectare.44  
This is a two stage process where once an applicant is granted ‘Permission in Principle’, a 
subsequent ‘Technical Details Consent’ application has to be submitted for approval.

11.34 The scope of a planning ‘Permission in Principle’ is limited to the location, land use 
and amount of development that may be acceptable on a site, with all other details to be 
agreed at the ‘Technical Details Consent’ stage.

11.35 The statutory time limit for the Council to determine applications for a ‘Permission in 
Principle’ application is 5 weeks, unless a longer period is agreed with the applicant.  
Because of the reduced time-frame compared to normal planning applications, there are 
also reduced requirements in relation to publicity.  

11.36 Further publicity and consultation is required at the ‘Technical Details Consent’ stage. 
Unless otherwise agreed with the applicant, the statutory time limits for determining 
applications for ‘Technical Details Consent’ are 10 weeks for major development45 and 5 
weeks for other forms of development – unless the application is subject to Environmental 
Impact Assessment, in which case the normal 16 week time period applies.

Decision Making

11.38 Once a planning application has been determined, the applicant / agent is informed 
of the outcome and a decision notice posted on the Council’s website as part of the 

43 Only proposals likely to have a significant environmental impact require Environmental Impact 
Assessment, as set out under Regulations issued by the Government – see 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made .  Under certain circumstances, 
Appropriate Assessment may also be required under the Habitats Regulations, where a potential 
significant impact on international designated areas of nature conservation importance cannot be 
ruled out – see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made .
44 The Council has not, as yet, progressed Part 2 of its Brownfield Land Register but details of the 
process should it chose to do so and the form consultation would take is set out earlier in this 
document under Section 8 above.  Further information on applications for Permission in Principle and 
subsequent Technical Details Consent are available on the Government’s Planning Policy Practice 
website at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle .  This also sets out the restrictions 
which apply to the granting of ‘permission in principle’ where there is potential for significant impacts 
on qualifying ‘European Sites’ designated for their international nature conservation importance and 
Habitats Regulation considerations apply.
45 In this context, ‘major development’ is defined as residential schemes for 10 or more dwellings or 
for a site of 0.5 hectares or more; or a commercial scheme of 1,000m2 of floorspace or for a site of 1 
hectare or more.  For full definition, see Glossary and definition under Article 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made  .  

Page 57

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

37

application documentation. As explained above, lists of all planning application decisions can 
be viewed on a weekly and monthly basis online. In addition, reports to Regulatory Board 
include lists of applications determined under delegated powers. 

11.39 Planning appeals

10.40 Applicants have the right to appeal against a refusal of a planning application (and 
other forms of application) or against any conditions imposed by the Council or if the Council 
does not make a decision on an application within the statutory timeframe and no extension 
has been agreed with them.  There are no provisions for third parties, including objectors, to 
appeal against a decision on the merits of the proposal. The statutory requirements for 
appeals are set out in planning Regulations issued by the Government and these vary 
according to the type of application subject of the appeal.46

11.41 The appeals process is managed by the Planning Inspectorate in accordance with 
the Regulations and their published procedural guidelines.  An appeal may be dealt with in 
three main ways – written representation, informal hearing or public inquiry.  

11.42 Details of current and determined appeals in Gravesham are available by searching 
on the Council’s planning website at

 https://plan.gravesham.gov.uk/online-
applications/?_ga=2.222037083.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374 

and on the Planning Inspectorate website at 

 https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/CaseSearch.aspx .

11.43 Those making representations on planning applications that are subsequently 
refused, or not determined and then subsequently appealed will be notified of the fact that 
an appeal has been made in order that they can chose to further engage in the process.  
Where required under the Regulations, notices will also be posted on the Council’s website, 
on site and in the local press.  In reaching its decision, the Planning Inspector will take 
account of all comments previously considered by the Council in regard to that application.

11.44 Planning Enforcement

11.45 The Council has powers to take enforcement action within its area of jurisdiction 
against unauthorised development that requires planning permission, or a breach of 
planning conditions attached to a planning permission. The Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation is responsible for planning enforcement within its own area, whilst Kent County 
Council is responsible for enforcement relating to minerals and waste development.  

11.46 The Council’s power to enforce is discretionary, although the duty to consider, and 
where necessary investigate breaches of planning control is not.  In deciding whether or not 

46 Further information on appeals is available of the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance 
website at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appeals  and at the Planning Inspectorate website at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate 

Page 58

https://plan.gravesham.gov.uk/online-applications/?_ga=2.222037083.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374
https://plan.gravesham.gov.uk/online-applications/?_ga=2.222037083.2127015937.1559040276-1390412748.1531306374
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/CaseSearch.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appeals
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

38

enforcement action should be taken, the Council will have regard to policies set out in the 
development plan; the Council’s planning enforcement policy; Government Guidance on 
Ensuring Effective Enforcement; and other material considerations47.  

11.47 The Council will attempt to negotiate a solution to any breach of planning control first 
but, should this not be possible, formal enforcement action may be taken.  Steps that may be 
taken include the issuing of:

 An enforcement notice
 A stop notice
 A temporary stop notice
 A breach of condition notice.
 A planning enforcement order

In the most serious cases, consideration may be given to applying for a legal injunction 
requiring that the breach cease with immediate effect.

11.48 It is a criminal offence on summary conviction to breach a formal enforcement notice.  
An appeal against an enforcement notice can be made to the Planning Inspectorate before 
the notice takes effect.  The Planning Inspectorate will decide on any such appeal and has 
the power to grant planning permission for all or part of the development.  Undertaking 
unauthorised works to a Listed Building which require Listed Building Consent is in itself an 
offence that may result in prosecution. 

11.49 Community involvement in planning applications

11.50 Appendix 1 to this document sets out the minimum statutory requirements for 
consultation with the public on planning and other applications, which the Council will meet, 
and normally seek to exceed where considered necessary on a case-by-case basis.  

11.51 Details of statutory consultees required to be consulted under the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure)(England) Order 2015 (as amended) in 
respect of different types of application can be found on the Government’s Planning Practice 
Guidance website under Table 2 at  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-
decision-matters 

47 Government Guidance of Ensuring Effective Enforcement is available on-line at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement .  The Council’s Planning Enforcement 
Policy document is in preparation and will be consulted on separately.  Further details on how the 
Council enforces against unauthorised development and how to report breaches of planning control 
are available on the Council’s website at http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-
building/planning-enforcement/overview  

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/consultation-and-pre-decision-matters
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/overview


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

39

12. Reviewing and updating this Statement of Community 
Involvement

12.1 The Council will include a section in its annual Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) on 
consultations undertaken in the previous year and the effectiveness of those consultations in 
engaging with the local community.  In so doing, responses received will be taken into 
account in determining whether the approach being taken at the time should be modified.  In 
any event, this SCI will be subject to review every five years having regard to any changes in 
legislation or Government guidance.

12.2 In the interim, the on-line version of this SCI will be updated as necessary to ensure 
that minor changes to consultation arrangements introduced by legislation and binding on 
the Council are reflected in the text.  Any such changes will be fully referenced with a link to 
the legislation or guidance that brought them about.

12.3 Links to websites have also been provided so that members of the community can 
easily find further information on the planning system and its operation.  These too will be 
updated, where it is found that the links have changed. 

Page 60



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

40

Appendix 1 - Publicity requirements for planning and other related applications

An additional day for publicity will normally be given where there is a Bank Holiday falling within the consultation period. The minimum time 
periods given for responses to publicity relate to when application was publicised by that means and not subsequent re-publication/ 
consultation.  Whilst the table below refers to the minimum 14 days allowed for response to a notice on the Council’s website or in a local 
newspaper, a 21 day (the statutory 21 days is in addition to bank holidays, where applicable) period may be allowed where this coincides with 
the expiry period of other publicity.  Representations received after the expiry date and prior to determining any application will normally be 
taken into consideration if received in a timely manner.  References to the 2015 Order in the table that follows should be taken to mean those 
Regulations as amended.

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

Planning application for Major 
Development (outline or full)

‘Major Development’ means 
development involving any one or 
more of the following 

(a) The wining or working of 
minerals of use of land for 
mineral-working:deposits;

(b) Waste developments;
(c) The provision of 

dwellinghouses where –
i. The number of 

dwellinghouses to 
be provided is 10 or 

 Council’s website (21 days)
 Press notice in local paper (21 

days)
 Site notice (21 days)
 Serving notice by letter/e-mail 

to any adjoining 
owner/occupier (21 days)

 Serving notice on Parish 
Council, in parished areas (21 
days)48

 Serving notice on 
infrastructure manager, where 
site is within 10 metres of 
relevant railway land (21 days)

 Serving notice on statutory 

Unless otherwise agreed between 
the applicant and the Council, the 
time period for determining an 
application for Major Development 
is 13 weeks.

The Council will give consideration 
to wider publicity for proposals 
involving Major Development on a 
case-by-case basis depending on 
the scale of the proposal, 
sensitivity of the site and 
surroundings, and potential for 
impact.

The Council will also encourage 

Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015

See 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/
2015/595/contents/made 

48 For the purposes of this table, the same consultation provisions applicable to Parish Councils apply to Neighbourhood Forums where these have been 
constituted to draw up Neighbourhood Development Plans.  In areas with Parish Councils, these would be the Neighbourhood Forum in any event.

P
age 61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

41

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

more; or 
ii. The development is 

to be carried out on 
a site having an 
area of 0.5 hectares 
or more and it is not 
known whether the 
development falls 
within sub-
paragraph (c)(i) 

(d) The provision of a building 
or buildings where the floor 
space to be created by the 
development is 1,000 
square metres or more; or

(e) Development carried out 
on a site having an area of 
1 hectare or more.

consultees in accordance with 
Schedule 4 to the 2015 
Regulations (21 days)

the applicant to undertake pre-
application consultations with the 
local community of major 
development schemes, including 
engagement methods such as 
exhibitions, consultation events 
and leaflet drops.

Applicants intending to submit 
proposals for schemes involving 
Major Development are also 
advised to take advantage of the 
Council’s pre-application advice 
service.

Planning application for Minor 
Development (outline or full)

(i.e. proposals at a smaller scale 
than Major Development set out 
above)

 Council’s website (21 days)
 Serving notice by letter/e-mail 

to any adjoining 
owner/occupier (21 days)

 Serving notice on Parish 
Council, in parished areas (21 
days)

 Serving notice on 

Unless otherwise agreed between 
the applicant and the Council, the 
time period for determining an 
application for Minor Development 
is 8 weeks.

The Council will give consideration 
to wider publicity for proposals 
involving Minor Development on a 

Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015

P
age 62



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

42

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

infrastructure manager, where 
site is within 10 metres of 
relevant railway land (21 days)

 Serving notice on statutory 
consultees in accordance with 
Schedule 4 to the 2015 
Regulations (21 days).

case-by-case basis depending on 
the scale of the proposal, 
sensitivity of the site and 
surroundings, and potential for 
impact.

The Council may also/or as an 
alternative display a site notice (21 
days) where the identity of 
adjoining owners/occupier is 
unclear or the site is in an isolated 
position.

Those proposing to undertake 
Minor Development are 
encouraged to discuss their 
schemes with owners and 
occupiers of adjoining properties 
to establish context and potential 
impact.  Once again, the Council’s 
pre-application advice service is 
available for those wishing to 
discuss their schemes.

Householder applications

(i.e. proposals to alter or enlarge a 
single house, including works with 
the boundary/garden of the 

 Council’s website (21 days)
 Serving notice by letter/e-mail 

to any adjoining 
owner/occupier (21 days)

 Serving notice on Parish 

Unless otherwise agreed between 
the applicant and the Council, the 
time period for determining a 
Householder Application is 8 
weeks.

Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015

P
age 63



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

43

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

property, such as:

 Extensions;
 Conservatories;
 Loft Conversions;
 Dormer Windows;
 Garages, car ports and 

outbuildings.

Please note that permitted 
development rights may apply in 
some cases where a separate 
grant of planning permission is not 
required.  Please check before 
commencing works or seek a 
Certificate of Lawfulness of 
Proposed Development.

Council, in parished areas (21 
days)

 Serving notice on 
infrastructure manager, where 
site is within 10 metres of 
relevant railway land (21 days)

 Applications may be viewed on 
the Council’s website.

The Council will give consideration 
to wider publicity for proposals 
involving householder 
development on a case-by-case 
basis depending on the scale of 
the proposal, sensitivity of the site 
and surroundings, and potential for 
impact.

The Council may also/or as an 
alternative display a site notice (21 
days) where the identity of 
adjoining owners/occupier is 
unclear or the site is in an isolated 
position.

Those proposing to undertake 
such developments are 
encouraged to discuss their 
schemes with owners and 
occupiers of adjoining properties 
to establish context and potential 
impact.  Once again, the Council’s 
pre-application advice service is 
available for those wishing to 
discuss their schemes.

P
age 64



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

44

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

Applications subject to 
Environmental Impact 
Assessment which are 
accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement

In addition to the normal 
requirements regarding publicity 
and consultation set out above, 
both press and site notices will be 
used to inform the 
public/consultees that the 
application is subject to 
Environmental Impact 
Assessment, giving a minimum 30 
days to respond.  

Applications may be viewed on the 
Council’s.

The applicant must set out an 
address in the locality of the 
application site where the 
application and Environmental 
Statement will be available for 
inspection.

Unless the applicant has decided 
to provide an Environmental 
Statement of its own accord, the 
need to provide one is normally 
established via a Screening 
Opinion issued on request by the 
Local Planning Authority having 
regard to comments received from 
statutory consultees.  Similarly, the 
content of an Environmental 
Statement and its area of 
coverage are determined within a 
Scoping Opinion issued by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015

Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017

Applications that do not accord 
with the development plan for 
the area or affecting a public 
right of way to which Part 3 of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 applies.

In addition to the normal 
requirements regarding 
consultation and publicity set out 
above, any such proposal will be 
advertised on:

 The Council’s website (14 

Article 15 and 33 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015

P
age 65



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

45

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

days);
 By press notice (14 days); and 
 by site notice (21 days)
Applications may be viewed on the 
Council’s website.

Listed Building applications and 
applications affecting the 
setting of a Listed Building.

In addition to the normal 
requirements regarding 
consultation and publicity set out 
above, any such proposal will be 
advertised on:

 The Council’s website;
 By press notice; and 
 by site notice

Allowing 21 days to respond in the 
case of works affecting the exterior 
of a Listed Building or the interior 
of a Grade 1 or II* Listed Building..

Applications may be viewed n the 
Council’s website.

Articles 5 & 5A Planning (Listed 
Building and Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 (as amended).

Development affecting the 
character or appearance of a 
Conservation Area.

In addition to the normal 
requirements regarding 
consultation and publicity set out 
above, any such proposal will be 

Article 5 Planning (Listed Building 
and Conservation Areas) 
Regulations 1990 (as amended).

P
age 66



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

46

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

advertised on:

 The Council’s website;
 By press notice; and 
 By site notice
Allowing 21 days to respond.

Applications may be viewed on the 
Council’s website

Permission in Principle (PIP) 
Application

For details of what may be applied 
for under a PIP, see the main text 
of this SCI.  Such applications are 
intended to be a fast-track and low 
cost means of determining 
whether development relating to a 
specific (mainly housing) use 
would be acceptable on a site and 
the scale that would be 
appropriate.  

The Regulations only require that 
such applications be publicised by 
site notice and on the Council’s 
website for a period of 14 days.  
Other consultees are also required 
to be consulted, where required by 
the Regulations.  

Unless otherwise agreed between 
the applicant and the Council, the 
time period for determining 
Permission in Principle application 
is 5 weeks.

The Council will use its discretion 
to consult neighbours or 
owners/occupiers of adjoining 
properties as appropriate within 
the timescale allowed for 
determining any such application.  

This may mean that less than the 
normal 21 days would have to be 
allowed for responses.

The Town and Country Planning 
(Permission in Principle) 
(Amendment) Order 2017 see

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/
2017/1309/article/4/made 

See also the Government’s 
Planning Practice Guidance 
website at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/perm
ission-in-principle#consultation-
and-notification 

P
age 67

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1309/article/4/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

47

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

There is no statutory requirement 
to consult neighbours or 
owner/occupiers of adjoining 
properties.

Applications may be viewed on the 
Council’s website.

Technical Details Consent Technical Details Consent is the 
next stage where Permission in 
Principle (PIP) has been granted 
either by application or by 
inclusion of a site on Part 2 of the 
Council’s Brownfield Land 
Register. 

The fact that PIP is granted does 
not automatically mean that a 
Technical Details Consent would 
follow, as the application still has 
to be determined in accordance 
with both local and national policy, 
having regard to any other 
material considerations.

The form in which such an 
application is made is the same as 
an application for full planning 
permission but with the details of 

Unless otherwise agreed between 
the applicant and the Council, the 
time period for determining 
Technical Details Consent 
application for Major Development 
is 10 weeks, or for applications not 
involving Major Development, 5 
weeks.

See Articles 15 and 34 of the 
Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
and Government’s Planning 
Practice Guidance website at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/perm
ission-in-principle#consultation-
and-notification

P
age 68

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/permission-in-principle#consultation-and-notification


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

48

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

the PIP included in the description.  

21 days is allowed for responses 
to any on-line notice and 21 days 
for the site notice.  

Applications may be viewed on the 
Council’s website.

Works to Protected Trees and 
Hedgerow Applications

There are no statutory 
requirements to publicise 
applications for works to protected 
trees (Tree Preservation Orders); 
trees in conservation areas; or 
important hedgerows in the 
countryside considered to fall 
under the Hedgerow Regulations 
1997.

The Council will use its discretion 
to consult neighbours or 
owners/occupiers of adjoining 
properties as appropriate (using 
letters or site notices) within the 
timescale allowed for determining 
any such application.  

Details of how individual trees and 
trees in Conservation Areas are 
afforded protection are available 
on the Government’s Planning 
Practice Guidance website at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-
preservation-orders-and-trees-in-
conservation-areas and on the 
application of the Hedgerow 
Regulations 1997 at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/count
ryside-hedgerows-regulation-and-
management 

Applications relating to an 
advertisement

Not all advertisements require 
advertisement consent but it is an 
offence to display one that does 
without consent.  The system of 
control operates differently from 
normal planning controls with the 

The Council will give consideration 
to wider publicity for proposals for 
Advertisement Consent on a case-
by-case basis depending on the 
scale of the proposal, sensitivity of 
the site and surroundings, and 

The control of advertisements is 
governed by the The Town and 
Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) 
Regulations 2007 (as amended) – 
see 

P
age 69

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/countryside-hedgerows-regulation-and-management
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/countryside-hedgerows-regulation-and-management
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/countryside-hedgerows-regulation-and-management


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

49

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

Council only able to refuse an 
application on the grounds of 
public safety and in the interests of 
amenity.  The Council will consult 
on advertisement applications in 
accordance with statutory 
requirements as set out in the 
relevant Regulations.

Applications for Advertisement 
Consent may be viewed both on 
the Council’s website and at the 
Council’s offices.

potential for impact in terms of 
highway safety and local amenity.

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/
2007/783/contents/made 

Further guidance on how this 
aspect of the planning system 
operates is available of the 
Government’s Planning Practice 
Guidance website at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/adve
rtisements 

Hazardous Substances Consent The responsibilities of the 
applicant and the Council in 
publicising and consulting on any 
application for Hazardous 
Substances Consent under the 
Planning (Hazardous Substances) 
Act 1990 are laid down in the 
relevant Regulations.

For the Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) Regulations 2015 at 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/
2015/627/contents/made 

For Permitted Development where Prior Approval or Notification is required, applications will be publicised as set out in the relevant 
Regulations (Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 (as amended).

There is no statutory requirement to consult or notify neighbours / publicise on the following types of application:

 Certificates of Lawfulness of proposed use or development

P
age 70

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/783/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/advertisements
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

50

Type of application/nature of 
development

Type of publicity and 
consultation timescale

Additional publicity (at 
discretion of planning officer)

Statutory provision

 Certificates of Lawfulness of existing use or development
 Approval of details/discharge of conditions – Publicity is generally not appropriate, but will be at the discretion of the Council, having regard 

to the sensitivity of the site and potential impacts arising from the detailed matters to be assessed.
 Non-material amendments to permitted schemes.

P
age 71



Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

51

Appendix 2 – Glossary

Term Definition

Affordable housing Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by 
the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route 
to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers); and 
which falls within one of the categories set out in the Glossary 
to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-
policy-framework--2

Authority Monitoring 
Report (AMR)

A report published by the local planning authority showing 
progress with local plan preparation, any activity relating to the 
duty to cooperate, and information collected which relates to 
indicators in the plan. 

Brownfield Land See previously developed land

Brownfield Land Register Registers of previously developed land that local planning 
authorities consider to be appropriate for residential 
development, having regard to criteria in the Town and Country 
Planning (Brownfield Land Registers) Regulations 2017. 

Conservation Area Areas designated by a local planning authority which are 
considered to be of special architectural or historic interest, the 
character and appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance.  Conservation area designation introduces a general 
control over the demolition of unlisted buildings and provides a 
basis for planning policies whose objective is to conserve all 
aspects of character and appearance, including landscape and 
public spaces that define an area’s special interest. The local 
planning authority may also withdraw some permitted 
development rights using an Article 4 direction to secure this 
objective. Information on Conservation Areas in Gravesham is 
available on line at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-
building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas 

Development Plan Is defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, and includes adopted local plans, 
neighbourhood plans that have been made and published 
spatial development strategies, together with any regional 
strategy policies that remain in force. Neighbourhood plans that 
have been approved at referendum are also part of the 
development plan, unless the local planning authority decides 
that the neighbourhood plan should not be made.

Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA)

The aim of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is to 
protect the environment by ensuring that a local planning 
authority when deciding whether to grant planning permission 
for a project, which is likely to have significant effects on the 
environment, does so in the full knowledge of the likely 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/403/contents/made
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

52

significant effects, and takes this into account in the decision 
making process.  Not all applications for planning permission 
require EIA .  The requirement  to undertake EIA and the 
process to be followed is set out in the  Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 

Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA)

European designated sites, such as Special Areas of 
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas (SPA) and 
Ramsar sites, are afforded strict protection under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, 
otherwise known as "the Habitats Regulations". A local 
planning authority has a legal obligation to consider the impacts 
of any plan or project likely to have an adverse effect on a 
European designated site, including the granting of consents or 
permissions for any such plan or project. The process by which 
this is assessed is known as a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA).  An applicant is required to submit 
sufficient information to allow a HRA or Appropriate 
Assessment to be undertaken.

Habitats Site Any site which would be included within the definition at 
regulation 8 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 for the purpose of those regulations, 
including candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of 
Community Importance, Special Areas of Conservation, Special 
Protection Areas and any relevant Marine Sites.

Listed Building A Listed Building is a building, object or structure that has been 
judged to be of national importance in terms of architectural or 
historic interest and has been included on a special register, 
called the List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historical 
Interest compiled by the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sports (DCMS) under the provisions of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Details of Listed 
Buildings in Gravesham are available on the Historic England 
website at https://historicengland.org.uk/ 

Local Plan A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by 
the local planning authority in consultation with the community. 
In law this is described as the development plan documents 
adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. A local plan can consist of either strategic or non-
strategic policies, or a combination of the two.

Major Development For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be 
provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For 
non-residential development it means additional floorspace of 
1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as otherwise 
provided in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

National Planning Policy The Framework sets out the government’s planning policies for 

Page 73

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/571/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/regulation/8/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1012/regulation/8/made
https://historicengland.org.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

53

Framework (NPPF) England and how these should be applied. It provides a 
framework within which locally-prepared plans for housing and 
other development can be produced.  It must be taken into 
account in preparing the development plan, and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions – although the development 
plan remains the starting point.  The NPPF is available on line 
at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework—2 

National Significant 
Infrastructure Project 
(NSIP)

Large scale development proposals which meet criteria laid 
down by Government under Regulations which are deemed to 
be important in terms of driving growth at a national level.  
These are dealt with under separate legislation (the Planning 
Act 2008) to normal planning applications and, if successful, 
are granted planning permission by the relevant Secretary of 
State by the issuing of a Development Consent Order. Further 
details on process and NSIP projects affecting this area are 
available on line at 
https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ 

Neighbourhood 
Development Order

An Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990) through which parish councils 
and neighbourhood forums can grant planning permission for a 
specific development proposal or classes of development.

Neighbourhood Plan A plan prepared by a parish council or neighbourhood forum for 
a designated neighbourhood area. In law this is described as a 
neighbourhood development plan in the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Permission in Principle 
(PIP)

A form of planning consent which establishes that a site is 
suitable for a specified amount of housing-led development in 
principle. Following a grant of permission in principle, the site 
must receive a grant of technical details consent before 
development can proceed.

Planning Condition A condition imposed on a grant of planning permission (in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) or a 
condition included in a Local Development Order or 
Neighbourhood Development Order.

Planning Obligation A legal agreement entered into under section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a 
development proposal.

Planning Performance 
Agreement (PPA)

A planning performance agreement is a project management 
tool which the local planning authority and applicant can use to 
agree timescales, actions and resources for handling particular 
applications.  Normally used in the context of large or complex 
schemes, PPAs are voluntary agreements whereby the 
applicant may charge for additional administrative costs 
involved in implementing the agreement, to the extent that it 
goes beyond the authority’s statutory responsibilities.  A PPA 
does not commit the Local Planning Authority to any particular 

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106


Gravesham Borough Council - Draft Statement of Community Involvement – Oct 2019

54

outcome and applications stand to be determined in the normal 
way.

Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG)

Supplementary guidance issued by Government to assist in the 
interpretation and implementation of policies set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019) see 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-
guidance 

Previously Developed 
Land

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, 
including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should 
not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be 
developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. 
This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural 
or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals 
extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for 
restoration has been made through development management 
procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, 
parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was 
previously developed but where the remains of the permanent 
structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the 
landscape.

Sustainability 
Appraisal/Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment (SEA)

A sustainability appraisal is a systematic process that must be 
carried out during the preparation of a Local Plan.  Its role is to 
promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to 
which the emerging plan, when judged against reasonable 
alternatives, will help to achieve relevant environmental, 
economic and social objectives.  Sustainability appraisal of 
local plans is a requirement of section 19 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This incorporates the parallel 
requirements of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004) in terms of assessing the likely 
significant effects certain plans and programmes may have on 
the environment.  

Self-build and Custom-
Build Housing

Housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or persons 
working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such 
housing can be either market or affordable housing. A legal 
definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 
1(A1) and (A2) of that Act.

Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)

Documents which add further detail to the policies in the 
development plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular 
issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents 
are capable of being a material consideration in planning 
decisions but are not part of the development plan.

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2004/1633/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/17/contents


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 07 October 2019

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Local Plan - Draft Development Management Policies 
Document

Purpose and summary of report: 
The following report seeks Cabinet approval to consult on the draft Development 
Policies Document attached at Appendix 4 in January-February 2020. 

The Development Management Policies Document sets out detailed policies which 
once adopted would be used to determine planning applications for development in 
the borough, along with policies set out in other documents which together form the 
Borough's adopted development plan. 

Officers have collated responses submitted during the 2018 Regulation 18 Stage 1 
consultation against the Development Management Policies Document and are 
proposing a number of modifications to the document in order to address comments 
made by stakeholders and to ensure that the document conforms with national 
planning policy changes that have occurred since October 2017.

Recommendations:
1. That the Development Management Policies Document (Appendix 4) be 

placed on public consultation (January-February 2020) under Regulation 18 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

2. That the Assistant Director (Planning) in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Strategic Environment be authorised to agree changes to the document 
before publication, including changes that maybe needed as a result of the 
Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment.

1. Background

1.1.Since 2015, the Council has been undertaking a partial review of the Local 
Plan Core Strategy and progressing work on the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies document. This report summarises the 
outcome of the ‘Part 2: Development Management Policies Document - 

Page 77 Agenda Item 7



2

Regulation 18 Consultation’ and work undertaken on the Development 
Management Policies Document since the consultation ended in July 2018. 

1.2.The current Development Plan consists of the Local Plan Core Strategy, 
saved Policies from Gravesham Local Plan 1st Review, and the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Plan plus the Policies Map. 

1.3.The Local Plan Partial Review and the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies document will replace the remaining Local Plan 1st 
Review policies. The Development Plan is the starting point for any 
development management decisions made by both the Borough Council and 
those parts of Ebbsfleet Development Corporation that are in Gravesham.

1.4.At present, the Development Management Policies Document can be given 
little weight. However, subject to the number of objections received going 
forward, policies within the document can gain weight as the document 
progresses through the formal plan making stages. 

2. Outcome of the Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation

2.1.The 2018 Development Management Policies Document set out 45 policies, 
these policies cover various issues such as protection of agricultural land, 
retail frontages, neighbourhood and village centres, green infrastructure, 
residential space standards, light pollution, noise, design, heritage assets, 
etc. The main purpose of a Development Management Policies document is 
to provide detailed policies to help determine day-to-day planning 
applications. This document will facilitate the delivery of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy (2014) and provide further policy detail which is needed 
beyond that contained in the Core Strategy and national policy i.e. the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

2.2.Thirty respondents took part in this consultation and provided seventy-six 
responses. The responses in some cases covered a number of areas, as 
such there were 151 responses in total, with 138 responses on the 45 
development management policies. The majority of responses on the policies 
(62%, 86) either conditionally supported or supported either a policy direction 
or particular policy wording within the document. 34% of responses (47) 
objected to either a policy direction or particular policy wording, whilst 5% of 
the responses did not indicate a preference (see Appendix 2 for details per 
policy). 

2.3.The policies with the greatest number of objections are:

 Policy DM7 – Limited infilling in villages and development of previously 
developed sites in the Green Belt

 Policy DM26 – Residential space standards
 Policy DM4 - Equestrian Development in the Green Belt 
 Policy DM 25 - Self-custom build housing 

2.4.The policies with the greatest level of conditional support and  support are:

Page 78



3

 Policy DM16 - Transport hierarchy and DM17 – mitigating transport 
impacts 

 Policy DM 41 - Designing for a high quality and accessible riverside
 Policy DM 33 - Air quality
 Policy DM19 - Electric Vehicle Charging Points
 Policy DM35 - Light pollution
 Policy DM37 - Noise and vibration
 Policy DM20 – Telecommunications

2.5.Appendix 3 to this report includes a summary of the responses received and 
how these consultation responses have been taken into consideration in 
preparing the draft Development Management Policies Document set out at 
Appendix 4. 

2.6.Changes to national planning policy (National Planning Policy Framework, 
Planning Practice Guidance) are likely to necessitate the need for a further 
four Development Management Policies on Landscape, Biodiversity, Water 
and Renewable Energy. These additional policies will be reported to Cabinet 
alongside the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and Site Allocations 
Document in January 2020.

2.7.Members will note that Proposed Policy DM: 22 Local Green Spaces sets out 
a clear policy for protecting and managing Local Green Spaces, however the 
designation of land as Local Green Space will be done via the Site 
Allocations element of the work currently being undertaken. We will consult 
stakeholders including local residents on both the criteria for designating 
Local Green Spaces and which spaces should be designated as part of the 
Stage 2 consutlation.   

3. National Level Policy Changes and work undertaken on the Development 
Management Policies Document since July 2018 

3.1.The Development Management Policies Document itself has only required 
limited new evidence to be gathered, however the document has had to be 
revised in light of comments received and changes made to the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. This has meant 
that some development management policies need to be modified, some 
policies deleted and new policies added. Some of the key changes to the 
National Planning Policy Framework include:

Chapter 1 – Introduction
 Core Planning Principles have been removed from the introduction, 

and are instead highlighted throughout the document as a whole. 
The introduction clarifies that footnotes and annexes, are to be read 
with the rest of the NPPF and have equal weight, and the document 
should be read as a whole.

Chapter 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development 

Page 79



4

 An emphasis has been placed for local housing needs to be 
accommodated unless there are strong reasons not to, including 
meeting the unmet needs from neighbouring areas.

Chapter 3 - Plan-Making
 A strategic Plan-making framework is encouraged which allows 

strategic policies to be addressed across local planning authorities 
 Strategic policies should set out the overall strategy for the pattern, 

scale and quality of development. Make sufficient provision to meet 
need, to provide infrastructure and services and for the conservation 
of the built and natural environment. They must include policies for 
addressing cross border issues and have a 15 year horizon.

 A requirement for authorities to review Plan policies at least once 
every 5 year

 Tests of ‘soundness’ are strengthened to encourage effective joint 
working, to be evidenced through Statements of Common Ground

 A clearer approach to viability is championed

Chapter 4 - Decision-making
 Decisions are to be made as quickly as possible.
 Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum, and pre-

commencement conditions should be avoided ‘unless there is a 
clear justification’

 Provides greater clarity on the approach to be taken to viability 
assessments and weight to be afforded to emerging policies.

Chapter 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes
 It is important that land with permission is developed without 

unnecessary delay. Local planning authorities should consider 
imposing a planning condition expediting commencement.

 Creates a requirement for strategic policies to be based upon the 
new standard method of calculation of a local housing need 
assessment

 Policies are required to address the housing requirements of groups 
with particular needs

 Housing need has to be disaggregated into particular types of 
housing

 Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for 
developments that are not major developments (other than in 
designated rural areas)

 At least 10% of homes on major sites should be available for 
affordable home ownership (with exceptions)

 10% of the housing requirement has to be met on sites of 1 hectare 
or less

Page 80



5

 Housing Delivery Test introduced and changes made to land supply 
buffers and presumption in favour of development.

 development of exception sites for entry-level homes (suitable for 
first-time buyers or those looking to rent their first home) on sites 
outside existing settlements allowed

Chapter 6 – Building a Strong, Competitive Economy
 Strategic policies are required to set out a clear economic vision 

and strategy for the area, which encourages sustainable economic 
growth, addresses potential barriers to investment and is sufficiently 
flexible to accommodate economic changes not yet anticipated.

Chapter 7 - Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres
 The emphasis on housing in town centres has been increased.
 When allocating sites in town centres, policies should look at least 

ten years ahead, and town centre boundaries should be kept under 
review.

 Sequential test strengthened to make clear that out of centre sites 
should be considered only if suitable town centre or edge of centre 
sites are not available (or expected to become available).

 Impact assessment is no longer required for office development. 

Chapter 8 - Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities
 Planning policies and decisions should consider the social, 

economic and environmental benefits of regeneration.
 Further recognition should be given to the role of planning to foster 

social interaction and healthy lifestyles.
 Policies should take into account operational defence and security 

requirements.

Chapter 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport
 Parking standard policies should take into account the need to 

ensure provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 
emission vehicles.

 Publicise in the Council's web-based Consultation system.
 Maximum parking standards are supported where necessary for 

managing the local road network or optimising the density of 
development in central or accessible locations; reference to 
overnight lorry parking facilities has been added. 

 Reference has been added to the need to respond to local 
character in creating places that are safe, secure and attractive.

 Chapter 10 – Supporting High Quality Communications
 Planning policies and decisions should support the expansion of 

information communication technologies.

Page 81



6

Chapter 11 - Making Effective Use of Land
 Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 

objectively assessed needs and maximise the use of previously-
developed land. As well as making more intensive use of existing 
land and buildings e.g. making optimal use of development sites 
and maximising densities.

Chapter 12 - Achieving Well-designed Places
 Plans should set out a clear design vision and expectations for 

development, in order to give applicants greater certainty regarding 
what is likely to be acceptable.

 Great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative designs 
which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise the 
standard of design more generally in the area.

Chapter 13 - Protecting Green Belt Land
 Continued commitment to protection of the Green Belt is 

maintained, with the Local Plan being the vehicle for changing 
Green Belt boundaries.

 Where it is necessary to release Green Belt Land for development, 
consideration should be given to previously developed land and/or 
locations well served by public transport.

 Before concluding that exceptional circumstances exist to justify 
changes to Green Belt boundaries, the strategic policy-making 
authority should be able to demonstrate that it has examined fully all 
other reasonable options for meeting the identified need for 
development, including optimising the density of development. 

 Where Green Belt land is released for development, plans should 
set out ways in which ‘compensatory improvements’ may be made 
to the environmental quality and accessibility of remaining Green 
Belt land. 

 The provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing 
use of land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor 
recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments; as long 
as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it are not 
inappropriate in the Green Belt.

 Chapter 14 - Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change

 Policies should support appropriate measures to ensure the future 
resilience of communities and infrastructure to climate change 
impacts. In taking a proactive approach to climate change mitigation 
and adaptation, plans should take into account the long-term 
implications of climate change for biodiversity and landscapes, and 
the risks of overheating from rising temperatures. 

Page 82



7

 Plans should have regard to the cumulative impacts of flood risk to 
the area, rather than just considering individual development sites.

 Approach to the exception test clarified.

Chapter 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
 The intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside is recognised, 

as is the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services; 
maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving 
public access to it where appropriate; and encouraging 
development to improve local conditions such as air and water 
quality.

 A greater emphasis is placed on development being made 
acceptable by providing ecological compensation measures and net 
gains in biodiversity.

 There is a greater emphasis given to veteran trees and ancient 
woodland. Such trees are now afforded high protection.

 The impacts of light pollution are also recognised with consideration 
now required of artificial light on local amenity intrinsically dark land 
spaces and nature conservation

 New development is required to integrate with existing business and 
community facilities, with specific mention of existing development 
not being subject to unreasonable restrictions being put on them 
due to new development.

 The role of green infrastructure in improving air quality is 
recognised.

 New policy is added on the ‘agent of change’ principle.

Chapter 16 – Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment
 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation, ‘irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance’.

Chapter 17 - Facilitating the Sustainable Use of Minerals
 Clarity provided on the issues to be taken into account in planning 

for and making decisions on on-shore oil and gas development.

3.2.These changes to the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice 
Guidance, coupled with comments received at Regulation 18 Stage 1 have 
required a thorough review of the Development Management Policies 
Document that was consulted on in 2018. 

3.3.The production of the Development Management Policies Document is 
required to be supported by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) throughout its 
preparation. The Sustainability Appraisal is required to consider all the likely 
significant effects that policies within the document may have on various 
environmental, economic and social factors. The sustainability appraisal must 

Page 83



8

also meet the legal requirements of the European Directive on Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

3.4.The Council has commissioned Land Use Consultants (LUC) to undertake 
the Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment of the 
Development Management Policies Document. This work is currently being 
undertaken and may necessitate further revisions to the Regulation 18 Stage 
2 Development Management Policies Consultation Document in due course.

4. Next steps

4.1.The next step will be for the Development Management Policies Document 
(Regulation 18 Stage 2) to be published alongside the Local Plan Partial 
Review and Site Allocations Document (Regulation 18 Stage 2)  for 
consultation in January 2020. The Regulation 18 Stage 2 consultation marks 
the continuation of the scoping stage of what should be included in the 
Development Management Policies Document. Regulation 18 of the Town 
and Country planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012 requires that 
various bodies and stakeholders be notified that the council is preparing a 
plan, and invites them to comment about what the plan ought to contain. The 
emerging Development Management Policies Document proposes a set of 
policies that seeks to address the issues identified through the 2018 
consultation via taking into account comments received from stakeholders.

4.2.Continuing member involvement will be critical to progressing the Local Plan 
and shaping future consultation documents. The Local Plan Partial Review 
and Site Allocations Document (Regulation 18 Stage 2) will be reported to 
Cabinet for approval in January 2020, alongside any further Development 
Management Policies that are needed. The Local Plan Partial Review and 
Site Allocations Document will deal with strategic level issues such as the 
amount of development needed in the Borough, where such development 
could be located, provision of infrastructure (including the riverside) and 
services, measures to address climate change and future of the Borough’s 
town centre. Comments received on the Local Plan Partial Review and Site 
Allocations elements of the consultation in 2018 may require some further 
modifications to the Development Management policies once they have been 
considered further. 

4.3.The next consultation Stage 2 (Regulation 18 – Stage 2) will be undertaken in 
line with the standards set out in the Council’s adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement and national guidance. Consultation documents will 
be made available on the Council’s consultation portal (website), and paper 
copies will be made available at local libraries and the Civic Centre. 
Electronic responses to Local Plan consultations are encouraged to reduce 
printing and distribution costs and to reduce the time spent collating and 
analysing paper responses. 

4.4.Any consultation responses received as part of this consultation will be used 
to inform the next stage of the Local Plan process i.e. Stage 3 (Regulation 
19) which will be the ‘Pre-Submission’ version of the Development 
Management Policies Document.  

Page 84



9

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1.Report to Cabinet 9 October 2017 about Site Allocations and Development 
Policies Document 
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s38320/171009%20Cabinet
%20Repor t.pdf 

5.2.Report to Cabinet on 26 February 2018 about Site Allocations Policies 
Document

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s42217/01%20-
%20Cabinet%20Report%2026%20Feb%20FINAL.pdf

5.3.Report on the Examination into the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy July 
2014 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/223677/Planning-
InspectorReport.pdf 

5.4.Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/planning/Gravesham-
Local-PlanCore-Strategy-September-
2014.pdf?_ga=2.58035946.132423188.1502869779- 
590746805.1448633687 

5.5.National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/6077/21 16950.pdf 

5.6.Revised National Planning Policy Framework June 2019

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2

5.7.Local Development Scheme July 2017 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planningand-building/local-plan/local-
development-scheme

5.8.Statement of Community Involvement March 2007

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/69815/SCI28030
7_1.pdf

5.9.Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 85

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s42217/01%20-%20Cabinet%20Report%2026%20Feb%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s42217/01%20-%20Cabinet%20Report%2026%20Feb%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planningand-building/local-plan/local-development-scheme
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planningand-building/local-plan/local-development-scheme


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Council is required to prepare and maintain an up to date Local Plan to 
set out the strategic priorities for the area and the policies that address 
these.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Provision is made annually within the revenue budget for contributions to the 
Planning Policy Reserve, which aims to spread the costs of producing the 
Local Plan and maintaining planning policy over the period to which it 
relates. 

Risk Assessment The Council is continuing to pursue a process to enable it to demonstrate it 
is preparing a robust and sound plan. It is considered this, together with the 
Council’s 5 year supply of housing land, and continued approach to permit 
appropriate planning applications under the NPPF’s presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, demonstrates a positive approach to planning for 
sustainable development and reduces the risk that developers will be 
successful at appeal regarding sites the Council considers unsuitable.      

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the 
start of any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are 
making a significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'      

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain 
answer.
No - N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they 
have given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being 
considered, as noted in the table above

Page 86

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


11

Corporate Plan Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 and 4

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the 
Regulation 18 Stage 2 consultation in due course.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications 
pertaining to this report.

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2: Proposed Development Management Policies and Number of Responses

Proposed Development Management Policies

To
ta

l n
o.

 o
f 

R
es

po
ns

es

O
bj

ec
t

N
eu

tra
l

C
on

di
tio

na
l 

Su
pp

or
t

Su
pp

or
t

Policy DM1 – Agricultural and Forestry Development 3 0 1 1 1
Policy DM2 – New dwellings for agricultural, forestry and other workers in the Green Belt 4 1 1 1 1
Policy DM 3  - New Buildings and other Facilities for Outdoor Sport, Recreation and Cemeteries in the Green Belt 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM4 – Equestrian Development in the Green Belt 4 3 0 1 0
Policy DM5 – Change of use of land to accommodate cemeteries, outdoor sport and recreation in the Green Belt 1 1 0 0 0
Policy DM6 – Extensions, replacement buildings and ancillary development in the Green Belt 2 2 0 0 0
Policy DM7 – Limited infilling in villages and development of previously developed sites in the Green Belt. 9 7 1 1 0
Policy DM8 – Re-use of buildings in the Green Belt 3 2 1 0 0
Policy DM9 – Agricultural land 4 1 0 2 1
Policy DM11 – Complementary cultural and tourism uses in the town centre 2 0 0 2 0
Policy DM12 – Neighbourhood and village centres 4 1 0 1 2
Policy DM13 – Food and Drink Establishments 2 1 0 1 0
Policy DM14 – Retention of Public Houses 3 0 0 2 1
Policy DM15 – Route Safeguarding 3 0 0 2 1
Policy DM16 – Transport hierarchy and DM17 – mitigating transport impacts 13 0 0 11 2
Policy DM18 – New accesses and junctions 5 2 0 2 1
Policy DM19 – Electric Vehicle Charging Points 6 2 0 1 3
Policy DM20 - Telecommunications 4 0 0 4 0
Policy DM21 – Open space, playing pitches and sports facilities retention 3 2 0 1 0
Policy DM22 – Open Space, playing pitches and sports facilities provision 2 1 0 0 1
Policy DM23 – Local green spaces 1 0 0 1 0
Policy DM24 – Trees, hedgerows and woodland 5 2 0 2 1
Policy DM 25 – Self-custom build housing 3 3 0 0 0
Policy DM26 – Residential space standards 6 3 0 2 1
Policy DM 27 - Residential Annexes 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM 28 – Domestic extensions, outbuildings and other development 1 0 0 1 0
Policy DM 29 - Residential Intensification 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM30 – Residential intensification through new build 3 1 0 2 0
Policy DM 31 - Incorporation of Additional Land into Residential Gardens 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM 32 – Assessing the suitability of sites for gypsies and travellers 2 2 0 0 0

P
age 89



Appendix 2: Proposed Development Management Policies and Number of Responses

Proposed Development Management Policies

To
ta

l n
o.

 o
f 

R
es

po
ns

es

O
bj

ec
t

N
eu

tra
l

C
on

di
tio

na
l 

Su
pp

or
t

Su
pp

or
t

Policy DM 33 – Air quality 7 2 0 5 0
Policy DM34 – Contaminated land 1 0 1 0 0
Policy DM35 – Light pollution 6 2 0 3 1
Policy DM36 – Sunlight and daylight within new development 1 0 0 1 0
Policy DM37 – Noise and vibration 6 2 0 4 0
Policy DM 38 - Advertisements 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM 39 - Shopfront Design 0 0 0 0 0
Policy DM40 – Tall and bulky buildings 4 1 0 3 0
Policy DM 41 –Designing for a high quality and accessible riverside 9 1 0 6 2
Policy DM42 – Development involving heritage assets 2 1 0 1 0
Policy DM43 – Listed buildings 1 0 0 1 0
Policy DM44 – Conservation areas 1 0 0 1 0
Policy DM45 - Archaeology 2 1 0 1 0

P
age 90



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

DM policies consultation responses

Respondent View Comment Action

Section 2 – Green Belt General Comments

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Support The approach helps prevent the proliferation of inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt

Noted

Policy DM1 – Agricultural and Forestry Development

NFU Support Thank you for requesting comment from the NFU. We are 
pleased to see the inclusion of balanced policies on 
agricultural and forestry development, rural workers dwelling 
and agricultural land. The policies appear to be set out in a 
balanced and appropriate manner.

Noted

KCC Neutral Development between villages and hamlets and among farm 
buildings would in many places be consistent with the historic 
character of those areas. Historic England (together with KCC 
and the Kent Downs AONB team) has published guidance on 
historic farmsteads in Kent that considers how rural 
development proposals can be assessed for whether they are 
consistent with existing character of the countryside. The Kent 
Farmsteads Guidance has been endorsed by KCC and it is 
recommended that GBC considers adopting the guidance as 
SPD, as part of the Local Plan process.

Noted.  Whilst the KCC Farmsteads Guidance (along 
with publications by the Kent Downs AoNB Management 
Unit) are useful in assessing proposals, consideration 
would need to be given to the value of a stand-alone 
SPD for Gravesham given the characteristics of the 
borough.  Predominately a landscape issue where 
reference to documents in policy as material 
considerations may be sufficient.  Consider this in 
drafting of possible landscape/AoNB policy.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Conditional 
Support

Agree that the re-use of existing buildings should not result in 
a need for replacement buildings, especially in the Green Belt.  
It is important to ensure that farm shops sell locally grown 
produce to avoid the import of food from outside the area that 
results in lorry movements on country roads.

Minor change in wording proposed to address this point.

P
age 91



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Policy DM2 – New dwellings for agricultural, forestry and other workers in the Green Belt

Member of 
public

Object Reason for choice – to stop the development of Green Belt 
land, development which will be development of land which 
should be part of Gravesham countryside.  Believes in 
protecting Green Belt land for future generations and creating 
less pollution from proposed development.

National policy states that inappropriate development is 
by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should only 
be permitted where very special circumstances exist that 
clearly outweigh both definitional and actual harm.  
Whilst NPPF paragraphs 145 – 146 sets out categories 
of development which are not inappropriate (including 
buildings for agriculture and forestry but not specifically 
dwellings) the need to house rural workers close to their 
place of employment is capable of being ‘very special 
circumstances’.  Policy DM2 is criteria based and sets 
out what the Council will take into consideration in 
determining whether such ‘very special circumstances’ 
exist in line with national policy.

KCC Neutral Development between villages and hamlets and among farm 
buildings would in many places be consistent with the historic 
character of those areas. Historic England (together with KCC 
and the Kent Downs AONB team) has published guidance on 
historic farmsteads in Kent that considers how rural 
development proposals can be assessed for whether they are 
consistent with existing character of the countryside. The Kent 
Farmsteads Guidance1 has been endorsed by KCC and it is 
recommended that GBC considers adopting the guidance as 
SPD, as part of the Local Plan process.

Noted.  Whilst the KCC Farmsteads Guidance (along 
with publications by the Kent Downs AoNB Management 
Unit) are useful in assessing proposals, consideration 
would need to be given to the value of a stand-alone 
SPD for Gravesham given the characteristics of the 
borough.  Predominately a landscape issue where 
reference to documents in policy as material 
considerations may be sufficient.  Consider this in 
drafting of possible landscape/AoNB policy.

NFU Support Thank you for requesting comment from the NFU.

We are pleased to see the inclusion of balanced policies on 
agricultural and forestry development, rural workers dwelling 

Noted

P
age 92



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

and agricultural land.

The policies appear to be set out in a balanced and 
appropriate manner.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Conditional 
Support

The policy relates to new dwellings.  Does ‘temporary unit’ 
referred to in paragraph 2.3.6 relate to structures such as 
caravans / mobile homes that can be removed once there is 
no longer any need or need is not justified?  If so we would 
support the approach.  It will be important to be clear that the 
site should be restored once the temporary use ceases.

Minor change in wording proposed to address this point.

Policy DM4 – Equestrian Development in the Green Belt

Graham 
Simpkin 
Planning

Object Policy  DM4  and  DM5  and  the  supporting  text  indicate  
that  change  of  use  of  land  to equestrian  uses  represents  
inappropriate  development  in  the  Green  Belt  that  requires 
special  justification.   Policy  DM5  must  be  reworded.    It  
would  not  be  appropriate  for  an applicant  wishing to  use 
land for equestrian purposes  to  demonstrate  ‘need’ nor 
‘whether there  are  alternative  sites  not  in  the  Green  Belt’  
that  could  accommodate  the  use,  for example. This policy 
should be reviewed.

Agree that policy should be reviewed in the light of 
changes to national policy.  Changes of use no longer 
inappropriate where they have no impact on openness 
and do not conflict with purposes of including land in it.  
However, where the proposal is inappropriate because it 
conflicts with those criteria, it would still be necessary for 
the applicant to provide material considerations that are 
capable of constituting very special circumstances that 
clearly outweigh harm.  .

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Conditional 
Support

The Kent Downs AONB has produced a guide to good practice 
for equestrian use in the Kent Downs AONB – ‘Managing Land 
for Horses’  (  https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-
kent-
bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforH
orses.pdf).

 We would like to see a requirement for proposals within the 
AONB to have regard to the guidance contained in this 

Reference inserted.

P
age 93

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

document.  

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object The proposed preamble at paragraph 2.5.1 refers to Proposed 
Policies DM 1 and DM5 whilst the policy only refers to 
Proposed Policy DM5.  The policy should also include 
reference to DM 1.  Lighting can have an adverse impact on 
the Green Belt as recognised in Proposed Policy DM1.  It can 
also have an adverse impact on biodiversity and character of 
the countryside, including nocturnal creatures. Paragraph 
2.5.6 needs to include reference to Proposed Policy DM1 to be 
consistent with paragraph 2.5.1.

Policy and supporting text amended to address points.  
Lighting dealt with more comprehensively through 
amendments to policy.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object There is no explanation of how the Council will treat equestrian 
development if the uses ceases or the owner seeks an 
alternative use(s).  Paragraph 2.5.2 recognises that equestrian 
development can lead to the proliferation of development and 
the introduction of sizeable buildings which can have a 
significant impact on the openness and purposes of including 
land in the Green Belt.  The Proposed Policy should be clear 
that should the use cease the site will need to be restored to 
its original condition. 

Disagree - Consider the suggestion too onerous.  If 
equestrian development falls under an NPPF paragraph 
145 exemption, it would not in itself compromise 
openness or Green Belt purposes – what would the 
justification be for removal.  If there were very special 
circumstances demonstrated then it would still accord 
with policy + would be no different from any other form 
of development that had been permitted in this way.  
Why should equestrian uses be removed but not others?  
Would such a policy relate to cessation of use or 
abandonment?  Also, having to remove a building when 
an alternative use is sought fails to recognise that the 
NPPF treats re-use of buildings in some instances as 
not inappropriate + removal rather than re-use would be 
unsustainable in these circumstances.

Policy DM5 – Change of use of land to accommodate cemeteries, outdoor sport and recreation in the Green Belt

Graham 
Simpkin 

Object Policy  DM4  and  DM5  and  the  supporting  text  indicate  
that  change  of  use  of  land  to equestrian  uses  represents  
inappropriate  development  in  the  Green  Belt  that  requires 

  Given changes to national policy allowing changes of 
use where they do not impact on openness or Green 

P
age 94



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Planning special  justification.   Policy  DM5  must  be  reworded.    It  
would  not  be  appropriate  for  an applicant  wishing to  use 
land for equestrian purposes  to  demonstrate  ‘need’ nor 
‘whether there  are  alternative  sites  not  in  the  Green  Belt’  
that  could  accommodate  the  use,  for example.  This policy 
should be reviewed.

Belt purposes, policy should be deleted.

Policy DM6 – Extensions, replacement buildings and ancillary development in the Green Belt

Graham 
Simpkin 
Planning

Object Paragraph  2.7.1  should  be  amended  as  follows:  ‘Many  
extensions  ……………………can  take place without the need 
to apply for planning permission’.

The final sentence of paragraph 2.7.2 should be amended to 
read as  follows:‘…….extensions which exceed the overall 
volume  of an original building by 33%  or more  will is likely to 
be disproportionate’.

Paragraph 2.7.4 refers to the construction of basements and 
habitable loft spaces, and the impact  this  can have  on  
openness  of  the Green  Belt  (or visual impact  on  the Green  
Belt). Roof conversions (within the envelope of the building) 
and single basement extensions (that don’t exceed the 
building footprint) should normally be considered acceptable.  
The addition of domestic paraphernalia or parked cars, for 
example, and the measurement of impact is not normally 
helpful (and can vary greatly depending on how the existing 
building is used / occupied).

At  paragraph 2.7.6, the council  needs to  clarify  whether  this 
section is aimed  at assessing whether development is 
disproportionate – or materially larger.  This paragraph 
potentially conflicts with paragraphs 2.7.2 and 2.7.3.

Minor amendments to policy to reflect NPPF (2019) and 
some of the points made in relation to consistency.   
`Disagree with point made about loft spaces or 
basements.  The NPPF test is whether an extension is 
disproportionate or a replacement building materially 
larger.  Whilst whether or not an extension can be seen 
is a material consideration as to whether or not very 
special circumstances exist that clearly outweigh harm, 
the metric for determining whether or not either is 
‘inappropriate’ is firstly scale/size etc. compared to 
original.  Issue of domestic paraphernalia and impact on 
openness is material, as evidenced by numerous appeal 
decisions.  Accept point regarding whether or not 
building is capable of subsequent conversion and 
amend wording accordingly.  Disagree on point of 
treating outbuildings up to a certain size being 
considered appropriate as this would conflict with NPPF 
which doesn’t treat such outbuildings as an exception to 
Green Belt policy.  Also disagree on point regarding 
GPDO as a guide to what should be acceptable in this 
instance.  Whilst an outbuilding may be deemed 
acceptable under permitted development rights where 
these apply, where they do not they stand to be judged 
against policy in the normal way.  GPDO may provide a 

P
age 95



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Paragraph 2.7.10  (and paragraph 2.7.19 of the  Policy)  needs 
further clarification.   It is not reasonable to refuse planning 
permission for a building simply because it may be converted 
to  a  dwelling  in  the  future.  Conversion  to  a  dwelling  
would  require  planning  permission. More guidance is 
needed.

Similarly, care should be taken with the wording of paragraph 
2.7.11, referring to ancillary development.  Much of the text 
relates more to landscape and street scene considerations, 
rather than Green Belt openness.

Criteria  (a)  of  the  Policy  DM6  (referring  to  extensions)  
refers  to  ‘footprint,  floorspace  and volume’ as measures of 
determining ‘proportionate’.  The explanatory text (2.7.2), 
however, only refers to volume as a measure.  This should not 
be the only test and the text should be clarified.

Criteria (a) of the Policy DM6 (referring to replacement 
buildings) refers to ‘footprint, volume and  volume’  as  
measures  of  determining  ‘proportionate’.    The  
explanatory text  (2.7.3), however, refers to different tests as a 
measure.  This should be clarified.

Policy  DM6  in  respect  of  ancillary  buildings  needs  further  
assessment.    The policy and paragraphs   2.7.7   and   2.7.8   
indicate   that   where   planning   permission   is   required   
for outbuildings they will be treated as inappropriate 
development which must be justified with Very Special  
Circumstances.    It  would  be  preferable  if  the  policy  
allowed outbuildings, subject  to  some  criteria  (such  as  

fall-back position but this would not be applicable in all 
cases, particularly where permitted development rights 
are more limited of such rights have been removed by 
condition.

P
age 96



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

footprint  area).   For  example,  Sevenoaks District  Council 
limit outbuildings to a maximum of 40 sqm.  This is a more 
reasonable approach that seeks to  understand  that  the  
GDPO  2015  (as  amended)  is  a  clear  Government  
statement that outbuildings in a suitable location and scale are 
not normally harmful.  Of course, the policy wording does need 
to ensure that ‘guideline footprints’ do not become a target, 
and in this respect the guidelines at paragraph 2.7.17 may be 
helpful.   Criteria (b) of 2.7.17 should be deleted,  since  it  
infers  that  existing  outbuilding  should  be  repurposed,  even  
if they  are  in use.

Boyer Planning Object We strongly object to this policy in its current form. Our 
primary objection is that it is far too restrictive, and in particular 
the proposed restriction to extend or enlarge the volume of a 
building by no more than 33% - as stated in paragraph 2.7.2.

This level of restriction is far too great, and will be 
counterproductive. It is accepted that extensions and 
alterations to dwellings should be proportionate, and 
subservient to the primary building. This however can be 
achieved with development being limited to 50% of the size of 
the original dwelling. Furthermore, this is not always the case, 
and through careful design the impact of the proposals can be 
limited to preserve the value of Green Belt whilst still being 
well above a 50% increase. As such, the policy should be 
absolutely clear that any % will be used purely as a guide.

The need for this reduced level of restriction are the significant 
Permitted Development Rights available to dwellings in the 
Green Belt. Under current legislation, a single storey extension 
of up 8m in depth is available to many dwellings. This will in 
many cases significantly exceed a 33% increase in the volume 

33% is stated to be a rule of thumb and with the 
amendment suggested above is sufficiently flexible to 
enable proposals to be considered on their individual 
merits.  It should be noted in any event that the one-third 
rule has applied in Gravesham for many years – most 
recently under ‘saved’ policy C13 of the Local Plan First 
Review and before that under policy GB2 of the Local 
Plan 1987.  The current position is that the one third rule 
is embedded in policy rather than a guideline figure in 
supporting text.  The policy has been successfully 
defended at appeal on many occasions and has been 
considered by Inspectors to be generally consistent with 
the NPPF.  The draft policy simply updates an 
established position.

The issue with respect of Permitted Development rights 
is noted.  However, for it to constitute a fall-back position 
the applicant is required to demonstrate (amongst other 
things) that there is a reasonable prospect that it could 
occur – it cannot be a mere theoretical possibility.  Even 
then, the fall-back position may not be determinative as 

P
age 97



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

of the building, and so this will remain a very enticing option to 
homeowners. It can however result in extensions to buildings 
that are far less attractive, and potentially far more harmful to 
the quality and openness of the Green Belt than a more 
sensitively designed scheme that may require planning 
permission.

It is the Councils responsibility to encourage a high quality of 
design, and to protect the value of the Green Belt. This policy 
must therefore be reworded to encourage a greater level of 
engagement with the Council to deliver schemes of the highest 
design quality.

to the outcome of the decision making process. It should 
also be noted that:

 More restrictive rights may occur on Article 2(3) 
land – parts of the Green Belt in Gravesham 
are designated AoNB etc.

 Properties previously permitted in the Green 
Belt may be subject to conditions restricting 
extensions that remove such PD rights.

 The LPA can where appropriate remove 
permitted development rights in some cases by 
Article 4 directions.

It is appropriate that the one-third rule remains as a 
metric against which applications are evaluated.  The 
fact that permitted development rights exist 

Policy DM7 – Limited infilling in villages and development of previously developed sites in the Green Belt.

NB.  Further work to be done on this policy to ensure that it is fully NPPF 2019 compliant.  A Green Belt topic paper in relation to development management 
policies will also be prepared.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Conditionally 
Support

Whilst the approach is generally supported it is unclear which 
settlements it refers to as only two settlements are named.  To 
avoid confusion and provide clarity it would be helpful to list all 
the settlements.

This is background text to policy DM7.  It is made clear 
that policy regarding limited infilling in villages will only 
apply to those rural settlements shown on the policies 
map and within defined boundaries.

KCC Neutral In considering the transport links and the sustainability of a 
site’s location, KCC considers that there must be a choice of 
travel options available, ensuring that the public is not 
dependent on private vehicle use. Policies should promote 
active travel patterns along safe routes, especially in rural 
areas and ensure that new developments provide access to 

Noted.   The comment relates primarily to the suitability 
of a site for development and the ability of people to 
access services and other facilities by means other than 
the private car.  Suggest change of wording within draft 
DM policies document (not necessarily against this 
policy) to deal with this consistent with recent appeal 

P
age 98



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

high quality infrastructure, with links to local amenities and the 
PRoW & Access Network, which encourage walking and 
cycling activity.

decisions and the Braintree judgement on isolated 
dwellings.

Graham 
Simpkin 
Planning

Object The NPPF allows for “infilling” or partial or complete 
redevelopment of previously developed sites.   For extension 
to existing buildings the council indicates that extension by up 
to 33% would  be  proportionate.    The approach  
contemplated  by  the  Council  for  replacement buildings   
and   redevelopment   of   brownfield   sites   should   also   
commit   to   this   general guideline figure.   Existing non-
residential buildings can be extended but there seems to be no   
allowance   for  this   in  considering  the  relationship  between  
existing  and  proposed development on brownfield sites.  As 
currently drafted, it is conceivable that an extension to existing 
buildings would result in more development than complete 
redevelopment of the site.

It  is  also  difficult  to  see  how  any  infilling  could  be  
permitted  at  a  brownfield  site  on  this basis, given that the 
level of protection seems greater  for these sites than 
elsewhere.    At Part (c) of the policy, for example, it makes a 
contradictory statement that infilling ‘should not lead to a 
significant increase in the developed parts of the site’.

Finally,  the  policy  or  the  supporting  text  should  clearly  
indicate  that  brownfield,  edge  of settlement sites, have 
broad sustainability benefits.  Paragraph 2.8.11, for example, 
does not state  that  the  previously  developed  status  of  a  
site  (which  would  not  result  in  loss  of agricultural  land,  
have  potentially  lower  landscape  and  biodiversity  impacts  
and  result  in visual,  energy  performance  or  access  

Agree that some changes to policy are necessary for the 
purposes of clarification.  However, there does need to 
be a distinction drawn between extensions or alterations 
of a building not being disproportionate (NPPF 145c) 
compared to the limited infilling or partial or complete 
redevelopment of previously developed land, where the 
test is either that it should not have a greater impact on 
openness or (in the case of development meeting 
affordable housing need) not causing substantial harm 
to openness.  It would not be appropriate to use the 33% 
metric for replacement buildings or redevelopment of 
brownfield sites because the test is different and impact 
on openness can be caused by a variety of factors other 
than just size – i.e. location within the site, relationship to 
other buildings and visual impact etc.

Comment on sub-paragraph c noted and will be 
considered as part of redrafting.

Disagree – it is not the case that all brownfield, edge-of-
settlement sites may have broad sustainability benefits.  
Proximity to settlements with poor access to services or 
alternatives to the private car is not necessarily 
sustainable and it is not the loss of agricultural land per 
se but the best and most versatile that national policy 
seeks to preserve.  Whilst many of the factors raised in 
the comment are capable of being material, it would be 

P
age 99



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

enhancements)  might  perform  well  in  sustainability terms.  
Such  benefits  need  to  be  considered  alongside  
accessibility to  public  transport, services and facilities.  
Sustainability and suitability need to consider a wider range of 
criteria than simply  proximity  to  public transport, services 
and facilities.   This must be part of the planning balance 
towards delivery of sustainable development.

The Council will need to define ‘sustainable location’ at Part 
(e) of the Policy.   All council’s use  different  criteria,  but  the  
use  of  internet  and  remote  working  means  that  this  is 
becoming an out-of-date approach.  Criteria that are too 
challenging could lead to a waste of resources and empty 
buildings.

Amend paragraph 2.8.5 so that ‘where other uses are 
proposed’ is before the text: ‘buildings of a similar scale’.

Definition of infilling at 2.8.13 should be amended so that 
‘where other uses are proposed’ is before the text: ‘buildings of 
a similar scale’.

for the developer to show that these were sufficient to 
outweigh a potentially poor location at the application 
stage.  It should also be noted that even if a proposal 
was well located issues such as landscape impact, 
impact on biodiversity and  visual impact and a host of 
other factors would still stand to be considered in the 
overall planning balance.

Disagree.  The fact that the internet and remote working 
can reduce the need to travel and improves 
sustainability, misses the point that this also applies to 
buildings erected in locations that do have good access 
to services and sustainable alternatives to private car 
use.  

Agreed

Agreed 

Barton 
Willmore on 
behalf of 
Esquire 
Developments

Object There are several set circumstances, as defined by paragraph 
89 of the NPPF, where development in the Green Belt is not 
considered ‘inappropriate’, one of which being limited infilling 
in villages.

Proposed Policy DM7 seeks to strictly define what constitutes 
both limited infilling with this being confined to development of 
a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage or group of 
buildings, capable of accommodating no more than one or two 
dwelling or buildings of a similar scale’. Further the policy 
identifies that only rural settlements inset from the Green Belt 

Policy requires amending due to changes in the NPPF 
2019.  

However, disagree with a number of the points made in 
the comments for the following reasons and which it is 
suggested should be tested at examination:

The boundary of the ‘village’ shown on the Policies Map 
is not determinative and it is for the decision taker to 
make a judgement ‘on the ground’.

P
age 100



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

(as defined by the Policies Map) will be considered to have the 
status of villages and their boundaries taken as shown.

No definition is provided in the NPPF as to what constitutes 
limited infilling, nor how to define the village boundary, 
however these have been considered by numerous appeals 
and case law. In some cases these are contrary to GBC’s 
definition, including:

 ‘Infill’ in relation to development in the Green Belt is 
not determinative of designated village boundaries, 
instead the decision maker needs to consider whether, 
as a matter of fact on the ground, the site appears to 
be part of the village;

 There is no set definition of what constitutes ‘infill’, with 
appeals being allowed where there is development on 
at least 2no. sides2; and

 Whether a development is ‘limited’ needs to be 
considered in the context of the village, with appeals 
being allowed on sites for 7 and 8 dwellings.

Cite the following in support of objection:

 Wood v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government [2014] EWHC 683

 Main Street, Repton, South Derbyshire District Council 
(Appeal Ref: APP/F1040/W/17/3176356)

 Appleton House, Snitterfield, Stratford-upon-Avon 

The objector relies on the judgement in the Court of 
Appeal in the case of Julian Wood v Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government [2015] EWCA 
Civ 195 (not as cited by objector).

However, in order to understand the judgement, it is also 
necessary to understand the background.  The case 
related to a plot adjacent to the See Ho PH in Shorne, a 
part of Gravesham.  Under the adopted Core Strategy 
(2014) the Proposals Map shows the boundaries of rural 
settlements inset from the Green Belt (not villages) and 
a further statement in the supporting text (at 4.2.6) that 
these boundaries do not represent the full extent of each 
settlement.  

As such, the Inspector dealing with the appeal could 
only take the boundary shown on the Policies Map as 
the boundary of the Green Belt and not the full extent of 
the village to which NPPF (now paragraph 145) applied 
in terms of limited infilling – he should have made a 
judgement ‘on the ground’.

Subsequently, the appeal was re-determined and 
dismissed because the Inspector agreed that the 
boundary of the Green Belt and the village was 
coterminous at that point.

However, there is nothing in the Judgement that 
prevents a Policies Map from showing what is 
considered to be the boundaries of a village for the 
purposes of applying national policy on limited infilling in 
villages.  Indeed, a plan could be found unsound without 
it because it is a policy with a spatial dimension 

P
age 101



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

(Appeal Ref: APP/J3720/W/16/3167715)

 New Road, Chilworth, Surrey (Appeal Ref: 
APP/Y3615/W/16/3150853)

 Copthorn Road, Felbridge, Surrey (Appeal Ref: 
APP/M3645/W/16/3141780)

The introduction of a stricter criteria for limited infilling, 
inconsistent with established case law and previous appeal 
decision,  would  unduly restrict potential sustainable windfall 
sites in and adjoining settlements The existing criteria 
contained within NPPF para 89 (and being brought forward as 
part of the draft NPPF) is sufficient to ensure only suitable 
development is considered ‘appropriate’ for its Green Belt 
location.

The proposed policy is not considered positively prepared or 
consistent with national policy and risks the emerging plan 
being found unsound. It is recommended this proposed policy 
be removed.

applicable to ‘villages’ only.

Article 9(c) of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 specifically states 
that the adopted policies map must be comprised of, or 
contain, a map of the local planning authority’s area 
which must illustrate geographically the application of 
the policies in the adopted development plan.

It follows therefore that if a local plan has a policy on 
limited infilling in villages, it must be illustrated 
geographically on the Policies Map.

This would not run counter to the Judgement because it 
would remain (as always) the starting point for decision 
making under s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 but it would be the responsibility of 
the actual decision maker to determine whether this 
remained a correct interpretation of the extent of the 
village on the ground at the time as a material 
consideration.

What constitutes ’limited’ infilling?

The objector cites a number of appeal decisions where 
development has been allowed for 7 or 8 dwellings as 
‘limited’.  Clearly, it is difficult to have regard to these 
without full knowledge of the circumstances of each 
case and how it might relate to potential sites in 
Gravesham.  They would also have been determined in 
the light of policy in those particular areas as it stood at 
the time.  They do not represent case law and they do 
not prevent Gravesham adopting a definition of ‘limited 

P
age 102



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

infilling’ for the purposes of the application of its own 
policy.  Whether that definition is ‘sound’ or requires 
modification is a matter for the examination.  Although 
the definition set out in the Regulation 18 Stage 1 
document is one that is commonly used, consideration 
will be given to modifying it in the light of recent appeal 
decisions in the borough.  It is however considered 
important to clearly provide guidance on what will be 
considered to constitute ‘limited infilling’ given the 
exception is not caveated by a requirement in relation to 
preservation of openness or not conflicting with the 
purposes of including land in the Green Belt.  In this 
respect some gaps in frontages and between existing 
development may be important in Green Belt terms and 
infilling should be resisted as inappropriate.

Member of 
public (as 
below)

Object The document does not take into consideration areas like 
Culverstone Valley. Infilling of vacant plots between developed 
plots would provide an extra 100 houses without detriment to 
the overall nature of the greenbelt area and would prevent use 
of pristine greenbelt areas elsewhere.

Issue of approach to Culverstone Valley area will be 
addressed through review of Green Belt and strategic 
policy CS02.  Beyond this, the development 
management policy is intended to set out how the 
relevant exemptions contained in NPPF paragraph 145 
will be applied locally.

Member of 
public (as 
above)

Object Page 22, DM7 – This section does not take into account areas 
such as Culverstone Valley, where infilling on vacant plots 
between developed plots could provide extra housing without 
determent to overall greenbelt area.

Issue of approach to Culverstone Valley area will be 
addressed through review of Green Belt and strategic 
policy CS02.  Beyond this, the development 
management policy is intended to set out how the 
relevant exemptions contained in NPPF paragraph 145 
will be applied locally.

Kent Downs 
AoNB 

Object This paragraph should also include reference to the AONB; 
not all brownfield sites within the AONBs will meet the 

Amendment proposed to text drawing attention to Kent 
Downs AoNB in this context.

P
age 103



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Management 
Unit

stringent test required for developments in the AONB, for 
example where these fail to relate well to existing settlements 
in location or appropriate to the particular locally distinctive 
character of rural settlements.  For development to meet the 
test of conserving the AONB, the local character, qualities and 
distinctiveness of the AONB need to be conserved and 
enhanced; new developments need to be complementary to 
local character in form, setting, scale and contribution to 
settlement pattern.  Residential development of brownfield 
sites that are unrelated to existing settlement boundaries 
and/or where there is little built development on the existing 
site are unlikely to meet these criteria and therefore will fail to 
conserve or enhance the AONB.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object The Proposed Policy title is 'Limited Infilling in Villages ...'  
Paragraph 2.8.13 refers to ‘Limited infilling’.  This could be 
read as relating to settlements such as Harvel and Thong, and 
rural areas referred to in paragraph 2.8.2 where additional 
infilling at these settlements would adversely affect the 
openness of the Green Belt and well as have an adverse 
effect on rural character and landscape setting.  To avoid 
confusion and conflict with paragraph 2.8.2 it would be helpful 
for paragraph 2.8.13 to start 'Limited infilling in villages …’.

2.8.12 refers to limited infilling in villages – text amended 
for the sake of clarity.  2.8.13 refers to limited infilling 
and the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land.  Text amended for the sake of clarity to 
refer to limited infilling on…..

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Lighting can have an adverse impact on the Green Belt as 
recognised in Proposed Policy DM1.  It can also have an 
adverse impact on biodiversity and character of the 
countryside, including nocturnal creatures.  The policy at bullet 
d. should include lighting as a consideration.

Agreed – lighting inserted + policy amended to reflect 
changes to NPPF.

DM8 – Re-use of buildings in the Green Belt

P
age 104



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Graham 
Simpkin 
Planning

Object Paragraph 2.9.1 and Policy DM8 (criteria e).   Care needs to 
be taken to ensure that Green Belt  Policy  (and  in  particular  
the  re-use  of  existing  buildings)  does  not  conflict  with  any 
reasonable understanding of sustainability.   The reuse  of 
buildings  is  normally an  efficient use of land and resources, 
but cannot always meet prescriptive sustainability criteria, 
such as  walking  distance  to  a  school  or  bus  stop.   This 
needs to be addressed to  avoid  policy conflict.  Reuse of 
most rural buildings would fail against the ‘sustainable location’ 
criteria in the policy described at paragraph 2.9.6.  The 
Government has specifically deleted this requirement in the 
GPDO Part 3 Class Q.   It is not appropriate for the Council to 
advocate a 2-tier approach. 

Agreed – NPPF (2019) paragraph 79 says that isolated 
dwellings in the countryside should be avoided with an 
exception being where the development would re-use 
redundant or disused buildings and enhance their 
immediate setting.  Applying criteria related to 
sustainable location in relation to re-use of a building for 
residential purposes in the Green Belt would therefore 
appear onerous and should be removed (NPPF para 
79). However, this may still apply where other uses are 
proposed and it would be necessary to weigh the 
benefits against disbenefits.  Change of wording 
proposed to cover this.

KCC Neutral In considering the transport links and the sustainability of a 
site’s location,  KCC recommends there be a choice of travel 
options available, to ensure the  public  are  not  dependent  
on  private  vehicle  use.  Policies should promote active travel 
patterns, ensuring that new developments provide high quality 
access infrastructure, with links to local amenities and the 
PRoW & Access Network, which encourage walking and 
cycling activity.

Noted.  Whilst there would naturally be a preference for 
the re-use of buildings where they are sustainably 
located, it needs to be accepted that access to services 
and sustainable modes of transport are more likely to be 
limited in rural areas.  Case will need to be determined 
against a range of policies and material considerations.  
See also response above.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Lighting can have an adverse impact on the Green Belt as 
recognised in Proposed Policy DM1.  It can also have an 
adverse impact on biodiversity and character of the 
countryside.  The policy at bullet d. should include lighting as a 
consideration.

Agreed – lighting inserted

Policy DM9 – Agricultural land

P
age 105



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

NFU Support Thank you for requesting comment from the NFU.  We are 
pleased to see the inclusion of balanced policies on 
agricultural and forestry development, rural workers dwelling 
and agricultural land. The policies appear to be set out in a 
balanced and appropriate manner.

Noted

Natural 
England

N/A As part of the site allocation process, Natural England 
recommends that the potential impacts to best and most 
versatile (BMV) agricultural land should form part of the site 
assessment criteria. As part of the site selection process, as 
with other environmental considerations, impacts to BMV land 
should wherever possible be avoided. Where this is not 
possible, preference should be given to allocating sites of 
lower grade BMV land. We would recommend that this should 
be fully evaluated within the sustainability appraisal that is 
normally required as part of the local plan process.

Site allocation issue

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Natural England Agricultural Land Classification data indicates 
that 35% of the borough is Grade 1 and 2.  This is double the 
average for England (17%).  Continuing security of food supply 
will be an important issue for future generations supporting 
their health and social well-being.  We are concerned that 
paragraph 3.1.13 a) refers to best and most versatile (bmv) 
land that is allocated in the Local Plan.  Given the importance 
of bmv for the nation we are of the view that such land should 
not be allocated.

Reject – This is a development management policy 
(DM9) intended to set out how the Council will deal with 
applications for planning permission.  Where a site is 
allocated through the local plan process, the question of 
any loss of best or most versatile agricultural land will 
already have been addressed and decided that the need 
for the allocation outweighs the loss.  It is logical 
therefore that a development management policy should 
set aside allocated sites.

Gladman 
Developments

Conditionally 
Support

Gladman note the policy on agricultural land. Whilst we 
acknowledge the importance of such land, which is classed as 
best and most versatile (BMV), the policy fails to consider that 
agricultural land quality should be one such factor in arriving at 
a balance decision on a development proposal. For example if 

Agreed that policy requires modification to better reflect 
NPPF.  Paragraph 170 of the NPPF 2019 requires 
protection to be given to soils commensurate with their 
identified quality and the economic and other benefits of 
the best and most versatile agricultural land recognised.  

P
age 106



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

there is a need for housing or employment land the benefits of 
this need to be considered against any potential downsides of 
the loss of the agricultural land. Gladman believe that to be 
complaint with the NPPF the policy should reflect this 
balancing exercise in considering the role of BMV.

Draft policy DM9 does reflect footnote 53 of the NPPF, 
which states that where ‘significant’ (undefined) 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 
necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be 
preferred to those of higher quality.  The policy allows for 
a balanced approach but could be better worded and 
this will be addressed within the Regulation 18 Stage 2 
consultation version of the document.

Policy DM10 Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

(on DM10 and 
other aspects 
of retail policy)

Conditionally 
Support

Given their interests in both the Heritage Quarter and 
Shopping Centre, Reef wishes to make representations on a 
number of draft policies in this document, which have 
particular relevance given the opportunities presented by the 
site in relation to the management of the Shopping Centre.

The Heritage Quarter and Shopping Centre form a key part of 
the wider Town Centre, which is an Opportunity Area under 
Core Strategy Policy CS02.

Reef believes that town centres should be a destination which 
offers a variety of shopping and leisure experiences that 
encourage increased activity outside of normal shopping 
hours. Non-A1 uses, particularly in the food and beverage 
sector (i.e. A3 to A5 uses) make a positive contribution by 
supporting town centres as a primary economic driver for the 
sub-region by increasing footfall and dwell time within centres. 
The diversification of centres also assists in attracting high 
quality tenants which furthers economic development and 
encourages continued investment in town centres.

Accordingly, Reef are keen to introduce an element of other 
town centre uses, including community and leisure uses, into 
the future development at Heritage Quarter and the Shopping 

Given changes to the paragraph 85 of the NPPF 2019 
inserts wording that implies a greater need for flexibility 
in relation to uses so that town centres are allowed to 
grow, adapt and flourish in response to the needs of the 
market and the communities they serve.  This also 
reflects the Government’s approach as expressed 
through amendments to Permitted Development rights 
allowing greater flexibility in moving between use 
classes.  However, it remains important that the Council 
maintains a degree of control on what happens where 
because the interest of the market may not always 
coincide with the interests of the community – the 
planning system exists to act in the public interest.  For 
this reason, policy DM10 will be redrafted and consulted 
on again at Regulation 18 Stage 2.

At this stage, the Council cannot include the proposed 
Heritage Quarter development within areas covered by 
the shopping frontage policies simply because it doesn’t 
yet exist and therefore is no frontage that can be 
identified.  What is shown on the draft Policies Map is 

P
age 107



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Centre. This is in response to both the existing economic 
context surrounding retail and also a desire to diversify the 
offer to create a more viable and deliverable development that 
responds to visitors and investors aspirations. The Council’s 
evidence base (the RCLA) identifies the importance of 
including food and drink uses within Heritage Quarter and 
elsewhere in the town centre.

Those draft development management policies that are 
considered to have particular relevance to this goal, as well as 
the realisation of development in the town centre are 
considered to be as follows:

 DM10 (Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town 
Centre); 

 DM11 (Complementary Cultural and Tourism Uses in 
Gravesend Town Centre)

 DM13 (Food and Drink);
 DM18 (New Accesses and Junctions);
 DM22 (Open Space);
 DM40 (Tall Buildings);
 DM41 (Riverside);
 DM42 (Development Involving Heritage Assets);
 DM43 (Listed Buildings);
 DM44 (Conservation Areas); and
 DM45 (Archaeology).

DM10 (Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre

In Figure 3, the Council is proposing to remove the Primary 
Shopping Frontage that currently traverses the rear of the St. 
George’s Centre. Reef considers that the Council needs to 
explain and justify this change to the frontage layout, and 
explain why, if this Frontage can no longer be regarded as 
fulfilling a "Primary" role, why it cannot be included in 

what is ‘on the ground’.  Previously the rear of St 
George’s Centre was shown but in reality there was no 
actual frontage at  ground level. Once Heritage Quarter 
is built out it would be possible to take forward a partial 
review to allow any frontages to be included.  In any 
event, it is anticipated that the range of uses to be 
incorporated and the flexibility to move between them 
would be dealt with via any planning application.

In terms of marketing evidence for loss of A1 units on 
primary frontages, the revised policy DM10 will deal with 
this.  A key consideration is the loss of larger A1 units 
and anchor type stores, whether there is potential for 
them to be occupied as A1 retail and/or what would 
replace them to maintain the function, role, vibrancy and 
vitality of the town centre.

Whilst the principle of flexibility is important, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is not 
completely unconstrained as paragraph 11 of the NPPF 
2019 – flexibility does not equate with anything goes.  It 
is not considered implementing policies that reasonably 
protect the public interest to ensure that the town centre 
meets the needs of the community as well as the market 
would limit effectiveness.

The contention that paragraph 4.1.7 seeks to restrict the 
internal merging and subdivision of A1 units in the same 
A1 Use Class for the same use is incorrect.  

GL Hearn on behalf of Reef is correct that internal 
subdivision or amalgamation of buildings in the same 
use class may not involve development where it involves 

P
age 108



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Secondary Frontage.

Reef believes that, to promote and safeguard the future role of 
Heritage Quarter, the Council should consider extending the 
Secondary Frontages northwards from St. George’s Centre, 
and east and west from the High Street to include frontages 
within Heritage Quarter. The extension of the Frontages into 
Heritage Quarter is sought subject to the revisions to the 
controlling elements of draft policy DM10 as below.

Reef considers that the requirements for marketing evidence 
pursuant to the loss of any A1 (retail) from Primary Frontages 
is too restrictive, and provide insufficient flexibility to allow for 
the introduction of other non-A1 uses into the Town Centres.

As explained, Reef considers that the inclusion of other town 
centre uses would add to the overall vitality and viability of 
Gravesend town centre.

As currently worded, draft policy DM10 appears contrary to 
Paragraph 14 of the NPPF, which states that "Local Plans 
should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient 
flexibility to adapt to rapid change". The principle of flexibility 
underpins the "presumption in favour of sustainable 
development", which is seen as the golden thread running 
through both plan-making and decision-taking.

Indeed, the Council’s own evidence base, the RCLA, explains 
that:

"A healthy provision of these type of uses are becoming 
increasingly important in contributing to a diverse and healthy 
town centre because of the additional footfall and dwell-time 
they generate both within and outside of retail trading hours". 
(RCLA, para 10.21)

only internal alterations and there is no change in 
external appearance.  Whilst development not requiring 
permission cannot be controlled through the 
development plan, there clearly may be circumstances 
where permission is required because it does require 
external alterations.  

The policy requirement is not therefore ultra vires 
because it only seeks to control situations where the 
ability to control exists.  .  

As it stands, a policy requirement that seeks to control 
the loss of larger/anchor A1 retail units in the town 
centre where planning permission is required is not 
considered unreasonable and  correctly worded would 
pass the tests of ‘soundness’. 

The supporting text will be amended to indicate that this 
part of the policy only applies where planning permission 
is required.

Policy DM10 will therefore be re-drafted and consulted 
on at Regulation 18 Stage 2.

P
age 109



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

In seeking to restrict the amount of appropriate non-A1 town 
centre uses in Primary Frontages the policy, as drafted, limits 
its effectiveness in terms of securing the future vitality and 
viability of town centres. It also runs counter to the Council’s 
own evidence base, the RCLA, as above, which strongly 
promotes cafes and restaurants (i.e. A3 uses) in the town 
centre.

In addition, paragraph 4.1.17 of the draft policy seeks to 
restrict the internal merging and subdivision of existing units in 
A1 use for the same use. The Planning Act confirms that, 
unless there is "material change of use" of a building, works 
that "affect only the interior of the building" are not 
"development". Accordingly, such works cannot be controlled 
through the development plan, and the restriction in this 
paragraph is ultra-vires and should be removed.

While draft policy DM10’s treatment of Secondary Frontages is 
more flexible, Reef objects to criterion a) which, again seeks to 
limit clusters of non-A1 and non-A2 premises in these 
locations, for the reasons set out above.

Policy DM11 – Complementary cultural and tourism uses in the town centre

Theatres Trust Conditionally 
Support

The Trust welcomes Policy DM11, along with the 
Council’s continued recognition of the importance of access to 
culture for the local community and that such uses are now 
even more important in helping maintain the attractiveness 
and viability of town centres.  We would though encourage an 
additional policy providing cultural and community uses more 
generally with protection from unnecessary loss, as is the case 
with public houses.  We would suggest similar wording and 

Policy CS09 seeks to protect and support improvements 
to existing cultural and tourist facilities.  Policy CS10 
supports proposals that protect existing social 
infrastructure and where there is a threat of loss of 
existing social infrastructure, states that consideration 
will be given to viability and whether sufficient alternative 
provision is available.  However, it does not require any 
demonstration that the facility is surplus to requirements 

P
age 110



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

criteria, in particular that the applicant has made a  genuine 
attempt to sell or let the facility at a realistic market rate for its 
existing use and condition over a reasonable timeframe.  The 
Trust has expertise in policy drafting of this nature and would 
be keen to support the Council should they require it.   

or marketing etc.  An additional policy is therefore 
considered advisable to set out criteria against which 
proposals can be evaluated.

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditionally 
Support

Reef strongly supports the policy encouragement for cultural 
and leisure uses in draft policy DM11, which, as justified in the 
RCLA, are a critical part of the strategy to regenerate 
Gravesend and safeguard its vitality and viability.

Reef agrees that such uses should incorporate an active 
frontage, subject to the particular locational and operational 
requirements of the particular business.

Support noted.

Policy DM12 – Neighbourhood and village centres

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

The LLP supports the identification of the Old Northfleet 
Residential Extension Key Site as a neighbourhood centre 
which will be subject to safeguarding under Policy DM12. 
However, it will be necessary to extend the limits of 
designation to reflect the permission granted for 
redevelopment of the Northfleet Cement Works.

Both the Old Northfleet Residential Extension and the 
Northfleet Cement Works (BAIT) are identified as Key 
Sites and allocated for development in the Core Strategy 
under policy CS03/Figure 6 and policy CS08.  It is not 
necessary to amend draft policy DM12 or the CS 
policies as the CS policies allow for the expansion of the 
Hive Neighbourhood Centre.

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Support The AONB Unit supports this policy which is in line with the 
AONB Management Plan policy VC4 which seeks to support 
the retention and development of local services to reduce car 
travel and help maintain viable rural communities.  It is also 
compliant with the secondary purpose of AONB designation 
which is to take account of the needs of land based and rural 
industries and the economic and social needs of local 

Noted

P
age 111



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

communities.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object We are not persuaded that the trigger should be percentage of 
units.  A larger single A1 retail unit could provide sufficient 
floorspace to satisfy local need.   The provision of a new A1 
retail unit up to 280 m2 could again provide for local need 
whilst resulting in the loss of smaller A1 units leading to a 
percentage of units less than 45%.  Other indicators should be 
considered such as percentage of internal floorspace.

Agreed.  Policy and supporting text amended to remove 
45% guideline figure and to require applicants to provide 
evidence to show that proposal would not undermine 
function of centre and ability to meet day-to-day needs.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Support Agree with paragraph 4.3.26 and 4.3.30 that a threshold 280 
m2 is more appropriate threshold for village centres in rural 
locations and lone village shops than 2,500 m2 as it more 
reasonably reflects the size of shops in these locations.

Noted

Policy DM13 – Food and Drink Establishments

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

The LLP recognises the importance of managing the 
relationship between food and drink establishments and 
surrounding residential uses, as is to be managed under 
Policy DM13. However, it will be important to ensure that 
where planning permissions for food and drink establishments 
has already been granted in mixed use areas, the policy is not 
used to fetter development. In such circumstances, 
appropriate planning controls can be used manage the 
relationship between uses.

Noted.  Where planning permissions have been granted 
subject to conditions etc.  this policy would not fetter how 
such uses are brought forward.  No need to amend draft 
policy as a result.

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Object The NPPF promotes "competitive town centre environments" 
(paragraph 23). The NPPF also implores that the needs for 
"Main Town Centre" uses are met within defined town centres.

"Main town centre uses" are defined by the NPPF (Glossary) 
as including "restaurants" and "bars and pubs".

Disagree with the argument put forward but agree that 
the policy wording could be improved so that impact 
rather than numbers or clustering per se becomes the 
criteria for evaluation.

GL Hearn on behalf of Reef appear to be implying that 

P
age 112



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Therefore, national policy considers that such uses are 
acceptable, and indeed, are encouraged, within town centres.

However, as currently worded, criterion d) of draft policy DM13 
is contrary to national policy.

This clause contends that the clustering of food and drink uses 
would lead to a "dead frontage". Reef considers the reverse is 
true. Additional food and drink uses in appropriate locations 
would create activity, and, in fact, add to the overall vitality and 
viability of the location, and to town centres more generally. 
Hence the support that such uses enjoy within the NPPF, as 
detailed above.

The retail environment is changing at a rapid rate, with town 
centres continuously evolving. Customers are increasingly 
looking for a wider variety of experiences, and as such, there 
are new and retail related formats emerging which do not 
naturally fall into any specific use class. Specifically the retail 
footprint in many centres is decreasing and space is being 
taken up with other uses including leisure and other town 
centre uses. All of these uses can add to the vitality and 
viability of town centres. Therefore, it is important for 
Gravesham’s town centres to be able to respond to these 
changes in a positive way.

Furthermore, as explained in relation to draft policy DM10, as 
above, the RCLA underlines the critical importance of these 
uses in terms of the health of town centres.

Accordingly, the "anti-cluster" clause at paragraph d) is not 
"justified" as it runs strongly counter to the support given to 
such uses in the town centre in the Council’s evidence base 
(the RCLA).

In addition, the restriction is not "positive" as it would in fact 

because food and drink are amongst the list of main 
town centre uses in the Glossary to the NPPF, a policy 
can only be ‘positive’ if it provides no restrictions on 
numbers or distribution on food and drink uses.

However, it is clear that the aim of the NPPF is to ensure 
that a local plan should still provide direction as to what 
uses and mix of uses are appropriate for different parts 
of a town centre within a wider framework that embraces 
flexibility and adaptability.  Paragraph 85 d of the NPPF 
specifically states that local plans should ‘define the 
extent of town centres and primary shopping areas and 
make clear the range of uses permitted in such 
locations, as part of a positive strategy for the future of 
each centre’.

This should not to be taken to imply a totally laissez-faire 
approach whereby any mix of any main town centre 
uses is either positive or appropriate.  

For example, an over-concentration of one particular use 
could have a seriously detrimental impact on a town 
centre – particular if they completely displaced Use 
Class A1 retail from a primary shopping frontage etc.  

Also, whilst it is accepted that an appropriate mix of food 
and drink/leisure/cultural/services uses may add to the 
vibrancy and vitality of a main shopping area, they could 
be detrimental if they are not open at the right times – 
the reason why the creation of a dead frontage can be 
an issue.

However, in recognition of the point made by GL Hearn 

P
age 113



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

undermine the viability of centres given the new retail context. 
Given the potential restriction on "Main Town Centre" uses 
within town centres, the section is also at odds with national 
policy (i.e. the NPPF), and would not be "sound" on this basis.

Criteria c) of the proposed policy, which seeks to ensure 
adequate parking and servicing, would be more appropriately 
included as part of a general requirement within transport 
policy. There is no evidential justification that food and drink 
uses require materially different parking and servicing 
requirements to other town centre uses, so this clause is not 
properly "justified". Such consideration also applies to the 
requirement to not cause a significant adverse effect on "traffic 
generation", under criterion a). 

In contrast, criterion a) (aside from traffic generation) and 
criterion b) seek to mitigate the particular amenity implications 
that may arise from food and drink uses. Given that it is 
evident that such uses can, without proper measures, cause 
impacts related to odour, noise, litter and pollution, Reef 
considers that these provisions are "justified" and supports 
these.

on behalf of Reef, sub-section d of draft policy DM13 will 
be deleted and replaced by alternative wording simply 
stating that the Council will have regard to any potential 
adverse impact of an over-concentration or clustering of 
food and drink uses and their proposed hours of 
operation when considering applications for change of 
use.

Disagree with point made on parking and servicing.  
Whilst parking or servicing may not be a key issue within 
a main town centre where alternative parking places are 
available in car parks or servicing is managed etc. , this 
policy is intended to apply to all food and drink uses and 
not just main town centres.  This could include take-
aways in small local parades etc.  Also, the Council’s 
adopted parking standards clearly indicate that the 
parking requirements for food and drink uses may be 
different from other main town centre uses.

 

Policy DM14 – Retention of Public Houses

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM14 relates to the retention of public houses. These 
can support social cohesion and can make positive 
contributions to the urban fabric. Whilst the first part of Policy 
DM14 clearly relates to the potential loss of an existing public 
house, the second element of the policy should be more 
clearly stated as relating to proposals for the loss of an 
existing public house only.

Agreed – Insert “which would result in the loss of a 
public house” after “proposal”, in paragraph 4.5.9

P
age 114



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Support The AONB Unit supports this policy which is in line with the 
AONB Management Plan policy VC4 which seeks to support 
the retention and development of local services to reduce car 
travel and help maintain viable rural communities.  It is also 
compliant with the secondary purpose of AONB designation 
which is to take account of the needs of land based and rural 
industries and the economic and social needs of local 
communities

Noted

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Conditionally 
Support

Whilst supporting the policy, considerations for the re-use of 
public houses should also include parking requirements to 
ensure that there is sufficient parking, including deliver 
vehicles, and that vehicles, including delivery vehicles, can 
access and egress the site safely.  

Agreed – policy amended accordingly.

Section 5 – Infrastructure General Comments

Environment 
Agency

Conditionally 
Support

We note that Section 5 "Infrastructure" does not include any 
policies on flood defence infrastructure. Unless this is 
adequately covered elsewhere in the Local Plan we 
recommend inclusion of the following policies: 

- Development proposals adjacent to flood defences will be 
required to protect the integrity of existing flood defences and 
contribute to the delivery of the measures set out in Thames 
Estuary 2100 Plan.

- Development proposals should set permanent built 
development back from flood defences to allow their 
management, maintenance and upgrading.

Planning documents

Please note that the Thames Tidal Downriver Breach 

Noted.  Flood defence currently covered by policy CS18 
on Climate Change.  Possible to introduce a more 
comprehensive development management policy on 
water that supersedes relevant parts of CS18 and this 
should be considered given other comments made by 
the Environment Agency. 

P
age 115



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Inundation Modelling was completed in May 2018. This 
modelling simulates continuous tidal breaches along the entire 
extent of the Thames between the Thames Barrier and east of 
Gravesend on the south bank and east of Tilbury on the north 
bank. The Downriver 2015 and North Kent Coast models have 
therefore been superseded. It is our recommendation that he 
Council update the relevant planning documents.

We are aware of the Kent Thameside Regeneration 
Partnership document that also includes the Gravesend area, 
however we are unable to locate this document on your 
website.

Policy DM15 – Route Safeguarding

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC recognises that the policy does not include the 
safeguarding of the Fastrack – Northfleet to Garrick Street 
Scheme. If GBC is also considering expansion of the 
Gravesend urban area to the east, there should be a further 
review of the Denton Relief Road and bridge over the railway 
to serve the Canal Basin from the east.

Noted

Highways 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Section 5.1 Route Safeguarding refers to LTC and A2 Bean as 
having red line boundaries to be shown on a proposals map – 
this is noted but the proposals map referred to does not seem 
to have been provided as part of the consultation.

Noted – the Policies Map is updated at the end of the 
plan making process.  Where changes are required, 
these will be provided as part of the consultation process 
but strictly speaking, the policies map is not examined 
by an independent Inspector unless what is shown goes 
to the heart of the soundness of the policy itself.

Transport for 
London/Mayor 
of London

Support Thank you for consulting Transport for London (TfL). TfL has 
an interest in a possible future eastwards extension of the 
Elizabeth Line (Crossrail) beyond Abbey Wood for which 
safeguarding is in place. TfL therefore welcomes the inclusion 

Noted

P
age 116



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

of references to Crossrail safeguarding in paragraphs 5.28 and 
6.7 of the Site Allocations as well as in paragraph 5.1.2 and 
proposed policy DM 15: Route Safeguarding in the 
Development Management Policies.

Policy DM16 – Transport hierarchy and DM17 – mitigating transport impacts

NB.  Transport policies revised – proposed policy DM16 now sets out transport design principles to establish direction that the Council is seeking to achieve in 
this area, linking to health agenda, air quality and the promotion of sustainable alternatives – including river transport.  Other changes made to make policy easier 

to interpret and more consistent with NPPF.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC would also recommend that consideration should be 
given to the proposed new category of road following the 
Government’s consultation on a Major Road Network (MRN) 
which would enable access to a new source of funding from 
the National Road Fund post 2021. In Gravesham, the A289 
from M2 Junction 1 to the A228 is proposed by the 
Department for Transport as MRN. Consideration should also 
be given to new Strategic Road Network (SRN) in the borough 
with the delivery of the New Lower Thames Crossing with 
Western Southern Link connection to the A2 at the ‘Gravesend 
East’ junction. The expected opening year is 2027

Noted – policy amended 

Highways 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Section 5.2 Traffic Management within Sites and Access onto 
the Highway – section 5.2.3 states that “All new junctions to 
the road network must be designed to ensure that there would 
be no significant impact on traffic conditions in terms of 
increased queuing or delay. To prevent increasing traffic 
congestion, the creation of new accesses to the Strategic 
Road Network (SRN) or other classified roads will generally be 
resisted where alternative access routes are practicable”. It 
would be useful here to cross reference further information 

Noted

P
age 117



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

with advice provided in DfT Circular 02/2013 The Strategic 
Road Network and the Delivery of Sustainable Development.

Vincent and 
Gorbing on 
behalf of Port of 
Tilbury

Conditionally 
Support

The  section  on  transport  infrastructure  should  make  
reference  to  the  importance  of  the Gravesend – Tilbury 
Ferry.  PoTLL are already aware that a significant number of 
employees at the existing port live in Gravesham  or  the  
wider  Kent  area  and  some  access  Tilbury  via  the  Ferry. 
Other  major employers within Thurrock in close proximity to 
the Port include the recently opened Amazon Fulfilment  
Centre  located at London Distribution Park  (a joint venture  
between PoTLL and Roxhill  Developments)  immediately  to  
the  north  of  Tilbury.  In  addition,  the Skills and Employment  
Strategy  associated  with  the  Tilbury2  proposals  seeks  to  
engage  with  GBC through an Employment Forum in order to 
ensure that initiatives to improve access to skills enhancement 
and employment generally includes Gravesham as a target 
area.

The Port already subsidises the Ferry and as part of the 
Amazon scheme S106 agreement, a further £350,000 of 
funding was agreed.  The Tilbury2 S106 agreement proposes 
installation of real time information boards at the Ferry on both 
sides of the river and at Tilbury railway station and  a  
comprehensive  plan  for  upgrading  the  network  of  
footpaths  and  cycleways immediately to the north of the 
northern shore of the Thames.

Given the importance of the Ferry, PoTLL would like to see a 
policy that positively promotes the  use  of  the  Ferry  and  
states  that  decisions  within  Gravesham  Town  Centre  will  
be encouraged to promote the use of the Ferry as a local 

Noted – text amended 

P
age 118



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

transport facility.

Highways 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Paragraph 5.2.10 “ Further access will not be allowed onto the 
A2/M2 trunk roads within the Borough, at the request of 
Highways England” is ambiguous. If it refers to a new physical 
access it is contradictory to para 5.2.3.

Noted – text deleted

Transport for 
London/Mayor 
of London

Conditionally 
Support

Within London the Mayor’s Transport Strategy has recently 
been published and the new draft London Plan has been the 
subject of recent consultation. We would be grateful, if you 
would consider extending some of the Mayor’s strategic 
transport policy objectives to the borough including the 
promotion of Healthy Streets, rebalancing the transport system 
towards walking, cycling and public transport, improving air 
quality and reducing road danger.  These objectives could be 
relevant to proposed policies DM 16: Transport Hierarchy and 
DM17: Mitigating Transport Impacts

Noted

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC supports the adoption of the proposed transport 
hierarchy, which prioritises pedestrian and cycle movement. 
High quality, traffic-free walking and cycling routes should be 
provided within new developments and should effectively 
integrate with the wider transport network. These links should 
provide realistic travel alternatives to short distance car 
journeys, offering direct and convenient access.The review 
should encourage a modal transport shift towards walking and 
cycling. Increasing active travel participation would help to 
reduce vehicle congestion on roads, address issues of air 
quality and improve public health and well-being.

In respect of paragraph 5.2.9, it is recommended that the 
wording is amended to state that “good access into the local 

Noted

P
age 119



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

road network,” rather than the overly prescriptive “A or B class 
road network,” which does not guarantee that good access 
can be achieved.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC is committed to working in partnership with GBC to 
achieve the aims contained within the County Council’s Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). KCC’s ROWIP should be 
evidenced within the new Gravesham Local Plan, as it is a 
strategic and statutory policy document for PROW protection 
and enhancement. It should be noted that the KCC ROWIP is 
currently being reviewed and a new ROWIP is expected to be 
published later this year.

KCC’s role is to promote the protection and enhancement of 
the ProW network. KCC is therefore committed to securing 
enhancements to the whole network of routes and paths 
available to the public, of which the ProW network is an 
important part. KCC looks forward to working with GBC to 
build upon the countryside access assets already identified 
within the review.

The ProW network is essential for linking towns to the wider 
countryside, providing opportunities for every day travel, 
recreation and tourism, therefore KCC would like to see the 
inclusion of policies which consider the ProW network. It is 
requested that a clear policy for ProW is inserted in Chapter 5 
(Infrastructure) or Chapter 6 (Green infrastructure). This policy 
should emphasise the benefits to development of providing 
high quality walking and cycling routes. The ProW network, 
together with accessible land, should be protected and 
improved through development proposals. Existing ProW 
should be retained on their existing alignments or diverted if 

Noted – text amended 

P
age 120



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

new routes can be created in appropriate locations.

In addition to walking and cycling, KCC requests that 
consideration is also given to improvements to equestrian 
access provision within the borough. Research of the ProW 
resource in Kent has identified a shortage of opportunities for 
higher right use, with relatively limited off- road equestrian 
routes compared to the national average. The development of 
a high quality equestrian access resource could bring 
economic benefits to the region and address safety concerns.

Consideration should also be given to the impacts of 
development on Non-Motorised Users (NMUs) along rural 
lanes, as these routes provide vital connections for 
equestrians and cyclists travelling between the ProW network. 
New developments are likely to increase vehicular traffic along 
these roads and raise safety concerns for NMUS, who may 
then be deterred from travelling along rural lanes and using 
the PROW network. It is requested that a Rural Lanes Policy is 
included, to ensure that the experiences of NMUs along rural 
lanes are considered and not adversely affected by 
development.

Boyer Planning Support DM 16 - We agree with the Council’s priority, as per 5.2.12 to 
support the use of sustainable transport modes of transport 
ahead of private car use.

Noted

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England welcomes the wording within Proposed Policy 
DM17 in relating to mitigating significant adverse impacts to 
the walking and cycling network. It would seem appropriate for 
all impacts to the public rights of way network, not just 
significant ones, to be fully mitigated for all non-motorised 

Noted

P
age 121



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

users where they occur. It may also be appropriate for the 
policy to refer to opportunities to enhance the public rights of 
way network through creating new linkages or contributing to 
the green infrastructure network, for example.

Port of London 
Authority

Conditionally 
Support

The Port of London Authority (PLA) notes that policy DM 17 on 
Mitigating Transport impacts includes some support for the 
use of the river to help mitigate against ‘severe adverse 
impacts’ as a result of new development on the capacity and 
operation of transport infrastructure.

 The PLA considers that this policy must go further and 
specifically provide a general encouragement for the use of 
the river for the transportation of construction materials and 
waste as part of any development, to help improve congestion 
and air quality within the borough. This would be in line with 
the PLA’s Vision for the Tidal Thames (2016) (The Thames 
Vision) which includes the goal to see more goods and 
materials routinely moved between wharves on the river, to 
take over 400,000 lorry trips off the regions roads by 2035.

The PLA also considers that there should be a specific 
reference to the boroughs Safeguarded Wharves within the 
Development Management Local Plan document, as included 
within Gravesham’s Core Strategy and shown on the adopted 
polices map.

There must also be a reference to the adopted Kent Minerals 
and Waste Plan (July 2016), and the Safeguarded Wharves 
identified in this document either within policy DM 17 or policy 
DM 41 on designing for a high quality and accessible riverside. 
Reference to this document would further strengthen the 

Noted – text amended 

P
age 122



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Development Management Local Plan as well as Core 
Strategy policies CS07 (Economy, Employment and Skills) 
and policy CS11 (Transport) to support the continued use of 
the River Thames as a major commercial waterway.

In addition, although it is noted that the Council provides 
general support for proposals which facilitate the use of the 
River Thames for passenger transport under adopted Core 
Strategy policy CS11, the PLA considers that this could be 
updated and a reference also included within the Development 
Management Local Plan. This should include a reference to 
the recent successful trail held by Thames Clippers in 
September 2017 for a river bus service from Gravesend to 
London, and the aspiration for this to become a more 
permanent service. This is supported by the PLA’s Thames 
Vision goal to see double the number of people (commuters 
and tourists) travelling by river by 2035.

Highways 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM 17 – Mitigating Transport Impacts – paragraph 
5.2.14 lists a number of required items in order for a 
development to be considered acceptable.  It should be 
emphasised that where a development impacts upon the SRN, 
the requirement for a TA or TS would need to be agreed with 
Highways England.  In this case Highways England would 
need to be satisfied that development proposals will not 
materially affect the safety, reliability and/or operation of the 
SRN (the tests set out in DfT C2/13 para 10 and DCLG NPPF 
para 32). Additionally, Highways England would want to agree 
the scope of the TA or TS at pre-application stage in 
conjunction with the local highway authority.  Reference to key 
Highways England policy documents that describe the 
approach we take to engaging in the planning system and the 

Supporting text amended to say that context and scope 
of transport assessments to be agreed with the relevant 
highway authority – which in the case of the Strategic 
Road Network is Highways England.  Reference to 
Highways England guidance added to footnote.

P
age 123



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

issues we look at when considering planning applications 
should also be made. Accordingly this section should list the 
following which provides advice on the information we would 
like to see included in a planning proposal, and outlines the 
support we can offer i.e. Planning for the future – A guide to 
working with Highways England on planning matters (Sept 
2015) in addition to DfT Circular 02/2013.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC is supportive of the proposed requirements in this policy 
(DM17). It is vital that new developments include accessible 
walking and cycling routes. KCC recommends that reference 
is made to the existence of the PRoW resource, which 
provides a valuable contribution towards the wider transport 
network.

Serious consideration will need to be given as to the access 
and movement requirements across the borough. A high 
quality transport network, which enables the public to move 
around quickly and easily, is an essential requirement for 
economic growth and prosperity. The PRoW Network can 
support public transport and the wider highway network, by 
providing opportunities for recreation and commuting, 
especially short distance journeys.

KCC understands that the policy is written in the spirit of 
paragraph 32 of the NPPF. KCC considers that the proposed 
wording of DM17 lacks clarity and is confusing. It is 
recommended that the policy is simplified and shortened with 
the wording amended to closer align with the NPPF

Supporting text amended to reflect this point, as does 
amended policy on transport design principles.

Boyer Planning Support We support the wording of the policy DM17 in its current form. Noted

P
age 124



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Policy DM18 – New accesses and junctions

Boyer Planning Support We support the wording of the policy in its current form. Noted

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC suggests that paragraph 5.2.15 is amended, because it 
does not define what constitutes high volumes of traffic or a 
high proportion of heavy vehicles:

New development will only be permitted if the access and road 
junction which serves the development is appropriately sited 
and is of an appropriate scale and configuration and there is 
no adverse impact on highway safety and the free flow of 
traffic. In the case of roads which have high volumes of traffic 
or a high proportion of heavy vehicles during any part of the 
day or night, it will be necessary for new accesses to show 
that traffic can enter and exit the site in a forward direction 
without the use of turntables and ensure that adequate 
visibility splays are provided.

 Wording of policy amended to reflect this.  

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditionally 
Support

The NPPF explains that, "Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe" (our 
emphasis).

Accordingly, to comply with national policy, local plan policies 
that seek to limit the transport impacts of development should 
only do so on the basis of a "severity" of adverse impact. This 
is a stance that the Development Management Policies has 
taken in relation to draft policy DM17 (Mitigating Transport 
Impacts).

However, draft policy DM18 seeks to prevent development if 
the requisite accesses and road junctions has any "adverse 

 Wording of policy amended to reflect NPPF.    
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF actually says that proposals 
should only be refused on highway grounds where (1) 
there is an unacceptable impact on highway safety 
and/or (2) the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.  The two legs of this policy 
therefore apply different tests in relation to safety and 
impacts on the free flow of traffic or congestion etc.

P
age 125



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

impact on highway safety and the free flow of traffic". 

Reef considers that DM18 should be amended to prevent any 
development junctions or accesses that would have a "severe" 
impact on highway safety and traffic flow, in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF.

Barton 
Willmore (on 
behalf of 
Reside 
Developments, 
Taylor Wimpey 
UK Ltd and 
Esquire 
Developments)

Object Policy DM18 states that new accesses will only be permitted 
where there would be no  adverse impact upon  highway 
safety.  Paragraph 32 of  the  NPPF requires all  developments 
that generate significant   amounts of vehicular  movements  to  
be  supported  by  a  Transport  Statement  or Assessment.  
Plans and decisions should  take account of whether safe and 
suitable  access to the site can be achieved by all people 
(bullet 2). Further, bullet point 3 states that development 
should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds 
where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe. The  policy  requirement  set  out  in  Policy  DM18  is  
therefore  a  much  higher test  than  that  set  out within the 
NPPF Paragraph 32 which sets a severity test. The Policy is 
therefore not ‘consistent with National Policy’ and therefore 
cannot be considered ‘Sound’.

See above, as the comment does not completely reflect 
NPPF – in any event, point made covered by 
amendments.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object It will also be important for developments near existing or 
proposed noise sensitive areas, and in particular residential 
areas especially at night, that heavy vehicles can approach 
their destination so that reversing warning sounds can be kept 
to the absolute minimum.

Agreed – policy amended accordingly.

Policy DM19 – Electric Vehicle Charging Points

NB:  Government is currently consulting on introducing requirement to install charging points under Building Regulations.  Should this come to fruition, it is 

P
age 126



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

possible that there would be no need to deal with this issue via planning policy.  Whilst the comments received are noted, it is not intended to reconsult at 
Regulation 18 Stage 2 .  Should this policy be taken forward, the credible and robust evidence base will be compiled to support in any amended form at the 

Regulation 19 submission stage.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Support The provision of fully wired and connected ‘ready to use’ 
charging points in dwellings is supported as it will future proof 
homes – making them available to owners of electric cars and 
those considering one for their next vehicle.  

Noted.  However, policy may be overtaken by 
Government’s proposals to include electric vehicle 
charging requirement into Building Regulations.  If so, 
policy is likely to become redundant.  At this stage, it is 
proposed to hold policy in abeyance and await outcome 
of Government consultation at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/electric-car-
chargepoints-to-be-installed-in-all-future-homes-in-
world-first . In the event of a new Building Regulation 
being introduced, policy would be deleted.  If Building 
Regulation not introduced, consideration would be given 
to reintroduction of policy once full evidence base 
compiled.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Proposed Policy DM19 Electric Vehicle Charging Points refers 
to the provision of charging points at Petrol / Service Stations.  
This is supported and refitting of petrol stations should be 
required to make such provision.  The preamble in paragraph 
5.3.8 does not refer to provision at petrol / service stations and 
it would be helpful if it did.

Noted.  However, policy may be overtaken by 
Government’s proposals to include electric vehicle 
charging requirement into Building Regulations.  If so, 
policy is likely to become redundant.  At this stage, it is 
proposed to hold policy in abeyance and await outcome 
of Government consultation at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/electric-car-
chargepoints-to-be-installed-in-all-future-homes-in-
world-first . In the event of a new Building Regulation 
being introduced, policy would be deleted.  If Building 
Regulation not introduced, consideration would be given 
to reintroduction of policy once full evidence base 
compiled.

P
age 127

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/electric-car-chargepoints-to-be-installed-in-all-future-homes-in-world-first
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/electric-car-chargepoints-to-be-installed-in-all-future-homes-in-world-first
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/electric-car-chargepoints-to-be-installed-in-all-future-homes-in-world-first


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Support The principle of requiring new development to incorporate 
provision for electric vehicle charging is supported.

As above

KCC Support KCC is supportive of this policy, provided that parking 
provision is made. Reference should also be made to the 
emerging Kent Low Emissions and Energy Strategy, as this 
includes policies relating to EV and other air quality measures.  
KCC is currently developing its own policy document in 
respect of Electric Vehicles and it is suggested the policies are 
aligned as far as possible. GBC is recommended to work 
closely with KCC as this policy develops.

As above

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM19 makes provision for electric vehicle charging 
points in new development. On the 9th of July, the Department 
for Transport launched its Road to Zero Strategy which 
includes taking steps to enable a roll-out of infrastructure to 
support electric vehicles. The LLP believes that any measures 
advocated by Gravesham must reflect and be consistent with 
Government strategy and must be reviewed in that context.

As above  

Barton 
Willmore (on 
behalf of 
Reside 
Developments, 
Taylor Wimpey 
UK Ltd, and 
Esquire 
Developemnst)

Object Policy DM19 requires the provision of 1no. electric vehicle  
charging point per house, and 1no. bay per 50 spaces for flats.

The  consultation  draft  of  the  NPPF  refers  to  the  planning  
system  being  required  to  support  the transition  to  a  low  
carbon  future  and  support  renewable  and  low  carbon  
energy  and  associated infrastructure  (Paragraph  147).  
However,  the  NPPF  (2018) makes  no  direct  reference  to  
electric vehicle  charging  points  nor  does  it  set  a  required  
standard.  The Council has not  provided  an evidence base to 
assess why the standards contained within Policy DM19 are 

As above

P
age 128



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

justified. Further, the Council  has  not  undertaken  an  
assessment  of  viability to  consider  the  impact of  the  
imposition  of the standard upon development viability.

Paragraphs 157 and 177 of the NPPF (2012) require Local 
Plans to plan positively for infrastructure needs throughout the 
Plan Period.  The Council has not undertaken any form of 
assessment as to the need for infrastructure upgrades (which 
may be wider than the Site) associated with additional demand 
upon the National Grid.

On  09  July  the  Transport  Secretary  published  the  
Government’s  zero  emission  road  transport strategy  ‘Road  
to  Zero’  to  set  out  how  the  transition  to  zero  emission  
road  transport  will  be achieved.  The  Road  to  Zero  states  
the  Government’s  intention  that  all  new  homes  should  
have  a charging  point  available.  However,  it  acknowledges  
there  may  be  a  need  to  reinforce  existing electricity  
networks  to  accommodate  such  charging.  The  Road  to  
Zero  states  that  a  consultation will be undertaken to 
establish how best to achieve the required quantum of 
charging points in the most effective way and being mindful of 
the Government’s Housing Supply Objectives. It is our view 
that this technical requirement should be brought about 
through Building Regulations rather than the Planning system.

Although  the  Government  has  announced  its  intentions  in  
respect  of  electric  vehicle  charging,  no formal consultation  
has  been  undertaken in  respect of the  appropriate  method 
for delivery. Policy DM19 has therefore not been ‘positively 
prepared’ and is not ‘justified’ or ‘consistent with National 
Policy’ and is therefore not ‘Sound’. The Policy should 

P
age 129



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

therefore be deleted.

Policy  DM19  has  therefore  not  been  ‘positively  prepared’  
and  is  not  ‘justified’  or  ‘consistent  with National Policy’ and 
is therefore not ‘Sound’. The Policy should therefore be 
deleted.

Policy DM20 - Telecommunications

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England welcomes the wording of proposed Policy 
DM20 in relation to ensuring the landscape impacts of 
telecommunication applications are minimised; we would 
however recommend that consideration of the potential 
biodiversity impacts are also included within the proposed 
policy wording.

Agreed – The impact of a telecommunications 
development can go beyond the immediate site of the 
installation and include compounds, access tracks and 
electrical connections etc. that have the potential to 
impact on biodiversity etc.  Wording to be changed 
accordingly.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

The preamble to this policy notes the Government’s aim to 
extend superfast Broadband to at least 95% of UK properties, 
but the policy itself does little to encourage developers to 
provide the infrastructure for this. Whilst the County Council is 
making progress on meeting the Government’s target for rural 
areas, it has consistently found that developers are reluctant to 
provide the necessary infrastructure for Broadband provision 
despite the fact that this can be delivered for free by the 
Broadband providers on residential developments of 30 or 
more houses. In response to planning applications for 
residential  development, the County Council provides the 
following Informative regarding Broadband provision:

Informative: Kent County Council recommends that all 
developers work with a telecommunications partner or 
subcontractor  in  the  early  stages  of  planning  for  any  new 

Noted – amend supporting text to draw attention to 
Superfast Broadband and KCC initiative.

P
age 130



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

development to make sure that Next Generation Access 
Broadband is a fundamental part of the project. Access to 
superfast broadband should be thought of as an essential 
utility for all new homes and businesses and given the same 
importance as water or power in the design  of  any  
development. Please liaise with a telecom provider to decide 
the most appropriate solution for this development and the 
availability of the nearest connection point to high speed 
broadband. Kent County Council understands that major 
telecommunications providers are now offering Next 
Generation Access Broadband connections free of charge to 
developers. For advice on how to proceed please contact 
broadband@kent.gov.uk.

KCC recognises that the NPPF is silent on the issue of 
Broadband provision, which does not help GBC, but KCC 
would welcome an amendment to DM20 that could in some 
way support the above informative and provide positive 
encouragement for Broadband provision on new development 
sites.

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Conditionally 
Support

The AONB Unit welcomes specific reference to restricted 
permitted development rights in the AONB.  
Telecommunications equipment, in particular tall masts, can 
have a damaging impact on the landscape and we would 
welcome reference being included to particular care being 
needed in respect of locations in the AONB.  This would be 
consistent with the Planning Advisory Service document 
‘Mobile Infrastructure Project – planning applications and 
masts’.  This advises that in AONBs great weight should be 
given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty and while 
this does not preclude the provision of telephone masts, it 

Agreed – text amended accordingly.

P
age 131

mailto:broadband@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

advises that a landscape led approach to decision making is 
required.  We consider it would also be helpful for reference to 
mitigation, such as landscaping, be required.

Highways 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM20 Telecommunications – paragraph 5.4.6 refers to 
Telecommunications equipment being permitted where “it can 
be demonstrated that there is no interference with highway 
safety and there is adequate, safe provision for the parking of 
service vehicles”. Additionally, this section should state that 
where such installations affect the SRN additional advice is 
provided in DfT C2/13 paragraphs A5 to A7 which state that 
the installation must not interfere in Highways England’s ability 
to carry out either routine or structural maintenance. Neither 
should any harm be caused to the long-term integrity of the 
highway including pavement, earthworks, structures, drainage 
works and ancillary equipment”. Also that “all operations must 
be carried out without interference to traffic flows” and that a 
full road safety audit is required.

Agreed – insert footnote referring to Highways England 
advice note and provide link.

Section 6 – Green Infrastructure General Comments

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England welcomes the Council’s desire to improve the 
provision of greenspace for the benefit of residents through the 
publication of supplementary planning guidance. Natural 
England recommends that this guidance should also make 
reference to the delivery and enhancement of multi-functional 
green infrastructure. Gravesham has a rich environmental 
heritage including the Kent Downs Kent Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB),the Swanscombe Skull 
Site National Nature Reserve along with important coastal, 
freshwater grazing marsh and woodland designated sites.

Noted – Swanscombe Skull Site NNR is in Dartford.  

P
age 132



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

As part of the Government’s 25 Year Environment Plan, it is 
considered that the planning system should contribute to the 
objectives through securing environmental net gain for 
development proposals. To maximise the benefit of 
environmental net gain, it would appear appropriate for this to 
be embedded within the development management policies 
alongside your green infrastructure aspirations and policies.

Environment 
Agency

Neutral Fisheries, Biodiversity and Geomorphology

Key Constraints Background Paper

The 'Key Constraints' Document does not identify that Local 
Wildlife Sites should also be given weighting as a constraint to 
development.

The SEA had not been published when reviewing the 
documents, but needs to consider the Thames River Basin 
Management Plan, and ensure no deterioration to the Thames 
as a result of development. This will be important for any 
options that are close to the River Thames, but also any that 
may indirectly impact on it.

Proposals to intensify existing land uses within Gravesend 
must consider how that can still protect and enhance the 
Thames estuary, and provide adequate improvement to the 
river corridor.

Thames River Basin Management Plan recognised in 
Core Strategy policy but consideration needs to be given 
to separate development management policy on water 
that will also pick up on flood risk, water quality in 
general, sustainable urban drainage and supply/usage 
to update and supersede policy CS18..

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Conditionally 
Support

With the trend towards higher density residential development 
with smaller gardens and a higher proportion of flatted 
development public open space will be more important.  Open 
space / play space standards from an earlier period when 
houses had larger gardens are unlikely to be appropriate. This 
should be taken into consideration when setting out new 

Noted.   To a certain extent, the assumption that larger 
gardens in older developments should be taken to mean 
that public open space in such areas is less important is 
suspect.  There is a need to children and other people to 
socialise irrespective of size of private gardens. 

P
age 133



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

standards of provision. 

KCC Conditionally 
Support

On policies DM21, 22 and 23 - There is a positive correlation 
between access to greenspace, deprivation and good health, 
where less deprived areas have good access to green space 
and also, therefore, better health outcomes. Research has 
found that the population of Gravesham has a relatively high 
level of physical inactivity with limited access to natural 
greenspace that is ‘close to home’. Provision of high quality 
open green spaces and opportunities for outdoor recreation 
should therefore be a priority. The local plan review should 
address the imbalance of green spaces and improve 
opportunities to access this resource in deprived areas.

Policies designed to protect and improve open spaces, sports 
facilities and recreational facilities are welcomed. KCC 
recommends that additional wording is included within these 
policies regarding accessibility of these spaces and 
recreational resources. Green infrastructure should be 
available or created as part of any development, enabling the 
public to walk or cycle to the sites. Improved connectivity 
should encourage recreational and leisure activity, including 
access to country parks and other facilities of high leisure use.

KCC considers that Paragraph 6.1.18; referring to the 
community use of school playing fields, would be better placed 
under DM22, as the paragraph refers to new facilities (as 
opposed to the retention of existing facilities).

To identify which local green spaces are significant and 
contribute to the character of the borough, it may be helpful for 
GBC carry out a parks and gardens / green spaces 

Council has undertaken an open space study, which 
forms part of the evidence base for the emerging 
development management policies document.  Walking 
and cycling also promoted through revised transport 
policies.  Issue of school playing field covered more 
under DM21 below on retention of spaces.  Currently, 
the Council does not have the resources to carry out the 
additional work in relation to heritage value of 
greenspaces, although it should be noted that some key 
assets are designated (Cobham Hall Historic Park and 
Garden + Gravesend Cemetery.  New Tavern Fort is 
scheduled/listed).

P
age 134



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

assessment. KCC has been working with the Kent Gardens 
Trust for the last few years, on a district by district assessment 
of parks and gardens and green spaces. Volunteers research 
the history and development of different green spaces and 
write Statements of Significance that are helpful to planning 
authorities in assessing the impact of proposed change on the 
spaces concerned. It would be helpful if GBC carried out a 
similar survey, which would also prepare the spaces for 
inclusion on a Local List of Heritage Assets.

Policy DM21 – Open space, playing pitches and sports facilities retention

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Object Policy DM21 seeks to protect existing open spaces and sports 
facilities. The LLP recognises the important role that these 
facilities provide within urban areas; whilst the LLP supports 
Growth Option 1 (intensification of urban areas), it recognises 
the pressure that this places on existing facilities. It is 
important to note, however, that the definition of open space 
needs to be carefully considered, and should relate only to 
publicly accessible spaces which perform a clear recreational 
function. It would be inappropriate to apply the definition more 
widely, to include for example land which is simply 
undeveloped or which has become despoiled. Existing open 
spaces should be protected, but the policy should not be used 
to extend protection onto new sites

Noted – However, this would appear to conflict with the 
definition of open space in the NPPF (2019) which 
states:

Open space

All open space of public value, including not just land, 
but also areas of water (such as rivers, canals, lakes 
and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for 
sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity.

There is no reference in the definition to ‘publically 
accessible’.  Also, they are only required to ‘offer 
important opportunities for sport and recreation’ (i.e. 
have the potential to even if not doing so now) and not 
simply ‘perform a clear recreational function’ (i.e. at the 
current time).

Douglas 
McNab on 

Object The Development Management Policies document contains 
few policies relating specifically to education infrastructure 
provision so we have limited comments to make on Part 2 of 

Noted – Amend paragraph 6.1.8 to reflect point made by 
ESFA.  The benefits of new or improved school 
provision should be weighed in the planning balance 

P
age 135



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

behalf of ESFA the Local Plan. However, we note that Policy DM21 on open 
space, playing pitches and sports facilities specifies tight 
criteria for change of use or redevelopment. Specifically, it 
states that this will only be allowed where it can be 
demonstrated that, amongst other things: 

- “the loss will be mitigated by equivalent replacement 
provision (in terms of quality, quantity and accessibility); or

- the development is for alternative sports/recreational use for 
which there is a greater need”

The ESFA considers that, with specific regard to the 
development of new schools, impacts on the quantity of open 
space or playing pitches need to be weighed against the clear 
social benefits that good new schools provide. These include 
education provision, raising pupils’ attainment and improving 
social mobility; providing community access to facilities such 
as school halls; and/or enhancing access to remaining open 
space, including improved access to higher quality, better 
managed playing fields. The positive role of new schools in 
helping to support place making, social capital and higher 
rates of housing delivery is also increasingly recognised. 

The ESFA would therefore request that the council considers 
making refinements to this policy with specific regard to the 
development of new schools. The ESFA’s Forward Planning 
team would be happy to collaborate with the council’s planning 
policy team to explore opportunities for amending the policy 
wording where it applies to schools and/or developing 
guidance around this issue. Please let me know if this would 

when considering the loss of existing or now disused 
school playing fields.  Improvements in quality and 
accessibility may also assist in offsetting loss, although a 
consideration would also need to be whether the need 
for open space in an area otherwise deficient outweighs 
those benefits.

P
age 136



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

be helpful.

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditionally 
Support

Chapter 8 of the NPPF seeks the promotion of open space 
and appropriate facilities through the planning process.

Reef accepts that, where possible, developments should 
provide appropriate green infrastructure, including open space 
and sports facilities, commensurate with the scheme as 
promoted.

There may, however, be occasions where the location and 
context of development means that open space and green 
infrastructure cannot be provided on site. The draft policy 
wording accepts this, stating, at paragraph 6.1.20, that where 
"it is not possible to provide such facilities on site" a financial 
contribution may instead be appropriate.

Accordingly, Reef considers that the introductory policy text, at 
paragraph 6.1.19 should be amended to explain that the 
requirements to include open space on site apply where this is 
possible, given the constraints of a site.

Noted – point accepted and text will be amended 
accordingly.  Whilst each case would need to be 
considered on its merits, also having regard to other 
social, economic and environmental benefits in the 
planning balance, the objective must still be to deliver a 
good standard of amenity for current and future 
occupiers.  The Council would not wish to see off-site 
contributions as a default position.

Policy DM22 – Open Space, playing pitches and sports facilities provision

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Support EDC support the proposal to replace the existing NPFA 
standard with a new policy for open space and leisure 
provision as part of new development. This comment 
notwithstanding that the major allocated Gravesham 
development sites within the EDC area are already at a stage 
where open space provision has been fixed through either 
detailed consent or outline “quantums”. However, it is unclear 
what the policy position would be in the interim period between 
adoption of the DM Policies and the subsequent open spaces 

Noted – consideration will be given to timing of 
production of SPD so that it is either available on 
adoption of Development Management policies 
document or as soon as possible thereafter.  It should 
be noted that the DBC part of the Development 
Corporation has yet to adopt a formal open space 
standard, although on major development sites policy 
requires that up to 30% take the form of greenspace etc.

P
age 137



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

SPD referred to

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object The NPPF draft text for consultation paragraph 69(d) 
encourages local planning authorities to work with developers 
to encourage the sub-division of large sites where this could 
help to speed up the delivery of homes.  It is not clear how the 
Council will ensure that adequate open space is provided on 
larger sites that are sub-divided into smaller development 
parcels.

Noted -  where a large site is sub-divided into smaller 
development parcels, delivery of open space could be 
assured through a masterplan approach and 
conditions/legal agreement negotiated at the application 
stage.

Policy DM23 – Local green spaces

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM23 provides protection for Local Green Spaces, 
where defined. Supporting text indicates that although the 
Council has not identified Local Green Spaces, it will do so 
through the Site Allocations process. No mention is made of 
that intention in the Site Allocations document itself. Since the 
Local Green Space initiative is intended to allow communities 
to identify spaces of value to them, the Council should respond 
to requests for such sites to be identified, rather than propose 
their identification directly. Should any such sites be proposed 
by the community, they should be considered formally through 
the Local Plan process and be subject to scrutiny and 
independent examination.

The purpose of this policy is to set out criteria against 
which proposals affecting designated Green Spaces will 
be judged, similar to those used in the Green Belt as per 
national policy.  Such sites will be designated through 
the site allocations process in due course and be subject 
to due process.

Policy DM24 – Trees, hedgerows and woodland

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England would advise that the proposed policy 
wording should make explicit reference to environmental net 
gain from development proposals. We would also recommend 
that in addition to an arboricultural report, ecological and 
landscape assessments may be required to support 

Agreed – text to be amended accordingly

P
age 138



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

applications which could result in the loss or harm to trees, 
hedgerows or woodland and suggest that the text within 
Section 6.3.12 is amended to reflect this.

Where areas of new planting are required to mitigate or 
compensate for the loss of woodland, hedgerows or trees the 
long term management needs to be secured, not just until it 
becomes established. As such, we would recommend that the 
text within Section 6.3.13 is amended to require long-term 
management of the habitat to ensure that the objectives of the 
mitigation/compensation habitat are met.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC  is  supportive  of  the  recognition  of  the  importance  of  
trees, hedgerows and woodland and the contribution that they 
make to local character. At present, however, the policy does 
not mention that the pattern of tracks, lanes and field 
boundaries have a similar and complementary role. The 
landscape that is visible today is the result of many centuries 
of evolution and the pattern of roads, tracks, field boundaries 
and hedgerows that gives the modern landscape its character 
is firmly rooted in the past. 

A Green Infrastructure Strategy would have the potential to 
use some of these historic linkages to give shape to the open 
spaces that are to be developed or retained. KCC 
recommends GBC explore the potential to develop a Green 
Infrastructure Strategy. The Kent Historic Landscape 
Characterisation (HLC) Survey (2001) is an important resource 
for understanding the landscape of Kent and its development 
through time. KCC would like to emphasise, however, that the 
HLC Survey is a strategic, not local, assessment. It considers 
the landscape of Kent and draw conclusions about the 

Noted – Policy DM24 relates specifically to Trees, 
Hedgerows and Woodland.  The point made here by 
KCC is more general, relating to Green Infrastructure.  
The Development Management policies should be read 
in conjunction with the Core Strategy, which already 
includes policy CS12 on Green Infrastructure which 
covers many of the points made in the comments.  The 
production of any formal Green Infrastructure Strategy 
would need to be subject to resources and a 
consideration of whether it would bring benefits over and 
above robust policies.  Consideration will be given as to 
whether more detailed Development Management 
policies on landscape and biodiversity are required to 
supplement policy CS12 which already provides 
strategic direction. 

NB.  Policies on biodiversity will need to be reviewed in 
any event (including CS12) because the Core Startegy 

P
age 139



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

development of the landscape in different parts of the county 
and the county as a whole. It is not detailed enough to use at a 
large scale. It was also entirely map- based and involved no 
survey or site visits. It is not appropriate, therefore, to use the 
HLC Survey data alone to inform specific development 
proposals or to identify potential development sites.

To be fully effective in local planning and development control, 
the HLC Survey should be backed up by more detailed district-
wide or case-by- case analysis, to add greater detail through 
secondary sources.

KCC recommends that policies are included, which relate to 
the following:

• Protection of locally, nationally and internationally 
designated sites;

• Protection of protected/notable species and habitats 
through the requirement for ecological surveys and mitigation 
strategies to be submitted with planning applications; and

• Need for ecological enhancements within a site.

All policies must ensure the promotion of Green Infrastructure 
Policy that developments can link in to, to ensure that habitat 
connectivity throughout the area is maintained.

A motion was passed in May by KCC to develop a Kent 
Pollinator Strategy and KCC will be looking into to local plans 
to consider what contributions it can make support and 
improve habitat for pollinators. KCC hopes that this may be 

refers to ‘no net loss of biodiversity’ whereas the NPPF 
now calls for ‘minimising impacts on and providing net 
gains for biodiversity’.  Existing policy is therefore no 
longer completely consistent with the NPPF.  

P
age 140



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

able to be considered as part of the Gravesham Local Plan.

Barton 
Willmore (on 
behalf of 
Reside 
Developments, 
Taylor Wimpey 
UK Ltd and 
Esquire 
Developments)

Object Policy  DM24  seeks  new  development  to  retain  trees,  
hedgerow  and   woodland  that  contribute positively  to  the  
amenity  of  the  Site  and  surrounding  area.  It also affords  
greatest  weight  to  the retention and protection from harm of 
Ancient Woodland, Aged and Veteran Trees.

Paragraph   118   of   the   NPPF   (2012)   states   that   
planning   permission   should   be   refused   for development  
resulting  in  the  loss  or  deterioration  of  ancient  woodland  
unless  the  need  for  and benefits of the development in that 
location clearly outweigh the loss. In contrast, Paragraph 
6.3.11 requires that the loss of Ancient Woodland, Aged and 
Veteran Trees will be allowed  in exceptional circumstances.

We  are  supportive  in  principle  of  Policy  DM24;  however,  
the  test  as  set  out within  Policy  DM24  is higher than  that  
within  the  NPPF.  The Policy is  therefore  not  ‘consistent  
with  National  Policy’ and therefore cannot be considered 
‘Sound’.

NPPF (2019) now states at paragraph 175 that 
‘development resulting in the loss or deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats (such as ancient woodland and 
ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there 
are wholly exceptional reasons 58 and a suitable 
compensation strategy exists’.

Paragraph 6.3.11 and the new NPPF therefore both 
appear to refer to ‘exceptional’ circumstances or 
reasons.  Wording of draft policy will however need to be 
changed to reflect the need for a suitable compensation 
strategy where such exceptional reasons exist.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object The Proposed Policy does not specify a period during which 
trees etc. planted as part of a development that die have to be 
replaced.  Such guidance is required to ensure that the 
planting deemed necessary to support a development is 
delivered.

Text amended so that management plan would need to 
include this.

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 

Support Support.  The proposal will help ensure delivery of numerous 
AONB Management Plan policies.

Noted

P
age 141



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Unit

Policy DM 25 – Self-custom build housing 

(Please note some components of the Self-custom build housing policy may form part of the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review going forward)

Gladman 
Developments

Object Self and custom build is an important aspect of house building. 
However, the levels of demand for it need to be carefully 
evidenced and a commensurate policy response developed. 
Gladman do not consider policy requirements to deliver X % of 
a site of over X number dwellings as self-build plots are 
effective in delivering custom build housing, and often again 
have a knock on impact on the rate at which general market 
housing can be delivered.

Noted – Policy will be reviewed in light of comments.  
The Council recognises that any such policy needs to be 
evidenced based having regard to local circumstances 
and the level of demand for self-build/custom housing.  
A break clause is provided in paragraph 7.1.6 but 
wording could be reviewed.  

Under section 1 of the Self Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015, local authorities are required to 
keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced 
plots in the area for their own self-build and custom 
house building. They are also subject to duties under 
sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have regard to this and 
to give enough suitable development permissions to 
meet the identified demand. Self and custom-build 
properties could provide market or affordable housing

In order to diversify delivery and speed up the supply of 
new homes, Councils are also required under paragraph 
68 of the NPPF to ensure that at least 10% of their 
supply is derived from sites no larger than 1 hectare 
unless there are strong reasons why this target cannot 
be met. 

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 

Object Policy DM25 seeks to establish a policy requirement for 5% of 
major residential scheme to be supplied to self/custom 
builders other than by exception. The policy fails to 

As above

P
age 142



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Northfleet LLP acknowledge that there must be a demonstrated need for such 
plots and that demand must relate to the area in which the 
development site is located. Without this demonstrated need, 
there is a risk that development will be fettered by the need to 
reserve plots for which there may be no demand.

The LLP is also concerned by the prospect that plots which 
are not sold to self/custom builders will need to be offered to 
the Council before reverting to the developer. This has the 
effect of increasing the burden on developers by acting as a 
further transfer in addition to the provision of affordable 
housing. The policy also has the effect of meaning that 
commenced but uncompleted (as opposed to undeveloped) 
plots will be returned to the developer thereby creating a 
potential liability.

The LLP believes that if self-build plots are offered to the 
market, control will be established through property rights and 
should not be fettered by planning policy. A simple provision 
should be made for any obligations for self-build plots to be 
annulled if no sale occurs within three years of planning 
permission.

Barton 
Willmore (on 
behalf of 
Reside 
Developments, 
Taylor Wimpey 
UK Ltd and 
Esquire 

Object Policy DM25 requires all major development proposals to 
supply at least 5% of plots for sale to self/custom builders 
unless otherwise justified as an exception by robust evidence. 
The principle of the need to provide self-build housing is 
supported in principle.

Planning  Practice  Guidance  (paragraph  11  Reference  ID:  
57-011-2016401)  requires  Local Planning Authorities to use 
demand data from its self-build registers when preparing its 

As above

P
age 143



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Developments) SHMA to understand and consider future need for this type of 
housing in its area. Plan makers are then required  to  make  
reasonable  assumptions  using  the  data  in  setting  
requirements  within  Local Plans.

The Council has published its SHENA (June 2016) as part of 
its evidence base to support the Local Plan consultation. 
Paragraph 8.3 acknowledges that a lack of robust data is 
available and therefore the needs of self-build groups has not 
been assessed as part of the SHENA. The Council has also 
not published any information about the number of people on 
the Council’s Self Build Register.

As a consequence, the Council has not provided any evidence 
in respect of the specific need for self-build housing in 
Gravesham over the Plan Period to justify the 5% requirement. 
Policy DM25 has therefore not been ‘Positively Prepared’, 
‘Justified’ or ‘Consistent with National Policy’ and should 
therefore be deleted.

Policy DM26 – Residential space standards

KCC Conditionally 
Support

Policy CS19 in the adopted Core Strategy refers to new 
development meeting the requirements of Building for Life 12 
and being fit for purpose and adaptable to allow changes to 
meet the needs of users of the dwelling. There is, however, no 
specific policy supporting the provision of Wheelchair 
Accessible Housing. KCC would welcome a Development 
Management Policy that formalises the requirement on all 
residential developments (2% for developments of 50 or more 
units and 1% for those less than 50) with KCC working closely 
with Gravesham in identifying clients that would benefit from 

The introduction of such a policy would need to be 
evidenced based, with consideration given to impact on 
scheme viability.   Discussions to be had with KCC on 
this + accessibility standards under Part M of Building 
Regulations.   Note that Government has indicated that it 
may undertake a consultation on a Future Homes 
Standard that may make the NDSS compulsory and 
work towards carbon neutrality under Part L of Building 
Regulations. However, should the introduction of the 
NDSS be phased, a local plan policy supported by a 

P
age 144



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

this provision. credible and robust evidence base may still be 
warranted..

Boyer Planning Conditionally 
Support

Whilst we support the use of the nationally prescribed 
technical housing standards to form the basis of this policy, we 
do not support the policy in full in its current wording. We 
object to table 4 provided with the policy, relating to the 
minimum provision of amenity space. The current wording of 
the policy, and in particular the dimension requirements of 
gardens are unduly prescriptive. There is no need to restrict 
the length of a garden, and in doing so this restricts the 
detailed design options of individual proposals.

The policy should be re-worded to make it absolutely clear that 
these figures are guidance, and not minimum requirements. 
The application of these requirements does not support the 
provision of higher density residential accommodation that 
includes the provision of dwelling houses. It will result in higher 
density development having a far greater proportion of flatted 
development, and this will not address the wide range of 
housing need facing the Borough.

Noted – The current standard for garden sizes is set out 
in the Council’s Residential Layout Guideline (1996).  

The Government’s Nationally Described Space Standard 
only deals with internal spaces, so it is important that the 
local plan sets out what is expected in respect of garden 
sizes to create places which promote health and well-
being and a high standard of amenity for current and 
future users.

However, the wording of 7.2.10 does appear to be 
somewhat prescriptive and not allow flexibility or 
innovation.  On this, it should be remembered that DM26 
is policy and not guidance and would therefore carry 
greater weight than the previous SPG.

Paragraph 10 of the existing SPG states that it may be 
appropriate for minimum garden depths and areas to be 
modified under exceptional circumstances.  In these 
cases, each scheme will be considered on its individual 
merits, having particular regard to any exceptional 
circumstances and other material considerations.

Draft policy will be amended accordingly to maintain 
status quo with existing SPG.

Graham 
Simpkin 
Planning

Object Residential  Space  Standards  are  supported.    The  
supporting  text  to  the  policy,  however, should  recognise  
that  the  schemes  involving  the  conversion  of  agricultural  
or  industrial buildings  may  approach  the  provision  of  

Noted – This would be appropriate provided that the 
available space is still sufficient to meet the needs of 
occupants.  Otherwise there is no reason why the 

P
age 145



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

outdoor  spaces  differently.    Subdivided  private spaces,  for  
example,  might  be  harmful  to  the  setting  of  the  building,  
and  its  former industrial/agricultural character.

response could not be design led to reflect context.

Persimmon 
Homes South 
East

Object Object to policy DM26 on adoption of Nationally Described 
Space Standards for new dwellings claiming that the policy 
has not been properly justified through evidence.  State that 
where a need for internal space standards is identified, LPAs 
should provide justification, taking into account the following 
areas:

 Need – evidence should be provided on the size and 
types of dwelling currently being built in the area, to 
ensure that the impacts of adopting the standards 
cane be properly assessed:  For example, to consider 
any potential impact on meeting demand for starter 
homes.

 Viability – The impact of adopting the space standard 
should be considered as part of a plan’s viability 
assessment, with account taken of the impact of 
potentially larger dwellings on land supply.  LPAs will 
also need to consider impacts on affordability where a 
space standard is to be adopted.

 Timing – there may be a need for a transitional period 
following adoption of the new policy on space 
standards to enable developers to factor the cost of 
space standards into future land acquisitions.

Objection goes on to make further points in relation to alleged 

Adopted Core Strategy policy CS19 requires that all new 
residential development comply with the Council’s 
adopted Residential Layout Guidelines (1996).  The 
Government introduced new Housing Technical 
Standards in 2015 and, from the 1 October 2015, the 
Council was obliged to interpret its previously adopted 
Guidelines in accordance with these.  From the 
introduction of the Government’s standards in 2015, 
these became the only ones the Council could formally 
adopt through the local plan process, the aim being to 
eventually have as consistent set of Nationally 
Described Space Standards to which industry could 
work.  The way the Council is currently applying 
residential space standards in the interim is set out in 
the guidance note at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/001
6/201625/Housing-Standards-Policy-Statement.pdf .

For information, following the adoption of DBC’s 
Development Policies Plan (July 2017) the Nationally 
Described Space Standards have applied under policy 
DM8 unless shown to be unnecessary or unviable due to 
specific circumstances.  This has resulted in a rather 
odd situation where the standards apply in one part of 
the same housing market area (Dartford) but not in 
another (Gravesham) and where the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation straddles both and tries to 
deliver development affording a high standard of 

P
age 146

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/201625/Housing-Standards-Policy-Statement.pdf
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/201625/Housing-Standards-Policy-Statement.pdf


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

deficiencies in supporting evidence provided by the LPA. amenity for current and future occupiers in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF.

A recent statement by then outgoing Prime Minister 
Theresa May made a very strong case for mandatory 
space standards to end the post-code lottery that has 
resulted from the current system of voluntary adoption of 
space standards through the planning system – see 
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pms-speech-
on-housing-26-june-2019 

This committed Government to a consultation on a 
mandatory Future Homes Standard that would deal with 
the issue and the introduction of further energy efficiency 
measures under Part L of the Building Regulations as 
part of its carbon reduction strategy.  This consultation is 
awaited.

A problem the Council faces at the moment therefore is 
that it has not had sight of the consultation material – 
although it is likely that this will take forward the existing 
Nationally Described Space Standard.  Also, whilst the 
Council could simply await this, we have no idea when 
such mandatory standards would be introduced – if at 
all. 

Given we do not know what Government will do in this 
respect at the moment, it is considered prudent to retain 
the policy and work on the evidence base to justify it at 
examination so Gravesham can formally adopted the 
Nationally Described Space Standard.  An update of 
whole plan viability will also be undertaken to provide the 
evidence that there is no impediment to adoption or to 

P
age 147

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pms-speech-on-housing-26-june-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/pms-speech-on-housing-26-june-2019


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

set out if any transitional arrangements would be 
required.

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Support EDC welcome the proposal to adopt the national standard for 
internal space provided in new dwellings. However, to further 
encourage design quality and support accessible and 
adaptable dwellings as promoted in the Local Plan Core 
Strategy, EDC strongly advocate a policy expectation for 
compliance with building regulations accessibility standards 
(i.e. M4(2) and M4(3)). Furthermore, in terms of securing 
design quality, EDC support using Building for Life as a design 
tool in negotiating on and assessing residential development 
proposals.

See response in relation to comments from KCC above.

Barton 
Willmore (on 
behalf of 
Reside 
Developments, 
Taylor Wimpey 
UK Ltd and 
Esquire 
Developments)

Object Policy  DM26  seeks  to  require  the  Nationally  Described  
Space  Standards  (NDSS) for  all  new residential 
development.

Gravesham  Borough  Council  currently  imposes  the  NDSS  
as  at  the  time  of  its  publication  by Government the Council 
had adopted internal space standards guidance. The Council’s 
Standards were set out within its Residential Layout 
Guidelines Supplementary Planning Guidance2 which was 
adopted in February 1996. Given the age of the SPG the 
evidence base supporting the document will be out of date and 
therefore cannot be relied on to provide evidence for the new 
Development Management Policies.

The NPPG (Paragraph ID: 56-002-20160519) requires Local 
Planning Authorities to:Gather evidence to determine whether 
there is a need for additional standards in their area and justify 

See comments above.

P
age 148



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

setting appropriate policies in their Local Plans.

The NPPG continues (Reference ID: 56-020-20150327) that in 
providing justification required to adopt the space standards 
the Council should consider:

•  Need – evidence should be provided on the size and type of 
dwellings being built to ensure the impacts of adopting space 
standards can be properly assessed;

•  Viability – the impact of adopting the space standards should 
be considered as part of the Plan’s viability assessment with 
account taken of the impact of potentially larger dwellings on 
land supply. LPAs will also need to consider impacts on 
affordability;

•  Timing – there may need to be a reasonable transition 
period to enable developers to factor in the cost of space 
standards into future land acquisitions.

The  Council  has  provided  a  small  amount  of  evidence  to  
support  the  proposals  to  require compliance with the NDSS 
set out at Paragraph 7.2.3. The Council states that it 
undertook surveys to all major developments completed in 
Gravesham between 2010 and 2015. The survey results found 
that approximately 80% of respondents considered their 
property/bedrooms are big enough to meet their household’s 
needs. 

The NDSS was published in March 2015 and therefore the 
survey did not consider any homes built to NDSS Standards. 
Gravesham SPG Standards were considerably different to the 

P
age 149



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

NDSS and did not set an overall minimum internal space 
standard.

In  addition  to  the  above,  the  Council  has  not  undertaken  
any  form  of  viability  assessment  to consider the impact of 
adopting the NDSS particularly as there is an issue of 
affordability of homes within Gravesham Borough.

Policy  DM26  also  seeks  to  impose  the  use  of  minimum  
external  space  standards for  houses  and apartments  and  
states  that  in  certain  cases,  greater  depths  and/or  areas  
may  be  required.  

The policy makes no provision for flexibility in its application. 
There  is no justification provided for the proposed  garden  or  
balcony  sizes  or  consideration  of  the  potential  impact  of  
these  on  the  design and density of schemes. This 
requirement should be supported by sufficient evidence to 
justify such standards,   with   adequate   flexibility   to take   
account   of   local   character   or   location   of   the 
development.

The NPPF (para 174) advises that the cumulative  impacts of 
local standards should be  assessed as part of the Council’s 
evidence  base  to ensure  the  implementation of the plan is 
not at serious risk. No such evidence has been prepared.

In the absence of any evidence to support the introduction of 
internal and external space standards, Policy   DM26   fails   to   
be   “Justified”   and  “Consistent   with   National   Policy”   
and   is   therefore “Unsound”.

P
age 150



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Policy DM 28 – Domestic extensions, outbuildings and other development

Boyer Planning Conditionally 
Support

We support the majority of this policy, in focusing on the 
quality of design and relationship with its context. This is the 
case for parts 7.47, 7.48 and 7.49. We object to the 
requirements however of specific and limiting garden size 
which will unduly restrict development potential. The figures 
should be used as guidance, and where alternative solutions 
demonstrate acceptable standards of amenity are achieved, 
they should be granted planning permission.

See comments in response to Boyer Planning under 
DM26 above.

Policy DM30 – Residential intensification through new build

Boyer Planning Conditionally 
Support

We support parts a-d of the policy. We do not support part e) 
for the reasons stated in connection with policy DM28 above.

See comments in response to policies DM26 and 28 
above.

KCC Conditionally 
Support

It is understood that the proposed policy wording is an addition 
to Policy CS19 on Development and Design Principle. The 
additional criterion states that development proposals must be 
in a sustainable location that provides safe pedestrian access.  
However, there is no reference to PRoW or the provision of 
safe and convenient cycle access. KCC recommends that a 
provision of cycling infrastructure should be a policy 
requirement, to facilitate active travel and increase sustainable 
travel choice.

Whilst this may be desirable, it will not be achievable in 
every case.  The overall strategic approach within the 
local plan generally accords with the NPPF in terms of 
sustainable locations.  This issue would probably be 
best addressed through generic transport policies either 
through a partial review of policy CS 11 or the 
associated Development Management policies on 
Transport.  A minor textual alteration to DM30(a) may 
also be appropriate to reflect NPPF paragraph 108(a) – 
this would be less prescriptive than the change 
requested by KCC in that it would recognise that not all 
developments can deliver such improvements whilst still 
being acceptable in terms of delivering other social, 
economic and environmental benefits.

Graham Object It is, of course, agreed that residential intensification (such as Agreed – insert word ‘unacceptable’ in both parts of 

P
age 151



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Simpkin 
Planning

backland development) needs to be approached carefully to 
protect the amenities enjoyed by nearby properties and the 
character of the residential area.    The  policy,  however,  is  
worded  in  such  a  way  that development   in   the gardens of 
existing residential properties is unlikely to   ever  be 
acceptable.   Parts c and d of the policy should be reworded.   
For example, the words ‘not result in a detrimental impact on 
occupiers of neighbouring properties’  should be replaced with   
‘not  result   in  an  unacceptable   detrimental  impact  on  
occupiers  of  neighbouring properties’.  Sensitive residential 
intensification should be encouraged

DM30.

Policy DM 32 – Assessing the suitability of sites for gypsies and travellers

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management  
Unit

Object Development in the AONB needs to be of the highest quality 
and maintain the local character, qualities and distinctiveness 
of the AONB, in line with AONB Management plan policies 
SD1, SD2 and SD9.  The nature of gypsy sites means they will 
often be inappropriate development within an AONB; we would 
like to see a requirement for any sites that are located within 
the AONB to be required to meet the key test of conserving 
and enhancing the AONB.

Agree – to be addressed through amendments to 
wording of policy and supporting text.

National 
Federation of 
Gypsy Liaison 
Groups

Object Whilst we welcome a policy which sets out fair criteria for 
determining applications for Traveller sites, there are elements 
of the policy which cause concern.

Criterion (d) is unduly restrictive as all sites will be likely to 
have some adverse effect on the built or natural environment. 
The word “significant” should be introduced before the word 
“adverse”.

Some minor amendments to wording would be 
appropriate, also having regard to changes suggested 
by Kent Downs AoNB Management Unit.  On (d) – insert 
‘unacceptable’ rather than ‘significant’.

On (h), agree with change of wording suggested by the 
NFGLG.  However, given comments made by the 
Environment Agency in relation to the water 
environment, also insert that the use of septic tanks or 

P
age 152



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Criterion (h) is too restrictive. There will be cases where septic 
tanks can be safely serviced without the vehicle entering and 
maneuvering within the site. The words “easy access and 
sufficient parking space .....” should be replaced by “adequate 
arrangements to enable safe servicing of the cesspit/septic 
tank.”

other on-site arrangements should not result in an 
unacceptable impact on the water environment given the 
requirement to achieve Water Framework Directive 
objectives (see below).

Section 8 – General Point on water environment etc. + also relating to other policies

Environment 
Agency

Object Groundwater and Contaminated Land

We are concerned that the DMP does not have regard to 
water pollution or resource protection. In particular there is no 
over-riding policy on water pollution, although there is for 
noise, light, openness etc, which appear to have also be 
addressed in your Core Strategy, so why not water pollution.

Individual polices should also mention, where relevant 
connection capacity for foul drainage provisions, for instance 
in 2,.2.7, 2.4.7 DM7 and 2.8.13.

It is mentioned for equestrian developments in DM4 s 2.5.6 but 
needs specific mention in others too; i.e. agricultural dwellings, 
gypsy sites (DM31 s 7.8.12), CoU in greenbelt, infill in villages 
and so on. 

We cannot continually accept cess pits or septic tank 
proliferation, it poses significant cumulative impacts on 
groundwater quality, particularly where mains sewer provision 
is minimal.

For example you could include in 2.8.13 as "Impacts of 
proposal in terms of highways…..protection of the water 
environment and …."

The Development Management policies should be read 
in conjunction with policy CS18 on Climate Change.  
However, the Development Management policies should 
make it clear where water is likely to be an issue in 
terms of drainage, pollution and the achievement of 
water framework directive objectives.   The Core 
Strategy policy in relation to water saving also needs 
updating to reflect national guidance/standards – 
although the case for this has already been made at the 
Core Strategy examination.  Consideration therefore to 
be given to a new Development Management policy on 
water to sit alongside the others in Section 8.

P
age 153



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Location of cemeteries needs specific reference to extensions 
or new cemeteries not being acceptable in Source Protection 
Zones (SPZs) or shallow Groundwater settings. Reference to 
our cemetery guidance would be helpful perhaps.

In Gravesham GW protection issues are critical if growth is to 
be supported by clean water supply in the future.

Policy DM 33 – Air quality

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object The Client Earth (No. 2) judgement (02/11/2016) sets out that 
the government should seek to achieve compliance with 
Article 23 by the soonest possible date.   Paragraph 8.1.2 
refers to the use of the Kent and Medway Air Quality 
Partnership (KMAQP) December 2015 Air Quality Planning 
Guidance.  Given that this predates the Client Earth judgement 
the Council will need to be assured that the 2015 KMAQP 
guidance or any subsequent guidance is compliant with the 
judgement.

Noted – The Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership 
(KMAQP) guidance is predominately a framework for 
establishing how an air quality assessment should be 
undertaken and impacts evaluated.  Where a proposal is 
likely to have a significant air quality impact alone or in 
combination with other developments, those impacts 
would be a material consideration in the determination of 
an application.  How that related to any legal 
requirement arising out of the Judgement would stand to 
be considered at that time.  The emerging Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies 
document will be subject to separate assessment.

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England welcomes the consideration of potential 
impacts to biodiversity and wildlife from air quality impacts as 
part of the proposed policy wording. In relation to Section 8.1.5 
(d) it may be clearer to amend the text along the following 
lines:

‘…Consider:

(d) impacts to designated nature conservation sites, 
biodiversity and wildlife, along with appropriate avoidance and 

Agreed – amend wording accordingly.

P
age 154



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

mitigation measures where impacts are likely to occur’

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC notes that GBC recognises the need for an air quality 
mitigation assessment – i.e. measures to mitigate potentially 
negative air quality impacts for all major developments. KCC 
recommends that policy wording should be included which 
sets out what kind of mitigation measures should be provided 
to encourage joined up efforts between developers to avoid 
isolated measures where possible.

Agreed – include in supporting text wording from 
Planning Practice Guidance on what forms of mitigation 
might be considered and the desirability of developers 
working together. i.e. 

•the design and layout of development to increase 
separation distances from sources of air pollution;
•using green infrastructure, in particular trees, to absorb 
dust and other pollutants;
•means of ventilation;
•promoting infrastructure to promote modes of transport 
with low impact on air quality;
•controlling dust and emissions from construction, 
operation and demolition; and
•contributing funding to measures, including those 
identified in air quality action plans and low emission 
strategies, designed to offset the impact on air quality 
arising from new development.

Port of London 
Authority

Conditionally 
Support

The Port of London Authority (PLA) considers that policy DM 
33 on air quality must be expanded to include reference to the 
use of the River Thames for the transportation of goods and 
materials, either in the policy itself or through a link to 
associated policies including policy DM 17 (Mitigating 
Transport Impacts). This is required in order to strengthen the 
support for alternative transport methods for goods and 
materials in the borough, rather than by road that will help to 
reduce air pollution and road congestion, which is supported 
by the PLA’s Vision for the Tidal Thames (2016). 

In addition, for information, the PLA is due to publish its first 

Agreed – Provide link in supporting text to use of River 
Thames for transport and reference to PLA Air Quality 
Strategy - . https://www.pla.co.uk/Environment/Air-
Quality-and-Green-Tariff/Air-Quality 

P
age 155

https://www.pla.co.uk/Environment/Air-Quality-and-Green-Tariff/Air-Quality
https://www.pla.co.uk/Environment/Air-Quality-and-Green-Tariff/Air-Quality


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Air Quality Strategy for the Tidal Thames this summer.

Vincent and 
Gorbing on 
behalf of Port of 
Tilbury

Conditionally 
Support

PoTLL  support’s GBC’s intentions in seeking to  improve  air 
quality  in the Gravesham  area. However, we have some 
concerns in the way in which the written justification and policy 
text is expressed. 

As  currently  worded, Policy  DM 33  could  require  an air  
quality  assessment for any  size  of development as there is 
no qualification of what is meant by “increase levels of air 
pollution”. The Kent & Medway 2015 AQ technical guidance 
includes a screening checklist which picks out “major” 
developments and we consider GBC should adopt the same 
approach.

Bullet point (a) refers to “areas of poor air quality” but it is not 
clear if this means in/near AQMAs only, as implied by the Kent 
& Medway guidance.   This could usefully be clarified. 
Notwithstanding,  the  Kent  &  Medway  2015  technical  
guidance  states  “The  fact  that  a development is within or 
close to an AQMA does not mean that it is necessarily 
affecting an area of exceedance of an Objective, or that it is 
being affected by air pollution that exceeds the objective.”

Para. 8.1.6 as currently worded implies development “will only 
be permitted if… there is no deterioration  in  air  quality”  (after  
mitigation  is  applied).   The  policy  needs to  define  what 
constitutes   “deterioration” and what “adequately mitigated” 
means, as to some degree all development may arguably 
have an effect (albeit in some cases imperceptible).   The 
policy should state what it would consider to be an 

Points raised addressed through proposed amendments 
to policy.  Further consultation will allow Council to 
evaluate whether concerns have been  fully addressed.

Agreed – but this should be the starting point and 
applicants should be directed to discuss potential for air 
quality impacts with Council’s Environmental Health 
section to determine any requirements.

Again, the need for an Air Quality Impact Assessment is 
case specific.  There may be areas with poor air quality 
that are not within an AQMA or near one where a 
development could still trigger an exceedance.  Whilst 
the statement made by PTLL is true, so is the opposite. 
The need for an Air Quality Impact Assessment can only 
be determined through dialogue.

Noted – consider minor amendment to wording to 
address point raised.

P
age 156



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

acceptable/insignificant residual impact before refusal.

David Lock 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Tarmac

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM33 addresses the issue of air quality, and seeks to 
ensure that adequate assessment informs proposed 
development and, where justified, mitigation is secured 
through the planning process. Tarmac recognises that air 
quality has and continues to be a particular concern at 
Northfleet and its environs. It is important, however, that the 
changing context at Northfleet – where cement production has 
ceased and substantial demolition of the former works, has 
been completed. It is therefore imperative that any new 
proposals are subject to proportionate assessment and that 
mitigation measures are related to the proposal rather than 
being addressed at existing causes of air quality concerns.

Noted – Whilst it is appreciated the development context 
at Northfleet is changing, any proposals will still stand to 
be considered in the light of policy objectives in terms of 
air quality.  Whilst this does not mean  the Council would 
be seeking through mitigation associated with a proposal 
to address existing causes of poor air quality (although if 
it did, it would be an associated benefit) this should not 
be taken to imply that previous levels of pollution 
associated with operations that have ceased/been 
removed should be taken as an acceptable baseline.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Paragraph 8.1.7 is in conflict with paragraph 8.1.6.  The word 
‘adequately’ should be removed from paragraph 8.1.7.

Wording of policy is considered to be clear.  Measures to 
mitigate impacts need to be adequate to deal with that 
impact.

Policy DM34 – Contaminated land

Inland 
Waterways 
Association – 
Kent and East 
Sussex Branch

Neutral Note that the Thames and Medway Canal runs through two of 
the three identified sites(?) Remediation of any contamination 
present in the canal should be undertaken simultaneously with 
the remediation and development of the adjacent 
contaminated land.

DM34 is intended to be a development management 
policy and not a site specific requirement.  Issue of how 
and when canal is remediated relative to redevelopment 
of remainder of the Canal Basin site should be dealt with 
through site allocation policy and at application stage.

Policy DM35 – Light pollution

Kent Downs 
AONB 
Management 

Support Support reference to the AONB Management Plan policy. Noted

P
age 157



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Unit

David Lock 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Tarmac

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM35 addresses the potential for light pollution. 
Improved lighting products and the ability to use directional 
LED lighting means that new development is better able to 
manage light pollution that was previously the case. For 
industrial development, lighting plays a vital role in ensuring 
safety and security is upheld. Tarmac recognises and supports 
the ambition to reduce the risk of light pollution, but references 
in Policy DM35 must recognise that thresholds for industrial 
lighting will be different to domestic lighting, and that 
references to ‘minimised’ intensity must be read in the context 
of the characteristics of the proposed development.

Noted – The Council recognises that the intensity of 
some lighting installations is related to function and/or 
HSE requirements – industrial/sports floodlighting being 
an example.  Where this is the case, those levels should 
not be exceeded and glare/spillage/sky glow and light 
pollution should still be kept to a minimum through 
design    Amend wording of 8.3.7 to include 
‘commensurate with proposed use’ and include 
additional wording in supporting text to reflect this.  Also 
include in supporting text wording to cover point made 
by PLA below.

Port of London 
Authority

Conditionally 
Support

The PLA broadly supports policy DM 35 on light pollution, 
regarding the need for development schemes to demonstrate 
that the minimum amount of light intensity will be used to 
achieve its purpose and that glare and light spillage will be 
minimised. This is a particularly sensitive issue in riverside 
areas, where it must be ensured that any proposed lighting 
does not have a negative effect on the river, to ensure any 
potential impacts on navigation and the environment is 
minimised.

See above

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Conditional 
Support

Support the fact that the AONB is included in Light 
Environmental Zone E1 in Figure 9 GN01:2011 and the 
intention as set out in paragraph 8.3.6 that the Council will use 
advice contained in the Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obstructive Light GN01:2011.  It would be beneficial however 
for reference to proposals needing to comply with the 
guidance in the wording of the policy.

Issue addressed through changes to supporting text and 
policy.

P
age 158



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Light pollution can have an adverse impact on biodiversity and 
character of the countryside, including nocturnal creatures 
irrespective of whether or not they live and feed in wildlife and 
sites of nature conservation value.  The countryside should be 
included as a category in paragraph 8.3.7.

Issue addressed through changes to supporting text and 
policy.

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Figure 9 GN01: 2011 zones applied to Gravesham identifies 
light environment zones.  It is not clear how Figure 9 will be 
used when applying policy DM35.  The policy should be 
strengthened to give greater protection to the E1 Naturally – 
Intrinsically dark and E2 Rural – Low district brightness zones 
which correspond with the CPRE Dark Skies map. 

 The Ashford Dark Skies SPD (2014) provides a suitable 
approach which we submit for consideration for inclusion.

 For light environmental zone E1: ‘Lighting proposals that 
neighbour or are near enough to significantly affect areas of 
nature conservation importance, e.g. Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest, National Nature Reserves and County Wildlife Sites 
will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances. External 
artificial lighting can have severe implications for the natural 
diurnal rhythms in a range of animals and plants and therefore 
sites, which are deemed important in terms of their provision of 
wildlife, should not be in anyway affected.’

 And for light environment zone E2: ‘Lighting proposals within 
the identified rural settlements will only be permitted if the 
applicant can demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority that 
the scheme proposed is the minimum needed for security 
and/or working purposes and that it minimises the potential for 
obtrusive light from glare or light trespass to an acceptable 

Issue addressed through changes to supporting text and 
policy.

P
age 159



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

level. Artificial lighting in the open countryside can have a 
demonstrable effect on ‘dark skies’, one of the special qualities 
of the rural landscape.’

Policy DM36 – Sunlight and daylight within new development

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Conditionally 
Support

Given the topography of some EDC sites, particularly along 
the Northfleet Riverside, a specific policy covering daylight and 
sunlight is supported, although as drafted there appears to be 
some ambiguity as to when a formal assessment is required 
and who is responsible for determining whether a formal report 
is required.

Policy  amended in the light of changes to national policy 
which allow for daylight and sunlight to be lower than set 
out in BRE guidance in some urban locations provided a 
good standard of amenity is still achieved.  Guidance 
note may be required to set out when a daylight and 
sunlight report is required based on BRE standard 
criteria

Policy DM37 – Noise and vibration

CPRE Protect 
Kent

Object Paragraph 8.5.2 refers to the CPRE Tranquillity Map for Kent 
that notes that noise pollution can have impacts on wildlife.  
Despite this proposed policy DM37 Noise and Vibration does 
not address the impact of noise pollution on tranquil rural 
areas.  This needs addressing.

Issue addressed through changes to supporting text and 
policy.

Port of London 
Authority

Conditionally 
Support

With regard to policy DM 37 on noise and vibration, the PLA 
considers that this policy must be strengthened with regard to 
existing noise-generating uses within the borough, particularly 
Safeguarded Wharves. Any noise-sensitive development such 
as residential uses proposed near or adjacent to Safeguarded 
Wharves must be designed to ensure there are no conflicts of 
use and disturbance. The PLA also considers that any 
development proposal near to a Safeguarded Wharf, as 
designated on the adopted policies map, must be 
accompanied by a noise assessment that fully assesses the 

Agreed – amend wording of policy as appropriate to deal 
with this issue. 

P
age 160



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

uses and activity on the wharf, or assesses a reasonable worst 
case scenario for vacant or under utilised wharves. The PLA 
considers that reference to these requirements must be 
included within policy DM 37 on noise and vibration.

David Lock 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Tarmac

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM37 addresses the potential for adverse effects from 
noise and vibration. Tarmac recognises the need to ensure 
that new development does not give rise to adverse noise and 
vibration effects but believes that the implication of new 
(residential) development on existing industrial operations 
needs to be considered. In particular, the risk that new 
residents will raise concerns about amenity as a consequence 
of established uses needs to be considered and addressed. 
New development must therefore take into account the 
existing noise and vibration context and safeguards 
established which avoid fettering ongoing operations.

Agreed – amend wording of supporting text and policy 
as appropriate.

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Object The AONB Unit is concerned that the requirement for 
developments generating noise and/or vibration is limited to 
proposals in noise sensitive areas containing premises only.   
As noted in the background text, noise pollution can impact on 
wildlife and tranquil areas such as the AONB. It is not 
considered that this matter is adequately dealt with under Core 
Strategy policy CS12.  The importance of tranquillity has been 
recognised in the NPPF which requires (paragraph 123) that 
planning policies and decisions should aim to ‘identify and 
protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively 
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and 
amenity value for this reason’.  The tranquillity map included at 
Figure 10 demonstrates that some of the most tranquil areas 
of the Borough are within the AONB.  We would like to see the 
policy expanded to deal with noise in the AONB, in line with 

Issue addressed through changes to supporting text and 
policy.

P
age 161



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Management plan policy SD7 which advises that new 
developments which negatively impact on the local tranquility 
of the Kent Downs AONB will be opposed unless they can be 
satisfactorily mitigated.

Cushman and 
Wakefield on 
behalf of Royal 
Mail Group

Conditionally 
Support

Proposed Policy DM 37 Noise and Vibration sets out noise 
and or/vibration generating development proposals in a noise 
sensitive area, and noise sensitive development in an existing 
noisy environment must be supported by a noise/vibration 
assessment prepared by an acoustic consultant. The noise 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be 
designed, located and controlled to mitigate the impact of 
noise/vibration on the health and quality of life of existing and 
future occupiers adjacent to and within the development.

The proposed policy begins to but does not provide robust 
protection to the operations of existing noise generating uses 
in an area. The proposed policy needs to place significant 
responsibility on applicants to mitigate the impacts from 
existing noise-generating activities or uses on the proposed 
new noise-sensitive development, as it is not uncommon for 
local authorities to favour the complaints of occupiers from 
new development and impose restrictions on established 
businesses. Given the business functions of Royal Mail, 
operations often take place in sensitive hours in the early 
mornings and late evenings with a constant flow of delivery 
vehicles, therefore this can result in noise issues should 
sensitive land uses, particularly new residential dwellings, be 
located nearby.

Therefore, we request additional policy wording that adopts 
the ‘Agent of Change’ principle, to place responsibility on 

See response to similar comments above – wording to 
be strengthened to provide comfort for existing uses.

P
age 162



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

applicants to mitigate the impacts from existing noise-
generating activities or uses on the proposed new noise-
sensitive development. We recommend that paragraph 8.5.8. 
should be amended to the following:

"Planning permission will only be granted where it is 
demonstrated that noise and vibration levels do not adversely 
affect the amenity of existing and future occupiers, and do not 
prejudice the future operations of existing surrounding land 
uses".

It is considered that this additional policy wording is introduced 
to robustly safeguard those Royal Mail properties and other 
employment uses which are located nearby sensitive land 
uses, which would be contrary to, and which do not provide 
direct, ongoing support to, existing business operations. The 
adoption of the ‘Agent of Change’ principle will ensure 
measures are in place to not add unduly to the costs and 
administrative burdens of existing noise-generating uses, in 
order to protect Royal Mail’s essential business operations.

This approach accords with adopted Government guidance set 
out in paragraph 123 on the NPPF which advises that local 
planning authorities should recognise that development will 
often create some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
develop in continuance of their business ‘should not have 
reasonable restrictions put on them because of changes in 
nearby land uses since they were established’. The NPPF also 
advises that local planning authorities should support the 
existing business sectors, taking account of whether they are 
expanding or contracting.

P
age 163



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Vincent and 
Gorbing on 
behalf of Port of 
Tilbury

Conditionally 
Support

In describing the noise environment in Gravesham it would be 
useful to note that the River Thames is a working river and that 
shipping movements and the operation of wharves in the 
vicinity have the potential to create some noise as an 
inevitable result of 24/7 operation which is an essential 
requirement of port operations.

PoTLL further consider that para 8.5.8 should be clear and 
more explicit.  It should state that planning permission will only 
be granted for noise sensitive development (such as 
residential use) where it can be shown that the development 
has taken full account of the existing noise environment 
including current and committed development.  Development 
on the riverside in particular, should be designed to take full 
account of existing working uses on the river and the operation 
of wharves in the vicinity such that new development does not 
result in future complaints with regards to the existing or 
proposed use of the river and its associated land side 
activities.  PoTLL consider that whilst GBC has legitimate 
ambitions to introduce a more residential  environment  to  the  
riverfront,  the  operation  of  the  working  river  should  carry 
significant weight in any decision making.

See response to similar comments above – wording to 
be strengthened to provide comfort for existing uses.

Policy DM40 – Tall and bulky buildings

NB.  Policy has been redrafted for the sake of clarity and to ensure that key considerations in respect of the design/location of tall and bulky buildings are taken 
into account, whilst recognising in some instances the benefits that such development can bring.

Boyer Planning Object With a very limited supply of land suitable for development in 
the Borough, the need to maximise the development potential 
of available site is critical in meeting acute housing need – as 

Whilst it is important that best use is made of land to 
meet development needs (not just housing) this has to 
also take into account issues relating to design and 
appropriateness of development in context.  The policy 

P
age 164



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

well as other strategic objectives.

The wording of this policy, in particular paragraph 9.3.11 is not 
positively prepared. It should be clearly re worded to state that 
"the most effective use of available sites will be encouraged by 
the Council, and planning permission will be granted for 
development on this basis, unless…"

itself simply sets out what an applicant would need to 
address in addition to policy CS19 where tall and bulky 
buildings are proposed.  It is not considered therefore 
that the wording of an individual  policy can be construed 
as meaning that the plan as a whole isn’t positively 
prepared.

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditionally 
Support

In terms of the design of residential dwellings, national policy 
requires the highest standards of design, with the NPPF 
(paragraph 56), which encourages "good design". 

However, Reef also notes that the NPPF, at paragraphs 59 
and 60, requires that Councils, in drawing up local plans, avoid 
"unnecessary prescription" in terms of imposing particular 
design, or, indeed, "stifle innovation".  In addition, one of the 
key requirements for the production of local plans, as 
contained at paragraph 157 of the NPPF, is that they "plan 
positively" for the scale and type of development required.

In terms of control over the design of development, Reef notes 
that Core Strategy Policy CS19 already stipulates the design 
principles new developments (or any scale and size) are 
expected to accord to, given their context. Reef considers that 
these stipulations are adequate to ensure that new 
development, including tall buildings, are of a scale and nature 
appropriate for their context and thus acceptable in planning 
terms. In terms of the impacts on heritage assets, this 
duplicates the already robust requirements as part of Core 
Strategy Policy CS20, and draft policies DM42 to DM45 
(subject to Reef comments, as below) of this consultation.

The requirement for a "Design and Access Statement" in 
support of such proposals is particularly onerous, given that 
Design and Access Statements are only, by law, required in 

It is not considered that draft policy DM40 is prescriptive 
in terms of design and it does not stifle innovation – it 
simply sets out areas that should be addressed in 
addition to policy CS19 that need to be addressed where 
they are proposed.

Disagree – High quality buildings of this type can bring 
benefits not only in terms of improving density and 
optimising land use but be positive in terms of 
regeneration as foci for new communities and 
neighbourhoods.  But they can potentially bring with 
them a different types of issues where they constitute 
novel interventions in a more traditional townscape.  All 
this policy does is to draw attention to some of those 
issues where an applicant may need to provide a more 
detailed justification because of potential impacts.

The requirement for a Design and Access Statement is 
contained in The Town and Country Planning 

P
age 165



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

support of planning applications in certain instances.

Thus, in terms of the NPPF requirement for local plans to "plan 
positively", the proposed policy fails in this regard, and is not 
"justified" in terms of seeking to impose additional restrictions 
and requirements on developments including tall buildings.

(Development Management Procedure) (England) 
(Amendment) Order 2013.  They are required for any 
Major Development (full or outline) or for smaller 
developments in a Conservation Area.  As a tall or bulky 
building could fall below the threshold for Major 
Development under the 2015 Order, the wording of this 
section will be changed to require a similar statement 
justifying the proposal where a Design and Access 
Statement is not required by law.

The Council does not agree with the objectors final 
statement as it considers tha tteh plan is being positively 
prepared to provide guidance to applicants on what 
should accompany and application and is therefore 
justified.

It is also intended that further criteria be added to the list 
to be addressed under 9.3.10 including impacts on 
micro-climate, wind, amenity of adjoining occupiers 
through overlooking and loss of privacy, and  the 
interface between the base of the building and the public 
realm.

Cushman and 
Wakefield on 
behalf of Royal 
Mail Group

Conditionally 
Support

Proposed Policy DM 40 Tall and Bulky Buildings outlines the 
Council’s acknowledgement that tall buildings can make a 
positive contribution to meeting the needs of the local area, 
and where designed well can assist in the regeneration and 
stimulate further growth and investment in Gravesham. The 
proposed policy states Design and Access Statements must 
be accompanied by rigorous analysis and justification for the 
proposal; at a minimum this should include a number of 
considerations. These considerations include implications to 

Accepted – see above.

P
age 166



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

streetscape and character assessment including history and 
heritage assets, urban grain, scale and height and important 
views, prospects and panoramas.

Again, the proposed policy fails to note the amenity of 
adjoining sensitive land uses as a key consideration when 
determining applications for tall and bulky buildings. Paragraph 
9.3.6. remarks that if tall and bulky buildings are designed 
unsympathetically they can have significant detrimental 
impacts on local character and amenity, but this key point has 
not been carried forward in the proposed policy.

The aforementioned Royal Mail sites are well established, 
having operated successfully for a number of years, serving a 
wide catchment area. Due to the nature of use, operations 
extend well beyond the normal working day, including 
associated vehicular movements. The potential juxtaposition of 
alternative, possibly sensitive land uses particularly tall and 
bulky residential properties adjacent or within close proximity 
to the sites is of direct concern to our client.

It is considered that additional policy wording is introduced to 
robustly safeguard the amenity of adjoining sensitive land uses 
from development proposals for tall and bulky buildings. Royal 
Mail therefore formally requests that additional text is inserted 
to paragraph 9.3.10 point A, as follows:

"Viii. The amenity of the occupiers of adjoining buildings/ and 
or surrounding land uses".

The additional policy wording will better serve the protection of 

P
age 167



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

RMG’s future operation and property interests.

Similarly, this approach accords with adopted Government 
guidance set out in the NPPF which states plan-making and 
decision-taking should always seek high quality design and a 
good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants 
of land and buildings. The NPPF also advises that local 
planning authorities should support the existing business 
sectors, taking account of whether they are expanding or 
contracting.

We therefore formally request that this letter is given due 
consideration in the preparation of the draft Local Plan Part 2 
and reserve the right to amend or supplement these 
representations at a later date, if necessary.

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Conditionally 
Support

A specific policy on Tall and Bulky is relevant and would be 
helpful, although that terminology infers negativity and the 
supporting text doesn’t currently acknowledge the potential 
benefits of tall buildings in terms of design, architecture and 
creating a sense of place. The list of considerations in the 
policy might also include matters such as impact on the micro-
climate such as wind and air quality and impacts of 
overshadowing, and promotion of active ground floor facades.

Noted – supporting text to be modified to reflects these 
comments.  This is particularly relevant to the EDC area 
given the need to make best use of development sites 
around Ebbsfleet Station etc.

Policy DM 41 –Designing for a high quality and accessible riverside

NB.  Policy and supporting text has been substantially redrafted to take into account comments received from the Port of  London Authority in particular in 
relation to safety, access, health, and potential conflict with commercial operations etc.

Natural 
England

Conditionally 
Support

Natural England welcomes the proposed access and 
greenspace network along the frontage of the River Thames 
where this is compatible with the ecological value of the River. 

P
age 168



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

It would seem appropriate for the access provision to make 
reference to, and complement the England Coast Path which 
will be providing a public footpath along the estuary. It is 
possible that there are opportunities that developments can 
bring to provide connecting routes to the England Coast Path 
and the Riverside Walk which should also be explored.

Within Section 9.4.12, any additional access to the river by 
foot or boats is likely to require an assessment of the potential 
impacts to the ecology of the estuary and designated nature 
conservation sites if impacts may occur. We would therefore 
recommend that the text is amended to reflect this.

As mentioned above, the Government’s 25 Year Environment 
Plan clearly sets out the desire for developments to deliver 
environmental net gain. Natural England would therefore 
recommend that the wording within Section 9.4.14 is amended 
to reflect this and a suggested wording is provided below:

‘… riverside developments will be expected to secure net 
environmental gain to the biodiversity of the riparian 
environment and have regard to the potential for foreshore 
archaeology’

Agreed – amend text as appropriate

Agreed – amend text as appropriate in line with wording 
of NPPF (2019).

Environment 
Agency

Conditionally 
Support

9.4.14. "In addition, riverside developments will be expected to 
secure improvements to the biodiversity of the riparian 
environment where practicable and have regard to the 
potential for foreshore archaeology." 

This policy not as robust as it could be and does not convey 
the opportunities that may exist to create a genuine Noted – whilst the policy could be more aspirational, it 

P
age 169



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

improvement in the ecology of the riverside environment and 
the mitigation that should be considered for the habitats lost to 
coastal squeeze, as a result of sea level rise; these will also be 
important 'mitigation measures' part of the Thames River 
Basin Management Plan.

Biodiversity improvement may already be covered to some 
extent by other policies; however we would prefer to see a 
stronger riverside policy that directs development to provide an 
improvement in all cases.

9.4.7 - It is not clear what is required by this paragraph. It 
needs to be clear that the Environment Agency has permissive 
powers to carry out flood defence improvement works, 
however is under no obligation to do so and does not receive 
funding for associated amenity works. More general 
improvement to the river side would need to be funded by the 
Council, developer or other sources. 

9.4.13 - Please note that including this policy could jeopardise 
delivery of improve flood defences if funding for amenity 
improvement features is not forthcoming. 

needs also to be realistic and reflect NPPF (2019).  
Wording policy in way suggested by Natural England at 
least provides a basis for negotiation but delivery of 
wider benefits may depend on availability of funding.  
Consideration could be given to including additional 
wording in supporting text or additional policy on 
biodiversity to build on CS12.

Noted – incorporate additional wording into supporting 
text and amend 9.4.13 as appropriate.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-
estuary-2100-te2100/thames-estuary-2100-te2100 

It is not the aim that the policy should frustrate the 
delivery of flood defences rather that they should be well 
designed and take advantage of the opportunities that 
such works might bring.   A basic principle should be 
that any works of improvement do not result in a 
worsening of access to the river and that retro-fitting is 
facilitated through design so that improvements can be 
made at a later stage at reasonable cost once funding 
becomes available.  

The EA publish their own Fluvial Design Guidance at 
http://evidence.environment-
agency.gov.uk/FCERM/en/FluvialDesignGuide.aspx and 
further advice is available on how flood defences etc. 
can be improved to enhance biodiversity ( which the EA 

P
age 170

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-estuary-2100-te2100/thames-estuary-2100-te2100
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-estuary-2100-te2100/thames-estuary-2100-te2100
http://evidence.environment-agency.gov.uk/FCERM/en/FluvialDesignGuide.aspx
http://evidence.environment-agency.gov.uk/FCERM/en/FluvialDesignGuide.aspx


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

endorses) at the Estuary Edges website 
https://www.estuaryedges.co.uk/design-principles/ 

KCC Conditionally 
Support

KCC is supportive of the proposals to enhance pedestrian and 
cycle access along the river frontage. However, Chapter 9.4 
and Policy DM41 refer to the ‘proposed Thames Estuary Path’. 
The Borough Council should be aware that the Thames Path 
National Trail already exists, but this route currently finishes 
near the Thames Barrier at Greenwich.

The Borough Council should also be aware that the County 
Council is currently working in partnership with Natural 
England to establish the England Coast Path in this region. 
This is a new national trail walking route that should be 
referenced within the Policy. Expected to be completed by 
2020, the trail secures new access rights for the public to 
explore the coastline and brings tourism opportunities that can 
boost the local economy.

It is expected that future riverside developments will secure 
improvements to the character and accessibility of the England 
Coast Path. Where possible, consideration should also be 
given to enhancing links between the National Trail and the 
surrounding area. 

The NPPF requires local planning authorities to set out in their 
Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment. There is considerable 
scope about how this should be implemented. Potentially, the 
most effective way could be to bring together all policies and 
actions related to the historic environment into a Heritage 

Council is aware of this as it has been engaged in the 
process.  Whilst the point made in relation to developing 
a heritage strategy for the borough is accepted, the 
NPPF itself does not actually require one for the local 
plan to set out a positive strategy for the historic 
environment.  This is something that could be 
considered at a later stage, subject to the availability of 
resources.  

P
age 171

https://www.estuaryedges.co.uk/design-principles/


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Strategy. 

This allows the LPA to review the heritage resource, consider 
the main historic environment themes of relevance to the area 
and identify the heritage assets they comprise. The Strategy 
can also assess the main threats to the historic environment of 
the borough and suggest ways in which it can be enhanced 
and promoted. 

The Strategy would also provide an Action Plan and can be 
used to refine Policies to be adopted by the Local Plan. The 
advantage of this approach is that it fully integrates all aspects 
of historic environment policy. It prevents it from being 
developed piecemeal and in a fragmented manner which can 
lead to the historic environment failing to play a full role in the 
life of the borough.

Several LPAs in Kent either have a Heritage Strategy already 
or are in the process of developing one, and KCC would be 
happy to discuss this further with GBC.

Port of London 
Authority

Object With regard to the current policy wording of proposed policy 
DM 41 the Port of London Authority (PLA) has the following 
specific comments:

Paragraph 9.4.11: The PLA broadly supports this paragraph, 
with regard to the incorporation of a publically accessible 
walkway/cycle path which can form part of the Thames 
Estuary Path.Paragraph 9.4.12: The PLA considers that this 
paragraph must be amended. Whilst the PLA broadly supports 
the principle of increasing access to the riverside, access to 
the river itself must be carefully managed. With regard to 

Agreed – Add wording relating to safety and navigation 
as appropriate.

P
age 172



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

access to and from the river by boat, any new infrastructure to 
increase provision of mooring infrastructure must only be 
developed in areas where it is navigationally safe to do so, 
taking into account environmental and other safety issues.

With regard to increasing access to the river itself by foot the 
PLA strongly objects to this inclusion within the policy. With 
regard to public access of the Thames foreshore, there is 
strictly no right of public access to the foreshore except for 
navigation (getting in and out of boats) and for fishing and 
digging of bait. The PLA acknowledges that people access the 
foreshore, but this is tolerated more than encouraged. In 
general the PLA is concerned about access to the foreshore 
for the following reasons:

1.Public safety – the foreshore is dangerous due to tides, soft 
mud, slip hazards, sharp objects, Weil’s disease etc. The 
public are largely unaware of the tidal nature of the River 
Thames and the significant dangers that this poses. Every 
year, the Police, Fire Brigade, RNLI (via the Coastguard) and 
the PLA has to rescue people who are trapped on the 
foreshore. 

1.Environmental – some of the foreshore provides important 
habitats for wildlife. 

1.Archaeological – there are items and areas of the foreshore 
which are of archaeological interest. A Thames foreshore 
permit is only valid for certain locations west of the Thames 
Barrier up to Teddington whilst searching is not allowed east of 
the Thames Barrier. 

Noted – The legal position in terms of access was set 
out in a 2003 letter from the PLA to the London 
Assembly – see 

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/Data/Planning%2
0and%20Spatial%20Development%20Committee/20030
311/Agenda/5%20Appendix%20B%20PDF.pdf .  

An alternative form of wording will be discussed with the 
PLA for paragraph 9.4.12 and the supporting text 
amended accordingly to reflect the legal position.

However, it should be noted that one of the goals of the 
PLA’s own Thames Vision document is to promote 
‘greater participation in sport and recreation on and 
alongside the water’ – see http://www.pla.co.uk/About-
Us/The-Thames-Vision 

The general thrust of the policy therefore accords with 
what the PLA itself is seeking to achieve.

P
age 173

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/Data/Planning%20and%20Spatial%20Development%20Committee/20030311/Agenda/5%20Appendix%20B%20PDF.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/Data/Planning%20and%20Spatial%20Development%20Committee/20030311/Agenda/5%20Appendix%20B%20PDF.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/Data/Planning%20and%20Spatial%20Development%20Committee/20030311/Agenda/5%20Appendix%20B%20PDF.pdf
http://www.pla.co.uk/About-Us/The-Thames-Vision
http://www.pla.co.uk/About-Us/The-Thames-Vision


Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

As a note for information, any works in, on, under of over 
Mean High Water requires a River Works License from the 
PLA, in addition to any planning permission which may be 
required. This process ensures that all developments in the 
river are assessed for their potential effect on safety of 
navigation and the environment. Any enquires with regard to 
river woks licensing should be sent to lic.app@pla.co.uk

Paragraph 9.4.13: The PLA broadly supports the inclusion of 
the TE2100 project within the policy wording.

Paragraph 9.4.14: The PLA broadly supports the consideration 
within the policy to the Water Framework Directive and 
Thames River Basin Management Plan objectives.

In addition to the above comments the PLA considers that 
policy DM 41 must be expanded to include reference to the 
need for future development to provide appropriate riparian 
life-saving equipment such as lifebuoys, grab chains and 
access ladders along the riverside to a standard 
recommended in the 1991 Hayes Report on the Inquiry into 
River Safety. The policy must also include reference to the 
need for suicide prevention measures in appropriate locations 
(such as CCTV and signage with information to access 
support) as part of any riverside development.

As part of the supporting text (paragraph 9.4.3) to proposed 
policy DM 41, a number of linkages are made between policy 
DM 41 and a number of adopted Core Strategy Policies. Policy 
CS07 (Economy, Employment and Skills) must also be 
included within this list particularly with regard to the 
references to existing commercial wharves in the borough 

Noted

Noted

Agreed – insert wording to supporting text and policy as 
appropriate.

Agreed – Policy CS07 should be included in list.

P
age 174



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

contained in paragraphs 5.1.35 and 5.1.36. As noted within the 
PLA’s comments on the Local Plan Review booklet, existing 
commercial wharves need a robust protective policy to prevent 
their loss to higher value uses, and without such a policy in 
place then there is a real risk that wharves will be lost to non 
wharf uses, and once these facilities are gone it is highly 
unlikely they will be provided again. The PLA considers that 
existing policies concerning existing commercial wharves 
within the borough must not be considered for change in order 
to accommodate future development in the borough. This is 
supported within paragraph 143 of the NPPF (on facilitating 
the sustainable use of minerals) and the PLA’s Vision for the 
Tidal Thames (2016) (The Thames Vision) which includes the 
goal to see more goods and materials routinely moved 
between wharves on the river, taking over 400,000 lorry tips 
off the regions roads by 2035.

The PLA considers that there must also be a reference to the 
adopted Kent Minerals and Waste Plan (July 2016), and the 
Safeguarded Wharves identified in this document either within 
policy DM 41 or policy DM 17 on Transport. Reference to this 
document would further strengthen the Development 
Management Local Plan as well as Core Strategy policies 
CS07 (Economy, Employment and Skills) and policy CS11 
(Transport) to support the continued use of the River Thames 
as a major commercial waterway.

As a further consideration, the PLA notes that in paragraph 
9.4.2 of the proposed text for policy DM 41 of the Development 
Management Policies Document, there is a reference to 
paragraph 4.1.30 of the adopted Core Strategy, however this 

Noted – this comment relates more to Site Allocations 
document than Development Management policies.  
PLA will be consulted on any proposals in due course.

Agreed – Would be more appropriate to cross reference 
in policy DM17 on Transport.

Typo – 4.3.10 and not 4.1.30

P
age 175



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

doesn’t appear to be in the Core Strategy?

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditional 
Support

This policy consists of two elements. It supports "high quality 
design" that is sensitive to "the context and function" of the 
River Thames. It also requires the provision of a riverside 
walkway and access to the riverside by those on foot or by 
boat.

Reef fully supports the principle of providing pedestrian access 
to and along the riverside; and notes that the extant Heritage 
Quarter permission includes such elements. Reef considers 
that this element of the policy is positive, justified, effective and 
consistent with national policy, and thus "sound." 

While Reef agrees that development fronting the river should 
be of high design quality, Reef considers the further 
requirement pursuant to this goal contained in this policy, is 
duplication. 

The Council already proposes policies that will, subject to the 
amendments arising from consultation and Examination, will 
effectively control the architectural design of developments 
across the Borough, including the riverside. 

Though the riverside is a particularly sensitive location within 
the Borough, this factor is already recognised by the fact that 
the riverside sits within a Conservation Area. This affords the 
riverside a high level of protection from inappropriate 
development, and will be further safeguarded by those 
heritage policies proposed in this consultation (subject to Reef 
comments as below).

Thus, the element of draft policy DM41 that seeks to control 
the design of riverside development duplicates appropriate 
requirements in other policy areas and should be removed.

Disagree – The Core Strategy includes three 
Opportunity Area policies (CS 03. 04 and 05) covering 
the riverside between Swanscombe Peninsula and North 
East Gravesend, along with a policy on transport.  The 
Opportunity Area policies may mention the Thames Path 
in supporting text but not in policy. That on transport 
(CS11) mentions it in the context of improving walking 
and cycling facilities at 5.5.41.  GL Hearn on behalf of 
Reef also appear to be conflating the riverside with the 
town centre only, given they say it sits within a 
Conservation Area.  Parts of it do in the in the 
Gravesend Town Centre and Lansdown Square – the 
rest of it does not. Proposed policy DM41 applies to the 
riverside as a whole, with a focus of concentrating on 
development on the riparian edge of the borough.  It is 
not considered therefore to be duplication.

P
age 176



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Inland 
Waterways 
Association – 
Kent and East 
Sussex Branch

Support Fully support policy.  Its protection of the Thames Estuary Path 
should be extended to a statement that no new development 
should obstruct the view of the River from this path.  The 
adjacent Dartford/Ebbsfleet authorities have failed to have or 
to enforce such a policy resulting in a current application at 
Ingress Park where flats are planned to be built between the 
Thames Estuary Path and the River, with the path diverted 
along a service road.

Noted.  Think about point on views – could have 
something on existing public views of the river should be 
protected.

Ebbsfleet 
Development 
Corporation

Support Finally, EDC welcome the incorporation of a policy focused on 
guiding development to secure a high quality and accessible 
riverside as this is a key expectation of the Ebbsfleet 
Implementation Framework. A key aspiration is improving links 
to the River Thames so the policy should promote connections 
and views towards the River as well as along it. Given the 
aspiration for a riverside walk this policy might include support 
for refuge and dwell points along the riverfront such as cafes, 
parks, seating/viewing areas, toilets etc.

Noted – insert additional wording in supporting text and 
policy to cover this point.

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Tarmac

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM41 relates to designing a high quality and accessible 
riverside. Tarmac welcomes the clear expression in policy that 
this expectation applies to residential and residential-led 
scheme and must not be applied to industrial operations, 
where safety, security and operational efficiency are 
paramount. In that context, any expectation on riverside 
development to secure biodiversity improvements must also 
be restricted to residential or residential-led developments 
only.

Noted – clearly there may be operational or safety 
considerations on commercial wharves where providing 
access to the river should be precluded for good 
reasons.  However, the notion that commercial wharves 
could not deliver improvements to biodiversity as part of 
their schemes is less clear cut.  The opportunities may 
be more limited but it should be noted that the wording 
of the policy includes ‘where practicable’.  It would be for 
the applicant to show that achieving even limited 
benefits would not be practicable.  This approach 
accords with NPPF paragraph 170 whereby the Council 
is expected to minimise impacts on and provide net 

P
age 177



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

gains for biodiversity.

David Local 
Associates on 
behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

Conditionally 
Support

Policy DM41 establishes an expectation that residential 
development sites fronting the River Thames should 
incorporate a publicly accessible riverside walkway/cycle-path, 
other than by exception. The LLP considers that clarity should 
be expressed in terms of allowable exceptions – where cost, 
safety or operational requirements may mean that access is 
not achievable, or would be prohibitively expensive to secure. 
Whilst the LLP recognises the ambition to secure access to 
the riverside, obligations must not have the effect of sterilizing 
land or fettering its delivery.

Agreed – amend the text at end of paragraph 9.4.11 
accordingly.

Section 10 – Heritage Assets General

Historic 
England

Support The plan will be the starting point for decisions on planning 
applications. Consequently, sustainably managing the historic 
environment is best achieved by identifying clear strategic 
policies for heritage, usually in Part 1 of the local plan.

The local plan needs to assess whether or not it should 
identify any areas where certain types of development might 
need to be limited or would be inappropriate due to the impact 
that they might have upon the historic environment (NPPF, 
Paragraph 157). This might include, for example, tall buildings 
within identified view corridors.

Specific Development Management Policies in Part 2 are 
needed in order for decision-takers to determine how they 
should react to an application affecting a heritage asset. Such 
circumstances could include the following:

● where Development Management Policies are necessary to 

Accepted – minor changes to wording of policy proposed

P
age 178



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

amplify a general, overarching Strategic Policy for the historic 
environment, for instance to deal with particularly distinctive or 
important historic environment features or significance;

● where further clarity would be useful, for instance how the 
Council will determine applications affecting archaeological 
remains of less than national importance;

● where Development Management Policies may be 
necessary to address the local circumstances of the borough, 
for example to clarify the approach to development within an 
Archaeological Notification Area, or to protect or enhance 
important views and vistas;

● where Development Management Policies are needed to 
address particular cross-boundary issues such as the 
management extensive historic landscapes which run across a 
number of authority areas.

In terms of the heritage specific policies in the draft Local Plan 
Part 2, in chapter 10 Heritage Assets, we are content that the 
wording and intention of the draft policies will provide an 
appropriate framework for considering development that will 
affect heritage assets, and are broadly compliant with the 
NPPF.

GL Hearn on 
behalf of Reef

Conditional 
Support

The NPPF contains the following requirements when plan-
making or decision-taking in terms of heritage assets 
(including Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas and 
Archaeology).

These requirements, contained within paragraphs 126 to 134 

It is intended that these policies be read and interpreted 
as a group.  Draft policy DM42 provides the context for 
the policies that follows and should be understood and 
interpreted in that way.  Supporting text added to clarify 
this.  General support from GL Hearn that they consider 
the main  heritage policy is closely worded in 

P
age 179



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

of the NPPF, can be summarised as follows:

LPAs to set out a "positive strategy" for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment; 

Applicants required to describe the significance of the heritage 
asset affected by a proposal; 

 Where an application will lead to total loss or 
"substantial harm" to the significance of the asset or its 
setting, refuse permission unless there are substantial 
public benefits of the proposal or other (stipulated) 
criteria apply; and 

 LPAs to identify and assess the significance of a 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal and 
"great weight" should be put on this level of 
significance when determining applications that may 
affect a heritage asset or its setting; 

 Where a proposal will lead to "less than substantial 
harm" to the significance of the asset or its setting, this 
harm to be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal. 

However, Reef is concerned that the wording of draft Policies 
DM43 and DM44 (i.e. Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) is overly prescriptive and fail to take account of the 
framework for assessing the significance of the existing asset 
and the level of harm arising from the development given that 
this significance (as re-stated in DM42). 

Accordingly, Policies DM43, DM44 and DM45 should explain 
that any "harm" of a proposed development on the character 
and appearance of an existing Listed Building or Conservation 
Area or must be considered on the basis of the significance of 

accordance with the NPPF is therefore welcomed.

P
age 180



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

the asset itself. 

Furthermore, these policies should also balance any total 
loss/substantial, or "less than substantial" harm to such assets 
that may accrue from development against the criteria set out 
in the NPPF (and draft policy DM42), including any public 
benefits. 

In particular, paragraph 10.2.21 of draft policy DM43 require 
that developments affecting Listed Buildings should "preserve 
and enhance their character" and paragraph 10.1.26 of DM44 
requires development to preserve and enhance "all features 
that contribute positively towards an area’s character and 
appearance". 

Neither is caveated to include a consideration of the 
contribution made by the heritage asset, nor an assessment 
as to how substantial a level of "harm" might be, as weighed 
against any public benefits. A similar consideration is made in 
relation to paragraph 10.1.27 of draft policy DM45, relating to 
archaeological assets. 

Reef considers that draft policy DM42 is worded closely in 
accordance with these NPPF requirements.

Policy DM42 – Development involving heritage assets

KCC Conditionally 
Support

10.1.15 KCC welcomes the commitment to the protection, 
conservation and enhancement of heritage assets reflected in 
this paragraph, and in particular the encouragement given to 
the re-use of heritage assets. This commitment  to  re-using   
heritage  assets  will   be  helped  by  advance information 
about where they are and to this end KCC encourages GBC to 
develop a local List of heritage assets (not just historic 
buildings) so that the assets can be identified, and their 

Point raised in relation to alternatives accepted and dealt 
with through textual amendment to policy.  NPPF at 
paragraph 189 requires that heritage statements should 
be proportionate hence issue of significance of heritage 
asset and degree of harm is already covered, including 
for development within their setting..  

P
age 181



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

significance be given added weight in the decision-making 
process.

10.1.16 - 10.1.18 The text describes the conditions under 
which development affecting designated heritage assets will 
be permitted. Whilst KCC has no objection to the criterion as 
presented, it should be noted that recent reviews of how 
designated assets have been treated during the development 
control process have noted how often heritage has been 
damaged by the application of such criteria.

The Historic England report ‘Heritage in Planning Decisions’ 
report concluded that “The balance between heritage and 
other public benefits was found to be a judgement easily made 
in favour of other benefits”. 

KCC encourages GBC to ensure that applicants proposing to 
develop in/near heritage assets in a way that impacts on their 
significance be obliged to show that alternative development 
options, including design alternatives, have been fully 
considered. This consideration of alternatives should be 
standard practice, comparable to the process associated with 
Environmental Impact Assessments.

10.1.19 The text states that a Heritage Statement will be 
required where development affects the significance of either 
designated or non- designated heritage assets. KCC 
recommends that the text be modified to indicate that the 
scope and detail to be presented in the heritage statement 
needs to be appropriate to the proposed impact. For a more 
significant asset, the heritage statement will need to be more 
detailed than for a less significant asset and as stated later in 

P
age 182



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

the Archaeology section; further, some heritage statements 
will need to be accompanied by professional assessments, 
potentially involving fieldwork. KCC also recommends that 
GBC prepares detailed guidance for applicants to help them 
write effective heritage statements.

There are various issues with how Heritage Statements 
currently operate. Mostly these have to do with the fact that 
they are generally regarded as validation requirements. They 
are often accepted in a tick- box exercise, irrespective of 
quality, and it is doubtful that in such cases they play a 
meaningful role in decision-making. If para 10.1.19 is to have 
the desired effect, then it is important that the current 
approach is changed so that heritage statements are well 
designed, challenged where appropriate, and are genuinely 
useful to planning officers and applicants alike. This may mean 
taking the Heritage Statement work flow away from the 
validation process. KCC is currently engaged in a project to 
review how validation and Heritage Statements operate in 
Kent and would be pleased to discuss this further with GBC on 
this matter.

Inland 
Waterways 
Association – 
Kent and East 
Sussex Branch

Object 10.1.15 – 10.1.20 Contend that the policy should be 
strengthened with a specific reference to the Thames and 
Medway Canal stating that the canal is to be restored to 
navigation during the redevelopment of adjacent land in the 
Gravesend Basin/Albion Peninsula development.

Inconsistent with adopted Core Strategy policy CS04 
that protects the alignment of the canal but recognises 
that reinstatement would be subject to viability. 

Policy DM43 – Listed buildings

P
age 183



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

KCC Conditionally 
Support

10.1.21  At present, the text implies that the significance of the 
asset may be forgone provided that their character and 
appearance are preserved.  KCC therefore recommends that 
the first sentence of this paragraph be altered to “Alterations 
and extensions to listed buildings and development within their 
settings should ensure that the significance for which they 
were designated is conserved and enhanced.”

Agreed and text amended.

Policy DM44 – Conservation areas

KCC Conditionally 
Support

As the text notes, the process of Conservation Area Appraisal 
(CAA) is essential for assessing the impact of development 
proposals on character and significance. The Borough Council 
has CAAs for most of its rural Conservation Areas and KCC 
encourages the Council to continue the CAA process for its 
urban Conservation Areas too.

Although KCC is generally supportive of the Conservation 
Area policies, it is important that developers engaging in pre-
application discussions with GBC are advised of the potential 
for their proposals to impact on archaeological remains, 
whether inside or outside the Conservation Areas. 

The Conservation Area boundary is not defined with 
archaeology in mind yet because Conservation Areas tend to 
be historic in nature. However, there is the potential for 
archaeological remains to exist both within a Conservation 
Area and beyond them. The Design and Access statement 
should also include an assessment of this archaeological 
potential.

Council has urban conservation area appraisals and 
these will be updated as part of normal process.  
Potential for development in Conservation Areas to 
affect archaeology dealt with by minor amendment to 
proposed policy.

Policy DM45 - Archaeology

P
age 184



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

KCC Conditionally 
Support

10.1.27 / 10.1.28  KCC considers that there will be many 
occasions where a desk-based assessment is needed to 
assess the archaeological impact of a proposal, but on 
occasion, a heritage statement will suffice. KCC suggests the 
text in this section is therefore re-worded to “Planning 
applications on sites where there is or is potential 
archaeological interest must be supported by an informed 
assessment of the asset and the impact of the proposal on its 
significance”. KCC can advise on the requirement.

10.1.29  Not all development proposals affecting actual or 
potentially significant archaeological assets will need a field 
evaluation. KCC recommends the text be replaced by “Where 
important or potentially significant archaeological heritage 
assets may exist, developers may be required to arrange for 
field evaluation to be carried out in advance of the 
determination of planning applications in accordance with a 
specification to be agreed in writing with the Council.”

10.1.31  The text states that a copy of the final report should 
be deposited with the Council for its records. The NPPF states 
that the report should be deposited with the Historic 
Environment Record (para 141 footnote 30). KCC 
recommends this paragraph is re-phrased accordingly: “Where 
preservation in situ is not possible or justified, appropriate 
provision for preservation by record will be required. In such 
cases, a copy of the report detailing and interpreting findings 
shall be deposited with the Council and the County Historic 
Environment Record.”

Accepted – minor changes to wording of policy proposed

David Local 
Associates on 

Object Policy DM45 seeks to establish the presumption that heritage 
assets of archaeological interest should be preserved in-situ 

Accepted – minor changes to wording of policy proposed

P
age 185



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

behalf of 
Northfleet LLP

on sites. Policy wording must comply with the approach set out 
in the NPPF (or its revision) which recognises that the 
importance of an affected asset must influence the weight 
given to it in determining an application. As drafted, Policy 
DM45 fails to reflect this, instead applying blanket weight to 
assets.

Other comments on document in general

Highways 
England 

Not Specified General : a number of Proposed Policies include 
intensification, new dwellings, new developments, extensions, 
change of land use, change of building use. In line with DfT 
Circular 02/13 The Strategic Road Network and the Delivery of 
Sustainable Development, Highways England consider that 
development should be promoted at locations that are or can 
be made sustainable, that allow for uptake of sustainable 
transport modes and support wider social and health 
objectives, and which support existing business sectors as 
well as enabling new growth.  In framing its contribution to the 
development of Local Plans, Highways England’s aim will be 
to influence the scale and patterns of development so that it is 
planned in a manner which will not compromise the fulfilment 
of the primary purpose of the SRN.  Accordingly we would be 
interested in any proposals that may have an impact on the 
SRN and we look forward to further opportunities to comment 
on site specific matters at the earliest possible stage. We 
would expect to see any proposals coming forward to be 
supported by an evidence based assessment of traffic impact, 
outlining that the proposals do not materially affect the safety, 
reliability and/or operation of the SRN (the tests set out in DfT 
C2/13 para 10 and DCLG NPPF para 32).

Noted – discussions will be held with Highways England 
as a key stakeholder and evidence prepared accordingly 
as policy documents are progressed.  The comment 
primarily relates to allocations of strategic sites rather 
than Development Management issues.

P
age 186



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

Kent Downs 
AoNB 
Management 
Unit

Object AONB Policy

As stated at paragraph 6.3.1 of the draft Development 
Management Policies Document, the Core Strategy policy 
CS12 sets out the strategic approach in relation to biodiversity, 
landscape and green infrastructure.  We consider it essential 
however that a standalone policy dealing with local AONB 
issues is included in the Development Management Policies 
Local Plan.  This is considered particularly important in view of 
the emphasis that is being placed on the Green Belt 
designation with too little account being taken in respect of the 
importance of AONB designation in determining planning 
applications.   It is recognised that all of the AONB is covered 
by Green Belt designation however in planning policy terms, 
the objective for AONBs is different from that for Green Belt 
land. While we recognise and accept that the AONB is not a 
development free zone, it does have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty, 
equivalent to that of National Parks, as confirmed at paragraph 
115 of the NPPF.  Any development within or impacting on the 
AONB needs to meet the stringent test of conserving and 
enhancing natural beauty and should be assessed against a 
suitably detailed policy.

 Work carried out by the Kent Downs AONB Unit has identified 
the following essential and desirable components that should 
be included in an AONB specific Local Plan policy:

1.Weight given to AONB in decision making in terms of 
national planning policy and its original primary purpose: 
Policies should ensure that AONBs have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.  It 

To consider possible new landscape policy that would 
cover this.

P
age 187



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

should set out the exceptional circumstances where major 
development would be permitted. 

2.Conserve & enhance: The original purpose of designated 
AONBs is to ‘conserve & enhance’ natural beauty.  Despite the 
omission of the latter from the NPPF, we consider it desirable 
that both elements should be within policy.  Policies should 
also include criterion to demonstrate how the ‘enhance’ 
element of AONB would be achieved. 

3.AONB Management Plan: The AONB Management Plan is 
an important supporting tool to Local Plan policy and has been 
adopted by all Councils.  It should be referenced within policy 
to give it the desired weight. 

4.AONB supporting guidance: As with the AONB Management 
Plan, the weight to be given to the Unit’s range of guidance is 
enhanced by reference to ‘supporting guidance’ within the 
policy.  Whilst supporting text could refer to specific document 
titles, a generic reference to ‘relevant guidance’ will give 
flexibility for others to be added. 

4.Setting: The AONB setting issue is an important 
consideration, especially so within Tonbridge and Malling.  
Aided by descriptive material in the supporting text, the 
impacts on setting (both in views to and from the AONB), both 
singly and cumulatively (see below) should be referenced 
within the policy. 

5.Tranquillity and remoteness (including ‘dark skies’): This has 
been identified as a priority for progression by the AONB JAC 
and we are currently considering how best to take forward 

P
age 188



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

work in these areas.  In the meantime, the inclusion of these 
issues within policy will be important. 

6.Cumulative impacts: Reference to the in-combination 
impacts of proposals is considered necessary and the Unit is 
currently considering how it can give local authorities the 
support needed to consider such issues. 

7.Local descriptive material: Within the supporting text to the 
policy, some description of the overall special characteristics 
and qualities of the landform and landscape character of the 
AONB (including its setting) in so far as it relates to 
Gravesham would be helpful in terms of providing local 
justification and emphasis. 

The AONB Unit would welcome the opportunity to work with 
Gravesham in drafting an appropriate AONB policy for 
inclusion in the Development Management Policies Document.

Savills on 
behalf of 
London Resort 
Company 
Holdings

Conditionally 
Support

London Resort Company Holdings Limited ("LRCH") is 
progressing The London Resort, a recognised Nationally 
Significant Infrastructure Project ("NSIP"), on the Swanscombe 
Peninsula. The London Resort will be the UK’s largest leisure 
project on over 500 hectares of land with a dedicated access 
road off the A2, producing substantial regeneration benefits to 
the local, regional and national economies and enabling the 
creation of over 20,000 employment opportunities. 

LRCH is committed to delivering the project and to date has 
undertaken significant statutory and non-statutory consultation, 

Noted – no specific comments here on Development 
Management policies to address.

P
age 189



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

encompassing widespread engagement with consultees, the 
Planning Inspectorate and members of the public since 2014. 
LRCH’s expert team of consultants continue to develop the 
project.

While The London Resort scheme is being progressed as a 
Development Consent Order ("DCO") application to the 
Planning Inspectorate, the project covers an area falling within 
the administrative boundaries of both Gravesham Borough 
Council and Dartford Borough Council. The project also falls 
within the administrative areas of Kent County Council and the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation. LRCH is therefore 
actively monitoring the planning policy context and all relevant 
publications across these organisations and providing 
consultation responses as appropriate. 

This document, Part 2, focuses on more specific development 
management policies aimed at implementing the strategic 
objectives and vision of the Local Plan, not least the 
regeneration and development of the Swanscombe Peninsula, 
to which The London Resort is a fundamental part. The 
London Resort encourages policies which will enable the 
delivery of growth across the Swanscombe Peninsula. 

2 Members of 
public (same 
address) 

Conditionally 
support

Refers to potential sustainable growth options at Meopham 
and Sole Street

Response more related to Part 1 Site Allocations 
document and not directly relevant to DM policies

Southfleet 
Parish Council

Neutral Make general points in relation to two matters:

1.  Traffic volumes:  Traffic from both Gravesham and 
Dartford Boroughs impact on each other; a matter to 

Noted.  Impact of traffic will be taken into account as part 
of evidence base on local plan at the appropriate time 
and would take into account proposals in adjoining 
areas.  Conversion of retail premises to housing 

P
age 190



Appendix 3: Development Management Consultation Responses and DRAFT ACTIONS

Respondent View Comment Action

be borne in mind for both  DBC and GBC as each 
borough reviews its local plans.

2. Housing: Policies to convert empty retail premises into 
housing as an urgent matter; and firmer restrictions on 
small cottages and bungalows becoming 4 and 5 
bedroom dwellings.  The current situation is not 
helping the need for small size accommodation.

considered in line with policy + emerging policy deals 
with such proposals and loss of retail to other uses.  
Whilst issue of conversion/extension of existing small 
dwellings is one that has come up through consultation 
events, GBC could only have a policy where there is 
evidence to justify it on an area by area basis.  To 
owners from extending their properties without good 
reason (such as design/impact etc) would not be in the 
public interest (the justification for the planning system) 
and potential an infringement of the HRA.

Canal and 
Rivers Trust

No response No comments Noted

Glossary

Highways 
England

Not Stated Development Management Policies Glossary : the definition of 
Strategic Road Network on page 113 refers to “roads which 
are the responsibility of the Secretary of State for Transport 
and managed by the Highways Agency”. Highways Agency 
should be changed to Highways England

To be amended when Glossary is updated to reflect 
NPPF (2019)

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation 
Part 2: Draft Development Management Policies Document 

Proposed Changes as at September 2019

Key
Deletions are in red and struck through

Insertions are in blue and underlined

Page 193



2

Contents 

1. Introduction 7 

2. Green belt 10

2.1. Introduction 10
Background 10
Proposed Text 10
Construction of new buildings (NPPF paragraph 89) 11

2.2. Agricultural and Forestry Development  13
Proposed Text  13
Proposed Policy DM 1 Agricultural and Forestry Development  13

2.3. New dwellings for agricultural, forestry or other rural workers  14
in the Green Belt 
Proposed Text  14
Proposed Policy DM 2: New Dwellings for Agricultural, Forestry and Other Rural 
Workers in the Green Belt  14

2.4. New Buildings and other Facilities for Outdoor Sport, Recreation and 
Cemeteries in the Green Belt  15
Proposed Text  15
Proposed Policy DM 3 New Buildings and other Facilities for Outdoor Sport, 
Recreation and Cemeteries in the Green Belt  15

2.5. Equestrian Development in the Green Belt  16
Proposed Text  16
Proposed Policy DM 4 Equestrian Development in the Green Belt  16

2.6. Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary Development in the 
Green Belt  18
Proposed Text  18
Proposed Policy DM 5 Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary 
Development in the Green Belt  19
Extensions  19
Replacement Buildings  20
Ancillary Development  20

2.7. Limited Infilling in Villages and Development of Previously Developed 
Sites in the Green Belt  21
Proposed Text  21
Proposed Policy DM 6 Limited Infilling in Villages and Development of 
Previously Developed Sites in the Green Belt  23

2.8. Re-use of Buildings in the Green Belt  24
Proposed Text  24
Proposed Policy DM 7 Re-use of Buildings in the Green Belt  24

3. Agricultural land  26

3.1. Protection of Good Quality Agricultural Land  26
Background  26

Page 194



3

Proposed Supporting Text  26
Proposed Policy DM 8 Agricultural Land   27

4. Retail  29

4.1. Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre  29
Background  29
Proposed Text  31
Proposed Policy DM 9 Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre  34
Primary Frontages  35
Secondary Frontages  35
Other shop frontages  36

4.2. Cultural and Tourism Uses in Gravesend Town Centre  36
Proposed Text  36
Proposed Policy DM 10: Complementary Cultural and Tourism Uses in 
Gravesend Town Centre  37

4.3. Neighbourhood and Village Centres  37
Background  37
Proposed Text  43
Proposed Policy DM 11 Neighbourhood and Village Centres  44

4.4. Food and Drink Establishments  45
Background  45
Proposed Text  45
Proposed Policy DM 12 Food and Drink Establishments  45

4.5. Retention of Public Houses  46
Background  46
Proposed Text  46
Proposed Policy DM 13: Retention of Public Houses  47

5. Infrastructure  48

5.1. Route Safeguarding  48
Background  48
Proposed Text  48
Proposed Policy DM 14: Route Safeguarding  49

5.2. Traffic Management within Sites and Access onto the Highway  47
Background  49
Proposed Text  49
Proposed Policy DM 15 Transport Design Principles  53
Proposed Policy DM 16 Understanding and Mitigating Transport Impacts  53
Proposed Policy DM 17 New Accesses and Junctions  55

5.3. Electric Vehicle Charging Points  55
Background  55
Proposed Text  56
Proposed Policy DM 18 Electric Vehicle Charging Points  57

5.4. Telecommunications Infrastructure  57
Background  57
Proposed Text  57

Page 195



4

Proposed Policy DM 19 Telecommunications  58

6. Green infrastructure  60
6.1. Green Space, Playing Pitch and Sports Facility Standards  60
Background  60
Proposed Text  61
Proposed Policy DM 20 Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention  62
Proposed Policy DM 21 Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Provision  62

6.2. Local Green Spaces  63
Background  63
Proposed Text  64
Proposed Policy DM 22: Local Green Spaces  64

6.3. Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland  64
Background  64
Proposed Text  65
Proposed Policy DM 23: Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland  66

7. Residential  68

7.1. Self/Custom-Build Housing  68
Background  68
Proposed Text  68
Proposed Policy DM 24 Self/Custom-Build Housing  68

7.2. Residential Space Standards  69
Background  69
Proposed Text  69
Proposed Policy DM 25 Residential Space Standards  70

7.3. Residential Annexes  72
Proposed Text  72
Proposed Policy DM 26: Residential Annexes  72

7.4. Domestic extensions, outbuildings and other development  73
Proposed Text  73
Proposed Policy DM 27: Domestic Extensions, Outbuildings and Other Development  74

7.5. Residential Intensification through Sub-Division and Conversion  75
Background  75
Proposed Text  75
Proposed Policy DM 28 Residential Intensification 
through Sub-Division and Conversion  77

7.6. Residential Intensification through New Build  77
Background  77
Proposed Text  77
Proposed Policy DM 29: Residential Intensification through New Build  78

7.7. Incorporation of Additional Land into Residential Gardens  79
Background  79
Proposed Text  79
Proposed Policy DM 30: Incorporation of Additional Land into Residential Gardens  80

Page 196



5

7.8. Gypsies and Travellers  80
Background  80
Proposed Text  81
Proposed Policy DM 31: Assessing the Suitability of Sites for Gypsies and Travellers  82

8. Amenity  83

8.1. Air Quality  83
Background  83
Proposed Text  83
Proposed Policy DM 32 Air Quality  84

8.2. Contaminated Land  85
Background  85
Proposed Text  85
Proposed Policy DM 33 Contaminated Land  86

8.3. Light Pollution  86
Background  86
Proposed Text  86
Proposed Policy DM 34 Light Pollution  90

8.4. Daylight and Sunlight within New Development  91
Proposed Text  91
Proposed Policy DM 35: Sunlight and Daylight within New Development  91

8.5. Noise and vibration  91
Background  91
Proposed Text  93
Proposed Policy DM 36 Noise and Vibration  94

9. Design  95
9.1. Advertisements  95
Background  95
Proposed Text  95
Proposed Policy DM 37: Advertisements  97

9.2. Shopfront Design  97
Background  97
Proposed Text  97
Proposed Policy DM 38: Shopfront Design  98

9.3. Tall and Bulky Buildings  99
Background  99
Proposed Text  99
Proposed Policy DM 39: Tall and Bulky Buildings 100

9.4. Designing for a High Quality and Accessible Riverside 102
Background 102
Proposed Text 102
Proposed Policy DM 40: Designing for a High Quality and Accessible Riverside 104

Page 197



6

10. Heritage Assets 106

10.1. Heritage Assets 106
Background 106
Proposed Text 106
Proposed Policy DM 41: Development Involving Heritage Assets 108
Proposed Policy DM 42: Listed Buildings 109
Proposed Policy DM 43: Conservation Areas 109
Proposed Policy DM 44: Archaeology 110

11. Appendix 1 – saved policies of the Gravesham Local Plan first review 1994 to be 
superseded by the Gravesham Local Plan Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies DPD  111

12. Appendix 2 – Neighbourhood and local centres location plans 113 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 Agricultural Land Classification (2007)  26
Figure 2 Current Primary and Secondary Frontages  29 
Figure 3 Proposed Primary and Secondary Frontages  30 
Figure 4 Proposed Shopping Frontages for Milton Road and Parrock Street  31 
Figure 5 Proposed neighbourhood and village centres  39
Figure 6 Location of existing centres in Gravesham – Local Plan Policies Map  40 
Figure 7 Air Quality Management Areas  83 
Figure 8 Plan showing Dark Skies  88 
Figure 9 GN01:2011 zones applied to Gravesham  89 
Figure 10 Tranquillity Map  92
Figure 11 Area of Special Control for Advertisements  96 

Contains Ordnance Survey (OS) data © Crown Copyright 2018. 

All rights reserved Gravesham Borough Council Licence 100019166 

Page 198



7

1. Introduction 

Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) undertook public consultations under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 on its emerging Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies local plan document between 25 April and 
11 July 2018.  Published alongside a number of other supporting documents, this consisted of 
two key parts:

 Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation - Part 1 Site 
Allocations: Issues and Options (April 2018); and

 Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation – Part 2: Development 
Management Policies Document (April 2018)

These documents remain available on the Council’s consultation portal at 
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/listConsultations?type=all 

Taken together with the existing Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014), which will also 
be updated as part of this process to reflect changes that have taken place since adoption, it is 
intended that the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies document will 
complete and update the Local Plan in due course. 

Gravesham Borough Council has a duty to prepare a Local Plan for the whole Borough, 
including the area within Gravesham for which the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) 
is the Development Management Authority.  The purpose of the Local Plan is to inform the 
sustainable development of our area over a number of years.

The Local Plan guides how much development is needed in the borough and where different 
types of development will be located, as well as providing the basis upon which individual 
planning applications stand to be judged.  

The Local Plan therefore provides the starting point against which applications for planning 
permission are determined and the Council is only allowed to deviate from these policies 
(taken as a whole) where material planning considerations indicate otherwise.  

It is therefore an extremely important document that is subject to independent examination and 
follows the process set out by Government.  One of the key tests against which a Local Plan is 
examined is whether or not it can be considered ‘sound’

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019)1 makes it clear that in order for a plan 
to be ‘sound’, a Local Plan should be:

 Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet the 
area’s objectively assessed need; and is informed by agreements with other 
authorities, so that unmet need from neighboring areas is accommodated where it is 
practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable development;

 Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and based on proportionate evidence;

1 For NPPF 2019 see https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 

Page 199

https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/listConsultations?type=all
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


8

 Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint working on 
cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than deferred, as 
evidenced by the statement of common ground; and

 Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable development in 
accordance with the policies in this Framework.

Whilst it is intended initially to refresh the Local Plan to fully cover the period to its existing end 
date of 2028, it is recognised that planning is an on-going process and that it is also necessary 
to consider the direction of travel beyond then and the implications.  This should also be seen 
in the context of adjoining local authorities extending their Local Plans through to the mid-
2030s 

The Council is legally required to review its Local Plan every five years and to keep it up to 
date.  A failure to maintain a 5 year deliverable housing land supply or a persistent shortfall in 
delivery of housing against targets also has the potential to adversely affect the weight 
accorded policies in the adopted Local Plan.  

To assist the Council in deciding whether its development management policy approach is 
appropriate and has the support of the local community, it is necessary to consult local 
residents, businesses, organisations and a range of other stakeholders.  This document 
incorporates amendments to that consulted on in 2018 having regard to:

 Responses received as a result of the 2018 consultation;
 Changes made to national planning policy by Government (NPPF, 2019);
 Changes made to national planning practice guidance (PPG);
 Changing circumstances affecting the local area since the 2018 consultation; 

and
 Feedback from the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SA/SEA) of the emerging development management policies.
The Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment of Regulation 18 Stage 
2 Development Management Policies consultation document is available separately at:  ADD 
Link

It should also be noted that as a result of representations made and following further 
consideration, it is proposed that some additional policies be included in that document.  These 
are identified in the sections that follow and comments on these would also be welcomed.

There will be a further opportunity to be involved in the process of refining the changes to be 
made to the Local Plan following this, as the Council progresses to submit the final draft 
version of the plan for independent examination by a Planning Inspector.  This will involve a 
Regulation 19 pre-submission consultation later in 2020.

The full timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan (and this Development 
Management Policies document in particular) is set out in the Council’s Local 
Development Scheme available on line at ADD LINK

Page 200



9

Development Management Policies Regulation 18 Stage 2 
Consultation

The Regulation 18 Stage 2 Development Management Policies consultation document is 
available on the Council’s consultation webpage at ADD Link

The consultation period on that document starts on TO BE ADDED and ends on TO BE 
ADDED.  Responses should be made by 5pm TO BE ADDED via 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/yoursay.  

A full set of consultation documents will be made available via the Council’s consultation portal 
and will be accessible in Gravesham Gateway (Civic Centre) and public libraries.  

Response to this consultation can also be sent via e-mail to 
planning.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk or post to Planning Policy, Gravesham Borough 
Council, Civic Centre, Gravesend DA12 1AU.

All responses will be made publically available: any personal details provided on the survey 
form will remain confidential.  

However, to aid future public examination of this document it will be necessary to publish the 
names of those individuals, businesses or organisations commenting on the main consultation 
document.  

Petitions will be treated as a series of individual representations provided there is a readable 
and verifiable name and address.

Page 201

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/yoursay
mailto:planning.consultation@gravesham.gov.uk


10

2. Green Belt 

2.1. Introduction 

Background 

2.1.1. The extent of the Green Belt is shown on the Policies Map. We have a number of 
existing saved policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review which do not fully reflect 
the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework. These are: 

• C11 Change of Use of Redundant Buildings in the Countryside 
• C12 Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside 
• C13 Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside 
• C17 Horse-riding and Stables 

2.1.2. It is proposed to replace these saved policies (C11, C12, C13 and C17) with the 
supporting text and policies set out below. 

2.1.3. The Government’s draft revised National Planning Policy Framework (March 2018) 
includes proposed changes to Green Belt policy in terms of changes of use and 
redevelopment 
of previously developed sites that will be taken into account in future consultations. 

Proposed Text 

2.1.4. The national aim of the Green Belt is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open.  The national purposes of the Green Belt and policies for protecting it are 
set out in chapter 9 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2019).  These are:

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas;
 To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
 To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
 To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land.

There are also a number of local purposes of the Green Belt which are listed in paragraph 
4.2.7 of the Core Strategy.  These are:

 To maintain the break in development between the eastern edge of Gravesend and the 
Medway Towns which is one of the few barriers preventing the further eastward sprawl 
of London and the merging of towns along the southern part of the Thames Estuary;

 To assist in safeguarding the countryside by minimising the expansion of the Borough’s 
rural settlements; and

 To assist in concentrating development on underused, derelict and previously 
developed land in the urban area of Gravesend and Northfleet.

2.1.5. The Council is committed to preserving the openness of the Green Belt and will only support 
development where it is compatible with national policies for protecting the Green Belt and policies 
in this plan (see Core Strategy Policy CS02). Inappropriate development in the Green Belt will not 
be approved unless the applicant can demonstrate the existence of ‘very special circumstances’ 
that clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm.  When considering planning 

Page 202



11

applications, the Council will give substantial weight to any harm which may be caused to the 
Green Belt.

Construction of new buildings (NPPF paragraph 89 145) 

2.1.6. The NPPF lists a number of exceptions including the construction of new buildings that 
are not considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. These are listed below. 

 buildings for agriculture and forestry;
 the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a 

change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, and for cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green 
Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

 the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

 the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not 
materially larger than the one it replaces;

 limited infilling in villages; , and limited affordable housing for local community needs 
under policies set out in the Local Plan; or

 limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the 
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

 limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
and the purpose of including land within it than the existing development.

 limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land, 
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would: 

not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing development; or 
not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development would 
re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable housing 
need within the area of the local planning authority

Other forms of development (NPPF paragraph 90 146) 

Other forms of development which are not inappropriate provided the openness of the Green 
Belt is preserved and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in it:

 mineral extraction
 engineering operations;
 local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt 

location;
 the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial 

construction;
 material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 

recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and
 development brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or 

Neighbourhood Development Order.

2.1.7.As it can be seen, the change of use of land is not one of the exceptions listed in the NPPF, 
therefore, where planning permission is required, a change of use must be treated as inappropriate 
development in its own right. Any proposal for new buildings otherwise considered an exception 

Page 203



12

under NPPF paragraph 89, which also involves a change of use of land to accommodate it, is also 
inappropriate development.

2.1.7. The following policies set out how the Council will apply Green Belt policy in relation to a 
number of categories of excepted development under NPPF paragraphs 145 and 146.  89 and 90  
A policy has also been included to address situations where change of use of land is required to 
accommodate cemetery and outdoor sport and recreation, genuinely requiring a Green Belt 
location.

2.1.8 NPPF paragraph 55 79 allows the development of new isolated homes in the countryside 
where justified by special circumstances such as: 

 the essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a farm 
business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside; or

 where such development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets; or

 where the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and lead to an 
enhancement to their immediate setting; 

 the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential dwelling; or
 the exceptional quality or innovative nature of the design of the dwelling.
 The design is of exceptional quality, in that it: 

o Is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in 
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural 
areas; and

o Would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 
defining characteristic of the local area.

2.1.9. However, because the countryside in Gravesham is predominately designated as 
Green Belt any such proposals that fall outside of the exceptions listed in NPPF paragraphs 
89 and 90 will still constitute inappropriate development requiring the demonstration of very 
special circumstances that clearly outweigh harm. A policy is included below that sets out the 
approach the Council will take in considering proposals for new dwellings to accommodate 
agricultural, forestry and other rural worker’s dwellings in this context. 

2.1.10 Whilst paragraph 79 of the NPPF (2019) deals with situations where new ‘isolated’ 
homes are proposed in the countryside, this has raised an issue of how the term ‘isolated’ 
should be interpreted.  The Courts have held that this means a new home that is away from 
other buildings rather than distant from a recognisable settlement or services.  However, this 
does not mean a site is a suitable location for a new dwelling simply because other dwellings 
or buildings may be nearby.  Whilst it is recognised that many rural locations will not have the 
same degree of accessibility to services and public transport as urban locations, the Council 
will have regard to the level of dependence on the private car; the distance to shops and other 
services that may need to be accessed on a day-to-day basis; and the safety of those who 
may wish to use alternatives to the private car – such as walking or cycling.  Unless otherwise 
allowed for as an exception under national policy, the Council will have regard to whether the 
proposal is in a suitable location for residential development on this basis.2 

2 TO BE CONFIRMED: this would not apply where it has been demonstrated that there is a proven need for 
a rural worker to live on site under policy DM2 or where it involves the –re-use of a building under policy 
DM8 as paragraph 79c of NPPF(2019) allows for this.
Braintree case at https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2018/610.html

Page 204

https://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWCA/Civ/2018/610.html


13

2.1.11. A range of other factors relating to impact on amenity, landscape character, 
biodiversity, accessibility, highway safety, parking, heritage, and the preservation of the best 
and most versatile agricultural land are also likely to be material considerations in determining 
applications in the Green Belt. 

2.2. Agricultural and Forestry Development 

Proposed Text 

2.2.1. Agriculture and forestry remain an important part of the rural economy that the Council 
continues to support. They are also activities that shape the character of the countryside and 
valued landscapes in Gravesham. Subject to prior approval in relation to siting, design and 
external appearance, many developments within agricultural units or land used for forestry 
benefit from permitted development rights. However, where thresholds are exceeded, planning 
permission is required.3  In either case, it is important that such development is sensitively 
designed and located to respect context and landscape character. 

2.2.2. Many modern farm enterprises, in particular, have also sought to diversify their offer 
to supplement income. Such diversification can take many forms but often includes the 
introduction of farm shops, processing facilities or the provision of associated rural leisure 
activities. The change of use of existing farm buildings to accommodate alternative uses does 
not require planning permission in some instances.4 

2.2.3. Whilst such developments are supported in principle, where planning permission is 
required, it is important that they are carefully controlled. In particular, the Council would 
wish to ensure that the primary use of the farm unit remains agricultural to preserve the rural 
character of the countryside and to avoid the proliferation of inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt. Such development may also generate additional traffic on rural lanes that has 
highway safety implications or raise other issues in terms of impact on local amenity. 

2.2.4. In determining applications for agricultural or forestry development, the following policy 
will be applied. Proposals involving equestrian development will also be considered under 
Proposed Policy DM 3 and Proposed Policy DM 4. 

Proposed Policy DM 1 Agricultural and Forestry Development 

2.2.5. Proposals for new development related to agriculture and forestry will only be supported 
where reasonably necessary to sustain the agricultural unit or forestry enterprise to which 
they relate. In addition, any such development should be appropriately designed and located 
having regard to sensitivity of context and to minimise impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt, whilst respecting the purposes of including land within it. 

2.2.6. Proposals involving farm diversification (including the introduction of farm shops selling 
predominately local grown produce, processing, workshops or leisure activities) should be ancillary 
and related to the primary agricultural use of the site whilst being appropriate to its rural location. 
The re-use of existing buildings of permanent and substantial construction should be prioritised 
over the introduction of new buildings, with such re-use not resulting in a need for replacement 
buildings unless otherwise justified.

3 See Schedule 2, Part 6 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015. 
4 See Schedule 2, Part 6, Classes R and S of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015. 
 

Page 205



14

2.2.7. In determining applications under this policy, the Council will also have regard to the 
highway and amenity impacts of any proposals, including but not limited to the access and the 
approach roads, the need for additional car parking, hardstandings or lighting which may also 
adversely impact on the Green Belt, landscape and character of the countryside. 

2.3. New dwellings for agricultural, forestry or other rural workers in the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.3.1. Whilst NPPF paragraph 55 79 allows the development of new isolated homes in the 
countryside where it can be shown there is an essential need for a rural worker to live 
permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside, this would still represent 
‘inappropriate’ development in a Green Belt location in Gravesham. As such, it would be 
necessary to demonstrate ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm to the Green 
Belt and any other harm as required by national policy. This applies whether the new dwelling 
is isolated or not. 

2.3.2. The following policy sets out how the Council will consider such proposals in 
Gravesham. 

Proposed Policy DM 2: New Dwellings for Agricultural, Forestry and Other 
Rural Workers in the Green Belt 

2.3.3. The Council will not grant planning permission for new dwellings for agricultural, forestry or 
other rural workers in the Green Belt (including those taking majority control of a farm business) 
unless an essential need to live permanently at or near the place of work has been demonstrated 
that clearly outweighs harm to the Green Belt through inappropriateness and any other harm. 

2.3.4. In considering whether ‘very special circumstances’ exist, regard will be had to: 

a. the functional need for the worker to live permanently at or near the place of 
work, including on a 24-hour basis and whether alternative arrangements are feasible;

b. the likely duration of that need, including whether the activity to which the need relates 
is well established and likely to persist into the future; 

c. the availability and suitability of alternative residential accommodation at or near 
the place of work or the likelihood of it becoming available within a reasonable 
period of time; and 

d. whether there are existing buildings available and suitable at or near the place 
of work that are capable of conversion. 

2.3.5. Any new dwelling should be of a minimum size reasonably necessary to accommodate 
a rural worker and be designed and located to minimise impact on the Green Belt and 
countryside. 

2.3.6. As an alternative, where need is not well established or there is doubt that it is likely to 
persist into the future, planning permission may be granted for a temporary unit of accommodation 
such as the stationing of a caravan or mobile home on site on a trial basis

2.3.7. Any grant of planning permission will be subject to conditions or a legal agreement 
to ensure future occupation by an agricultural, forestry or other rural worker requiring 
accommodation in that locality and/or requiring the removal of any temporary unit of 
accommodation and the restoration of the site at the end of any trial period.

Page 206



15

2.4. New Buildings and other Facilities for Outdoor Sport, Recreation and Cemeteries in 
the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.4.1. National planning policy allows new buildings in the Green Belt where they provide 
appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, and cemeteries and burial grounds and 
allotments as long as they preserve openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including 
land in the Green Belt.  This includes whether their provision is in connection with the existing use 
of land or a change of use which accords with national policy. 

2.4.2. The change of use of land in the Green Belt is not one of the types of development 
specifically allowed for under national planning policy – including change of use of land to 
provide facilities for outdoor sport and recreation or as a cemetery. 

2.4.3. Where development involves such a change of use, it remains the responsibility of the 
applicant to demonstrate that ‘very special circumstances’ exist that clearly outweigh harm 
to the Green Belt and any other harm. This also affects any proposal to provide buildings to 
support such uses, where that land is not already in such a lawful use. 

2.4.4. Under such circumstances, the Council would expect a planning application to 
justify such a change of use before the building can be treated as an exception under NPPF 
paragraph 89. There is no reason why the application cannot cover both the change of use 
and the new building as a single submission. The Council’s approach in dealing with such 
changes of use is set out in Proposed Policy DM 5. 

2.4.2 Even where land is in an existing lawful use for sport or recreation or as a cemetery, the 
treatment of new buildings as an exception to Green Belt policy depends on them being 
appropriate in relation to that use, whilst not compromising the fundamental aim of preserving 
openness and not undermining the purposes of including land in it. It is important therefore that 
policy establishes a range of criteria against which proposals can be assessed. 

2.4.3. Additional criteria that will be applied to proposals involving equestrian development are 
set out in Proposed Policy DM 4. 

Proposed Policy DM 3 New Buildings and other Facilities for Outdoor 
Sport, Recreation and Cemeteries in the Green Belt 

2.4.4 Proposals for new buildings and other facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, and 
cemeteries, Burial Grounds and Allotments in the Green Belt will only be allowed where they: 

a. are appropriate, directly related to and reasonably necessary required to support the 
lawful use of the site for sport, recreation or cemetery purposes;the above purposes;

b. preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of 
including land within it by reason of their scale, height, bulk, size, design, location and 
visual impact

c. prioritise the re-use of existing buildings over the development of new buildings where 
practical; and

d. satisfactorily integrate with existing buildings, where present.

2.4.5 In determining applications under this policy, the Council will also have regard to the highway 
and amenity impacts of any proposals, including but not limited to the access and the approach 
road and the need for additional car parking. Consideration will also be given to potential adverse 
visual impacts on the Green Belt due to the introduction of increased activity and lighting on the 
character of the countryside.  Potential harm to biodiversity, including through the introduction of 

Page 207



16

artificial lighting, may be an additional material consideration.  or lighting which may adversely 
impact on the Green Belt, landscape and character of the countryside 

2.5. Equestrian Development in the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.5.1 Gravesham has seen a growth in the popularity of horse riding and other equestrian related 
activities in recent years. Equestrian activities can fit in well with farming, helping to diversify the 
rural economy. However, where this requires planning permission for a change of use of land, it 
once again represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt requiring special justification as 
set out in Proposed Policy DM 1 and Proposed Policy DM 5. 

2.5.2 Equestrian development can lead to the proliferation of development and the 
introduction of sizeable buildings which can have a significant adverse impact on the 
openness and purposes of including land in the Green Belt. This can include new buildings 
to accommodate riding schools, stables, tack rooms and field shelters. It can also include 
ancillary development such as sand schools, areas of hardstanding, subdivision of fields into 
paddocks, artificial lighting and landscape remodelling. 

2.5.3 To avoid the proliferation of inappropriate buildings in the Green Belt, the Council will 
expect such developments to make use of existing buildings where possible, whilst ensuring 
that this does not result in demand for a replacement building. 

2.5.4 Proposals for equestrian development must have regard to the minimum size requirements 
for stables and the amount of grazing land for each horse as set out in the DEFRA Code of 
Practice for the Welfare of Horses, Ponies, Donkeys and their Hybrids (or any equivalent updated 
guidance). This is in part to ensure that overgrazing detrimental to landscape quality is avoided and 
to ensure that the number of stables is appropriate and subsidiary to the use of the land.  Within the 
Kent Downs AoNB, the Council will also have regard to the Kent Downs AoNB Management Unit 
publication ‘Managing Land For Horses’ as a guide to best practice.5

2.5.5 In assessing equestrian developments, the Council will need to consider the traffic 
implications of proposals, including access and on-site parking arrangements for vehicles such 
as horse boxes or trailers etc. Because of the particular characteristics of such development, 
it is also important for the Council to understand how sites will be used and impacts managed. 
To minimise conflict with other road users, it is also desirable that equestrian development 
should also be well related to the public bridleway network or other safe riding routes or areas. 

Proposed Policy DM 4 Equestrian Development in the Green Belt 

2.5.6 In addition to the requirements of Proposed Policy DM 5 policy DM3, proposals for equestrian 
development will also be required to show:

a. that there is sufficient pasture grazing land available within the curtilage of the 
site for grazing the proposed number of horses (a minimum of 0.5 ha of grazing 
land to be available per horse), and how that pasture will be managed and subdivided 
by fencing or other means; 
b. there is convenient and safe access from the site to the bridleway network or other safe 

riding routes and areas; 
c. how waste arising from the equestrian use of the site will be sustainably 

managed and foul and surface water disposed of; 

5 For link to publication see - https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-
bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf 

Page 208

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/explore-kent-bucket/uploads/sites/7/2018/04/18113905/ManagingLandforHorses.pdf


17

a. details of any on-site parking and areas of hardstanding, together with the types 
of vehicle that will be parked there and for what duration; and 

b. how any other adverse environmental impacts of the proposed use will be 
adequately managed or mitigated. 

2.6. Changes of Use of Land to Accommodate Cemeteries, Outdoor Sport and 
Recreation in the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.6.1. As noted above, the change of use of land to accommodate cemeteries, outdoor sport 
and recreation in the Green Belt is not one of the exceptions set out in national policy. Where 
this is proposed, it is necessary for the applicant to demonstrate very special circumstances 
that clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm in the normal way. 

2.6.2. However, the Council recognises the importance of providing such facilities close to the 
areas that they serve and that in the countryside there may be limited options to provide them 
unless they are in the Green Belt. 

2.6.3. Core Strategy Policy CS13 makes clear that the Council wishes to protect and enhance 
the quantity and quality of playing pitches and other sports facilities and it would also be a 
material consideration where there is a deficiency in existing provision. NPPF paragraph 81 
also recognises that local planning authorities should plan positively to enhance the beneficial 
use of the Green Belt to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation. Whilst this 
does not in itself constitute an exception to Green Belt policy where a change of use of land is 
required, it may assist in justifying a proposal on the basis of very special circumstances. 

2.6.4. Similarly, a lack of burial space serving a local community may justify a Green Belt 
location, particularly where this is an extension to an existing cemetery. 

2.6.5. In assessing proposals for the change of use of land to accommodate cemeteries, 
outdoor sport and recreation in the Green Belt, the following policy will be applied. 

Proposed Policy DM 5 Changes of Use of Land to Accommodate 
Cemeteries, Outdoor Sport and Recreation in the Green Belt 

2.6.6. Proposals that involve a change of use of land within the Green Belt to accommodate 
cemeteries, outdoor sport and recreation will be treated in accordance with national policy 
as inappropriate development requiring the demonstration of very special circumstances that 
clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. 

2.6.7. In determining such applications, the Council will have particular regard to: 

a. whether there are alternative sites not in the Green Belt that could 
accommodate such uses; 
b. whether there is a particular justification for the chosen location based on local 
need, that could not reasonably be satisfied by an alternative site not in the 
Green Belt.  c. whether the proposal results in the loss of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 & 3a) or adversely affects the viability of any farm 
holding, where the land forms part of a farm; 
d. whether the proposal results in adverse impacts in terms of heritage, landscape, 
biodiversity, and character of the countryside; and 
e. the highway and amenity impacts of the proposal, including but not limited to the 
need for vehicle parking and lighting to support the use. 

Page 209



18

2.6 Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary Development in the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.6.1 The Council understands that those living or working in the Green Belt may wish to 
make changes to their buildings to allow them to adapt to changing circumstances. Many 
extensions to buildings, particularly residential buildings, can take place without the need for 
planning permission. When planning permission is required, national planning policy allows 
such development in the Green Belt, if it does not lead to disproportionate additions over and 
above the size of the original building 

2.6.2 In considering whether a proposed extension is proportionate, the Council will compare its 
size with that of the original building (see Proposed Policy DM 6 for definition). As a general rule, 
based on past experience, the Council considers that extensions which exceed the overall volume 
of an original building by 33% or more will be disproportionate. However, in coming to a conclusion, 
the Council will have regard to the full range of factors set out in paragraph 2.76.6

2.6.3 There are occasions when residents and businesses wish to replace an existing building with 
a new one. National planning policy allows such development providing the new building is in the 
same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces. In assessing whether a replacement 
building is materially larger than the existing one and otherwise acceptable in Green Belt terms, the 
Council will compare their relative sizes and changes in built form and location on the site.

2.7.4. The inclusion or construction of basements and habitable loft space raises particular 
issues in that, whilst they may not directly affect openness or have any visual impact on the 
Green Belt, they can have an indirect impact by increasing the scale of accommodation on 
a site. For example, this can lead to more domestic paraphernalia or parked cars within a 
residential curtilage that does impact on the Green Belt. 

2.6.4 The inclusion or construction of basements and habitable loft space raises particular issues in 
that, whilst they may not directly affect openness or have any visual impact on the Green Belt, this 
is not the test required under national policy to determine whether or not an extension is 
‘proportionate’ or a new building ‘materially larger’.  Such forms of development is capable of 
having an indirect impact on the Green Belt and the purposes of including land it by increasing the 
scale of accommodation which can lead to increased activity on site and more domestic 
paraphernalia or parked cars within a residential curtilage.  Whilst lack of visual intrusion may be a 
material consideration in determining whether or not a proposal is acceptable, it is not therefore 
determinative of whether such development is appropriate or inappropriate in Green Belt terms.

2.6.5 In considering whether an extension is proportionate, or a replacement building is 
materially larger, the Council will have regard to the total size of the development including 
the basement and habitable loft space. Where this results in a proposal being considered 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt, it will be for the applicant to demonstrate very 
special circumstances that clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. 

2.6.6 When submitting an application for an extension to an existing building or a 
replacement building, the applicant will need to provide an assessment comparing the existing 
and proposed development in terms of footprint, floorspace, volume, height and any other 
changes in built form including the proportion of the site that is developed/undeveloped and the 
distribution of development/ hardstanding and open space across the site. 

2.6.7 The Council also recognises that residents who live in the Green Belt may wish to 
build ancillary outbuildings, such as garages, summerhouses and swimming pools, within 

Page 210



19

the curtilage of their dwelling.6 Whilst some of these proposals can be built under permitted 
development rights,7 national policy does not recognise these as exceptions to Green Belt 
policy in the circumstances when planning permission is required 

2.6.8 Where planning permission is required, the Council will treat such proposals as 
inappropriate development which must be justified by the demonstration of very special 
circumstances that clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. 

2.6.9 In determining whether a proposal is acceptable in terms of Green Belt policy, the 
Council will have regard to the need for the building, its function, size, and location on the site 
and whether any existing buildings could be used which negate the need for a new one. This 
will be weighed against any impact on the openness of the Green Belt and any conflict with the 
purposes of including land in it. 

2.6.10 The subsequent conversion of ancillary domestic outbuildings to separate dwellings poses 
an issue because it can result in additional dwellings in unsustainable locations harmful to 
openness and the purposes of including land in the Green Belt. The Council would wish to avoid 
this, and it will not therefore grant planning permission for domestic outbuildings that would be 
capable of subsequent conversion. Whilst the Council recognises that the creation of a separate 
planning unit in this way would require planning permission, ensuring that any such buildings are 
clearly designed to be subservient and subordinate to the main dwelling on site reduces the risk of 
this taking place.

2.6.11 There are other types of ancillary development such as new walls and driveways which can 
reduce openness and have an urbanising effect on sites and the wider landscape by introducing 
features which are more appropriate to an urban environment, rather than a rural setting. In 
applying this policy, the Council will give careful consideration to the design, materials, extent, 
location and context of the proposed development to ensure that the openness of the Green Belt 
and landscape character rural character of the countryside is not harmed.

Proposed Policy DM 5 Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary 
Development in the Green Belt 

Extensions 

2.6.12 Proposals for the extension of an original buildingi in the Green Belt will only be 
allowed where the extension will not result in disproportionate additions over and above the 
size of the original building unless justified by very special circumstances that clearly outweigh 
harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. The following will be taken into account in 
determining whether the proposal is proportionate: 

a. its footprint, floorspace ii and volume compared to the original building;i 
and 

b. whether its scale, mass and height is subservient to the original building; i 

2.6.13 In addition to the above, Core Strategy Policy CS19 will be applied to determine 
whether the design of any proposed extension is appropriate, having regard to the presence of 
any existing extensions and outbuildings, prominence and visual impact of the proposal. 

6 What constitutes the curtilage of a dwelling house is a matter of fact and degree but does not necessarily 
extend to all of the land within the planning unit. Curtilage is restricted to an area, that is usually enclosed, 
encompassing the grounds and buildings immediately surrounding a dwelling that is used in the daily activities of 
domestic life. 
7 See Schedule 2, Class A Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015.

Page 211



20

Replacement Buildings 

2.6.14 Proposals for the replacement of an existing building iii in the Green Belt will only be 
allowed where the new building is in the same use and will not result in a materially larger 
building unless justified by very special circumstances that clearly outweigh harm to the Green 
Belt and any other harm. The following will be taken into account in determining whether the 
proposal is materially larger: 

a. its footprint, floorspace, ii volume and height compared to the existing building; and 
b. its scale and mass compared to the existing building. 

2.6.15 In addition to the above, Core Strategy Policy CS19 will apply in determining whether 
the design of any proposed replacement building is appropriate, having regard to the presence 
of existing development on the site, prominence, visual impact, and whether the building could 
be relocated within the site to have less impact on the Green Belt. 

Ancillary Development 

2.6.16 Proposals for ancillary domestic buildings requiring planning permission will only be 
allowed where the applicant can demonstrate very special circumstances that clearly outweigh 
harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. 

2.6.17 The following will be taken into account in determining whether very special 
circumstances exist:

a. the proposal should be reasonably required to serve the needs of the dwelling;
b. there should be no other buildings on the site which could be re-used or 

adapted;
c. their scale, form, mass and height of the should be subordinate to the main 

building;
d. their size should be appropriate to their function, with any ancillary residential 

accommodation functionally subservient to the main dwelling;
e. they should be discreetly located and not visually intrusive; and
f. they should not be replacements for an outbuilding which has been re-used for 

an alternative residential use.

2.6.18 Ancillary domestic buildings will not be permitted outside the residential curtilage iv of the 
dwelling they are intended to serve, unless the land forms part of the same planning unit and there 
is no reasonable alternative location within the curtilage that would have a lesser impact on the 
Green Belt.  In determining whether such a location is appropriate, consideration will be given to 
impact on openness, the proposed function of the building and the purposes of including the land in 
the Green Belt.  Ancillary residential accommodation will not normally be permitted outside the 
existing residential curtilage unless justified by very special circumstances that clearly outweigh 
harm.

2.7.19. Ancillary domestic buildings capable of subsequent conversion to separate habitable 
dwellings due to scale, form and configuration will not be permitted. 

2.6.19 Proposals for new accesses, driveways, walls, gates, other hard landscaping or other 
engineering operations will only be allowed where they respect the character of the local built 
and natural environment and do not harm the openness of the Green Belt. 

In interpreting the above policy, the following definitions will apply: 
iOriginal building as it existed on 1 July 1948 or, if built after 1 July 1948, as it was first built 

Page 212



21

prior to any subsequent extensions (including those allowed under permitted development 
rights). 

ii Floorspace is an external measurement of all floorspace including roof voids and basements. 

iii Existing buildings and dwellings are those which are lawful and permanent in nature. 

iv What constitutes the curtilage of a dwelling house is a matter of fact and degree but does not 
necessarily extend to all of the land within the planning unit. Curtilage is restricted to an area, 
that is usually enclosed, encompassing the grounds and buildings immediately surrounding a 
dwelling that is used in the daily activities of domestic life. 

2.7 Limited Infilling in Villages and Development of Previously Developed Sites in the 
Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.7.1. The Council has identified a number of rural settlements inset from the Green Belt 
and these are shown on the Policies Map. The supporting text to Core Strategy Policy CS02 
makes it clear that these do not define the full extent of each settlement but relate to a 
coherent and established built up area where infilling would not adversely affect local character 
and identity, or impact on the openness of the Green Belt. 

2.7.2 However, there are also a number of settlements, such as Harvel and Thong, and areas 
close to the rural settlements inset from the Green Belt, such as Foxendown Lane and Pear Tree 
Lane, where existing development is more dispersed and sporadic. These areas remain in the 
Green Belt as it is considered that they are either hamlets rather than villages or are considered to 
lie beyond that part of the settlement that comprises the village.  Additional additional infill 
development within them would adversely affect the openness of the Green Belt, as well as having 
an adverse effect on their rural character and landscape setting.

2.7.3. This approach follows that originally set out in PPG2 on Green Belts (1995, amended 
2001), whereby settlements could either be inset from the Green Belt or ‘washed over’ with a 
boundary shown to indicate where infilling was acceptable.8 

2.7.4 However, the NPPF no longer includes such advice and simply refers to ‘limited infilling in 
villages’ at paragraph 89 145 as an exception to Green Belt policy. Because no definitions are 
provided on what constitutes ‘limited’, ‘infilling’ or even a ‘village’, this has resulted in uncertainty as 
to how national policy should be applied locally.

2.7.5 What constitutes ‘limited infilling’ in a village is likely to be case specific but it is clear that 
national policy expects it to be of such a scale and form and be in such locations that the 
openness of the Green Belt would by definition not be compromised and that there would be 
no inherent conflict with the purposes of including land in it.  For this reason, the exception 
provided under NPPF paragraph 145(e) does not require this test to be applied.  Logic would 
dictate therefore that where development does have an unacceptable impact on openness or 
conflicts with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt, it must fall outside the 
exemption provided within national policy.  

This may simply be because the gap or space to be infilled is too large or important in terms of 
the contribution it makes to the Green Belt openness or the form, density or grain of the 
proposed development is inappropriate.  To provide a degree of flexibility, the The policy that 

8 See PPG2: Green Belts (1995, amended 2001) at paragraph 2.11. 

Page 213



22

follows therefore defines ‘limited infilling’ in villages as development of a small gap in an 
otherwise built up frontage or group of buildings, capable of accommodating no more than one 
or two dwellings or, where other uses are proposed, buildings of a similar scale, where other 
uses are proposed, unless otherwise justified as an exception given the particular 
circumstances of the case.

2.7.6 The policy position in this area is further complicated by paragraph 89 145 of the NPPF, 
which sets out exceptions to the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt, as it allows for 
the ‘limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would 

 Not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or

 Not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development 
would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identifiable 
affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority.

which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of 
including land within it than the existing development’.

2.7.7 Given that the current NPPF interpretation of ‘previously developed land’ includes residential 
gardens in rural areas,9 this means national policy also allows for ‘limited infilling’ on residential 
land outside of ‘villages’ provided it has no greater impact on openness etc.

2.7.8 To provide clarity on how the policy on infilling will be applied in Gravesham, it is 
necessary therefore to set out which NPPF exception applies to which areas and what 
key terms will be taken to mean. This is particularly the case because one test requires an 
evaluation of impact on openness etc., whereas the other does not. 

2.7.9 Given that the Council has specifically identified the rural settlements which are suitable 
for infilling and inset them from the Green Belt, it will not support infill development elsewhere 
in the Green Belt unless it constitutes ‘limited infilling’ of a previously developed site as set out 
above. 
Given that the Council has identified rural settlements which are suitable for infilling and inset them 
from the Green Belt, this will be the starting point from which a judgement will be made as to 
whether a proposal constitutes ‘limited infilling in a village’ in the Green Belt.  Whilst this is not 
determinative, it will be for applicants to demonstrate that there are material considerations 
applicable that fully justify a conclusion that the boundary shown on the policies map does not 
represent the village boundary and that the exemption allowed under national policy applies.  In 
considering whether a site is within a village or outside it, the Council will have regard to both any 
physical or functional relationships between the site and the village or the surrounding countryside.

2.7.10 There is also a need to ensure that proposals to infill or redevelop previously developed 
sites are carefully controlled to ensure that their design and location does not result in adverse 
impacts on the Green Belt. Proposed Policy DM 7 The policy below sets out the criteria which will 
be taken into account in assessing this.  Whilst landscape impact is not a Green Belt issue, in 
considering proposals, special regard will be had to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the Kent Downs AoNB. To determine whether a site is previously developed, the 
Council will use the definition set out in the NPPF.

2.7.11 It is also important to ensure that development is sustainably located. When considering 
proposals which would lead to an intensification of an existing use or a different use being 
introduced, the Council will assess the suitability of the site for that use having regard to the level of 

Page 214



23

dependence on the private car; the distance to shops and other services that may need to be 
accessed on a day-to-day basis; and the safety of those who may wish to use alternatives to the 
private car – such as walking or cycling.   in terms of accessibility to public transport, services and 
facilities, including its proximity to settlements and their position in the settlement hierarchy

Proposed Policy DM 6 Limited Infilling in Villages and Development of 
Previously Developed Sites in the Green Belt 

2.7.12 In considering proposals for limited infilling i under national planning policy, only those 
rural settlements inset from the Green Belt on the Policies Map will be considered to have the 
status of villages and their boundaries will be taken as shown. 
In considering proposals for limited infilling in villages under national planning policy, the 
boundaries of villages will be taken as shown on the policies map unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise at the time the application is made.  For the purposes of this policy, boundaries 
of rural settlements inset from the Green Belt should be interpreted as village boundaries.

2.7.13. Except under those circumstances set out later in this policy in relation to assessment 
of substantial harm, Llimited infilling on or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites in the Green Belt will only be permitted where the proposal has no greater 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the 
existing development. The following will be taken into account in assessing the acceptability of 
proposals:

a. the footprint, volume, height, bulk and location of the proposed buildings and 
ancillary development compared to the existing development on the site;

b. in the case of redevelopment, whether the development is located on or close to 
the site of the existing development or whether an alternative location within the 
site would have less impact on the Green Belt;

c. in the case of infilling, whether the development is in proportion with the existing 
buildings and does not lead to a significant an unacceptable increase in the 
developed parts of the site;

d. impacts of the proposal in terms of highway safety, amenity, heritage, 
landscape, biodiversity, lighting and character of the countryside; and

e. whether the site is in a sustainable location for the use proposed, having regard 
to the potential dependence of occupiers on the use of the private car;
In determining whether the level of harm caused by the partial or complete 
redevelopment of previously developed land meeting an identified need for 
affordable housing within the Council’s area is substantial,  regard will be had 
to:

f. the scale, form and layout of the proposed development;
g. the location of site relative to existing development and the degree it visually 

intrudes into the open countryside, both during daylight and night-time periods 
due to the possible introduction of artificial lighting; 

h. the overall contribution the site makes to the openness of the Green Belt at that 
point; and

i. whether the proposed development would result in a fragmentation or 
weakening of the Green Belt.

In interpreting the above policy, the following definitions will apply:

iFor the purposes of applying this policy, ‘limited infilling’ is defined as ‘development of a small gap 
in an otherwise built up frontage or group of buildings, capable of accommodating no more than 
one or two dwellings or, where other uses are proposed, buildings of a similar scale, where other 

Page 215



24

uses are proposed’. unless otherwise justified as an exception given the particular circumstances of 
the case.

2.8 Re-use of Buildings in the Green Belt 

Proposed Text 

2.8.1. The re-use of buildings in the Green Belt can help to ensure that buildings do not 
become vacant and that they have a viable future use. Such development is not inappropriate 
in the Green Belt if it preserves the openness and purposes of the Green Belt and if it involves 
the re-use of buildings which are of permanent and substantial construction. 

2.8.2. As farming changes, agricultural buildings in the rural area can become surplus to 
requirements. It may be possible to convert these to other uses, but this depends on the 
nature of the building and the use proposed. For example, it might be more feasible to 
convert a traditional barn to a dwelling or holiday accommodation when compared to a modern 
agricultural building which is industrial in character. 

2.8.3. The Council is keen to ensure that proposals to convert buildings do not lead to further 
development which could have an adverse impact on the openness and purposes of the Green 
Belt. This may include new buildings to replace those which have been converted. It may also 
include new outbuildings and boundary treatments. The Council will take into account the 
potential wider impacts of proposals on the Green Belt when considering applications for the 
conversion of buildings. 

2.8.4. Many agricultural buildings can be built or extended without the need for planning 
permission. When assessing proposals to convert them, the Council will consider the length 
of time the building has been in agricultural use to ensure that there has been no abuse of 
permitted development rights and that the building is lawful. 

2.8.5. To demonstrate that an existing building is of a substantial construction and can 
be converted without being substantially rebuilt, the Council will expect proposals to be 
accompanied by a full structural survey and a conversion method statement. This should be 
undertaken by an independent, RICS Chartered Surveyor or equivalent. 

2.9.6. It is often the case that the re-use of buildings results in a different use being introduced 
onto the site. In such instances there is a need to ensure that development is sustainably 
located in accordance with national planning policy and Core Strategy Policy CS02. In 
assessing the sustainability of the location, the Council will consider how accessible the site is 
to public transport, services and facilities, including the site’s location in terms of the settlement 
hierarchy. 

2.8.6. Whilst under normal circumstances the need to ensure that a development is sustainably 
located and not overly reliant on private car use would be an important material consideration, 
paragraph 79 of the NPPF (2019) allows for ‘isolated’ new homes in the countryside where this 
would re-use redundant or disused buildings that enhance their immediate setting.  The 
introduction of other types of use through the conversion of existing buildings will be treated on 
their merits in this respect, having regard to the sustainability benefits of re-use as opposed to any 
disadvantages of location.

Proposed Policy DM 7 Re-use of Buildings in the Green Belt 

2.9.7. Proposals for the re-use of buildings in the Green Belt will only be allowed where: 

 a. the building is lawful, permanent and structurally sound; 

Page 216



25

 b. the building is suitable for conversion for the use proposed without the need 
for substantial reconstruction, alterations, extensions or ancillary development 
which would adversely impact on the openness and purposes of the Green Belt; 

 c. the re-use of the building will not result in the need to construct a replacement 
building unless it can be demonstrated that the building to be re-used is no 
longer suitable for its original purpose; 
 d. the impacts of the proposal in terms of highway safety, amenity, heritage, 
landscape, biodiversity, and character of the countryside are acceptable; and 

d. the site is in a sustainable location for the use proposed. 

2.8.7 Proposals for the re-use of buildings in the Green Belt will only be allowed where it would 
not adversely impact openness of the Green Belt or conflict with the purposes of including land 
in it, having regard to the need to provide any associated curtilage, parking or hardstanding 
associated with that alternative use; and:

a. the building is lawful, permanent and structurally sound;

b. the building is suitable for conversion for the use proposed without the need for 
substantial reconstruction, alterations, extensions or other development, evidenced by 
a structural report prepared by a suitably qualified professional; and 

c. the impacts of the proposal in terms of highway safety, amenity, heritage, 
landscape, biodiversity, lighting and character of the countryside are acceptable.

Where the proposed use of building is not residential, consideration will be given as to whether 
the site is suitably located for the proposed use having regard to dependence on the private 
car and the need to service that use.  In undertaking the planning balance, consideration will 
be given to the benefits of the re-use of the building as opposed to any disadvantages of 
location.

Page 217



26

3. Agricultural Land 

3.1. Protection of Good Quality Agricultural Land 

Background 

3.1.1. The Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994 included policies on Areas of Special 
Significance for Agriculture and Other Agricultural Land which protected productive agricultural 
land. However, these policies were deleted when the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
was adopted in September 2014. 

3.1.2. The agricultural land classification system classifies land into five grades, i.e. grades 
1-5, with grade 3 subdivided into subgrades 3a and 3b. The grades of agricultural land present 
in our Borough are shown in Figure 1 below. 

Figure 1 Agricultural Land Classification (2007) 

Page 218



27

3.1.3. The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning authorities to take into 
account the impacts of development on the best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 
1, 2 and 3a) when making decisions which may affect it. Therefore, it is proposed to include a 
policy on this issue. The proposed supporting text and policy are set out below. 

Proposed Supporting Text 

3.1.4. National planning policy requires local planning authorities to take into account the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, which is defined 
as land within grades 1, 2 and 3a of the agricultural land classification. Land classified within 
these grades is considered to be the most flexible, productive and efficient in response to 
inputs and which can best deliver food and non-food crops for future generations. Factors 
affecting the grade are climate, site and soil characteristics and the important interactions 
between them. Planning Practice Guidance describes soil as an essential, finite resource, 
which is used as a growing medium for food, timber and other crops, as a store for carbon and 
water, as a reservoir of biodiversity and as a buffer against pollution. 

3.1.5. Where significant development is shown to be necessary, the NPPF advises that local 
planning authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of higher 
quality.  In determining whether the loss of agricultural land is justified, it will be necessary to 
balance the economic, social and environmental benefits arising from development against such 
loss.

3.1.6. Much of the rural area of the Borough is agricultural land. The areas with the highest 
grades of agricultural land (grades 1 and 2) are mainly located around Cobham, Sole Street, 
Higham and Shorne. These provide a mix of arable fields and orchards. 

3.1.7. The north eastern part of the Borough alongside the river has the lowest grade 
agricultural land in Gravesham (grade 4) and is formed of grazing marsh. It should be noted 
that much of the grazing marsh is of international importance for wildlife and this is given 
the highest level of protection under the Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12 and relevant 
legislation. For this reason, development cannot simply be directed to that area of poorer 
quality agricultural land. 

3.1.8. There are areas around settlements such as Culverstone, Vigo and between Shorne 
and Cobham which are not classified as agricultural land, as these are comprised of protected 
wooded or parkland areas. 

3.1.9. High quality agricultural land forms part of a wider national industry, which helps to feed 
the nation and contributes towards food security by making provision for local produce. It also 
provides employment and contributes towards the landscape character of the rural area. 

3.1.10. The majority of Gravesham’s agricultural land lies within the Green Belt and this Green 
Belt policy designation has assisted in protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land 
in the Borough from inappropriate development. There are also biodiversity and landscape 
constraints which are a factor in the protection of agricultural land. 

Proposed Policy DM 8 Agricultural Land 

3.1.11. Unless allocated through the Local Plan, applications for development proposals affecting 
agricultural land identified as being potentially best or most versatile (Grades 1, 2 and 3a) must be 
accompanied by an agricultural land classification survey in order to confirm the quality of the land. 
Where there would be significant loss of agricultural land,i applications must also be accompanied 
by evidence of a thorough search for and analysis of alternative development sites and a farm 
viability assessment.

Page 219



28

3.1.12. Development on agricultural land will only be allowed when there is an overriding need 
which cannot be met within the urban area; or within rural settlements inset from the Green Belt or 
on other previously developed land.   Subject to this overarching proviso, the following policy tests 
will be applied.

3.1.13. Development on the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a) will 
not be allowed unless: 

a. the site is allocated in the Local Plan; or
b. there is no alternative site on land of a lower grade or lower grade land has a 

landscape, wildlife or heritage designation which outweighs agricultural 
considerations; and

c. it is development which is not inappropriate within the Green Belt or otherwise 
can be justified by very special circumstances; and

d. it can avoid fragmentation and the loss of viability of remaining high quality 
agricultural land; and

e. the economic, social or environmental benefits of the proposal outweigh the 
loss.

iFor the purposes of applying this policy, ‘significant loss of agricultural land’ not only relates to 
size, but to the importance of the land to the functioning of the agricultural unit and its viability. 

Page 220



29

4. Retail 

4.1. Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre 

Background 

4.1.1. The current primary and secondary frontages were identified in the adopted Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review 1994 (Figure 2), whilst the primary shopping area is set out in 
the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy. The primary and secondary frontages 
have recently been reviewed to take into account the recommendations in the Retail and 
Commercial Leisure Assessment 2016. It is now proposed to make some changes to these 
frontages and these changes are shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4. 

Figure 2 Current Primary and Secondary Frontages 

Page 221



30

Figure 3 Proposed Primary and Secondary Frontages 

4.1.2. Saved Local Plan First Review policy S3 seeks to resist changes of use from shopping 
uses (use class A19) within primary shopping frontages. Within secondary shopping 
frontages, saved policy S4 allows uses which are appropriate to the town centre shopping 
area and which require a shop window frontage, including financial and professional service 
uses (use class A2), provided that the total number of buildings in such uses in each particular 
length of street is not excessive. 

4.1.3. We are proposing to replace these saved policies with a single policy on shopping frontages.  
This will include the areas covered by the primary and secondary frontages as well as other shop 
premises in the rest of the primary shopping area. It will also include those shopping frontages in 
Milton Road and Parrock Street which, although part of the Town Centre Opportunity Area, lie 
outside the primary shopping area. These also provide opportunities to accommodate a wider 
range of uses that complement the offer of the primary shopping area and (in the case of Milton 
Road in particular) act as neighbourhood centres for adjoining residential communities. 

4.1.4. The shopping frontages in Milton Road and Parrock Street are not currently shown on 
the Policies Map. As we are proposing that the policy specifically refers to them, these will 
need to be included on the map. They are shown in Figure 4 overleaf. 

9 For a description of Use Classes see https://goo.gl/JNNfq8 

Page 222



31

Figure 4 Proposed other Shopping Frontages within the primary shopping area and on 
Milton Road and Parrock Street 

4.1.5. The proposed text and policy on Shopping Frontages are set out below in the revised draft 
policy.  This has had regard to changes made in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), 
which places greater emphasis on flexibility and the ability of town centres to adapt to both a 
changing retail environment and their future role.  The changes made also take into account 
responses received at the Regulation 18 Stage 1 consultation, which also call for a more flexible 
approach.   At this stage, no changes have been made to the shopping frontages shown at the 
previous consultation stage.  Further information to support the proposed policy can be found in the 
updated Retail Centres Background Paper (2019).

4.1.6. Permitted development rights mean that it is possible to change the use of shops to 
financial and professional services, such as building societies, estate agents and employment 
agencies, without the need to apply for planning permission. They also mean that shops, 
financial and professional services, betting offices and other uses often found in the town 
centre can be changed to dwellings without the need for planning permission. As the Council 
wishes to protect the retail focus of the town centre and its primary shopping area. The Council 
will keep under review the need to limit such permitted development rights under an Article 4 
direction.10 

Proposed Text 

4.1.7. The primary shopping area for Gravesend town centre is already established in the 
Local Plan Core Strategy. This primary shopping area is where the main retail development is 
currently concentrated. Within this area, there are primary and secondary frontages. Primary 
frontages are the very heart of the town centre and include a high proportion of shops which 
sell items such as food, drinks, clothing and household goods. Secondary frontages adjoin 
the primary frontages and support them by providing a more diverse range of uses such as 
restaurants, cafés, estate agents, building societies and pubs. 

4.1.8. There are also areas within the primary shopping area which are considered to be 
neither primary nor secondary frontage areas but still contribute to the vitality and viability 

10 Article 4 to the Town Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended)

Page 223



32

of the area, i.e. the northern end of Parrock Street, Manor Road and Brewhouse Yard. The 
premises in these locations contain similar uses to those in the secondary frontages and 
provide opportunities for small independent traders in slightly more marginal locations. 

4.1.9. Similarly, there are other shopping frontages that lie within the Town Centre Opportunity 
Area but are outside the defined primary shopping area, i.e. in Parrock Street to the south of 
the railway and in Milton Road. These areas also complement the offer of the town as a whole, 
whilst supporting adjoining residential communities in the same way as neighbourhood centres 
elsewhere in the Borough. 

4.1.10. In Gravesend, studies have identified a need for units which provide larger areas 
of floorspace (250m2 – 500m2) to meet the needs of modern retailers, particularly fashion 
retailers. The provision of such units would help Gravesend to retain shoppers and improve 
the vibrancy of the town centre. For this reason, the Council will protect existing larger shop 
units and encourage the merging of existing smaller units to provide larger units in the primary 
frontage areas, as long as the proposals are compatible with other policies in the Local Plan. 

4.1.11. The role and function of primary frontages can be impaired when there are too many 
or too much clustering of non-shopping uses. On secondary frontages, similar negative effects 
can occur when there are too many non-shopping or non-financial and professional service 
uses. This is a particular problem when new uses result in the creation of a dead frontage or 
reduction in activity during normal shopping hours as this reduces the vitality and 
attractiveness of Gravesend town centre as a shopping destination. For this reason, the policy 
includes criteria to ensure that the existing roles of the different areas are maintained. 

4.1.11.  National planning policy emphasises the need to ensure that town centres are rapidly 
adaptable to change, allowing them to grow and diversify in response to changing market 
conditions whilst maintaining their role at the heart of the community they serve.   Whilst 
recognising the need for flexibility, the role and function of primary frontages can be impaired when 
there are too many or too much clustering of non-shopping uses. On secondary frontages, similar 
negative effects can occur when there are too many non-shopping or non-financial and 
professional service uses. This is a particular problem when new uses result in the creation of a 
dead frontage or reduction in activity during normal shopping hours as this reduces the vitality and 
attractiveness of Gravesend town centre as a shopping destination. For this reason, the policy 
includes criteria to ensure that an appropriate mix of uses in the different parts of the town centre is 
maintained.

4.1.12. If a proposal is submitted which is contrary to the policy, the Council will give 
consideration to: 

• whether the unit is vacant and for how long it has been vacant; 
• whether there is any reasonable prospect of the premises being used in the future for 
retail or other uses appropriate to its location; and 
• whether or not the proposed use would provide an active street frontage and be open 
during normal trading hours (9am – 5pm Monday – Saturday). 

4.1.12 Because of the desirability of maintaining a supply of premises on the primary retail 
frontages suitable to attract and retain national multiple comparison goods retailers, additional 
criteria are applied where a proposal would result in the loss of larger Use Class A1 units.  In such 
cases, evidence that either the unit is no longer suitable for such use or is incapable of being made 
so at reasonable cost or lack of market demand will need to be demonstrated. Where a change of 
use of retail premises is being proposed due to vacancy, the applicant will normally be expected to 
provide evidence of any marketing which has been carried out over a 12 month period to sell or let 
the property in good order, that it has been marketed at a realistic price and terms, and that no 
reasonable offer has been refused.

Page 224



33

4.1.14. There are now wide ranging permitted development rights which allow certain changes 
of use to take place without the need for planning permission. In some cases, it is necessary 
to obtain prior approval from the Council before carrying out such permitted development. 
Some prior approvals require the Council to give consideration to the impact of the proposed 
development on the sustainability of key shopping areas. In these situations, the Council will 
treat the primary shopping area, along with the other identified town centre retail frontages in 
Milton Road and Parrock Street, as key shopping areas that it will seek to protect. 

Proposed Policy DM 10 Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre 

Primary Frontages 

4.1.15. The Council will seek to maintain the vitality and viability of the primary shopping area 
by ensuring that shopping (use class A1) uses are encouraged and remain the predominant 
activity at ground floor level in the primary frontage areas shown on the Policies Map. The 
change of use of ground floor premises from Class A1 shops to other uses will be permitted 
where: 

 a. It can be shown that the premises are no longer needed for A1 use and the 
retention of A1 use at the premises has been fully explored, without success, 
by way of active marketing at a reasonable rate and terms and in a good and 
lettable condition for a period of at least 12 months; and 

 b. The proposed alternative use does not have an unacceptable impact on the 
retail function of the frontage, the attractiveness, or on the vitality and viability of 
the primary shopping frontage, including pedestrian circulation. To ensure this, 
the proposed alternative use should provide for an active street frontage that 
would be open during normal daytime trading hours (9am – 5pm Monday – 
Saturday) with no more than two non A1 uses clustered together on any length 
of primary frontage. 

4.1.16. Exceptions may be made where the proposal would clearly be beneficial to the vitality 
and viability of the primary retail function of the frontage. 

4.1.17. To ensure that larger A1 use premises attractive to modern retailers are retained, the 
loss of units from the A1 use class will be resisted where the ground floor area exceeds 250 
square metres. Sub-divisions of larger units will be allowed where the resulting units have 
ground floor areas which exceed 250 square metres. Proposals to merge existing smaller units 
into larger units will be supported where they otherwise accord with policies in the Local Plan. 

Secondary Frontages 

4.1.18. The Council will seek to maintain the role of the secondary frontage areas shown on 
the Policies Map in providing a greater range of uses within the A1 to A5 use classes to 
support the vitality and viability of the primary shopping area and to provide a complementary 
offer to the primary frontage areas. 

4.1.19. Proposals that result in the changes of use of existing ground floor premises will be 
allowed where: 

 a. they do not result in a group of more than two units accommodating uses which 
do not fall within shopping (use class A1) and financial and professional service 
(use class A2) uses; and 

Page 225



34

 b. they retain an active shop front and maintain and enhance the attractiveness 
and vitality of the shopping area; and 

 c. they complement the shopping function of the area and provide a direct service 
to the public. 

4.1.20. Exceptions may be made where the proposal would clearly be beneficial to the vitality 
and viability of the retail function of the frontage or it can be shown that the premises is no 
longer needed for an A1 – A5 use and the retention of such uses at the premises has been 
fully explored, without success, by way of active marketing at a reasonable rate and terms and 
in a good and lettable condition for a period of at least 12 months. 

Other shop premises in the Primary Shopping Area and on identified retail frontages at 
Milton Road and Parrock Street 

4.1.21. The Council will seek to maintain a mix of complementary uses that serve visiting 
members of the public at ground floor level in shop premises in other parts of the primary 
shopping area not designated as primary or secondary frontages and on the other identified 
frontages in Milton Road and Parrock Street shown on the Policies Map. It will do so by 
ensuring that any proposals for development do not result in less than two units in any group of 
three: 

 a. providing an active street frontage, and 

 b. not being open during normal daytime trading hours (9am – 5pm Monday – 
Saturday). 

4.1.22. Exceptions may be made where the proposal would clearly be beneficial to the vitality 
and viability of the retail function of the frontage or it can be shown that the premises is no 
longer needed for a use serving visiting members of the public at ground floor level and the 
retention of such uses at the premises has been fully explored, without success, by way of 
active marketing at a reasonable rate and terms and in a good and lettable condition for a 
period of at least 12 months. 

Proposed Policy DM 9 Shopping Frontages in Gravesend Town Centre

The Council will require development within Gravesend Town Centre to contribute positively 
towards maintaining its distinctive character, range of services and status as the highest order 
centre within the borough.  Proposals should contribute towards the creation and enhancement 
of a safe, attractive and inclusive town centre environment and have no unacceptable adverse 
impact on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties.

Primary, secondary and other shopping frontages and the Primary Shopping Area are defined 
for Gravesend Town Centre and the associated Opportunity Area as shown on the Policies 
Map.  To allow the town centre to grow, diversify and be adaptable to change, whilst 
maintaining a suitable mix of uses to serve the borough, the Council will take the following 
approach to planning applications in the following areas.

Page 226



35

Primary Shopping Frontages

On the Primary Shopping Frontages, permission will be granted for development falling within 
Use Class A1.  Use Classes A2, A3, A4 and A5 will be permitted subject to the proposal 
maintaining or enhancing the centre’s vitality and viability, when considered against the 
following criteria:

• It should not harm the predominant retail character of the shopping frontage and 
generate similar pedestrian visits to an A1 retail use or greater during normal 
shopping hours (9am – 5pm Monday to Saturday inclusive);

• It should complement the existing shopping function of the Town Centre and not 
create an inappropriate concentration of similar uses which would be harmful to 
its function or viability; and

• It should provide an active shop frontage at ground floor level, immediately 
accessible by the public.

In addition to the above, proposals resulting in the loss of larger or anchor Use Class A1 units 
will only be permitted where :

• It has been demonstrated on the basis of evidence they are no longer suitable 
for retail use or are incapable of being made so at reasonable cost; or 

• There is no market interest in the unit in Use Class A1, evidenced by way of 
active marketing at a reasonable rate and terms with the premises in a good 
and lettable condition for a period of at least 12 months.

Secondary Shopping Frontages

On the Secondary Shopping Frontages, permission will be granted for development falling 
within Use Class A1.  The Council will permit a change of use away from Use Class A1 where 
the following criteria are met:

• The use would provide a service that complements the shopping function of the 
Town Centre and generate similar or better footfall than the use it replaces;

• The proposal would not harm the retail character, attractiveness, vitality and 
viability of the Town Centre, including unreasonably reducing the number of 
Use Class A1 units within that frontage; and

• The proposal would retain an appearance that is compatible with adjoining shop 
units, provide an active frontage at ground floor level and maintain the character 
of the area.

In considering the acceptability or otherwise of a proposal, regard will be given to the proposed 
opening hours of the unit, to ensure that vitality and viability of the frontage are not adversely 
affected by an unacceptable increase or clustering of uses that are not open during normal 
shopping hours (9am – 5pm Monday to Saturday inclusive).

Page 227



36

Other Shopping Frontages

On the Other Shopping Frontages shown on the Policies Map, proposals for all main town 
centre uses and other uses compatible with a town centre location will be considered, subject 
to the proposal maintaining the vitality and viability of that part of the centre by attracting 
pedestrian activity and footfall and being acceptable in terms of other policies set out in the 
local plan.

Proposals on Milton Road, which also performs an important neighbourhood centre function, 
should not unreasonably reduce the number of Use Class A1 units within that frontage whilst 
maintaining an active frontage at ground floor level.

Within the Town Centre as a whole, the Council will support proposals to bring underused 
upper floors back into beneficial use, including residential and office use.  In terms of 
residential uses, such proposals will only be permitted where they provide a high standard of 
amenity for existing and future users.  All proposals should be of high quality design and 
respond positively to the character of the building to be converted and its context.

Residential development will not be permitted at ground floor level within the primary and 
secondary shopping frontages or other shopping frontages within the primary shopping area.

4.2. Cultural and Tourism Uses in Gravesend Town Centre 

Proposed Text 

4.2.1. Policy CS09 on Culture and Tourism recognises the importance of culture and tourism 
to the local area in general and to Gravesend town centre in particular. In applying the NPPF 
sequential test, Gravesend town centre is identified as the sequentially preferred location for 
such development, unless otherwise justified as an exception. The above policies on retail 
frontages prioritise retail and a range of similar uses to maintain the vitality and viability of the 
centre. 

4.2.2. However, it is now widely recognised that modern town centres have to improve and 
diversify their offer if they are to thrive in the face of competition from a variety of different 
sources. In the case of Gravesend, this includes larger regional centres such as Bluewater, 
which is in the process of expanding and improving both its retail and commercial leisure offer. 

4.2.3. There is significant potential for Gravesend town centre to capitalise on its heritage, 
riverside setting and cultural diversity to improve its attractiveness both as a destination 
for visitors and as a focus of activity for the local community. Making the offer of the town 
centre more diverse also has the potential to improve the experience of shoppers, thereby 
strengthening the position of the centre overall. 

4.2.4. The retail frontage policies above accept that there may be exceptions where the 
introduction of a non-retail use may be clearly beneficial to the vitality and viability of the 
centre. The introduction of complementary cultural and tourism uses may be such an 
exception, with each case needing to be assessed on its own merits having regard to the 
specific characteristics of the use to be introduced. The following policy lends support to this 
approach and is intended to be consistent with policy CS09 by focusing on the area within the 
Gravesend Town Centre boundary, as shown on the Local Plan Policies Map. 

Page 228



37

Proposed Policy DM 10: Complementary Cultural and Tourism Uses in 
Gravesend Town Centre 

4.2.5. Within Gravesend Town Centre, as shown on the Local Plan Policies Map, proposals 
for active town centre uses including recreation, art, creative cultural and tourism development 
will be supported, provided an active frontage/shopfront is maintained, where applicable, and 
it is compatible with maintaining the vitality and viability of the relevant retail frontage and town 
centre in general. 

4.3. Neighbourhood and Village Centres 

Background 

4.3.1. The Council’s existing policy in respect of local centres is set out in Core Strategy Policy 
CS08. It is intended to supplement this policy with a new development management policy 
that is consistent with national policy and to make complementary minor amendments to Core 
Strategy Policy CS08 in the interests of consistency. The latter will be consulted on separately 
at the time of the Regulations 18 (Stage 2) consultation in 2019. The Council’s approach to 
Neighbourhood and Village Centres and Lone Village Shops is set out below. 

4.3.2. National planning policy requires that local plans identify a network and hierarchy of 
centres within Gravesham, to which main town centre uses will be directed in accordance with 
the sequential approach. Policy CS08 of the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
identifies Gravesend Town Centre (including its Primary Shopping Area) as the sequentially 
preferred location for such uses in the borough and therefore at the top of the local hierarchy of 
centres. 

4.3.3. The policy also seeks to safeguard the retail character and function of existing and new 
centres by resisting development that would adversely affect their vitality and viability, whilst 
supporting development of a scale and type appropriate to the position of centres within the 
local hierarchy and their character. Lone village shops are also accorded protection. 

4.3.4. In addition, the policy supports proposals for new and expanded local centres 
where they are of a scale and form designed to meet the needs arising from planned new 
developments in the following locations: 

 Springhead Quarter Key Site, Ebbsfleet; 
 Northfleet Rise Quarter Key Site, Ebbsfleet; 
 Old Northfleet Residential Extension Key Site (as an extension to The Hive Local 

Centre); 
 Northfleet Embankment East Regeneration Area Key Site; 
 Canal Basin Regeneration Area Key Site 

4.3.5. At present the NPPF definition of a ‘town centre’ is capable of being applied to lower 
order centres, such as district and local centres. This potentially causes a problem when 
applying the sequential approach to site selection, which prioritises town centre locations first – 
irrespective of whether they are town centres or lower order local centres. 

4.3.6. The definition also precludes small centres of purely neighbourhood significance being 
accorded the status of local centres, even though there may be a good reason to protect them 
through policy because they are the only retail provision serving a particular area. In this 
respect, protecting such centres in the urban area is the equivalent of protecting lone village 
shops in the rural area. 

Page 229



38

4.3.7. A decision has therefore been made to follow a practice used elsewhere to designate all 
centres in the urban area below Gravesend Town Centre as ‘neighbourhood centres’ or, in the 
rural area as ‘village centres’. This therefore provides a clear distinction between Gravesend 
Town Centre as the only ‘town centre’ in the Borough, as opposed to lower order centres 
within the local hierarchy. 

4.3.8. The ‘local centres’ shown in the adopted Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map are taken 
from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). Changes that have occurred since that 
time mean that some centres have either contracted or disappeared altogether. The new list 
of neighbourhood and village centres reflects the current situation on the ground. Further 
information to support the proposed policy can be found in the Retail Centres Background 
Paper. 

4.3.9. In addition, because policy CS08 already supports appropriate development within the 
local hierarchy of centres beneath the town centre, the development management policy that 
follows concentrates on the approach that will be taken to protecting their distinctive role. 

4.3.10. It is intended that the centres shown in Figure 5 will be designated as neighbourhood 
and village centres for the purposes of the application of this policy. 

4.3.11. A list of all centres within the local hierarchy of centres and the location of lone village 
shops is provided in the supporting text to the draft policy below. 

Page 230



39

Figure 5 Proposed neighbourhood and village centres 

Page 231



40

Figure 6 Location of existing centres in Gravesham – Local Plan Policies Map 

4.3.12. It is intended that the following centres shown on the adopted Local Plan Policies Map 
will be deleted either because of changes that have occurred since 1994 or due to alternative 
provision being available in the area which is easily accessible. This would mean that the 
shops in these locations would not be afforded protection under Proposed Policy DM 12. 

Page 232



41

Table 1: Centres to be deleted from the Local Plan Policies Map

4.3.13. In addition to setting out which neighbourhood and village centres and lone village 
shops should be designated, the Council is also consulting at this stage on whether additional 
centres should be allocated or other new centres/lone village shops in locations that are poorly 
served should be protected through policy. Views on these issues would be welcomed as part 
of the consultation. 

4.3.14. Currently, Local Plan Core Strategy policy CS08 applies the national default threshold of 
2,500m2 floorspace to determine whether the retail impact test set out in NPPF paragraph 26 89 is 
required. This is to determine whether or not any proposal that is either edge or out-of- town centre 
will have a serious detrimental impact on the town centre or other centres.

4.3.15. However, when it comes to considering potential impact on existing neighbourhood and 
village centres, the introduction of competing proposals at such a scale could have a serious 
adverse impact on those centres. 

4.3.16. Whilst the intent of national policy is not to stifle innovation or consumer choice but to 
direct retail and other main town centre uses to the most central planned sustainable locations, 
it is recognised that the introduction of a local evidence based alternative threshold for impact 
testing is acceptable. In Gravesham’s case, this would involve a minor modification to 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS08 as the threshold for impact testing is set out 
in this Policy. 

Centre to be deleted from Policies Map Reason
Dover Road West Whilst the centre still retains one small shop, 

a hot food takeaway and a public house 
(Leather Bottle) it is close to the centre at The 
Hill and now only provides a limited offer.

Dover Road East Centre no longer exists and alternative 
provision is available at Perry Street/Old 
Road West and Pelham Road.

Sun Lane North Whilst this small parade provides 
accommodation for a small number of local 
businesses, its retail function serving day 
to day needs is now limited. Alternative 
provision exists nearby at Echo Square, 
Singlewell Road and Kitchener Avenue.

Sun Lane South Whilst this small parade provides 
accommodation for a small number of local 
businesses, its retail function serving day 
to day needs is now limited. Alternative 
provision exists nearby at Echo Square, 
Singlewell Road and Kitchener Avenue.

Waterdales Centre now only comprises one small 
convenience retail store and a hot food take- 
away. Alternative provision to meet day to 
day needs is available at the Sainsbury’s 
Supermarket, Pepperhill around 600 metres 
away.

Page 233



42

4.3.17. In common with a number of other councils, our current view is that for retail uses 
not located in the town centre primary shopping area or neighbourhood or village centre, the 
threshold for impact testing should be reduced to 500m2 gross floorspace. 

4.3.18. This is also considered appropriate, given exceeds the size of unit that is capable of 
meeting day-to-day shopping needs in local areas and which we would wish to encourage 
locating in or adjacent to our neighbourhood or village centres or areas where there is a 
current deficiency in provision. Further consideration is given to this in the Retail Centres 
Background Paper. 

4.3.19. Finally, if our neighbourhood and village centres are to continue to function effectively 
and support sustainable lifestyles by allowing people to meet their day-to-day retail needs 
locally, it is important that their vitality and viability is protected. The most important function 
of such centres is to provide opportunities for top-up convenience shopping, although they are 
also capable of providing a wide range of services and opportunities for small businesses in 
local areas. In terms of protecting the important role that they play, it is intended therefore that 
they will be treated as key shopping areas when considering proposals for change of use 
which result in the loss of shop units. 

4.3.20. When deciding whether or not the loss of shop units or a reduction in A1 floorspace 
impacts the overall vitality and viability of the centre, key issues to consider are; 

 whether or not the centre would continue to provide an appropriate A1 retail offer 
 commensurate with the role of the centre; 
 whether or not the proposed alternative use would assist in maintaining the vitality and 
 viability of the centre, and 
 whether or not the continued retail role of the centre would be complemented by 
 attracting additional visiting members of the public. 

4.3.21. Whilst neighbourhood and village centres in Gravesham differ significantly in terms of 
size and offer, based on evidence set out in the Retail Centres Background Paper, the Council 
will seek to ensure that a minimum of 45% of shop units are retained in A1 retail use as a 
guidline figure under policy DM12(c). This compares to a current average of 60% of shop uses 
in such centres being in A1 retail use and with only 5 neighbourhood and village centres out of 
28 falling below the 45% figure. Should changes of use under permitted development rights 
prejudice this objective, the Council will keep under review as to whether such rights should be 
limited under an Article 4 direction. 

4.3.21 Whilst neighbourhood and village centres in Gravesham differ significantly in terms of size 
and offer, currently an average of around 60% of shops in such centres are in A1 retail use with 
only 5 centres out of 28 falling below a 45% figure.  Should changes of use under permitted 
development rights prejudice the objective of such centres being capable of functioning to support 
the day to day needs of their local neighbourhoods, the Council will keep under review whether 
such rights should be limited by Article 4 direction.  Where applying for planning permission to 
move away from an A1 retail use to an alternative use in a neighbourhood or village centre, 
applications will be required to produce evidence that the vitality and viability of the centre or its 
ability to support day to day shopping needs will not be undermined and that a range of other 
criteria are met.

4.3.22. In addition, the complete loss of shop units within neighbourhood and retail centres to 
uses that do not support their vitality and viability because they do not attract visiting members 
of the public, will only be allowed where it has been shown through an effective marketing 
exercise that the unit is not viable and incapable of being made so. 

Page 234



43

Proposed Text 

4.3.23. Neighbourhood and village centres and lone village shops play an important role in 
supporting sustainable lifestyles by allowing people to meet their day to day needs locally, 
without needing to make unnecessary journeys by private car. They also allow people without 
access to private cars to shop locally, providing an invaluable service to the disadvantaged 
and vulnerable, whilst acting as focal point within our local communities. The Council is of the 
view that such centres and lone village shops should be accorded a high degree of protection 
from development that could adversely affect them from performing this function. 

4.3.24. It will therefore treat its neighbourhood and village centres and lone village shops 
as key shopping areas when considering proposals that could affect their future vitality and 
viability. A list of designated neighbourhood and village centres and lone village shops is set 
out below. The location of these and their boundaries are shown on the Local Plan Proposals 
Map and (for the smaller centres) in Appendix 1. 

Table 2: List of Neighbourhood and Village Centres and Lone Village 
Shops 

Town Centre Neighbourhood 
Centres in Urban 
Area

Village Centres in 
Rural Area

Lone Village Shops

Gravesend Town 
Centre

– For retail uses, the 
primary shopping 
area is considered to 
be ‘in centre’ when 
applying the NPPF 
paragraph 24 86 
sequential test.

• Cross Lane West/ 
Singlewell

• Deneholm Road
• East Milton Road
• Echo Square
• Kitchener Avenue
• Lawrence Square
• Lion Roundabout
• Livingstone Road
• Lower Higham 

Road
• Mackenzie Way
• Old Road West/ 

Pelham Road
• Perry Street
• Rochester Road

• Higham
• Istead Rise
• Meopham Parade
• Meopham Station
• Shorne
• Vigo

• Cobham Village 
Store – 26/38 The 
Street, Cobham.

• Spar,
Wrotham Road, 
Culverstone.

• Ye Little Shop, 
Sole Street

4.3.25. For the purposes of the application of the NPPF paragraph 24 86 Sequential Test, 
neighbourhood and village centres will not be treated as ‘town centres’. This is because Gravesend 
Town Centre and its Primary Shopping Area is the sequentially preferable location for major new 
retail proposals.

4.3.26. However, in recognition of the role and function of the lesser order centres, policy 
CS08 will continue to support proposals that enhance their offer where they are of a scale and 
type appropriate to the centre. The intention is for these lesser order centres to focus on 
primarily meeting day-to-day needs rather than to compete with the town centre. The Council 
is of the view that the maximum size of any new retail units should not normally exceed those 
limits laid down under the Sunday trading laws. A threshold of 280m2 relevant floor area is 

Page 235



44

therefore included in the policy at which the NPPF paragraph 24 86 Sequential Test will be 
triggered. 

4.3.27. In order to protect the vitality and viability of the centres, the policy below sets out a 
range of criteria against which proposals relating to the change of use or loss of shop units will 
be judged. In this respect the Council considers as a guidline figure under policy DM12(c) that 
each centre should continue to provide at least 45% of shop units in the A1 retail use class to 
facilitate top-up shopping and that loss of any such units should be fully justified. Provided that 
the minimum level of A1 retail floorspace is maintained, a range of alternative uses such as 
A2 (financial and professional services); A3 – 5 (food and drink type uses); B1(a) offices; and 
D1 (non-residential institutions) that attract visiting members of the public may be acceptable 
provided they do not undermine the attractiveness of the centre as a retail destination. 

4.3.27 In order to protect the vitality and viability of the centres and to ensure that they continue to 
support day to day shopping needs in a sustainable way, the policy below sets out a range of 
criteria against which proposals relating to the change of use or loss of shop units will be 
considered.  Provided that sufficient A1 retail floorspace is maintained within the centre to ensure 
that continuing objective is achieved, a range of alternative uses such as A2 (financial and 
professional services); A3 – 5 (food and drink type uses); B1(a) offices; and D1 (non-residential 
institutions) that attract visiting members of the public may be acceptable provided they do not 
undermine the attractiveness of the centre as a retail destination.  It will be for the applicant to 
provide evidence as part of any submission that this policy requirement is met.

4.3.28. Proposed Policy DM 13 of this plan in relation to hot food takeaways also applies. 

Proposed Policy DM 11 Neighbourhood and Village Centres 

4.3.29. The Council will support proposals for new retail floorspace within or adjacent to 
neighbourhood and village centres where it is of a scale and type appropriate to that centre. 
Retail proposals exceeding 280m2 relevant floor areai will be subject to the NPPF Sequential 
Test, prioritising town centres first in the normal way. 

4.3.30. Unless alternative or better provision is to be made in an equally accessible location 
serving the area, proposals for change of use or loss of retail uses and other uses that meet 
local needs in a designated neighbourhood or village centre will only be permitted where:

a. It does not have an adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the centre;
and

b. The proposed use is not detrimental to residential amenity; and
c. The proposed use does not jeopardise the variety of services available in the 

local centre to meet the day-to-day shopping and other needs of the local 
community and evidence has been provided as part of the application to 
demonstrate this; or

d. There is evidence to demonstrate that there is no demand for the continued use 
of the premises for retail or other uses compatible with the role of the centre; 
and

e. The use is no longer viable or capable of being made viable and the property 
has been actively marketed at a reasonable rate and terms and in a lettable 
condition for a period of at least 12 months, with no reasonable offer rejected; 
and

f. The proposal does not result in additional parking demand in the surrounding 
area, on or off street, unless there is sufficient capacity to accommodate it.

iThe 280 square metre ‘relevant floor area’ threshold is intended to reflect the definition of a ‘large 
shop’ under Schedule 1 to the Sunday Trading Act 1994. ‘Relevant floor area’ for the purposes of 

Page 236



45

this policy is defined as the internal floor area of a building but excluding any part of the shop 
which, throughout the week is used neither for the serving of customers in connection with the sale 
of goods nor for the display of goods.

4.4. Food and Drink Establishments 

Background 

4.4.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policy S7 sets out the criteria which will apply when 
considering applications for the change of use of shops to hot food takeaways and restaurants. 
Policy CS08 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategic 
approach towards retail centres in the Borough. Proposed Policy DM 10 and Proposed Policy 
DM 12 of this document set out the Council’s proposed approaches to uses within Gravesend 
town centre and local/neighbourhood centres respectively. 

4.4.2. The Council recognises that there are certain issues associated with the changes 
of use of premises to food and drinking establishments – hot food takeaways, restaurants, 
public houses, bars and nightclubs. This is because they are often open in the evenings 
and can create issues in terms of noise, odours and litter. Such uses are often located in 
existing retail centres and the Council is keen to ensure that these centres continue to provide 
a range of services. We consider that an updated policy is required and that this should be 
extended to include drinking establishments given that they can have similar impacts to food 
establishments. The proposed text and policy are set out below. 

Proposed Text 

4.4.3. Gravesend town centre and the local centres provide a mix of uses and a range of 
services which are available to their users and which help to maintain their vitality and viability. 
The Council wishes to ensure that these roles are maintained and Pproposed policies DM10 
and DM12 set out the Council’s approach to these areas. 

4.4.4. It is recognised that uses such as hot food takeaways, restaurants, public houses, bars 
and nightclubs can provide an important complementary role to shopping and other uses in our 
centres. These uses can extend the vitality of centres beyond normal working hours as they 
are often open in the evenings. They can also make the centres more attractive places to live, 
work and visit. 

4.4.5. However, food and drinking establishments can also have detrimental effects on 
amenity and on the retail character of centres due to the increased incidence of litter, odours, 
noise and general disturbance, their hours of operation and the potential creation of dead 
frontages. They can also create parking and traffic problems. Therefore, they need to be 
appropriately located and any impacts adequately mitigated if they are to avoid having an 
adverse impact. 

Proposed Policy DM 12 Food and Drink Establishments

4.4.6. The Council will only allow proposals for food and drinking (use classes A3-A5) 
establishments where:

a. they will not cause a significant adverse effect on amenity in terms of noise, 
general disturbance, litter, odour or traffic generation;

b. pollution can be adequately mitigated through the installation of ventilation 
equipment, grease disposal, grease traps, waste facilities and noise insulation 

Page 237



46

which does not have an adverse impact on the character of the area or the 
appearance of the building;

c. a satisfactory standard of servicing and parking can be provided which will not 
interfere with the free flow of traffic and highway safety; and

d. it will not result in two or more of such uses to be clustered together, creating a 
dead frontage detrimental to the viability and vitality of the retail frontage or 
centre where it is located. It will not have a detrimental impact on the viability or 
vibrancy of the retail frontage or centre where it is located due to an over-
concentration or clustering of such uses on intended hours of operation. 

4.5. Retention of Public Houses 

Background 

4.5.1. Public houses form an important part of our local communities as places to meet and 
socialise. They also contribute significantly towards sense of place and the heritage of our 
town and villages. The loss of a number of public houses in recent years has been a cause 
of local public concern. Whilst the Council cannot prevent this in many cases, where planning 
permission is required it is important that there is a policy mechanism in place against which 
proposals can be evaluated. 

Proposed Text 

4.5.2. In common with many areas, Gravesham has seen a decline in the number of 
public houses in the past few years. Whilst this trend reflects changing social practices and 
commercial reality in many instances, in others it has simply been the desire to exploit the 
value of the site for an alternative use, to the detriment of the communities the public house 
once served. 

4.5.3. Within Gravesend’s historic riverside town centre, the loss of public houses can also 
have a detrimental impact on offer of the town as a place to visit, socialise and interact. Many 
public houses here either lie within Conservation Areas or are Listed Buildings and the use 
forms an important part of their historic character. 

4.5.4. The change of use of public houses (Use Class A4) to retail (Use Class A1) or financial 
and professional services (Use Class A2) constitutes permitted development. 11Whilst 
restrictions apply where the premises has been nominated as a ‘community asset’, this only 
allows a limited period of time for the nominees to make an offer to purchase the public house 
to secure its future. Similarly, provided the public house is not otherwise protected or has been 
nominated as a ‘community asset’, demolition is permitted subject prior approval of the method 
of demolition and proposed restoration of the site.12 

4.5.5. The ease with which existing public houses may be lost contradicts national planning 
policy in many ways. This requires local planning authorities to plan positively for the provision 
and use of shared space and community facilities – including public houses. It also instructs 
that we should guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly 
where this would reduce a community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs. The promotion 
and retention of community facilities such as public houses in villages is also encouraged.13 

11 See the Schedule 2, Part 11, Class B to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015
12 See the Schedule 2, Part 11, Class B to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015.
13 See National Planning Policy Framework (March, 2012) paragraphs 28 & 70.

Page 238



47

4.5.6. Policy CS10 on Physical and Social Infrastructure also lends support to the retention 
of existing local facilities such as public houses, requiring where there is a threat of loss 
of existing social infrastructure that consideration be given to viability and whether there is 
sufficient alternative provision available. Policy CS09 on Culture and Tourism also seeks to 
protect and support improvements to existing cultural and tourist facilities and lends support to 
sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit rural businesses, communities 
and visitors. 

4.5.7. The Council would therefore wish to see existing public houses retained where they 
serve a local need and are viable. Where planning permission is required for development 
that would result in the loss of an existing public house, the following policy will therefore be 
applied. 

Proposed Policy DM 13: Retention of Public Houses 

4.5.8. Planning permission will only be granted for development which results in the loss of an 
existing public house where: 

a. It has been demonstrated through the submission of evidence that the public 
house is no longer economically viable or capable of being made economically 
viable at reasonable cost; and 

b. The public house has been the subject of continuous effective marketing for a 
period of 12 months or more on reasonable terms, with no reasonable offer 
rejected. 

4.5.9. In considering the acceptability or otherwise of a proposal which would result in the loss 
of a public house, the Council will also have regard to:

a. The role the public house plays in the provision of space for community groups 
to meet and whether the loss of such space would contribute toward a shortfall 
in local provision;

b. The design, character and heritage value of the public house and the 
significance of the contribution it makes to the streetscape, local distinctiveness 
and the historic environment of its location; and

c. The ability and appropriateness of the building and site to accommodate an 
alternative use or uses without the need for demolition or alterations that may 
detract from the character and appearance of the building;

d. The appropriateness of the proposed alternative use in relation to the location of 
the site and neighbouring uses, together with the adequacy of parking and 
delivery arrangements to support the proposed use and potential impact on 
highway safety; and

e. Whether or not the proposal provides an alternative community service or 
function.

4.5.10. All development proposals resulting in the loss of a public house must be accompanied 
by a CAMRA (Campaign for Real Ale) compliant public house viability test. 

Page 239



48

5. Infrastructure 

5.1. Route Safeguarding 

Background 

5.1.1. Safeguarding is a term used to reflect safeguarding directions issued by the Secretary 
of State as well as ‘red line’ boundaries under Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 – Article 18(1) and Schedule 4. The effect 
of safeguarding is that as the Local Planning Authority, the Council is obliged to consult the 
relevant body for any planning applications within the specified boundaries. A safeguarding 
direction is intended to prevent any development from progressing that might prejudice a 
safeguarded scheme from being delivered or prejudice an existing scheme. 

5.1.2. Core Strategy Policy CS11 para 2.5.42 contains references to safeguarding for the 
future extension of Crossrail (also referred to as the Elizabeth Line) and continued protection 
of HighSpeed1 (HS1). The former covers the North Kent railway line to Hoo junction to 
allow for the extension of Crossrail services to Gravesend over existing tracks. The latter is 
the original Channel Tunnel Rail Link safeguarding for the construction of the scheme and 
retained subsequently to protect the railway. There has been a consultation on modifying the 
safeguarding of HS1 to remove areas that were only included for construction purposes. In 
due course the Policies Map will need to be modified in order to reflect changes made. 

5.1.3. Saved Local Plan First Review Policy T6 contains reference to dualling Thames Way 
(South Thameside Development Route stage 4) in Ebbsfleet. This safeguarded scheme allows 
for the current carriageway to be expanded to a dual carriageway should it be required to 
serve development in the Ebbsfleet Valley and/or on Swanscombe Peninsula. 

5.1.4. In April 2017, the Secretary of State for Transport published the preferred route for the 
Lower Thames Crossing with a red line boundary under the above regulations. Under the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a highway authority, such as Highways 
England, has legislative powers to purchase blighted land, meaning that affected home and 
land owners can sell their property to Highways England at market value. For further 
information regarding the Lower Thames Crossing please visit www.lower-thames-
crossing.co.uk or phone Highways England on 0300 123 5000. 

5.1.5. In August 2017 a preferred route announcement was made by Highways England for 
junction of improvements to Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions on the A2. The red line boundary 
now includes a small area of land in Gravesham for the Ebbsfleet junction, which will need to 
be shown on the proposals map. 

5.1.6. It is important to emphasise that the Borough Council has not introduced these 
safeguarded areas but is obliged to reflect these safeguarded areas within the Local Plan, as 
they have important implications for development in the Borough. 

5.1.7. For clarity it is proposed that as a minor amendment, paragraph 5.5.42 from 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11 be deleted to avoid duplication with 
Proposed Policy DM 15. 

Proposed Text 

5.1.8. Various external bodies declare ‘safeguarded’ areas where they need to be consulted to 
prevent development that may prejudice their schemes. It is important that those proposing 
development have a clear understanding of where those schemes are and that these safeguarded 
areas are reflected on the Local Plan Proposals Policies Map.

Page 240



49

Proposed Policy DM 14: Route Safeguarding 

5.1.9. Land required for the following safeguarded schemes will be shown on the proposals 
policies map and development proposals that would prejudice these or any subsequent 
schemes subject to safeguarding will be refused: 

 a. possible future extension of Crossrail; 
 b.  protection of the High Speed 1 (HS1) railway; 
 c. Thames Way dualling in Ebbsfleet; 
 d. Lower Thames Crossing 

e. A2 Ebbsfleet junction 

5.2. Traffic Management within Sites and Access onto the Highway 

Background 

5.2.1. Core Strategy Policy CS11 provides the framework for considering the impact 
of development on the transport network and sets out what steps should be taken to 
accommodate additional trips and encourage the use of public transport. At times proposals for 
new development include plans to form new junctions and accesses onto the existing highway 
network. 

5.2.2. Where they are necessary, they must meet safety and highway design standards and 
minimise disruption to pedestrian and other traffic whilst taking account of the circumstances of 
a particular location and the characteristics of the road concerned. An increase in the number 
of vehicular accesses to a site should be avoided. 

5.2.3. All new junctions to the road network must be designed to ensure that there would be 
no significant impact on traffic conditions in terms of increased queuing or delay. To prevent 
increasing traffic congestion, the creation of new accesses to the Strategic Road Network 
(SRN) or other classified roads will generally be resisted where alternative access routes are 
practicable. 

5.2.4. Saved Local Plan First Review policies T1, T2, T3, T4 and T5 refer to the impact of 
development on the highways network using a hierarchy of roads. These are shown on the 
Policies Map. It has been agreed with Kent County Council, which is the Transport Authority, 
that this hierarchy is no longer needed. However, clarity needs to be provided over the criteria 
to be applied when considering proposals for accesses and junctions that impact on the 
highway network. Therefore, saved policies T1, T2, T3, T4 and T5 and the relevant Policies 
Map notations will be deleted and replaced with the proposed text and policy below. 

Proposed Text 

5.2.5. Core Strategy Policy CS11 provides the framework for considering the impact 
of development on the transport network and sets out what steps should be taken to 
accommodate additional trips and encourage the use of public transport. At times proposals for 
new development include plans to form new junctions and accesses onto the existing highway 
network. This needs to be done in a safe manner which is compliant with highway standards, 
taking account of the circumstances of a particular location and the characteristics of the road 
concerned. 

5.2.5 Core Strategy policy CS11 on Transport sets out the Council’s strategic approach in this 
area, with the objective of facilitating the movement of people, goods and services in a 
sustainable way.  This means trying to reduce reliance on the private car and road based 

Page 241



50

transport of goods, with a move toward walking, cycling, the use of public transport, and more 
use of the River Thames for the carriage of both passengers and goods. The gradual 
introduction of electric vehicles will assist in making road trips more sustainable but their needs 
will also have to be accommodated. 

The policies that follow are intended to be used when considering proposals for actual 
development in order that this strategic approach can be delivered over time.

Where new highways and accesses are being constructed to serve existing or new 
development, it is important that this is done in a safe manner which is compliant with highway 
standards, taking into account the circumstances of a particular location and the characteristics 
of the road concerned.  

The highway network in Gravesham includes:

 Part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) controlled by Highways England – i.e. the 
A2/M2 and potentially the new Lower Thames Crossing is subsequently permitted and 
built);

 Part of the Major Road Network (MRN) controlled by Kent County Council as highways 
authority and recognised for their importance below the SRN – i.e. the A289 Wainscott 
By-Pass in Gravesham; and

 The remainder of the local road network (A and B class roads and other local roads), 
controlled by Kent County Council.

Transport Assessments14 describe the overall impact of developments on the transport 
network, and consider their accessibility by all modes of transport, taking into account any 
highway or sustainable transport improvements that developers propose to implement.  

The need for a Transport Assessment and its contents will depend on the size, nature and 
location of a proposal.  Detailed requirements should be discussed with the relevant highway 
authority at an early stage.

Travel Plans15 are aimed primarily at promoting sustainable transport options for sites and 
reducing car dependence and single car occupancy.  They can reduce reliance on the private 
car by promoting opportunities for travelling to and from sites by public transport, walking and 
cycling and by offering new opportunities to reduce car use, for example through the 
establishment of car sharing services or car clubs.

For proposals likely to impact on the Strategic Road Network, Highways England has provided 
guidance in relation to the delivery of sustainable development.  New accesses onto the 
Strategic Road Network are normally resisted by Highways England, due to potential road 
safety conflicts and traffic implications.16

14 PPG on Transport Assessment and Travel Plans at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-
transport-assessments-and-statements
15 KCC guidance Transport Assessments and Travel Plans. Oct 2008 – KCC Highways also have a paid 
pre-app service – provide link https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-planning-and-land/planning-
applications/planning-advice/highway-pre-application-advice
16 DfT Circular 02/0213 The Strategic Road Network and the Delivery of Sustainable Development.

Page 242

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements
https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-planning-and-land/planning-applications/planning-advice/highway-pre-application-advice
https://www.kent.gov.uk/waste-planning-and-land/planning-applications/planning-advice/highway-pre-application-advice


51

It is important that new highways and accesses are designed and constructed to an 
appropriate standard.  When considering new accesses and junctions onto roads with a speed 
limit of 30mph or under, the Council will have regard to the Kent Design Guide; the associated 
‘Making it Happen’ supplement, which includes a number of highway design elements; and the 
Government’s Manual for Streets.  For roads with a speed limit of 30mph or over or which 
experience heavy traffic or large numbers of lorries or buses, the Highways Agency Design 
Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) will be used as a guide to best practice.17

It is important to ensure that new accesses onto existing busy roads, such as Old Road East 
and Rochester Road, do not result in dangerous traffic movements which can lead to 
accidents. This means ensuring that vehicles are not required to carry out dangerous reversing 
manoeuvres. It also means that sight lines will need to be provided so that drivers using the 
access point can see oncoming traffic. 

The provision of sight lines can result in the loss of protected trees or the removal of 
boundaries which are important to the character of the area. The Council will take policies on 
Green Infrastructure, Heritage and Development Design Principles into account and impact on 
amenity resulting from the use of the access in assessing whether such proposals are 
acceptable.

Developments which generate large volumes of traffic, such as supermarkets, industrial 
development and large scale residential development, should have good access onto the local 
road network. Such development will only be acceptable where the network and junctions 
either have spare capacity to accommodate the traffic movements or improvements can be 
made to accommodate the additional capacity required.

Where commercial development is proposed, it is important that the applicant provides 
sufficient detail at any early stage so that the Council can make a preliminary evaluation.  
Details of the following should therefore be provided:

 Servicing requirements of the development;
 Delivery Hours;
 Delivery Frequency;
 Service bay location and how it will be accessed;
 Details of how the service bay will be operated, including a swept path analysis; and 
 The size of the servicing vehicles.

Other forms of development bring with them their own particular needs, such as ‘drop-off’ and 
‘pick-up’ points associated with schools and nurseries.  Early consideration therefore needs to 
be given as to how a proposal will operate.

As noted above, transport isn’t simply about accommodating additional traffic on the highway 
network when there may be more sustainable alternatives that can be considered.  

The local network of footpaths and cycle routes provide opportunities for people to move 
around.  Kent County Council has developed a statutory Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
(RoWIP) that has amongst its objectives to contribute towards more sustainable development; 
to deliver more active travel options; and to provide opportunities for exercise, leisure and 

17 Links to be confirmed

Page 243



52

open-air recreation.  The Council would expect such options to be explored in any 
consideration against policy DM16.

The greater potential to use the River Thames for both passenger and goods transport on a 
day-to-day basis and to support construction projects is also recognised.  Existing policies 
CS07 on Economy, Employment and Skills and CS11 on Transport already recognise and 
promote greater use of the river.  The key wharves are also protected under this Local Plan 
and by policies set out in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  The importance of the 
historic Gravesend-Tilbury ferry as one of the few ways the public without vehicles  can cross 
the river outside London is also recognised, as is the potential to introduce a London to 
Gravesend river bus service explored by the Thames Clipper trial.

In determining applications, the Council will expect proposals not to have an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety and not result in a ‘severe’ residual cumulative impact on the road 
network.  It should be noted that National Planning Policy does not define ‘severe’ for these 
purposes.  

For the purposes of the policies that follow, whether or not the resulting impact is ‘severe’ and 
therefore unacceptable will be a matter of judgement for the Council (as Local Planning 
Authority) in consultation with the relevant highway authority having regard to the outcome of 
any Transport Assessment or supporting statement, having regard to mitigation measures 
proposed in each case.

5.2.6. The Council has adopted the Kent Design Guide as Supplementary Guidance15 and 
this is referred to in Core Strategy Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles); the 
Guide includes a section on Designing for Movement. There is supplementary information 
for the Design Guide known as “Making it Happen” which includes a number of Highways 
documents. The government has also produced a Manual for Streets. Together these 
documents will be used to assess the design and suitability of new accesses and junctions 
onto roads with a speed limit of 30 mph or under. 

5.2.7. There is also a Design Manual for Roads and Bridges. This document will be used 
to assess the design and suitability of new accesses and junctions onto roads which have a 
speed limit above 30 mph, experience heavy traffic or experience large numbers of HGV or 
bus movements, for example Thames Way. 

5.2.8. It is important to ensure that new accesses onto existing busy roads, such as Old 
Road East and Rochester Road, do not result in dangerous traffic movements which can 
lead to accidents. This means ensuring that vehicles are not required to carry out dangerous 
reversing manoeuvres. It also means that sight lines will need to be provided so that drivers 
using the access point can see oncoming traffic. The provision of sight lines can result in the 
loss of protected trees or the removal of boundaries which are important to the character of the 
area. The Council will take policies on Green Infrastructure, Heritage and Development Design 
Principles into account in assessing whether such proposals are acceptable. 

5.2.9. Developments which generate large volumes of traffic, such as supermarkets, industrial 
development and large scale residential development, should have good access onto the A 
or B class road network. Such development will only be acceptable where the network and 
junctions either have spare capacity to accommodate the traffic movements or improvements 
can be made to accommodate the additional capacity required. 

5.2.10. Further access will not be allowed onto the A2/M2 trunk roads within the Borough, at 
the request of Highways England. 

Page 244



53

5.2.11. The Council supports sustainable modes of transport which will help to reduce 
dependence on the car. Therefore, it will require junctions to be designed to accommodate 
buses, pedestrians and cyclists. 

Proposed Policy DM 15 Transport Hierarchy Transport Design Principles

5.2.12. The design of developments including site layout, public realm and transport 
infrastructure should prioritise the transport needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport 
users above those of motor vehicle users.

5.2.15 Development management decisions will be taken in the context of achieving the 
following sustainability objectives, as far as is practicable, given the context of proposals and 
their characteristics:

 Rebalancing the transport system towards walking, cycling and public transport;
 Making better use of the River Thames for the transportation of both passengers and 

goods;
 The creation of healthy streets and public realm;
 The reduction in road danger, both in town and the country – particularly on rural lanes; 

and 
 Improving air quality.

Proposals should give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements and facilitate, as far as is 
possible, high quality public transport, within safe secure and attractive environments, which 
minimise potential for conflict between motorised and non-motorised users.  

The needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility should be addressed, with provision 
made for the safe and efficient delivery of goods and access by service and emergency 
vehicles.

Provision should be made for or be designed to accommodate retrofitting of plug-in and other 
ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations, unless otherwise 
justified as an exception.

Proposals  for major development requiring either a Design and Access Statement or a formal 
Transport Assessment should set out how the above issues are addressed and the contribution 
made to securing the stated sustainability objectives.

Proposed Policy DM 16 Understanding and Mitigating Transport Impacts 

5.2.13. Development proposals are required to meet the transport needs of the development 
and address its transport impacts in a sustainable manner and in accordance with best 
practice. 

5.2.14. Where the council considers that a development is likely to have a severe adverse 
impact i on the operation of transport infrastructure, this impact must be satisfactorily mitigated. 
In order for developments to be considered acceptable they are required to: 

 a. fully mitigate severe adverse impacts upon the capacity and operation of 
transport infrastructure, including the highway network, cycling and walking 
routes, public transport infrastructure and the river; 

Page 245



54

 b. ensure safe, convenient and inclusive accessibility to, from and within 
developments for pedestrians, cyclists, public transport users and other 
vehicles. Including inclusive access for mobility impaired people, and 

 c. adequately address the operational needs for existing and future residents, 
visitor and user “drop-off” and “pick-up” areas (e.g. for parents at nurseries 
and schools) as appropriate to the functioning of the development and the safety 
and free-flow of traffic. If required, the following information should be provided 
as a minimum: 

• servicing requirements of the development; 
• delivery hours; 
• delivery frequency; 
• service bay location; 
• service bay operation (including swept path analysis), and 
• size of servicing vehicles. 

5.2.13 Development proposals will be required to meet the transport needs generated in a 
sustainable manner having regard to the principles set out in policy DM16.  They should 
consider avoiding before mitigating any unacceptable impacts on the safety and operation of 
the highway, public transport and public rights of way networks or the river as necessary.  
Opportunities to secure net environmental gains as part of the project should also be 
considered.

Applications should be supported by a proportionate evidence base detailing baseline and 
future transport conditions and the likely impact of the proposed development, both alone and 
in combination with other known proposals, as appropriate 

Large or complex proposals or proposals with the potential to have unacceptable impacts in 
areas with existing transportation or associated air quality problems should be supported by a 
formal Transport Assessment, undertaken in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance and may also require the production of a Travel Plan, as part of any mitigation 
package.

Sufficient parking in new development will be provided in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted parking standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport, 
accessibility to services and facilities, and the objective to secure a modal shift to more 
sustainable modes.

Proposals that have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in a severe residual 
cumulative impact on the road network following mitigation or do not contribute positively 
toward the achievement of the aims of policy DM16 will not be permitted.

iFor the purposes of this policy ‘severe adverse impacts’, refer to the outcome of a Transport 
Assessment or Statement which varies from each development. It will be for the local planning 
authority in consultation with the relevant highway authority to determine what impacts there 
are and whether they consider these to be an unacceptable or “severe” impact on the local 
area, after considering what mitigation measures are being proposed in each circumstance. 

Page 246



55

Proposed Policy DM 17 New Accesses and Junctions 

5.2.15. New development will only be permitted if the access and road junction which serves 
the development is appropriately sited and is of an appropriate scale and configuration and 
there is no adverse impact on highway safety and the free flow of traffic. In the case of roads 
which have high volumes of traffic or a high proportion of heavy vehicles during any part of 
the day or night, it will be necessary for new accesses to show that traffic can enter and exit 
the site in a forward direction without the use of turntables and ensure that adequate visibility 
splays are provided. 

5.2.16. New access and servicing arrangements must ensure vehicles can easily reach 
the necessary loading, servicing, and parking areas with multiple manoeuvres not being 
acceptable. New development will only be permitted where adequate, safe and functional 
provision is made for: 

 a. Refuse collection and any other service, and delivery vehicles required to serve 
part of the normal functioning of the development; and 

 b. Emergency services vehicles. 

5.2.17. New highways should be built to the local Highway Authority’s adoptable design, 
construction, and safety standards. 

5.2.14. All new or altered accesses and junctions should be appropriately sited and be of an 
appropriate scale, having regard to the levels of development, traffic and types of vehicle that 
are likely to need to use them.  

All such accesses and new on-site highways associated with them should, unless otherwise 
justified as an exception:

 Accord with relevant highway design, construction and safety standards applicable at 
the time, with junctions incorporating  visibility splays consistent with their intended use 
and characteristics of the highway to be accessed;

 Be provided with sufficient manoeuvring space to allow vehicles to enter and leave the 
site in forward gear;

 Ensure vehicles can easily reach the necessary loading, servicing, and parking areas 
on site without the need for multiple manoeuvres;

 Not result in an unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety; and
 Not result in a severe residual cumulative impact on the operation or free flow of the 

highway network.

The impact of any new access and associated manoeuvring area or roadways on the character of 
the area, together with the impact of vehicles using those facilities on the amenity of neighbouring 
properties, will also be material considerations.

5.3. Electric Vehicle Charging Points (Policy held in abeyance)

Background 

5.3.1. Core Strategy Policy CS19 requires new development to be located, designed and 
constructed to avoid adverse environmental impacts from air pollution. One of the ways in 
which new development can do this is by encouraging the use of electric vehicles through the 
provision of electric vehicle charging points. We are proposing a policy which will require new 

Page 247



56

residential developments to make provision for these or put in place the infrastructure required 
for their future provision. We will also encourage provision within large scale commercial, 
industrial and retail developments. 

Proposed Text 

5.3.2. The air quality section sets out how the Council will avoid adverse impacts from air 
pollution as a result of new development. However, there are more proactive ways of reducing 
air pollution, including encouraging the use of electric vehicles. This section sets out the 
Council’s approach to facilitating greater use of electric vehicles. 

5.3.3. The Government’s wider policy on electric vehicles is set out in “Making the Connection: 
The Plug-in Vehicle Investment Strategy 2011” and “Driving the Future Today: A strategy 
for ultra-low emission vehicles in the UK 2013.” Amongst other things, these facilitate the 
provision of recharging infrastructure and provide for grants towards the purchase price of 
plug-in cars and vans. In July 2017, the Secretary of State for Transport confirmed that the 
Government would be ending the sale of all new conventional petrol and diesel cars and vans 
by 2040. As a result, it is expected that the use of electric vehicles will increase over the Local 
Plan period to 2028 and beyond. 

5.3.4. The National Planning Policy Framework states that plans should protect and exploit 
opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people. 
This includes requiring developments to be located and designed to incorporate facilities for 
charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles, where practical. 

5.3.5. There are two forms of charging provision: 

• Active provision – fully wired and connected “ready to use” charging points at parking 
spaces; and 

• Passive provision – providing the infrastructure to enable simple installation and 
• activation of a charge point at a future date, e.g. cabling to parking spaces and 
• capacity in the connection to the local electricity distribution network. 

5.3.6. Where parking spaces are to be provided within the residential curtilage of dwellings, 
the Council expects fully wired and connected “ready to use” charging points to be provided for 
every dwelling. This helps future occupiers of such development in choosing whether or not to 
own an electric vehicle. It is recognised that this may require a second metered supply to each 
house, to avoid overloading the normal domestic circuit and supply cable, which in turn may 
require alterations to the local power supply to accommodate additional demand. 

5.3.7. For residential development with shared parking or dedicated parking outside the 
curtilage of dwellings, the Council expects development to make provision for charging points 
as well as being designed so that it can accommodate the provision of electric vehicle meters/ 
charging points at a later date. This provides occupiers with a choice as to which type of 
charging point best suits their requirements as the market matures and demand for charging 
points increases. 

5.3.8. The Council also recognises the benefits of providing electric vehicle charging points at 
commercial, industrial and retail premises. These allow employees and customers who own 
electric vehicles to charge them whilst working or shopping. When planning applications come 
forward for large scale commercial, industrial or retail development, the Council will require the 
developer to make some provision for electric vehicle charging within the car park, which can 
be readily adapted as demand increases and technology advances. 

Page 248



57

5.3.9. The Council recognises that electric charging points may not be the only measure to 
be supported by the Government and vehicle manufacturers and it is the Council’s intention to 
introduce further guidance as the market matures. 

Proposed Policy DM 18 Electric Vehicle Charging Points 

5.3.10. In order to reduce emissions and increase the use of plug-in vehicles, where viable 
the Council will require all new developments to provide charging infrastructure for electric 
vehicles. The table below sets out how such provision should be accommodated: 

Type of Development Provision of Parking Bays and Charging Points for 
ULEV

Housesi Single charging point per house within garage, car port or 
driveway

Flats (<50 units) ii+ v Single parking bay and charging point marked out for use 
by electric vehicles only

Flats (>50 units) ii+ v 10% of parking bays marked out for use by electric vehi- 
cles only with charging points

Other Development (<50 Bays)
ii+ v

Single parking bay and charging point marked out for use 
by electric vehicles only

Other Development (>50 Bays)
ii+ iii+ v

10% of parking bays marked out for use by electric vehi- 
cles only with charging points

Petrol / Service Stations iv+ v Single parking bay and charging point marked out for use 
by electric vehicles only

i dedicated 32A Type 2 charger as a minimum
ii   dedicated free standing 32A Type 2 weatherproof chargers as a minimum
iii if vehicular movements from proposed development generates 100 or more two-way ve- 
hicle movements per day, charger provision should be replaced by dedicated free standing 
rapid (43kw AC or 50 kw DC) Type 2 weather proof chargers as a minimum
iv dedicated free standing rapid (43kw AC or 50 kw DC) Type 2 weather proof chargers as a 
minimum
v provision as above, with installation of groundwork / passive wring in order to enable further
installation to match demand.

5.3.11. Where charging facilities are shared (for example through the development of flats) 
any provision of infrastructure should also include arrangements for the future operation and 
maintenance of the facility. 

5.4. Telecommunications Infrastructure 

Background 

5.4.1. The telecommunications industry is ever changing to improve the speed and coverage 
of internet connections. We support the provision of improved infrastructure within the 
Borough through Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS10. Some aspects of telecommunications 
development does not require planning permission and can be undertaken under permitted 
development rights. 

Proposed Text 

5.4.2. National planning policy requires local planning authorities to support the expansion of 

Page 249



58

electronic communications networks, including telecommunications and high-speed 
broadband.  At the same time, the number of masts and sites for such installations should be 
kept to a minimum consistent with the efficient operation of the network. 

5.4.3. Core Strategy Policy CS10 supports the enhancement of existing and the provision of new 
physical and social infrastructure. In addition, the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule in the Core 
Strategy seeks the provision of super-fast broadband on all key sites. This is in line with Kent’s 
Framework for Regeneration, Vision for Kent and the government’s Broadband Delivery UK Plan. 
At the same time, Core Strategy Policy CS12 seeks to conserve, restore and enhance overall 
landscape character and valued landscapes and Policy CS19 aims to conserve and enhance the 
character of the local built, historic and natural environment.  The Council is also under a range of 
statutory duties to have special regard to protect the heritage interest of listed buildings and 
conservation areas, as well as according great weight to the purpose of conserving and enhancing 
the natural beauty of the Kent Downs AoNB.

5.4.4. Telecommunications infrastructure is moving forward at a fast pace. The government’s aim 
is to provide superfast broadband (speeds of 24Mbps or more) for at least 95% of UK premises and 
universal access to basic broadband (speeds of at least 2Mbps). In terms of wireless mobile 
technology, the current standard is 4G (fourth generation) but there is now a move towards 5G (fifth 
generation) which aims to deliver improved speeds and coverage when compared to 4G. This 
means that there is likely to be a continued demand for enhancing existing telecommunications 
infrastructure18.

5.4.5. There are wide ranging permitted development rights for the installation of masts 
and other telecommunications equipment. However, there are greater restrictions on the 
development which can take place without permission in Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Conservation Areas. The Government is proposing 
to increase the amount of telecommunications development which can take place under 
permitted development rights. 

Proposed Policy DM 19 Telecommunications 

5.4.6. Telecommunications equipment, including masts, boxes and satellite dishes, will only 
be permitted where:

a. evidence has been provided to demonstrate there is no reasonable possibility of 
sharing facilities or installing the equipment on an existing mast or structure so 
as to minimise the need for such development and visual clutter;

b. they are sited and designed to minimise their visual impact so as not to have an 
unacceptable impact on landscape, townscape or the significance of heritage 
assets;

c. they do not have a detrimental effect upon the character or appearance of a 
building or area or the amenity of occupiers of surrounding properties;

d. innovative design and technological solutions have been explored to minimise 
visual impact, and

d. they do not have an unacceptable adverse impact on biodiversity or nature 
conservation; and

e. where it can be demonstrated that there is no interference with highway safety, 
the maintenance and operation of the Strategic Road Network19 and there is 
adequate, safe provision for the parking of service vehicles.

18 Kent County Council is currently working with telecommunications providers to facilitate the roll-out of 
superfast broadband services - see broadband@kent.gov.uk
19 Highways England Guidance on impact on the Strategic Road Network

Page 250

mailto:broadband@kent.gov.uk


59

A statement should also be provided with any application complying with the requirements of 
NPPF paragraph 115 detailing the outcome of consultations with organisations with an interest 
in the proposed development and certifying that the cumulative exposure of the installation, 
when operational, will not exceed International Commission guidelines on non-ionising 
radiation protection or other safety limits that may subsequently be imposed.

Page 251



60

6. Green Infrastructure 

6.1. Green Space, Playing Pitch and Sports Facility Standards 

Background 

6.1.1. Policy CS13 (Green Space, Sport and Recreation) of the adopted Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy sets out that the Council will seek to make adequate provision for and 
protect and enhance green space, playing pitches and other sports facilities in accordance 
with an adequate and up to date evidence base. It also states that we will set out standards of 
provision which will apply to all new development, with preference being given to provision 
onsite. 

6.1.2. The Core Strategy (paragraph 5.8.3) also recognises that further evidence is needed to 
inform our planning policies on open space, sport and recreation facilities in the Borough. For 
this reason, the Council has had a new study carried out which looks at indoor and built sports 
facilities, playing pitches and open spaces in the Borough. For each of the three elements, the 
study assesses existing provision and sets out proposed strategies/standards. The playing 
pitches assessment and strategy has been carried out in accordance with Sport England’s 
guidance. 

6.1.3. Currently, saved policy LT6 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review requires new 
housing development to make provision for open space and play space appropriate to the 
scale of development and type of housing proposed, having regard to the provision of and 
proximity to existing open space in the locality. The supporting text states that we use the 
National Playing Fields Association standards as a guide for such provision. This indicates 
a minimum standard for outdoor playing space of 2.43 hectares per 1,000 people. We are 
proposing to replace this with an updated policy. The proposed supporting text and policy are 
set out below. 

6.1.4 The Council’s Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study consists of the following 
documents which are published as supporting evidence: 

• Open Space Assessment and Standards Paper 
• Indoor Sports Facilities Assessment, and a Strategy and Action Plan 
• Playing Pitch Assessment, and a Strategy and Action Plan 

6.1.5. The reports make a number of recommendations, some of which can be addressed via 
planning policies and others which need to be addressed by the Council at a corporate level. 

6.1.6. In general, the Open Space Assessment found that there is sufficient provision to meet 
the needs of the Borough’s existing population but that some of the Borough’s facilities have 
quality issues, including a number of play sites for children. The Open Space Standards Paper 
makes a number of recommendations, including the need to protect all existing open space 
provision and to improve the quality of some of our sites. 

6.1.7. In general, the Indoor Sports Facilities Assessment found that: sports halls in the 
Borough are of variable quality; we do not currently have enough swimming pool or health and 
fitness station provision; these shortfalls will be exacerbated as population grows to 2028; and 
the Cygnet and Cascades Leisure Centres are ageing. The Strategy recommends the Council 
to: 

• protect the current stock of indoor sports facilities and introduce a hierarchy of use 
with defined roles and functions for different facility types which will be supported by 

Page 252



61

appropriate investment; 
• enhance the borough-wide approach to programming and management at all sites; 

and 
• provide a coherent range of good quality, accessible facilities reflecting the hierarchy 

and serving key current and future communities across Gravesham. 

6.1.8. In general, the Playing Pitch Assessment found that: we do not currently have enough 
grass football pitches, a situation which will be exacerbated by 2028; the quality of some of 
the Borough’s football pitches is poor; there are no full size 3G pitches so there is a significant 
need for their provision; and there is a slight shortage of rugby union pitches which will 
increase over time. The strategy recommends that the Council: 

 protect the existing supply of all types of outdoor playing pitches;
 improve the quality of pitches and ancillary facilities where needed;
 protect and encourage the reintroduction of lapsed sites to help meet future demand for 

football pitches;
 explore the potential use of pitches within education sites for rugby union; and work to 

increase the provision of 3G pitches. 

6.1.9. From a Local Plan perspective, planning policies can protect the supply of existing open 
spaces, indoor sports facilities and playing pitches, and support improvements to them. This 
includes negotiating for community access to school sports facilities when new schools are 
built or existing schools are redeveloped. Planning policies can also set out requirements for 
the provision of open spaces within new development. 

6.1.10. In terms of the requirements for the provision of open spaces within new development, 
the study indicates that our current and suggested provision is very low. If we were to apply it, 
we would need a development of 580 dwellings to achieve one reasonably sized children’s 
play area and a development of 189 dwellings to achieve a reasonably sized amenity 
greenspace. The Council wishes to improve opportunities for recreation, sport, walking and 
cycling (Strategic Objective 15 of the adopted Core Strategy) and the imposition of such low 
standards is not likely to go far towards achieving the objective. As a result, the Council is 
proposing to publish minimum standards required as part of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance. 

Proposed Text 

6.1.11.  National planning policy states that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings 
and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless an assessment has been 
undertaken which clearly shows that the open space, buildings or  land are surplus to 
requirements; the loss would be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity or 
quality in a suitable location; or he development is for alternative sports and recreational provision 
that clearly outweigh the loss. they are clearly shown to be surplus to requirements, the facilities 
are to be replaced or the development involves the provision of alternative sports and recreational 
facilities which outweigh the loss.

6.1.12. A new study of Gravesham’s Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities has been 
carried out. This assesses the current provision of open spaces, indoor sports facilities and 
playing pitches in the Borough. In general, it found that new open space is not required to 
meet the needs of the existing population and that the focus should be on improving the quality 
of existing parks, greenspaces and children’s play sites. For indoor sports, it found that there 
is insufficient swimming pool provision and health and fitness stations to meet the needs of the 
existing population, and that the quality of sports halls is variable. It noted that both Cygnet 
and Cascades Leisure Centres are ageing facilities. 

Page 253



62

6.1.13. In terms of playing pitches, the study found that there are currently insufficient grass 
football pitches, particularly for adult football, there is a need for four full size 3G pitches and 
there is a slight shortage of rugby union pitches. Furthermore, the quality of the artificial 
hockey pitch facility is likely to act as a barrier to growth in that sport. The deficiencies in the 
provision of indoor sports facilities and playing pitches will be exacerbated by the increase in 
the Borough’s population by 2028. 

6.1.14. The study also includes strategies, action plans and standards for future provision of 
open spaces and sports facilities to meet the needs of the existing and future population. It 
is clear that the Council needs to protect the supply of existing open spaces, indoor sports 
facilities and playing pitches, and support improvements to them. This includes former playing 
pitches which are not currently being used as they have the potential to be brought back into 
use. As there is a significant reliance on access to school sports facilities and playing pitches 
within the Borough, the Council will seek to maximise community access to such facilities 
when opportunities arise. 

Proposed Policy DM 20 Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities 
Retention 

6.1.15. Change of use or redevelopment of existing open spaces, indoor sports facilities or 
playing pitches and disused/lapsed school or college playing fields will only be allowed if the 
applicant demonstrates that: 

a. he loss will be mitigated by equivalent replacement provision (in terms of 
quality, quantity and accessibility); or 

b. the development is for alternative sports/recreational use for which there is a 
greater need; or 

c. the current use will be retained and enhanced through the provision of limited 
enabling development. 

6.1.16. In addition to the above, the redevelopment of private or public open space will not 
be permitted where there would be a significant individual or cumulative loss of open space 
or where there would be a negative impact on amenity, character and appearance, ecological 
connectivity or biodiversity of an area. 

6.1.17. Support will be given to proposals that improve, increase or provide greater access to 
open spaces, indoor sports facilities and playing pitches in the Borough. 

6.1.18. When new schools are built or existing schools are redeveloped, the Council will seek 
to maximise community access to the sports facilities provided on site. 

6.1.18 Where new schools are built or existing schools are redeveloped or improved and this 
results in the loss of areas of associated open space, the public benefits of new or improved school 
provision will be weighed against such loss.  The Council will also have  regard to any qualitative 
improvements in open space provision that is delivered as part of any such proposal and in addition 
will seek to maximise community access to the sports facilities provided.

Proposed Policy DM 21 Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities 
Provision 

6.1.19. New development will be required to provide adequate open space, sports and 
recreational facilities commensurate with the level of development proposed in order to meet 
the need of occupants. Where such facilities are proposed they should be: 

Page 254



63

a. Publicly accessible; 
b. Appropriately designed to be safe, usable and integrated into the development 

site; 
c. Include a sustainable long-term management plan; and 
d. Enhance biodiversity and integrate into the existing green infrastructure. 

6.1.20. In exceptional circumstances, where there are over-riding merits to the proposal and 
it is not possible to provide such facilities on site, a financial contribution shall be required to 
invest in off-site facilities. 

6.1.20 Where site constraints preclude it or there are overriding public benefits that would result 
from the proposed development, the Council will consider off-site provision or a financial 
contribution in lieu of off-site improvements in locations accessible to the development to be 
permitted.  In such circumstances, the application should be accompanied by an open space study 
and strategy to demonstrate that the needs generated by the development are being met and that a 
high standard of amenity for future occupants and users will ensue.

6.2. Local Green Spaces 

Background 

6.2.1. National planning policy allows local communities to identify Local Green Spaces 
for special protection where these are of particular importance to them and are capable of 
enduring beyond the plan period. Local Green Spaces can be designated through the local 
plan itself or through a neighbourhood plan. Once designated, new development on Local 
Green Spaces should be ruled out other than in ‘very special circumstances’. Local policy for 
managing Local Green Spaces should be consistent with policy for Green Belts. 

6.2.2. National planning policy includes the following basic criteria that should be met before a 
site is designated a Local Green Space: 

 The green space should be in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 
 The green space should be demonstrably special to that local community and hold a 

particular local significance because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational 
value, tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and 

 The green area should be local in character and not an extensive tract of land. 

6.2.3. Because Local Green Spaces can be designated either through a local or 
neighbourhood plan, it is important from a development management perspective that there is 
a policy mechanism in place to deal with planning applications that may affect them. 

6.2.4. The following policy is intended to be consistent with national policy for Green Belts 
by precluding changes of use resulting in the loss of public open space and only allowing 
built development and engineering operations consistent with an open space function as an 
exception. Any other form of development would be treated as ‘inappropriate’ development 
requiring the demonstration of ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm to the 
open recreational function of the open space and any other harm. 

6.2.5. The Council has not identified any Local Green Spaces within the Local Plan Core 
Strategy but intends to do so as part of the allocation of sites. The regulation 18 stage 
2 consultation on our Local Plan Site Allocations document in 2019 therefore will include 
questions relating to the criteria to be used in determining whether a site should be designated 
a Local Green Space and a call for possible candidate sites. 

Page 255



64

Proposed Text 

6.2.6. National planning policy allows local communities to identify Local Green Spaces 
for special protection where these are of particular importance to them and are capable 
of enduring beyond the plan period. This can be done through the local plan itself or 
subsequently through a neighbourhood plan. New development on Local Green Spaces 
should be ruled out other than in ‘very special circumstances’. Local policy for managing Local 
Green Spaces should be consistent with policy for Green Belts. 

6.2.7. The following policy is intended to be consistent with national policy for Green Belts 
by precluding changes of use resulting in the loss of public open space and only allowing 
built development and engineering operations consistent with an open space function as an 
exception. Any other form of development would be treated as ‘inappropriate’ development 
requiring the demonstration of ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm to the 
open recreational function of the open space and any other harm. 

Proposed Policy DM 22: Local Green Spaces 

6.2.8. Any development of a designated Local Green Space involving a change of use 
resulting in the loss of open space or built development shall be treated as ‘inappropriate 
development’ requiring the demonstration of ‘very special circumstances’ that clearly outweigh 
harm through inappropriateness and any other harm. 

6.2.9. An exception to this presumption against inappropriate development will be made in 
respect of:

a. The erection of buildings or other structures that comprise appropriate facilities 
for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds and 
allotments reasonably required in connection with the use of the land as a Local 
Green Space; or

b. The extension or alteration of an existing building on site provided it does not 
result in a disproportionate addition over and above the size of the original 
building; or

c. The replacement of an existing building on site, provided the new building is in 
the same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces; or

b d. Appropriate engineering operations reasonably required in connection with the 
use of the land as a Local Green Space

6.2.10 ‘Inappropriate development’ not otherwise justified as ‘Very Special 
Circumstances’ that clearly outweigh harm through inappropriateness or any other 
harm, will not be permitted.

6.3. Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

Background 

6.3.1. Local Plan Core Strategy policy CS12 on Green Infrastructure sets out the Council’s 
strategic approach in relation to biodiversity, landscape and the aspiration to create an 
integrated network of green infrastructure in the Borough. A number of other policies are 
also relevant when considering trees, hedgerows and woodland – including in relation to 
greenspace sport and recreation (CS13); climate change (CS18); development and design 
principles (CS19); and heritage and the historic environment (CS20). To ensure that the 
Council has a robust development management mechanism in this area, the following policy 
and supporting text is proposed. 

Page 256



65

Proposed Text 

6.3.2. The adopted Local Plan Core Strategy contains a number of policies that, by 
implication, support the retention of trees, hedgerows and woodland and their improvement 
as an important component of the borough’s natural and built environment. Not only are 
they capable of contributing positively toward biodiversity and landscape as part of a local 
network of green infrastructure, they also have a role to play in terms of the mitigation of 
climate change and the reduction of air pollution. They add to the visual amenity of places 
where people live and work; can provide a setting for and soften new development; and help to 
bring the countryside and wildlife into urban areas. They are an essential part of sustainable 
development. 

6.3.3. Where the Council considers individual trees, groups of trees or woodland to have a 
significant amenity value, it will impose Tree Preservation Orders to protect them from being 
cut down or otherwise damaged by inappropriate works or wilful damage. Works to such trees 
is prohibited by law without the written consent of the Council. Similarly, work to trees above a 
certain size within a Conservation Area requires consent. People intending to undertake works 
to such trees are advised to discuss those works in advance with the Council.20 

6.3.4. Some hedgerows are also protected under the Hedgerow Regulations 1997.21 Works to 
these hedgerows also require consent from the Council. In making a judgement as to whether 
the Regulations apply, the Council will have regard to the length, location and importance of 
the hedge. Once again, people intending to undertake works to a hedgerow that may be 
protected are advised to discuss those works with the Council. 

6.3.5. The borough also contains a number of Ancient Woodlands that are of particular value 
because of their biodiversity interest, the habitat they offer to wildlife, and as historic features in 
the landscape. 

6.3.6. Ancient woodland is defined as an area that has been wooded continuously since at 
least 1600 AD. National planning policy states that planning permission should be refused for 
development that would result in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats, such as 
ancient woodland and the loss of aged or veteran trees found outside ancient woodland, 
unless the need for and benefits of the development in that location clearly outweigh the loss. 
An aged or veteran tree is one which, because of its great age, size or condition is of 
exceptional value for wildlife, in the landscape, or culturally. 

6.3.7. Areas of ancient woodland and aged or veteran trees may already be protected under 
Tree Preservation Orders. Woodlands of particular value may also be covered by nature 
conservation designations that require forms of consent that are not within the remit of the 
planning system. Natural England and the Forestry Commission has produced standing advice 
on ancient woodlands.22 

6.3.8. New development often provides opportunities for planting new trees, woodland and 
hedgerows as part of a scheme. Not only can this improve a scheme visually and assist in 

20 For guidance on Tree Preservation Orders and Trees in Conservation Areas see 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas 

21 For Hedgerow Regulations 1997 see http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/1160/contents/made 
Guidance is also available at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/countryside-hedgerows-regulation-
and-management 
22 See https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ancient-woodland-and-veteran-trees-protection-surveys-
licences 

Page 257



66

securing wider environmental benefits, it can add value. In the interests of biodiversity, locally 
sourced natural species will be preferred in any proposed planting scheme. Conversely, poorly 
designed and executed schemes can damage existing trees and other features on site and 
potential adverse impacts need to be managed. The following policy sets out how the Council 
will approach proposals in this respect. 

Proposed Policy DM 23: Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

6.3.9. Development should be designed to retain trees, hedgerows and woodland that 
contribute positively to the amenity of the site and surrounding area and which are important in 
terms of landscape, townscape, biodiversity or heritage. Consideration should be given to the 
incorporation of trees and hedgerows within new development in the interests of sustainability, 
to integrate with and improve the quality of the local environment and to assist in place making. 
The use of locally sourced natural species in planting schemes will be expected unless 
otherwise justified as an exception. 

6.3.10. Proposals which threaten the future retention of trees, hedgerows and woodland or 
other landscape features of importance to a site’s character, the amenity of the surrounding 
area or to wildlife will not be permitted unless the need for, and benefits of, the development in 
that location clearly outweigh the loss and adequate mitigation and compensation measures 
can be secured. 

6.3.11. In evaluating proposals, greatest weight will be accorded the retention and protection from 
harm of areas of ancient woodland and aged and veteran trees, the loss of which will only be 
allowed in exceptional circumstances where the public benefit would clearly outweigh the loss or 
deterioration of habitat and a suitable compensation strategy exists.

6.3.12. Development proposals that have the potential to result in the loss of or harm to trees, 
hedgerows or woodland should be supported by a tree survey, and arboricultural report and 
ecological report prepared by a suitably qualified professional setting out:

a. The location, species, size, health and characteristics of any affected trees, 
hedgerows or woodland including root spread on or adjoining the site likely to 
be affected by the development;

b. The extent of proposed works and development relative to the features 
identified together with a plan and schedule of any trees, hedgerow or areas of 
woodland including root spread that would need to be removed or otherwise 
modified to accommodate the development;

c. A plan and schedule of those trees, hedgerows or areas of woodland to be 
retained;

d. The measures to be taken during the course of construction to avoid damage to 
those trees, hedgerows or areas of woodland to be retained;

e. The ecological value of the assets to be lost and measures to be taken to avoid 
any unacceptable adverse impact on any nature conservation interest as a 
result of works to trees, hedgerows or areas of woodland; and

f. Outline proposals for how any loss or damage to trees, hedgerows or areas of 
woodland will be mitigated to secure environmental net gain.

Where the loss of trees, hedgerows or woodland have a potential landscape impact, the proposal 
should also be supported by a landscape report prepared by a suitably qualified person detailing 
those impacts and proposed means of mitigation.

6.3.13. Where planning permission is granted for proposals that results in the loss or damage to 
trees, hedgerows or areas of woodland, conditions will be imposed requiring the submission of a 

Page 258



67

final landscaping scheme for the prior written approval of the Council and details of how that 
landscaping will be maintained in the long-term and managed until such time as it becomes 
established, including provision for the replacement of planting that dies or becomes diseased 
before it becomes established.

Page 259



68

7. Residential 

7.1. Self/Custom-Build Housing 
(Consider deleting policy DM25 and including an evidence based provision within the Core 
Strategy as part of the partial review.)

Background 

7.1.1. Self/Custom-built dwellings involve individuals or groups of individuals who directly 
organise the design and construction of their new homes. Since 1 April 2016, there has 
been a requirement for the Council to keep a register of individuals and associations who are 
looking to acquire serviced plots of land in order to build a house for them or their members to 
occupy as their main residence. The Council is developing a scheme so that the register will 
take account of a number of factors including the need for a local connection and the need for 
applicants to have sufficient financial resources to purchase and carry out a self-build. 

7.1.2. To date, opportunities for self-build and custom-build dwellings in Gravesham have 
been focused on small infill development in the urban area and rural settlements inset from the 
Green Belt. We will continue to support this type of development. However, we also consider 
that there are opportunities to provide self-build plots on some of our larger development sites. 
The proposed text and policy are set out below. 

Proposed Text 

7.1.3. Since early 2016, the Council has maintained a register of people who are interested 
in building their own home in the area. The evidence from this suggests that there is currently 
limited interest from people with known links to the Borough. However, it is expected that 
awareness and interest in self-build housing will increase. 

7.1.4. Self/Custom-build housing in the Borough to date has been limited to infill development 
on small sites within the urban area and rural settlements inset from the Green Belt. The 
Council will continue to support this type of development. However, it is considered that larger 
development sites may also have potential to provide plots for those who wish to build their 
own homes. This can only take place where sites are expected to provide houses rather 
than flats. Therefore, the Council considers that major development sites which include the 
provision of residential dwellings should accommodate such form of development. 

Proposed Policy DM 24 Self/Custom-Build Housing 

7.1.5. To support prospective self/custom builders, the Council will seek major development 
proposals, including residential development, to supply at least 5%ii of residential plots for sale 
to self/custom builders unless otherwise justified as an exception by robust evidence. 

7.1.6. Where plots are made available for sale they must be marketed for sale for at least 12 
months, after which they must be offered to the Council or a Housing Association for purchase, 
before reverting to the Developer and being built out and sold on the open market. 

7.1.7. Where a plot is purchased by a self/custom builder, the Council or a Housing 
Association, the development of the plot must be completed within 3 years of the plot being 
purchased, before reverting to the Developer and being built out and sold on the open market. 

iFor the purposes of applying this policy, ‘major development proposals’ refers to the number 
of dwellings to be provided as being 10 or more, and 

Page 260



69

iion sites of 10-19 dwellings a single residential plots for sale to self/custom builders should be 
provided. 

7.2. Residential Space Standards 

Background 

7.2.1. In March 2015, the Government introduced Nationally Described Space Standards for 
provision of internal space in new dwellings. These are generally calculated on the minimum 
gross internal area of the whole proposed dwelling based on the level of occupancy, bedroom 
size and number of storeys. There was a period of transition and from October 2015 the 
Council has had to interpret our Local Plan and Supplementary Planning Guidance policies 
according to the nearest equivalent national standard. Our standards are set out in our 
Residential Layout Guidelines 1996. 

7.2.2. We have the option to implement the full national space standards through policies in 
our Local Plan but can only do so where we have the evidence to justify them, taking account 
of need, viability and timing. 

7.2.3. In order to find out whether there is a need to impose the national space standards, 
we recently carried out surveys of all households located within all new build developments 
of 10 dwellings or more completed in our Borough from March 2010 to 2015 to get residents’ 
views on a number of matters. This included questions on whether the bedrooms and property 
overall are big enough to meet the household’s needs and whether there is enough storage 
space inside the property. 20% of households responded to the survey. The results indicated 
that: 

 Over 80% of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed that their bedrooms are big 
enough to meet their household’s needs 

 A similar amount of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed that their property is 
big enough to meet their household’s needs 

 Nearly half (46%) of respondents either disagreed or strongly disagreed that they had 
enough storage space inside their properties. 

7.2.4. The survey results show that the previously imposed housing space standards have 
led to bedroom and overall dwelling sizes that the occupiers are generally satisfied with. There 
were no standards imposed in relation to the amount of storage space and it is notable that a 
significant proportion of respondents to the survey were dissatisfied with the amount of storage 
space inside their homes. On the basis of the survey results, it is considered that there is 
sufficient justification for the Council to adopt the national standards. Furthermore, the Viability 
Testing Report has taken the national space standards into account in assessing the viability 
of development. The proposed text and policy are set out below. 

Proposed Text 

7.2.5. Core Strategy Policy CS19 requires new development to be visually attractive, fit for 
purpose and locally distinctive. One of the ways that it sets out to achieve this is by requiring 
the design and layout of new residential development to accord with the Council’s Residential 
Layout Guidelines. Amongst other things, these guidelines set out minimum sizes for each 
room within new dwellings. In October 2015, the government introduced Nationally Described 
Space Standards which set out minimum internal areas for the whole space within new 
dwellings based on the level of occupancy, bedroom size and number of storeys. These 
supersede the Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines in relation to internal space within 
dwellings. Should the Council wish to apply the national space standards, it is required to 

Page 261



70

provide justification and include reference to the standards in its Local Plan. 

7.2.5 National planning policy sets out that Local Plan policies and decisions should create places 
that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 
standard of amenity for existing users.  This is integral to policy CS19 on Development and 
Design Principles, which also includes a requirement that proposals comply with the Council’s 
adopted Residential Space Guidelines. 

7.2.6. The Council wants all development in the Borough to be of a high quality, with the 
Ebbsfleet Garden City leading the way. A survey of occupiers of new developments built in the 
past 5 years has been carried out. The results indicate the importance of using standards to 
achieve a sufficient amount of space within new dwellings. The viability evidence assumes that 
new dwellings will meet the national space standards. 

7.2.6 Ensuring that all dwellings created in Gravesham are fit for purpose involves a consideration 
of whether internal spaces are adequate to support everyday life; that they are accessible, so as to 
meet the needs of a changing population that is ageing and more susceptible to disability and 
illness; and that they are served by sufficient private amenity space to facilitate outdoor activities 
given the characteristics of potential occupants.

7.2.7. In order to ensure that the occupiers of new dwellings have a good standard of internal 
space within new dwellings, the Council will apply the Government’s Nationally Described 
Space Standard national space standards to all proposals for new residential development 
unless otherwise justified as an exception.  

The Council is aware that not all forms of dwelling (such as studio flats with no bedroom) fall 
within the typology set out within these standards but under Government policy is precluded 
form adopting an alternative.   In these instances, it will be for the applicant to demonstrate that 
a high standard of amenity for residents can still be achieved.

7.2.8. The Council continues to apply minimum garden and amenity space standards from 
the Residential Layout Guidelines to all new proposals for residential development. We are 
proposing to include these in Proposed Policy DM 26. 

7.2.8 The Council will apply its minimum garden and amenity space standard guidelines as set 
out in policy DM26 in considering the adequacy of provision.  Each case will be determined on 
its own merits, having regard to context and design considerations but with the overriding 
objective being to ensure that acceptable living conditions for occupiers results.

Proposed Policy DM 25 Residential Space Standards 

7.2.9. Proposals The space standards in Table 3 will apply to all new housing development in 
the Borough. Table 3: Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage (m2) 

7.2.9 The Government’s Nationally Described Space Standards will apply to all new housing 
development in Gravesham, unless otherwise justified as an exception.  Where these 
standards do not apply, it will be for the applicant to demonstrate on the basis of evidence that 
a high standard of amenity for residents can still be achieved.

Page 262



71

Table 3:  Nationally Described Space Standards – Minimum gross internal floor area and storage 
(m2).

*Notes: 

a. Where a 1b1p dwelling has a shower room instead of a bathroom, the floor area 
may be reduced from 39m2 to 37m2. 

b. In order to provide 1 bedspace, a single bedroom needs to have a floor area of 
at least 7.5m2 and be at least 2.15m wide. 

c. In order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin) bedroom needs to have a 
floor area of at least 11.5 m2. 

d. One double (or twin) bedroom needs to be at least 2.75m wide and every other 
double (or twin) bedroom needs to be at least 2.55m wide. 

7.2.10. New residential accommodation and existing residential accommodation when extended, 
will be required to have the minimum areas and depths for gardens and private amenity space as 
shown in Table 4. In certain cases, greater depths and/or areas may be required:

7.2.10 New residential accommodation and existing residential accommodation should be 
served by adequate external private amenity space to meet the day-to-day needs of existing or 
potential occupiers.  In assessing the adequacy of provision, the Council will have regard to its 
minimum garden and amenity space standard guidelines set out in table below, having regard 
to context and design.  In certain cases, the Council will expect the provision of private amenity 
space to be more generous: 

a. where gardens or amenity space incorporate steep gradients, protected tress 
and/or vehicle parking; and/or

b. to respect the scale, mass and bulk of the property and/or the character of the 
area including the spaces between properties.

Number of 
Bedrooms

Number of 
bed spaces 
(persons)

1 storey 
dwellings 

m2

2 storey 
dwellings 

m2

3 storey 
dwellings 

m2

Built-in 
storage 

m2
1p 39 (37)* - - 1.01b
2p 50 58 - 1.5
3p 61 70 -2b
4p 70 79 -

2.0

4p 74 84 90
5p 86 93 99

3b

6p 95 102 108

2.5

5p 90 97 103
6p 99 106 112
7p 108 115 121

4b

8p 117 124 130

3.0

6p 103 110 116
7p 112 119 125

5b

8p 121 128 134

3.5

7p 116 123 1296b
8p 125 132 138

4.0

Page 263



72

Table 4 Minimum garden area and private amenity space standards guidelines. 

Accommodation Size / 
Type

Minimum 
Garden Area

(m2)

Minimum depth 
from rear wall 
of house (m)

Private / Communal 
Amenity Space (m2 per 

unit)
House 1-2 bedrooms 37.2 7.6 -
House 3 bedrooms 60.00 10.0 -
House 4 or more bed-

rooms
100.00 10.0 -

Flats - - 10
Sheltered or
retirement homes

- - 25

7.3. Residential Annexes 

Proposed Text 

7.3.1. To make effective use of land, the NPPF encourages the re-use of previously developed 
land. Previously developed land includes structures and curtilages of buildings but within built 
up areas land such as private residential gardens is excluded. 

7.3.2. It requires local planning authorities to consider the case for setting out policies to resist 
inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example, where development would 
cause harm to the local area. 

7.3.3. No such policy has been set by Gravesham Council but instead, the Council relies on 
policy CS19 of the Core Strategy, which applies design principles to all forms of development. 
This requires development to conserve and enhance local character, integrate well with the 
surrounding area and safeguard the amenity of its occupants and those of neighbouring 
properties and land. 

7.3.4. Residential annexes are usually proposed to accommodate elderly or sick relatives in 
the curtilage of the main dwelling while giving them a degree of independence. The annex will 
be ancillary to the main building. 

7.3.5. Generally, if annexes can meet the design requirements of policy CS19, they will 
be treated in the same way as other proposed development on a given site and no specific 
conditions would be required to prevent the subsequent creation of a separate planning unit. 

7.3.6. The Council recognises that there are special circumstances where an exception may 
be made where the needs of a family should take priority and an annexe permitted eventhough 
it does not fulfil the requirements of CS19. 

7.3.7. In order to ensure that this does not become a means of creating a separate residential 
unit in a location where such a development would otherwise be refused, the policy includes a 
number of criteria which will need to be met before permission can be granted. 

Proposed Policy DM 26: Residential Annexes 

7.3.8. The Council acknowledges that in some instances annexes for family members i.e. 
parents or children may meet the accommodation requirements of these individuals in a 
setting that allows for their social or health needs to be met. However, residential annexes are 

Page 264



73

considered to be an exception rather than the norm and will only be permitted where: 
a. there is a functional link with the principal dwelling (i.e. the occupants should be 

a dependant relative/s); 
b. both the annexe and principal dwelling are in the same ownership and remain 

so in perpetuity; 
c. the accommodation forms an extension to the main dwelling and is capable 

of being used as an integral part of the dwelling; or forms a separate outbuilding 
which is in close proximity to and within the curtilage of the principal dwelling, 
and shares some essential facilities with the main dwelling; and 

d. the scale of the annexe is subordinate to the existing dwelling and is the 
minimum level of accommodation required to support the needs of the intended 
occupant/s; and 

e. there is adequate parking and amenity facilities (areas for bin storage, drying 
clothes, garden space etc.) for the needs of the annex occupants and existing 
residents; and 

f. there is no boundary demarcation or sub division of garden areas between the 
curtilage annexe and principal dwelling; 

7.3.9. Where planning permission is granted for a residential annexe, a planning obligation 
will be imposed to ensure that the annexe retains a functional link with the main dwelling (i.e. 
the occupants should be a dependant relative(s) and that the annexe is retained in the same 
ownership as the main dwelling and that this remains the case in perpetuity. 

7.3.10. The Council will maintain a presumption against the development of self-contained 
residential units within the curtilage of existing dwellings, where the proposal would be in 
conflict with the other policies in the Local Plan. 

7.4. Domestic extensions, outbuildings and other development 

Proposed Text 

7.4.1. A significant proportion of planning applications dealt with by the Council each year 
take the form of householder development involving domestic extensions, outbuildings or other 
forms of development. Whilst these are often of a relatively small scale, they have the potential 
to raise issues of appropriateness of design and impact on occupiers of adjoining properties. 

7.4.2. Poorly designed and located domestic development has the potential to detract from the 
architectural integrity of the existing dwelling, local distinctiveness and sense of place. It can 
also be overbearing when viewed from a neighbour’s perspective and adversely impact on 
their amenity through loss of light or overshadowing. Overlooking into windows of habitable 
rooms or private garden areas can also be a problem. 

7.4.3. Depending on their scale and location, many forms of domestic outbuilding benefit from 
permitted development rights and do not require a specific grant of planning permission. 

7.4.4. However, domestic outbuildings that are out of scale or proportion with the dwelling on 
the site or take up too much of the area around it can have an adverse impact on the character 
of an area. Such outbuildings too have the potential to impact adversely on the amenity of 
neighbours and future occupiers. Additional problems arise where domestic outbuildings 
or extensions are of such a scale or form as to be capable of future independent residential 
occupation. 

7.4.5. To ensure a good standard of amenity for existing and future occupants is achieved, 
local plan policy relating to residential and garden space standards will be applied. Similarly, 
the level of parking provision available to serve the extended dwelling should reflect its 

Page 265



74

increased size unless otherwise justified. 

7.4.6. The policy that follows sets out the approach that the Council will take in considering 
such applications. 

Proposed Policy DM 27: Domestic Extensions, Outbuildings and Other 
Development 

7.4.7. All domestic extensions, additions and alterations should be well designed and located 
and respect the scale, form, proportions, character and appearance of the main dwelling and 
its locality. Particular attention should be paid to: 

a. The roof form and roof line; 
b. Window detail; 

 c. Architectural features; 
 d. Boundary treatments; and
 e. Materials. 

7.4.8. Any such development should not have an unacceptable adverse impact on occupiers 
of neighbouring properties due to loss of sunlight and daylight or overlooking. Where the 
potential for an unacceptable adverse impact due to loss of sunlight or daylight exists, an 
application should be accompanied by a formal assessment undertaken in accordance with 
Proposed Policy DM36. 

7.4.9. Proposals for domestic outbuildings should be reasonably necessary, subservient to the 
main dwelling and of an appropriate size to accommodate uses incidental to the enjoyment of 
the main dwelling. In addition, they should be well designed, discretely located and be of an 
appropriate scale relative to the dwelling. 

7.4.10. Local plan policy in relation to residential space standards (including minimum garden 
size necessary to serve the resulting dwelling size) will be applied to all proposals for domestic 
extensions and rooms within domestic outbuildings intended to be used as habitable space 
ancillary to the main dwelling. 

7.4.11. Local plan policy in relation to car parking standards will apply unless otherwise 
justified due to the location of the site relative to alternative transport modes and accessibility 
to services and facilities. The location and design of any required car parking should not result 
in unacceptable adverse impacts on occupiers of neighbouring properties, townscape or street 
scene. 

7.4.12. Domestic outbuildings containing residential accommodation or extensions that are of a 
scale or form sufficient to allow future residential occupation independent of the main dwelling, 
will be subject to control by condition or legal agreement to ensure that the planning unit is not 
subsequently subdivided without an express grant of planning permission. 

7.4.13. Proposals for domestic extensions, outbuildings or other forms of development which 
harm the character and appearance of the main dwelling or its locality or have an adverse 
impact on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties or otherwise are not policy 
compliant will not be permitted. 

Page 266



75

7.5. Residential Intensification through Sub-Division and Conversion 

Background 

7.5.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policy H5 sets out the criteria to be applied for the 
conversion of buildings to flats, maisonettes, bedsitters, hostels, homes and other forms of 
multiple occupancy. Partial saved policy H6 (iii) relates to proposals for residential hostels and 
homes. For such proposals, the Council will ensure that they are not clustered together and 
that they do not harm the character of the area. We are proposing to replace these policies 
with a single policy on residential intensification. The proposed text and policy are set out 
below. 

Proposed Text 

7.5.2. The Council recognises the importance of planning for a mix of housing based on 
current and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of different groups in the 
community and therefore it supports the provision of a mix of dwelling types and sizes. There 
is a need to provide housing to accommodate Gravesham’s ageing population and those who 
have special needs. It is also important to take account of the predicted increase in oneperson 
households over the plan period whilst ensuring that there are sufficient dwellings to 
accommodate families and other households. These changing housing requirements can 
create pressure for more intensive types of residential accommodation within existing and new 
residential areas. This includes the provision of flats, bedsits, annexes, sheltered housing and 
houses in multiple occupation.23 It also includes residential institutions such as residential 
care homes and nursing homes. This type of accommodation can be provided by converting 
existing buildings or by new build development. 

7.5.3. It is important that more intensive residential development provides a good living 
environment for its future occupants and does not adversely affect the amenity of existing 
residents in the area. Noise from the street and adjoining properties can cause issues for the 
occupiers of dwellings. For this reason, the layout of adjacent dwellings and the location of 
circulation and communal indoor and outdoor spaces should seek to limit the transmission 
of noise to sound sensitive rooms (bedrooms and living rooms) within dwellings. It is also 
essential that sufficient space is provided within the dwellings to meet modern living standards 
and that sufficient private, useable amenity space and adequate refuse storage facilities are 
provided for the residents of new developments. Core Strategy Policy CS19 and associated 
supplementary guidance will apply. 

7.5.4. More intensive residential development has the potential to create additional traffic 
and demands for parking due to increased numbers of residents and visitors and, in the case 
of nursing and care homes, provision for staff. It is important that this does not give rise to 
increased pressure for on-street parking and that suitable facilities are provided to encourage 
sustainable methods of travel. Therefore, the Council will expect proposals to provide 
adequate cycle storage facilities and to meet adopted parking standards. Core Strategy Policy 
CS11 and the adopted parking standards will apply. 

7.5.5. The Council recognises that certain areas are more suitable for intensive residential 
uses and Core Strategy Policy CS15 (Housing Density) encourages the provision of higher 
density housing development close to the transport hubs of Gravesend Town Centre and 
Ebbsfleet. However, it also understands the need to create balanced and sustainable 
communities. Core Strategy Policy CS14 (Housing Type and Size) seeks to protect the mix 

23 In planning terms, houses in multiple occupation are houses or flats which are occupied by 
unrelated individuals who share certain facilities. 

Page 267



76

of housing in the existing stock and expects new housing development to provide a range of 
dwelling types and sizes, taking into account the existing character of the area and evidence of 
local need. 

7.5.6. The concentration of more intensive forms of residential development in existing 
residential areas can alter the character of the area, exacerbate impacts on existing residents, 
for example, as a result of increased noise, traffic generation and overlooking, and lead to 
communities which lack a mix of housing. For these reasons, the Council will seek to control 
the concentration of such uses to ensure that the intensification of use in residential areas 
does not change the character of the area nor adversely affect the amenity of existing 
residents. 

7.5.7. In Gravesham, many of the larger properties potentially suitable for conversion are in 
Gravesend’s 19th century suburban conservation areas, e.g. Darnley Road, Pelham Road, 
The Avenue and Windmill Street. Some of these are also listed buildings. It is essential that 
any proposals for more intensive residential development in these areas, including any 
additional off-street parking provision, accesses or changes to landscaping, preserve the 
Borough’s heritage assets. Applications for development potentially affecting these assets will 
also be considered against Local Plan policies on heritage and the relevant Conservation Area 
Appraisal. 

7.5.8. Whilst residential intensification through sub-division or conversion is supported to meet 
the diverse needs of the community for housing in appropriate circumstances, the Council 
is also mindful that there is a need to protect its stock of family sized housing. What is now 
capable of constituting a family in modern society can mean many things but for the purposes 
of policy it is necessary to define what we mean by ‘family sized housing’. 

7.5.9. In terms of size, of the 42,100 dwellings in Gravesham at March 2017, 5,440 (13%) 
were one bed properties; 10,100 (24%) were two bed properties; 21,490 (51%) were three bed 
properties; and 5,050 (12%) were four + bed properties.24

7.5.10. However, whilst the proportion of four + bed properties in the local housing stock may 
be relatively small, it is important to remember that even a house with four bedrooms is quite 
capable of being occupied as a single family dwelling. In addition, there is a significant Asian 
community in Gravesham with properties often occupied by multi-generational extended 
families. Given we now also have an ageing population, there is potential for this practice to 
increase amongst other groups as families look after parents as they get older. 

7.5.11. It is prudent therefore to be generous in our definition of what constitutes ‘family 
sized housing’ and, for the sake of consistency, to link this to the Nationally Described Space 
Standards. The policy that follows therefore defines ‘family sized housing’ as a dwelling with 
4 bedrooms or less or with a gross internal floor area of up to 118 square metres, whichever 
is the greater.25

These would require evidence of unsuccessful marketing in accordance with 
policy before sub-division or conversion into flats or bedsits etc. could be considered. 

24 Figures derived from Valuation Office Agency and DCLG, published by Kent County Council – see 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/7352/Housing-stock-by-size,-type-and-tenure.pdf 
25 A gross internal floor area of 118 square metres is the average for dwellings with 5 bedrooms, 
compared to 110 square metres for dwellings with 4 bedrooms. This would afford a degree of protection 
to part of the local stock of larger than 4 bedroom dwellings to accommodate the needs of larger or 
extended families. 

Page 268



77

Proposed Policy DM 28 Residential Intensification through Sub-Division 
and Conversion 

7.5.12. Proposals for flats, maisonettes, bedsits, hostels, houses in multiple occupation or 
residential institutions will only be allowed where they: 

a. will not result in the loss of family sized dwellings, development proposals which 
include the loss of a family sized dwelling will only be permitted where evidence is 
provided of the property being proactively marketed for a minimum period of 12 
months, using a professional agent and an appropriate range of online, on site and 
other advertising media. The asking price should, throughout the 12 month period, be 
shown to be reasonable for the property and location, and reflect the open market 
value of the property; 

b. achieve good quality living conditions for future residents, including providing a suitable 
internal layout, sufficient floorspace and adequate useable amenity space; 

c. will not adversely affect the amenity of existing or neighbouring residents; demonstrate 
that a satisfactory standard of servicing and parking can be provided, including making 
adequate provision for bin storage, cycle storage and drying areas; and 

d. will not result in the clustering together of similar uses which harm the overall character 
and amenity of the area. 

7.5.13. For the purposes of this policy, a family sized dwelling is defined as one with up to 
4 bedrooms or a maximum gross internal floor area of 118 square metres, whichever is the 
greater.26

7.6. Residential Intensification through New Build 

Background 

7.6.1. Policy CS19 on Development and Design Principles sets out the Council’s strategic 
approach in this area. Whilst Proposed Policy DM 29 deals with residential intensification 
through conversion and sub-division of existing buildings, new build in existing residential 
areas can raise a number of different issues relating to design and impact on amenity. The 
following policy provides the basis upon which such schemes will be assessed. 

Proposed Text 

7.6.2. A key objective of national planning policy is to significantly boost the supply of housing. 
Whilst the Council supports this aim, it is important that local distinctiveness is at the heart 
of the design process. Equally important is the objective that planning should secure high 
quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings. 

7.6.3. Because of the constraints to development that apply in Gravesham, the availability of 
suitable sites to accommodate housing is at a premium. An inevitable result of this is that there 
is pressure to consider residential intensification in the urban area and in the rural settlements 
inset from the Green Belt. 

7.6.4. Residential intensification can take many forms, including building new houses, flats 
or the sub-division or conversion of existing buildings to increase density. This policy deals 

26 Properties with more than 4 bedrooms but with a floor area of 118 square metres or less would also 
fall within the definition of a family sized dwelling, as would those with up to 4 bedrooms and a floor area 
greater than 118 square metres. 

Page 269



78

specifically with the issue of new build in existing residential areas. Proposed Policy DM 29 
deals with the issue of sub-division and conversion. 

7.6.5. Whilst residential intensification may bring benefits by making better use of land and 
concentrating development where it can be supported by public transport as an alternative to 
the private car, poorly planned schemes can be extremely harmful to the areas within which 
they are located and the amenity of occupants of neighbouring properties. 

7.6.6. Examples of this include where existing large properties set in generous gardens are 
demolished to make way for denser development or where an individual planning unit is 
subdivided to accommodate a new house in the side or back garden. 

7.6.7. Back-land developments can create their own problems in terms of changing the 
existing grain of an area, overlooking or disturbance to the rear of residential properties, 
and access arrangements that are compromised by land ownership or patterns of existing 
development. 

7.6.8. Some areas are also more sensitive than others to the introduction of new dwellings 
through intensification – including those where heritage considerations apply, such as 
Conservation Areas and sites lying within the setting of Listed Buildings. A thorough 
understanding of the context of proposals is therefore important. 

7.6.9. An additional potential impact is that areas may be made less ‘green’ through the loss 
of garden land, trees and landscaping – features that are often valued by the people who live 
in an area and contribute significantly toward sense of place. The loss of such features may 
also have implications in terms of an area’s ability to contribute toward the mitigation of climate 
change in terms of drainage, summer cooling and air quality. 

7.6.10. Whilst the Council is not opposed in principle to residential intensification, it is important 
that it is appropriately managed through the planning system. The following policy criteria will 
therefore be used to evaluate such proposals in addition to policy CS19 on Development and 
Design Principles. 

Proposed Policy DM 29: Residential Intensification through New Build 

7.6.11. In addition to the criteria set out in policy CS19 on Development and Design Principles, 
proposals seeking to increase the density of an existing residential area by new development 
involving the demolition of existing larger properties, or within the gardens of existing 
residential properties, or by way of back-land development should:

a. Be in a sustainable location with good access to public transport, local shops 
and services, and public open space; Have good access to a range of services, 
not be overly dependent on the use of the private car and where appropriate 
opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be taken up, given 
the type and scale of development and its location; 

b. Be responsive and appropriate to context in terms of townscape, layout, design, 
scale, form, massing and use of materials, whilst serving to reinforce local 
distinctiveness;

c. Not result in the an unacceptable loss of garden areas, landscaping, planting or 
specimen trees that contribute positively toward the character of the area;

d. Not have an unacceptable detrimental impact on occupiers of neighbouring 
properties through intrusiveness, overlooking, loss of daylight or sunlight, light 
pollution, noise and disturbance;

Page 270



79

e. Not result in existing affected properties failing to meet the Council’s adopted 
parking, residential and garden space policies standards or providing a good 
standard of amenity for existing or future occupants;

f. Provide safe pedestrian and vehicular access, including for emergency vehicles 
and servicing purposes e.g. refuse vehicles as appropriate to the scheme.

7.6.12. In the case of frontage development, the Council will have regard to the need to 
maintain building lines, where they represent an important element of townscape. Proposals 
that appear cramped in relation to adjoining properties or create a terracing effect and are 
detrimental to the character of the area will not be supported. In the case of back-land 
development, the built form should be subservient to and not compete with that on the street 
frontage. 

7.6.13. Proposals failing to meet the requirements of this policy will not be considered to be of 
a high-quality design and will be refused planning permission. 

7.7. Incorporation of Additional Land into Residential Gardens 

Background 

7.7.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policy C18 relates to the incorporation of additional 
land into residential gardens. This policy resists the incorporation of productive or potentially 
productive farmland and woodlands in the countryside into residential gardens. 

7.7.2. We consider that there are wider issues in relation to the change of use of land into 
residential gardens and that this affects both the urban and the rural areas of the Borough. For 
this reason, we consider that an updated policy is required. The proposed text and policy are 
set out below. 

Proposed Text 

7.7.3. From time to time, the Council receives planning applications from householders who 
wish to extend their gardens or residential curtilage into surrounding open areas or fields. 
This is a change of use of the land and requires planning permission. The residential use of 
amenity or rural land can lead to the erection of fences, garden sheds and other domestic 
paraphernalia. The Council wishes to ensure that such proposals do not: have an adverse 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt; harm townscape or landscape character; cause the 
loss of biodiversity; or result in the loss of the best quality farmland. 

7.7.4. In the urban area and settlements inset from the Green Belt, the extension of private 
gardens involving the enclosure of amenity land/ open space/ landscaped areas around 
housing development have the potential to detrimentally affect the appearance of the area. 
The Council will give consideration to whether the proposals to enclose such land would be 
harmful to the character, appearance, design and layout of the area, or result in the loss of 
open space. 

7.7.5. National planning policy makes it clear that changes of use are inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. The change of use of land in the Green Belt to create garden 
land would be contrary to its purposes as it results in urban sprawl, encroachment into the 
countryside and a reduction in openness. For this reason, the Council will apply national 
planning policy and only allow such proposals if very special circumstances are demonstrated 
to exist. In such cases, the Council is likely to remove permitted development rights to erect 
fences, domestic buildings and structures on the land. 

Page 271



80

7.7.5 National planning policy on the Green Belt allows for material changes in the use of land 
that preserve openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in it as an exception 
and not inappropriate development. The Council will apply national policy when considering such 
proposals and only grant planning permission where such principles are not met if very special 
circumstances are demonstrated to exist.   Where planning permission is granted, permitted 
development rights may be removed to ensure openness is preserved long-term and the Green 
Belt not compromised.

7.7.6. Whilst Green Belt policy is likely to be the overriding consideration, Proposals to change the 
use of land to gardens in the Green Belt are also likely to have an impact on landscape character 
and it is possible that they can affect sites designated for their biodiversity interest or other 
important wildlife habitats. Adopted policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) sets out the need for all 
proposals to conserve, restore and enhance landscape character and this will be taken into 
account in considering such proposals. It also protects sites and areas which are important for 
wildlife and requires there to be no net loss of biodiversity in the Borough.

7.7.7. In the rural area, the Council generally seeks to protect agricultural land by giving 
priority to development in the urban area and in settlements inset from the Green Belt. It is 
possible that the creation of gardens on existing agricultural land could lead to the loss of 
the best and most versatile agricultural land. In circumstances where proposals would affect 
farmland, the Council will apply Proposed Policy DM 9. 

Proposed Policy DM 30 Incorporation of Additional Land into Residential 
Gardens 

7.7.8. Within the urban area and rural settlements inset from the Green Belt, proposals for 
the change of use of land to residential gardens will only be allowed if they comply with the 
following criteria: 

a. it will not result in an adverse effect on the character and appearance of the 
surrounding area and landscape; 

b. it includes the provision of appropriate landscaping and boundary treatment. 
c. it will not involve the loss of any amenity land/ open space/ landscaped areas 

around housing developments which positively contributes to the area; 
d. it will not result in the loss of land used for car parking. 

7.7.9. Within the Green Belt, proposals for changes of use of land to gardens will be 
considered against national planning policies on the Green Belt and local policies on 
landscape 
character, biodiversity and agricultural land contained in the adopted development plan. 

7.8. Gypsies and Travellers 

Background 

7.8.1. The Core Strategy includes strategic policy CS17 on the Provision of Traveller Sites. 
We are currently reconsidering the needs for gypsy and traveller sites in our Borough because 
the evidence is now 4-5 years old and there have been changes to national legislation and 
planning policy on Gypsy and Traveller site provision since then. 

7.8.2. Paragraph 5.13.10 of the Core Strategy stated that we would include site allocations 
and a criteria-based policy in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Document. We will consider site allocations at the next consultation stage as this will depend 
on the level of need for new pitches identified in the new Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment. However, we have produced a criteria-based policy which will be used to inform 

Page 272



81

future site allocations and decisions on planning applications. The proposed text and policy are 
set out below. 

Proposed Text 

7.8.3. National planning policy is contained in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 2015 
(PPTS). The PPTS provides guidance on the provision of sites for gypsies and travellers who 
meet the definition in annex 1, the needs of those who do not meet the definition are assessed 
in line with the NPPF only. 

7.8.4. The proposed policy sets out the matters which will be taken into account in assessing 
proposals for new sites or the expansion of existing sites for gypsies and travellers. This should be 
applied in conjunction with Core Strategy Policies CS17 and CS02. The latter applies national 
policies for protecting the Green Belt. The PPTS makes it clear that new sites for gypsies and 
travellers in the Green Belt are inappropriate development and will not be supported unless the 
applicant can demonstrate very special circumstances.  Where a Green Belt location has been 
justified by ‘very special circumstances’ it is also important to recognise that some parts of the 
countryside are more sensitive than others.  This can result in unacceptable impacts on heritage 
assets, historic landscapes and settlements, or on valued landscapes of the highest significance, 
such as the Kent Downs AoNB

7.8.5. There is no definition on the appropriate sizes of pitches for gypsies and travellers. 
However, a general guide set out in “Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites: good practice 
guide, May 2008” states that “an average family pitch must be capable of accommodating an 
amenity building, a static and touring caravan, drying space for clothes, a lockable shed, 
parking space for two vehicles and a small garden.” While the Government has revoked this 
guidance, its principles are still helpful and will be taken into account when considering 
proposals for new or expanded sites. 

7.8.6. As with all forms of housing, sites for gypsies and travellers should be provided in 
sustainable locations. Sites which are close to or have good connections to settlements 
higher in the settlement hierarchy can ensure that occupiers have access to services such as 
education and health facilities. 

7.8.7. Occupiers of caravans intended for permanent residential use are also highly vulnerable 
to flooding. This means that gypsy and traveller sites should not be allowed in areas at the 
highest risk of flooding (zones 3a and 3b). They can only be allowed in flood zone 2 if they 
meet the exception test. Therefore, applications in flood zone 2 will need to be accompanied 
by information which shows: 

 how flood risk will be managed; 
 that the sustainability benefits of the development to the community outweigh the flood 
 risk; and 
 that the development will be safe for its lifetime and will not increase flood risk 
 elsewhere. 

7.8.8. It is important that gypsy and traveller sites are not in a location or of a scale which 
dominates the nearest settled community. They can be absorbed more easily into the built 
and natural environment with the use of appropriate screening, such as hedges or fences, 
and careful siting of buildings within the site. The Council will expect proposals to be located, 
designed and appropriately landscaped to minimise any adverse impact on the local built and 
natural environment in line with Core Strategy policies CS12 and CS19. 

7.8.9. As with all new housing, gypsy and traveller sites have the potential to generate 
additional traffic and parking. It is important that this does not give rise to increased pressure 

Page 273



82

for on-street parking nor unsafe vehicle manoeuvring onto public roads. Therefore, the Council 
will expect sites to provide sufficient space for safe vehicle manoeuvring and parking. Core 
Strategy Policy CS11, Proposed Policy DM 17 and Proposed Policy DM 18 will apply. 

7.8.10. Occupiers of caravans are more susceptible to the effects of pollution, particularly 
noise and poor air quality, and it is more difficult to mitigate the impacts of these than it would 
be for occupiers of bricks and mortar housing. For this reason, careful consideration will be 
given to applications to ensure that the future occupants will have a satisfactory living 
environment and will not suffer from adverse environmental impacts from pollution. It is 
recognised that some gypsies and travellers live and work from the same location, 
employment activities located on site can give rise to impacts which may affect the amenity of 
existing residents in the vicinity, through for example, noise and pollution. Core Strategy policy 
CS19, Proposed Policy DM 33, Proposed policy DM 35 and proposed policy DM 37 will apply 
in assessing the impacts of proposals on both future occupants and existing residents. 

Proposed Policy DM 31: Assessing the Suitability of Sites for Gypsies and 
Travellers 

7.8.12. In assessing the suitability of sites for stationing caravans, trailers, tourers, etc for 
gypsies and travellers, proposals will only be permitted where the proposal will afford a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users; and

a. sufficient space is available to satisfactorily accommodate the planned number 
of caravans, and any associated amenity buildings, amenity space, vehicle 
space and commercial use within the site;

b. the site is in a location which is accessible to a range of local services, including 
schools and health facilities;

c. the site is within flood zone 1 or alternatively meets the exception test for flood 
zone 2;

d. there will be no unacceptable adverse effects on the local built, natural and 
historic environment;

e. safe pedestrian and vehicular access to and from the highway network will be 
provided;

f. there will be a satisfactory living environment for future occupants and the 
proposal will not adversely affect the amenity of existing occupiers;

g. there is adequate and readily accessible parking on site for all vehicles, not just 
limited to cars and a secure metered power supply is available for the provision 
of electric vehicle charging points; and

h. if a cesspit/septic tank is used for foul drainage there is easy access and 
sufficient parking space for the tanker to empty the cesspit/septic tank and there 
is sufficient space to allow the tanker to enter and leave the site in a safe 
manner are adequate arrangements to enable safe serving of the cesspit/septic 
tank and no unacceptable impact on the water environment.

Proposals for sites within the Green Belt which have not been allocated through the local plan 
process will be treated as inappropriate development requiring the demonstration of very 
special circumstances that clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm.  

Within the countryside, special consideration will be given to potential adverse impacts on heritage 
assets, historic landscapes and settlements, or on valued landscapes of the highest significance, 
such as the Kent Downs AoNB, and should be of high quality design responsive to their context.

Page 274



83

8. Amenity 

8.1. Air Quality 

Background 

Core Strategy policy CS19 requires new development to be located, designed and constructed 
to avoid adverse environmental impacts from air pollution. We consider that a further policy on 
this issue is needed and propose to include the following text and policy to set out the 
Council’s approach to the implementation of policy CS19. 

There are a number of Air Quality Management Areas in our Borough where national 
objectives for pollutants are exceeded. These are shown in Figure 7 below. 

Figure 7 Air Quality Management Areas 

Proposed Text 

8.1.1 Where national objectives for pollutants are exceeded, local authorities must declare an 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an Air Quality Action Plan to improve air 
quality. In Gravesham, there are seven AQMAs where poor air quality is mainly due to exhaust 
emissions from traffic (nitrogen dioxide) and one where it is due to industrial emissions 
(particulates). There are two Air Quality Action Plans which address the problems of air quality 
in these areas. There is also an Air Quality Strategy to address wider air pollution issues in the 
Borough. The Council will continue to assess air quality in the Borough and review the Action 
Plans and Air Quality Strategy as needed.

8.1.2. Gravesham has a high level of background air pollution as a result of road traffic and 
commercial activity industry along the Thames corridor, its proximity to London and Europe 
and prevailing weather systems.  Air quality is also an issue on the River Thames, where the 

Page 275



84

Port of London Authority has developed its own Air Quality Strategy to deal with marine 
emissions.  

All new development has the potential to worsen air quality irrespective of whether it is located 
in an existing AQMA or elsewhere, even where there is relatively little traffic congestion. This 
could lead to more exceedances of national objectives for pollutants and more AQMAs being 
designated. As a result, the Council will screen all development proposals and, if necessary, it 
will further assess them in accordance with the Air Quality Planning Guidance December 2015 
published by the Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership or any subsequent guidance, 
having regard to relevant case law applicable at the time.

8.1.3. If they are located in areas of existing poor air quality, certain types of development, 
such as housing, schools and play spaces, have the potential to adversely affect people’s 
health. For this reason, the Council will require that such proposals are located outside of 
areas of poor air quality, and in instances where this is not feasible that such proposals include 
appropriate measures to secure acceptable air quality and a satisfactory environment for the 
future occupiers before planning permission is granted. 

8.1.4. Not all forms or means of transportation have the same impact on air quality and more 
sustainable modes which have a lesser impact are to be preferred if they assist in delivering 
improvements.  Whilst use of the River Thames for the transportation of passengers and 
goods may have an impact on air quality, it is likely to be far less than road transport.  Both 
policies CS07 and CS11 promote the use of the River Thames for transport , which accords 
with the Port of London Authority’s Vision for the Tidal Thames (2016).

The Council recognises that electric vehicles are likely to become more widely used in the 
future. As these may result in fewer conventional petrol/diesel cars on the road, they have the 
potential to lead to reduced nitrogen dioxide emissions, however electric vehicles will continue 
to contribute to air quality pollution via break, tyre and road wear. Proposed policy DM 19 
requires new developments to make appropriate provision for electric vehicle charging points.

Proposed Policy DM 32 Air Quality 

8.1.5. Development proposals which may individually or cumulatively increase levels of air 
pollution in the Borough and/or are located in areas of poor air quality will be required to submit 
an air quality assessment.  Such an assessment will be required to consider:

a. impacts upon areas with existing poor air quality;

b. impacts upon the amenity and health and wellbeing of existing and future occupiers;

c. adverse impacts upon the implementation of local and/or national air quality strategies 
and action plans; 

d. impacts on designated nature conservation sites, biodiversity and wildlife, along with 
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures where impacts are likely to occur; and

d e. breaches of EU and/or national legislation including that applicable to biodiversity and 
wildlife.

8.1.6. All major developments will also require an emissions mitigation assessment These 
assessments should be carried out by a suitably qualified air quality consultant in accordance with 
the latest guidance. Where development has the potential to cause a deterioration in air quality, it 

Page 276



85

will only be permitted if appropriate mitigation measures can be implemented to ensure that there is 
no deterioration in air quality as a result of the proposal.  Where development27 has the potential to 
worsen air quality either alone or in combination with other proposals, it will only be permitted if 
appropriate mitigation measures can be implemented to ensure that there is no unacceptable 
deterioration in air quality, having regard to the sensitivity of affected receptors.

8.1.7. Where adverse impacts are identified and where such impacts cannot be adequately 
mitigated development proposals will be refused. 

8.2. Contaminated Land 

Background 

8.2.1. Core Strategy policy CS19 requires new development to avoid adverse environmental 
impacts from land contamination. We consider that a specific Development Management 
policy on this issue is needed. We propose to include the following text and policy to set out 
the Council’s approach to the implementation of policy CS19. 

Proposed Text 

8.2.2. National planning policy encourages the reuse of previously developed land which 
can provide important opportunities for the creation of housing and jobs. It also requires the 
planning system to remediate and mitigate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate. 

8.2.3. The adopted Core Strategy promotes regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment 
and recycling of underused, derelict and previously developed land in the urban area and 
settlements inset from the Green Belt. Within the urban area many of these areas were 
previously used for industrial purposes or are historic landfill sites, they are potentially 
contaminated. 

8.2.4. The Council maintains a register which lists all of the contaminated land sites, as 
defined under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, within the Borough. The 
Council also has a Contaminated Land Strategy which was last revised in January 2013. The 
Strategy recognises that Gravesham has a long and complex industrial history and highlights 
the following three specific areas which are likely to have been most affected by 
contamination: 

• Gravesend & Northfleet Riverside 
• Gravesend Canal Basin 
• Hoo Junction/ Nuralite 

8.2.5. Gravesend & Northfleet Riverside and Gravesend Canal Basin are within Opportunity 
Areas identified in the Core Strategy and also contain a number of key sites. Core Strategy 
policies CS03 and CS04 set out the policy approach to the future development of these 
areas. Hoo Junction is within the Green Belt and there are no specific proposals for the future 
development of this area within the local plan. 

27 link to Planning Practice Guidance on possible mitigation measures.

Page 277



86

Proposed Policy DM 33 Contaminated Land 

8.2.6. Proposals for development on land known to be or likely to be contaminated or affected 
by other contaminated land will only be permitted where such proposals are accompanied by a 
contaminated land assessment and, if necessary, a remediation strategy, which shows how 
the land will be remediated to an acceptable standard suitable for the proposed use and prior 
to its occupation. 

8.2.7. Contaminated land assessments and remediation strategies should be produced 
ensuring best practice and industry standards are followed, such as the Model Procedures for 
the Management of Land Contamination – Contaminated Land Report 11 or any subsequent 
best practice guidance. 

8.3. Light Pollution 

Background 

8.3.1. Core Strategy policy CS19 requires new development to be located, designed and 
constructed to avoid adverse environmental impacts from light pollution. We consider that a 
further policy on this issue is needed. We propose to include the following text and policy to set 
out the Council’s approach to the implementation of Core Strategy policy CS19. 

8.3.2. It should be noted that light pollution can also have impacts on wildlife, landscapes and 
the purposes of the Green Belt. Core Strategy policies CS02, CS12 and Kent Downs AONB 
Management Plan policies will apply in relevant cases. 

Proposed Text 

8.3.3. National planning policy states that planning policies should limit the impact of 
light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature 
conservation. Obtrusive light comprises: 

 Sky glow – the brightening of the night sky 
 Glare – the uncomfortable brightness of a light source when viewed against a darker 
 background 
 Light intrusion (trespass) – the spilling of light beyond the boundary of the property or 
 area being lit 

8.3.4. National Planning Practice Guidance emphasises that the best use of artificial light is 
about getting the right light in the right place at the right time. It is important to get the design 
right and to set appropriate conditions at the planning stage. The Campaign to Protect Rural 
England has produced a map illustrating the impact of light pollution, an extract of this can be 
viewed at Figure 8. 

8.3.5. The Council wishes to ensure that any artificial lighting associated with new 
development does not have an adverse impact on residential amenity, highway safety, wildlife, 
landscape character and the purposes of the Green Belt. Therefore, the Council will expect 
developments to use only the minimum amount of light necessary to ensure that sky glow, 
glare and light intrusion are minimised. 

8.3.5 Artificial lighting is required in many situations in the borough, including the need to 
ensure safe working conditions during hours of darkness on commercial sites, to facilitate sport 
and sporting events, and for security reasons.

Page 278



87

The Council wishes to ensure that any artificial lighting does not have an adverse impact on 
residential amenity, highway safety, navigation on the River Thames,  landscape character and 
those rural parts of the borough which benefit from relatively dark skies.  

The latter includes significant areas designated as the Kent Downs AoNB, where controlling 
light emissions is consistent with the statutory objective of conserving and enhancing its 
natural beauty.  The importance of controlling light emissions where they may adversely 
impact on biodiversity and nature conservation objectives is also recognised. 

Some forms of artificial lighting are installed by powers provided under statute (such as 
highway and street lighting) and are largely outside of the control of the planning system.  In 
these situations, the Council will seek to ensure that where lighting is provided, due regard is 
had to best practice and to minimise both light pollution and the carbon footprint of the 
installation in the interests of achieving sustainable development.

Where planning permission is required and the site is located in the rural area, this is likely to 
be covered by a Green Belt designation unless it lies within one of the inset rural settlements 
shown on the Policies Map.  Under these circumstances, consideration would be given at the 
application stage as to whether the proposal constituted inappropriate development contrary to 
national Green Belt policy requiring special justification.

In all cases, the Council will expect any artificial light installation to only use the minimum amount of 
light necessary to ensure that its purposes are met and only for the time required.  This is to ensure 
that sky glow, glare, light intrusion and adverse impacts environmental impacts are minimised.  
Applications should be supported by sufficient evidence produced by a suitably qualified 
person(s)for the Council to assess potential impacts on amenity, highway safety, and the natural 
environment.  Proposals resulting in unacceptable impacts will not be permitted.

8.3.6. In considering the impact of any proposed outdoor light, the Council will use the advice 
contained in the Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011 produced 
by the Institute of Lighting Professionals or any subsequent guidance. These set out five 
environmental zones according to the degree of urbanisation and degree of lighting, and the 
limitations for external lighting installations in each of these zones. For Gravesham these 
zones are illustrated in Figure 9. In the case of proposals for artificial sports lighting, the 
Council will also take account of guidance produced by Sport England. 

8.3.6. In considering the impact of any proposed outdoor lighting, the Council will use the 
advice contained in the Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011 
produced by the Institute of Lighting Professionals or any subsequent guidance. 

These set out five environmental zones according to the degree of urbanisation and degree of 
lighting, and the limitations for external lighting installations in each of these zones. For 
Gravesham these zones are illustrated in Figure 9.  

The rural area is covered by two specific zones:

 Zone E1 (Natural – Intrinsically dark) coincides to a large extent with that of the Kent 
Downs AoNB in Gravesham.  Whilst this is adversely affected by the already lit A2 
corridor as part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) and may be further impacted 
upon should the Lower Thames Crossing come forward in due course, this only places 
greater emphasis on the need to control the adverse impact of artificial light to protect 

Page 279



88

and enhance the natural beauty of the AoNB and associated historic landscape around 
Cobham Hall. 

 Zone E2  (Rural – Low district brightness) comprises large parts of the Green Belt in 
the rural area of Gravesham, which in some places forms an important part of the 
setting of the Kent Downs AoNB.  Control of the adverse effects of artificial lighting in 
this area is also warranted, in part to prevent creeping urbanisation and the 
encroachment of the countryside.

For the purposes of policy and to ensure consistency with boundaries shown on the adopted 
Policies Map, Zone E1 will be taken to coincide with the Kent Downs AoNB and Zone E2 with 
the remainder of the rural area lying within the Green Belt.  Where proposals for artificial 
lighting within inset rural settlements or the urban area have the potential to adversely affect 
these zones, the same policy approach will apply.

In addition to the guidance produced by the Institute of Lighting Professionals cited above,  the 
Council will also take into account the separate guidance produced by Sport England on 
artificial lighting of outdoor sports facilities when considering whether a scheme is justified 
against policy, having regard to potential impacts.
 
Figure 8 Plan showing Dark Skies 

Page 280



89

Figure 9 GN01:2011 zones applied to Gravesham 

Page 281



90

Proposed Policy DM 34 Light Pollution 

8.3.7. Proposals for any development involving outdoor lighting schemes will only be 
permitted, if such schemes can demonstrate that the minimum amount of light intensity will be 
used to achieve its purpose, that glare and light spillage will be minimised and there will be no 
significantly adverse impact on: 

 a. the amenity of existing and future occupiers adjacent to and within the development; 
 b. highway safety; 
 c. the visual character of the historic environment; 

d. wildlife and sites of nature conservation value; and 
e. the visibility and appreciation of the night sky. 

8.3.8. Where a proposal involves the installation of artificial lighting, the Council will require 
the developer to provide full details of the lighting scheme and a lighting assessment. All 
proposals that involve artificial lighting should also ensure energy consumption is minimised 
through the use of the most efficient lighting units available. 

8.3.7 Proposals involving the installation of outdoor artificial lighting should be accompanied by 
a report compiled by suitably qualified person setting out the need for the lighting in that 
location commensurate with the proposed use , its design and form, lighting level and duration 
of illumination together with an assessment of potential impacts in terms of:

 Amenity of existing and future occupiers likely to be affected by the scheme, both 
surrounding and within the application site;

 Highway safety and navigational safety on the River Thames as appropriate;
 The historic environment;
 Landscape, with particular attention given to the Kent Downs AoNB and its setting;
 Biodiversity, with particular attention given to international, national and locally 

designated sites as appropriate;
 The visibility and appreciation of the night sky and the conservation and enhancement 

of dark skies.


The evidence submitted in support of any proposal should be proportionate to the scale of the 
scheme and potential impact.  The design of any such lighting schemes should seek to 
minimise energy consumption commensurate with the objective of minimising environmental 
impacts such as  sky glow, glare and light intrusion.

8.3.8 Where located in the Green Belt and comprising inappropriate development under 
national policy, any such proposal shall be accompanied by a statement setting out those very 
special circumstances considered to outweigh harm through inappropriateness and any other 
harm.

Where located in the Kent Downs AoNB, harm caused by artificial lighting within its area and 
setting will be accorded great weight commensurate with the statutory objective of conserving 
or enhancing the natural beauty of such areas.

Page 282



91

8.4. Daylight and Sunlight within New Development 

Proposed Text 

8.4.1. One of the core planning principles underpinning national planning policy is that 
we should always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Policy CS19 on Development and 
Design Principles states that new development should be located designed and constructed to 
safeguard the amenity of its occupants and neighbouring properties – including in relation to 
daylight and sunlight. 

8.4.2. Ensuring that there is reasonable access to daylight and sunlight within new development 
and that it does not compromise that available to its neighbours is a critical component of good 
design. As recognised in national planning policy, whilst this is not always fully achievable on 
constrained urban sites, where regeneration benefits may need to be weighed against a range of 
other competing policy aims. However, it is important that the Council is able to make decisions on 
an informed basis.  

8.4.3. A standard approach towards the assessment of availability of daylight and sunlight in 
relation to development has been produced by the Building Research Establishment and this will 
be used in evaluating proposals.28  Where a proposal is likely to fail the basic tests set out in this 
guidance, the Council will require the applicant to submit a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment in 
support of the application

8.4.4. It should be noted that the requirements of planning policy in this respect are separate 
from the legal issue relating to ‘right to light’, which are a civil matter over which the Council 
has no jurisdiction as local planning authority. 

Proposed Policy DM 35: Sunlight and Daylight within New Development 

8.4.5. Unless otherwise justified as an exception, all new development should be designed to 
ensure that adequate levels of daylight and sunlight are available to occupants and those available 
to occupants of neighbouring properties are not adversely affected to an unacceptable extent.  The 
Council will adopt a flexible approach where a proposal optimises the use of a site and will weigh 
the public benefits of a scheme against any against any resulting deficiency in daylight and sunlight 
levels provided acceptable living conditions are achieved.

8.4.6. Where there is doubt over whether this requirement is met by the development in 
question, the applicant will be required to submit a daylight and sunlight report prepared 
by a suitably qualified professional in accordance with the standard Building Research 
Establishment methodology. Permission will not be granted where such a report is required but 
not supplied in support of the application. 

8.5. Noise and vibration 

Background 

8.5.1. Core Strategy Policy CS19 requires new development to be located, designed and 
constructed to avoid adverse environmental impacts from noise pollution. It is considered that 
a development management policy is required on this issue. The following text and policy sets 
out the Council’s approach to the implementation of Core Strategy Policy CS19. 

28 See Building Research Establishment (BRE) publication: Site layout planning for daylight and 
sunlight: a guide 

Page 283



92

8.5.2. It should be noted that noise pollution can also have impacts on wildlife. Furthermore, 
parts of the Borough are relatively tranquil and the Campaign to Protect Rural England has 
drawn up a Tranquillity Map for Kent. Figure 10 below shows the Gravesham section of this 
map. Core Strategy Policy CS12 and Kent Downs AONB Management Plan policies (where 
relevant) will also apply where new development has the potential to have a detrimental noise 
impact on wildlife or tranquil areas.

Figure 10 Tranquillity Map 

Page 284



93

Proposed Text 

8.5.3. It is important that new development does not create unacceptable impacts on health 
and quality of life as a result of noise or vibration during both construction and operational 
phases and cumulatively with other development. Conversely, consideration needs to be given 
to the design and location of new developments which are sensitive to noise or vibration, such 
as dwellings and hospitals, when there are existing sources of noise such potential nuisance in 
the area. National planning policy makes it clear that planning policies should address these 
noise and other amenity issues, along with adverse impacts on the natural environment. It also 
states that policies should identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained 
relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this 
reason.

8.5.4. The main sources of noise and vibration in Gravesham are from road and rail traffic and, 
to a lesser extent, industrial and commercial activity. Noise can also be an issue in relation to 
river related activity and at operational wharves, which is often tide and, therefore, time 
dependent.  A number of wharves in the borough are safeguarded under policy CS07 on 
Economy, Employment and Skills and under policies contained in the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan.  For minerals wharves, development management policies also apply under 
the latter requiring a separate assessment of the impact of the introduction of sensitive 
receptors on their operation.

8.5.4a In addition, localised noise from plant and machinery and equipment such as air 
conditioning units and kitchen extractor fans can cause disturbance to neighbours. Shops, 
restaurants, pubs and places of entertainment also have the potential to create noise 
disturbance to nearby residents both from the premises themselves and those entering and 
leaving.

8.5.4b As with all forms of pollution, the starting point should be to minimise noise generation 
and vibration at source where this is possible. 

8.5.4c The introduction of receptors sensitive to noise or vibration into areas subject to 
existing potential nuisance and where it is unlikely that acceptable environmental conditions 
can be created should first be avoided before consideration is given to mitigation by design or 
layout or (as a last resort) mitigation such as noise insulation, enhanced glazing, and non-
opening windows are considered.  The objective should always be to achieve a high standard 
of amenity for current and future occupiers in both internal and external spaces serving a 
development without resorting to measures which themselves adversely affect amenity or are 
un-sustainable.

8.5.4d It is recognised that noise can have a significant adverse impact on the natural 
environment, with those impacts often being species specific – changing patterns of behaviour, 
the ability to socialise, and making them more susceptible to predation. Noise and vibration 
can also impact adversely on both the fabric of heritage assets and the context within which 
they are appreciated.  People also appreciate the benefits of tranquillity that exists in parts of 
the countryside and urban greenspaces.  Such tranquillity can provide a sense of peace and 
quiet and an opportunity to appreciate a natural soundscape where sounds such as birdsong 
are more prominent than background noise from transport and other human activity.  Some of 
the most tranquil parts of the borough are to be found in the Kent Downs AONB, where it 
contributes significantly to the appreciation of the landscape and natural beauty of the area.

8.5.5. A noise/vibration impact assessment will be required for proposals that could cause 
significant noise disturbance or for noise sensitive developments that are proposed near to 
major sources of noise. The assessment is required to demonstrate how the development is 

Page 285



94

to be designed, located and controlled to mitigate the impact on health and quality of life of 
occupiers and neighbours. 

Proposed Policy DM 36: Noise and Vibration 

8.5.6. Proposals for development generating noise and/or vibration in a noise sensitive area 
containing premises, including residences, offices, hospitals, care homes or schools; and noise 
sensitive development in an existing noisy environment must be supported by a noise/vibration 
assessment prepared by an acoustic consultant. 

8.5.7. The assessment will be required to demonstrate in full, how the development will be 
designed, located and controlled to mitigate the impact of noise/vibration on the health and 
quality of life of existing and future occupiers adjacent to and within the development. 

8.5.8. Planning permission will only be granted where it is demonstrated that noise and 
vibration levels do not adversely affect the amenity of occupiers. 

8.5.6 Proposals for development generating noise and/or vibration that may impact upon 
sensitive receptors or be impacted on by existing or potential sources of noise and/or vibration 
must be supported by a noise/vibration assessment prepared by a suitably qualified person in 
accordance with best practice.  

8.5.7 The assessment will be required to demonstrate in full that either the noise and/or 
vibration impacts are acceptable without mitigation or how impacts will be mitigated through 
design or other means to make them acceptable.

8.5.8 Planning permission will only be granted where:

 In the case of development that may generate noise or vibration, that resulting impacts 
on sensitive receptors due to noise and/or vibration are acceptable both during the 
construction and operational phases of the development and in combination with other 
sources of noise and/or vibration; or

 In the case of the introduction of a sensitive receptor into an area already subject to 
noise or vibration, that this is unlikely to result in complaint or the curtailing of existing 
lawful activity causing that noise or vibration and that a high standard of amenity for 
existing/future occupiers of the proposed development can be achieved.

8.5.8b For the purposes of this policy, ‘sensitive receptors’ should be taken as capable 
of being any of  those listed in paragraph XXXX above.

Page 286



95

9. Design 

9.1. Advertisements 

Background 

9.1.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policy TC8 relates to advertisements. This states that 
applications will be examined against the policy guidelines for advertisement control. It also 
states that advertisements which are detrimental to public safety or amenity will be resisted. 
We are proposing to replace this with an updated policy. The proposed text and policy are set 
out below. 

9.1.2. The Council’s Advertisement Control Policy Guidelines were adopted as Supplementary 
Planning Guidance in 1996. These set out a number of area and general policies and design 
principles in relation to adverts. The Local Plan policies on which the area policies were 
based have now largely been replaced or deleted. It is important that the policy approach is 
clearly set out in the Local Plan with Supplementary Planning Documents being used to add 
further detail to policies in the Local Plan. Therefore, we are proposing to rescind the current 
Advertisement Control Policy Guidelines and produce some revised guidance to support the 
proposed policy. 

9.1.3. There is an Area of Special Control for Advertisements which covers large parts of the 
rural area in the southern part of our Borough (see Figure 11 below). This places additional 
restrictions on the display of advertisements which means that our consent is required for 
some 
adverts which could otherwise be displayed without our consent. We are obliged to review 
Areas of Special Control. Therefore, we propose to review the Area of Special Control to 
ensure it is still relevant and fit for purpose. 

Proposed Text 

9.1.4. Advertisements such as signs, boards and placards are part of the local scene and play 
an important role in attracting the customers that allow businesses to grow. Well designed and 
sensitively located advertisements can add interest and contribute beneficially to commercial 
areas. However, too many advertisements can result in visual clutter whilst those that are 
poorly designed, located or badly lit can have a significant adverse impact on the appearance 
of the built and natural environment. 

9.1.5. Although many types of sign can be displayed without the Council’s consent, the 
Council has the power to control the most prominent outdoor advertisements. Additional 
powers to control advertisements exist in parts of Cobham, Culverstone, Luddesdown, 
Meopham, and Vigo where a Special Area of Control has been designated. When considering 
applications for advertisement consent, the Council can only take into account the impacts of 
the proposal on amenity and public safety. 

9.1.6. It is proposed to produce a Supplementary Planning Document to give further guidance 
in relation to the proposed policy. 

Page 287



96

Figure 11 Area of Special Control for Advertisements 

 

Page 288



97

Proposed Policy DM 37: Advertisements 

9.1.7. Advertisements should be well designed and appropriately sited so that they contribute 
positively to a safe and attractive environment. No forms of advertisement which require 
consent should be detrimental to amenity or cause a hazard to public safety. 

9.1.8. Any proposal for an advertisement will need to comply with the following criteria: 

a. it is of a high-quality design and sensitive to the visual appearance of the building on 
which it is to be sited and the surrounding street scene, especially when it is to be 
displayed on a listed building or in a conservation area; 

b. it is appropriate to its setting and location and has due regard to local distinctiveness; 
c. it does not contribute to an unsightly proliferation or clutter of signage in the vicinity; 
d. it does not cause a hazard to pedestrians or road users; 
e. it does not cause visual intrusion by virtue of light pollution into adjoining properties or 

poorly directly light pollution elsewhere; and 
f. it is appropriate and relevant to the business or premises on which it is to be displayed 

9.1.9. The Council will seek to avoid a proliferation of advertisements in sensitive locations 
where it is considered that the amenity of the locality would be adversely affected, particularly 
in areas of heritage interest, residential areas and rural locations. 

9.2. Shopfront Design 

Background 

9.2.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policy TC9 relates to shopfronts. This resists the loss of 
existing shopfronts of traditional design and materials. It also resists the installation of security 
grilles and shutters on the exteriors of shopfronts. We are proposing to replace this with an 
updated policy. The proposed text and policy are set out below. 

9.2.2. The Council also has a number of Shopfront Design Guidance Notes. These provide 
informal guidance and this affects the amount of weight which they can be given in planning 
decisions. We consider that these should be used to develop a formal Supplementary 
Planning Document which would be subject to consultation and carry more weight in decision 
making. 

9.2.3. The Council also has Supplementary Planning Guidance on Security Measures for 
Shopfronts and Commercial Premises. This Guidance will continue to apply 

Proposed Text 

9.2.4. The Council’s strategic approach to design issues is set out in Core Strategy policy 
CS19 on Development and Design Principles. Amongst other things, this requires that new 
development is visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive. It also states that 
new development should conserve and enhance the character of the local built and historic 
environment and meet anti-crime standards as well as being designed to be accessible to all. 

9.2.5. The Council considers that a more detailed policy on shopfront design is required as 
shopfronts are frequently changed over the lifetime of a building and are important features of 
the townscape. The aim is that all new shopfronts are well designed, relate well to the scale 
and character of the original building and make a positive contribution to the area. Much of 
Gravesend’s town centre, The Hill at Northfleet and Shorne local centres and a few lone village 

Page 289



98

shops are within conservation areas. Shops can also occupy individual buildings of heritage 
interest. In such cases, the heritage policies will also apply. 

9.2.6. Shopfronts often contain original features of interest such as pilasters, brackets, stall 
risers and cornices. These are an attractive feature and therefore new shopfronts should 
be designed to retain and restore them. The type and colour of materials are also important 
elements in the overall design of a new shopfront. The Council will seek the use of high quality 
materials which relate well to the building and the area in which it is situated. For example, 
traditional materials such as timber and masonry should be used within conservation areas 
and on buildings of heritage interest. The use of a large number of materials or ones which 
could clash with adjoining premises will not be appropriate. 

9.2.7. Well-proportioned and positioned fascias, signage, windows and doors help to 
achieve good shopfront design. The Council wishes to ensure that new shopfronts are well 
proportioned to create a common pattern of shop fronts along the street, creating a sense 
of character. It is also important that fascias and signs take account of the features of the 
shopfront, the building and adjacent buildings. For example, these should not obscure first 
floor windows or window sills, extend uninterrupted across a number of buildings or cover or 
ignore any architectural details. 

9.2.8. Windows obscured by posters, vinyl or the use of obscure glazing can create dead 
street frontages. Conversely, an active and attractive window display can draw people into 
the shop from the street and enliven the street scene. Therefore, the Council will expect new 
shopfronts to be glazed, thus allowing shop window displays and avoiding the creation of dead 
frontages. 

9.2.9. Canopies and awnings can have a positive function, allowing pedestrians to shelter 
from the rain and protect goods on display. However, they also have the potential to look 
unsightly, especially if they are poor quality, made of plastic or covered with advertisements. 
It is important that they do not interfere with views of the shopfront and are designed to be 
contained within the shopfront. 

9.2.10. People with mobility difficulties such as older people, those with disabilities and carers 
with young children in pushchairs can find it difficult to access public premises. Therefore, it is 
important that new shopfronts include measures such as ramps or step free access to ensure 
that the premises are fully accessible. 

9.2.11. The Council recognises the need for shop premises to be secure. However, it is 
important that security considerations are balanced with the need to maintain an active 
frontage and avoid an intimidating street scene and dead frontages. The use of laminated 
glass and internal grilles to provide more security is preferable to the use of more intrusive 
measures such as removable grilles, roller grilles and roller shutters. Solid roller shutters are 
particularly intrusive in the townscape, especially when they are used outside shop opening 
hours. The boxes needed for roller grilles and shutters also have the potential to adversely 
affect the appearance of the building if they protrude beyond the frontage. Particular care 
is needed for all such proposals which affect listed buildings and buildings in Conservation 
Areas. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance on Security Measures for Shopfronts 
and Commercial Premises sets out detailed guidelines for the installation of grilles and roller 
shutters. This will continue to apply to give more detail to the Local Plan policy. 

Proposed Policy DM 38: Shopfront Design 

Page 290



99

9.2.12. New shopfronts should be of high quality design and respond positively to the 
character of the building and its location. Any proposal for a new shopfront will need to comply 
with the following criteria: 

a. it retains original features of architectural or historic interest; and 
b. it uses materials which are appropriate to the building and the street scene; and 
c. it is well-proportioned in relation to the building itself and the street scene; and 
d. fascias and signage are sensitively positioned across the shopfront; and 
e. it is designed to allow for a shop window display; and 
f. any canopies or awnings should not obscure the shopfront and should be fully 
1. retractable; and 
g. it is designed so that the premises are fully accessible to all; 

9.2.13. Any security features should be appropriate to the location. Roller grilles or roller 
shutters will not be allowed on listed buildings or on buildings in conservation areas. On other 
buildings, roller grilles or roller shutters for security purposes will be allowed where: they are 
of an open mesh variety; they leave the shop window visible; and the box is located behind 
the fascia. Solid roller shutters will only be allowed exceptionally where a persistent security 
problem exists, and the box is located behind the fascia. 

9.3. Tall and Bulky Buildings 

Background 

9.3.1. Core Strategy policy CS19 requires new development to conserve and enhance the 
character of the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well with the surrounding 
local area and meet anti-crime standards. It will make a positive contribution to the street 
scene, the quality of the public realm and the character of the area. Account will be taken of 
the characteristics of adjoining buildings and of the wider site context, including strategic 
views, site topography, the significance of heritage assets and features of townscape and 
landscape value which contribute to local character and sense of place. 

9.3.2. We consider that a further policy for tall and bulky buildings is needed. We propose to 
include the following text and policy to set out the Council’s approach to the implementation of 
Core Strategy policy CS19. 

Proposed Text 

9.3.3. As the Borough’s population and number of households continues to increase, the 
demand for development in Gravesham will continue into the foreseeable future. This will 
inevitably place greater pressures on the limited amount of development land available, this in 
turn could lead to increasing proposals for taller and bulkier buildings. The height and mass of 
buildings form key aspects of building design and effect local character and appearance. For 
this reason, they are an important consideration in planning decisions. 

9.3.4. Whilst high density does not imply tall and bulky buildings in all cases, such buildings 
can form part of a strategic approach to meeting the Local Plan’s regeneration and economic 
development goals. This is particularly the case where they would make optimal use of 
site capacity in suitable locations close to the transport hubs of Gravesend town centre and 
Ebbsfleet. 

9.3.5. Tall and bulky buildings can make a positive contribution to meeting the needs of the 
local area, and if well designed can be excellent examples of architecture which enhance a 
local area. Due to their scale, such buildings have the ability of affecting the image and identity 

Page 291



100

of an area. If designed unsympathetically they can have significant detrimental impacts on 
local character and amenity, whilst if designed correctly they can assist in regeneration and 
stimulate further growth and investment. 

9.3.6. To be successful it is imperative that proposals for tall and bulk buildings take into 
account their immediate and wider context especially in terms of both visual and heritage 
impact. Gravesend has a special quality stemming from its rich history and riverside location. 
It is important for new development to recognise the town’s unique heritage and the need to 
preserve and enhance the quality of the town’s physical environment and attractiveness. 

9.3.7. Tall buildings are not defined in terms of height or number of storeys because what 
might be considered a tall building will vary according to the nature of the local area. Instead, 
tall buildings are defined as those which are substantially higher than their neighbours. Bulky 
buildings are wide, have a large footprint and make a significant visual impact when viewed 
from ground level. Tall and bulky buildings should always be of the highest architectural 
quality (especially prominent features such as roof tops for tall buildings) and should not 
have a negative impact on the amenity of surrounding uses. Opportunities to offer improved 
permeability of the site and wider area should be maximised where possible. 

9.3.8. A single tall building is unlikely in itself to justify the establishment of a cluster of tall 
buildings around it. Also, the existence of a tall building in a particular location will not of itself 
justify its replacement with a new tall building on the same site or in the same area. 

9.3.9. As set out in the Core Strategy, applicants will be required to submit Design and 
Access Statements in support of their proposals, explaining the design principles underlying an 
application. 

9.3.9  Proposals falling below a statutory threshold do not require a formal Design and Access 
Statement, although for most tall and bulky buildings it is anticipated that they would be needed.  
Irrespective of this, the Council considers it likely that any such proposals would need to be 
accompanied by a supporting statement which seeks to address the types of issue set out in the 
policy below..  Use of the Council’s pre-application advice service where such proposals are being 
considered is advised.

Proposed Policy DM 39 Tall and Bulky Buildings 

9.3.10. Design and Access Statements accompanying proposals for tall and bulky buildings 
will need to include a rigorous analysis and justification for the proposal; as a minimum this 
should include a consideration of: 

 a. those elements that create local character and other important features and 
constraints, including: 

 i. natural topography 
 ii. urban grain 

 iii.  significant views of skyline and effect on the skyline 
 iv. scale and height – immediate and wider 

 v. streetscape and character assessment including the history of the place 
and heritage assets 

vi. landmark buildings and areas and their settings, including backdrops, 
and vii. important views, prospects and panoramas; 

c. where tall buildings might enhance the overall townscape 

Page 292



101

9.3.10. Proposals for tall and bulky buildings will need to be accompanied by a statement 
which includes a proportionate analysis and justification for the proposal; as a minimum this 
should include (as appropriate) a consideration of:

a. The context within which the proposed development will take place, including those 
elements that contribute toward existing local character and distinctiveness.  These to 
include:

 The topography of the site and its surroundings;
 The existing urban grain around the site, its historic development and associated 

streetscape, including the scale, form, massing and architecture of existing buildings;
 Where the streetscape includes either public or private open spaces, whether those 

spaces make a positive contribution to the sense of place and the way it functions or 
detract;

 The contribution made to the distinctive character of place by any surviving heritage 
assets and the extent to which their setting contributes or detracts from their 
significance;

 A consideration of any existing significant views,  prospects or panoramas either of 
places or the skyline that may be affected by the proposal; and

 Whether there are any existing landmark buildings and their significance.

b. A consideration of the positive and negative effects of the proposal in relation to its 
context, including where such development will serve to enhance townscape and 
secure regeneration benefits.  This to include in addition a consideration of the 
following impacts in terms of:

 Overshadowing and reduction of daylight and sunlight both to surrounding buildings 
and public and private spaces;

 Solar glare, dazzle, and associated heat effects;
 Wind and micro-climate effects within the area surrounding the development and, 

where adjacent to the River Thames, impacts on safe navigation; 
 Permeability and the ability to move within the public realm on foot or cycle;
 Telecommunications, radar and radio transmission;
 Air traffic safety; and
 The amenity and security of adjoining residential and other buildings  or land uses due 

to overlooking or any other adverse impacts.

In addition to the above, the design of any tall buildings should consider how they relate to the 
public realm at ground level in order to contribute positively to the creation of sense of place 
and urban vitality.

c. Where it is intended that tall or bulky buildings will form a constituent part of a wider 
regeneration proposal, they should be included within the masterplan submitted as part 
of a planning application for that wider site so that they can be considered in context.

9.3.11. Proposals for tall and bulky buildings will not be permitted where it is deemed that 
they are inappropriate in their context, and/ or where such proposals fail to maximise the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions. 

Page 293



102

9.3.11 Proposals for tall and bulky buildings will be permitted where they are considered to be 
appropriate to their context; adverse impacts arising from their development are not 
unacceptable; they are in sustainable locations capable of accommodating such a form of 
development; and they either optimise the opportunities available for improving the character 
and quality of an area and the way it functions or, in the case of major regeneration sites, 
assist in creating a sense of place.

9.4. Designing for a High Quality and Accessible Riverside 

Background 

9.4.1. The adopted Local Plan Core Strategy includes strong support for a number of policy 
initiatives that are intended to facilitate the delivery of a high quality accessible riverside 
alongside enhanced flood defence; the protection of commercial wharves and essential 
riverside infrastructure; and improvements to biodiversity and nature conservation. The 
following development management policy is intended to ensure that this is fully taken into 
consideration in the decision-making process when it comes to individual planning 
applications. 

Proposed Text 

9.4.2. The location of Gravesham on the River Thames is largely responsible for the way it 
has developed as a place and is one of its key defining characteristics. This is recognised 
within paragraph 4.1.30  4.3.10 of the adopted Core Strategy, where strong policy support 
within the three riverside opportunity areas is accorded:

 The maintenance, improvement and replacement of the tidal flood defences in line with 
the Environment Agency TE2100 Plan as a priority;

 The creation of a high quality, dedicated pedestrian and cycle link alongside the river, 
as part of the local Green Grid and the proposed Thames Estuary/England Coast Path; 
and

 The safeguarding of capacity of commercial wharves and sites needed to support the 
river as a working waterway.

9.4.3. A number of area based policies (CS03, CS04 and CS05) and their supporting text 
contain specific reference to the importance of the River Thames as part of the context for 
regeneration. The following generic policies are also important: 

 Policy CS09 on Culture and Tourism seeks to maximise culture and tourism activity in 
the borough, in part by lending support for greater use of the river and capitalising on 
the appeal of Gravesend as a riverside heritage town. 

 Policy CS11 on Transport seeks improvements to walking and cycling facilities, with 
particular reference to the Thames Estuary Path and provides support for proposals 
that facilitate the use of the river for passenger transport. 

 Policy CS12 on Green Infrastructure sets out the Council’s aspirations to deliver a 
network of multi-functional greenspace, including access along the River Thames and 
to improve the biodiversity of the borough. 

 Policy CS 18 on Climate Change prioritises flood defence over other forms of 
development whilst embedding Water Framework Directive and objectives from the 
Environment Agency’s Thames River Basin Management Plan into the local plan. 

 Policy CS19 on Development and Design principles requires new development to 
be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive whilst conserving and 
enhancing the character of the local built, historic and nature environment. It also 
requires that new development be accessible, incorporate high quality public realm, 

Page 294



103

and take advantage of opportunities to improve biodiversity and the borough’s green 
infrastructure network. 

 Policy CS20 on Heritage and the Historic Environment accords a high priority toward 
the preservation, protection and enhancement of heritage assets and the borough’s 
historic environment, central to the regeneration of the area. Proposals are supported 
which preserve and enhance such assets and their setting, where it contributes 
towards to their significance, interpretation and enjoyment. In this context, an active 
and accessible working Thames represents an important part of the setting of the 
borough’s riverside heritage assets. 

9.4.4. Whilst recognising that there are operational and safety constraints applicable in 
the case of commercial wharves, the Council wishes to ensure that riverside development 
delivers on the above policy objectives as far as is practicable. However, even where land is in 
commercial use, this does not mean that the achievement of good design commensurate with 
function is unachievable. 

9.4.4. The Council recognises that there are operational and safety constraints applicable to 
commercial wharves that are likely to make public access to the waterfront impracticable, 
although in some areas public rights of way already come in close proximity. However, even 
where land is in commercial use, this does not mean that the achievement of good design 
commensurate with function is unachievable. Elsewhere, the Council wishes to ensure that 
better access to the riverside is achieved where safe and feasible to do so, in accordance with 
the above policy objectives, and so far as is practicable and viable.

9.4.5. In accordance with adopted policy, the Council will expect riverside developments to 
secure the delivery of a high quality riverside walkway/cycle path as part of its multi-functional 
green infrastructure network and the proposed Thames Estuary/England Coast Path. The 
ability to include places where people can safely dwell, sit and enjoy the river in a safe 
environment should also be considered as this can contribute significantly to the quality of the 
local environment created and sense of place.  Whilst there may be instances where this is not 
achievable, the Council will require evidence justifying any exception.

9.4.6. Similarly, the access to the river itself on foot or for those wishing to use it by boat is 
limited and could be improved through the installation of the necessary equipment – i.e. stairs, 
landing stages, mooring rings etc. This is important if the area is to exploit the benefits of the 
borough’s riverside location to its full potential. Where this is practicable by design and safe, 
but cannot be delivered at the time of development due to viability constraints, the potential to 
retro-fit should be secured by agreement. 

9.4.6 In seeking to achieve this, the Council recognises the risk inherent in attracting people to 
the riverside.  The River Thames is a major waterway, with deep cold water in some places 
and strong tidal currents to which people (if only accidentally) could be exposed.  

9.4.6B  Where riverside walkways are provided, thought needs to be given to public safety and 
reducing risk through the provision of life saving equipment and its long-term maintenance as 
recommended within the 1991 Hayes Report on the Inquiry into River Safety.

9.4.6C  In places where it is the owner under the 1908 Port of London Act, public access to the 
foreshore and the river itself lies largely within the gift of that body.  It should be noted that 
aside from access allowed in relation to navigation, fishing and associated activities, 
permission from the Port of London Authority (PLA) to go onto the foreshore or river may be 
required.

Page 295



104

9.4.6D The foreshore and river itself present their own risks, which can significantly exceed 
those to which people simply going to the riverside to enjoy the view are exposed.  It can 
represent an extremely hostile environment and it needs to be treated with the utmost respect.  
There is also the potential for recreational and commercial uses of the river to be in conflict 
with each other, where recreational uses are likely to be inappropriate.

9.4.6E  However, subject to the agreement of the PLA at the application stage, the Council 
would wish to see better access to the river by recreational users where it is appropriate and 
safe to do so.  This should be seen in the context of the PLA’s own Thames Vision document 
that includes a goal to promote ‘greater participation in sport and recreation on and alongside 
the river’.

9.4.6F  At the moment, access to the river by those wishing to do so is limited and could be 
improved through the installation of the necessary equipment – i.e. stairs, landing stages, mooring 
rings etc. This is important if the area is to exploit the benefits of the borough’s riverside location to 
its full potential and one of the goals of the PLA’s Thames Vision achieved.   Where this is 
practicable by design and safe, but cannot be delivered at the time of development due to viability 
constraints or for other reasons, the potential to retro-fit should be secured by agreement.

9.4.7. The Environment Agency is proposing a major future upgrade of flood defences in this 
area under its Thames Estuary 2100 project. Whilst it is accepted that the Environment Agency 
undertake such works under permissive powers where funding for associated improvement 
works may be limited, the Council will expect seek similar public benefits to be secured via this 
route as the design is developed.  Where this is not practicable at the time of upgrading, the 
potential to retrofit later should be considered at the design stage.

9.4.8.  Given the potential to improve biodiversity of the river and its riparian environment 
through development, this opportunity should not be overlooked as it would assist in achieving 
Water Framework Directive and Thames River Basin Management Plan objectives. This also 
accords with proposals to create a Thames Estuary Marine Conservation Zone and the 
Environment Agency’s Estuary Edges guidance.

9.4.9. The potential for there to be important foreshore archaeology should also not be 
overlooked, not only in the historic Gravesend town centre but at other points along the 
waterfront. 

9.4.10. In determining planning applications relating to the riverside, the following policy 
approach will therefore be applied. 

Proposed Policy DM 40: Designing for a High Quality and Accessible 
Riverside 

9.4.11. A high quality of design both sensitive to and appropriate to context and function will be 
expected on all sites fronting the River Thames. Residential and residentially-led mixed use 
developments will be expected to incorporate a publicly accessible riverside walkway/ cycle 
path with dwell points and appropriate safety features that is capable of functioning as part of 
the borough’s network of multi-functional greenspace/Thames Estuary/England Coast Path 
unless otherwise justified as an exception or is unachievable.

9.4.12. Subject to the agreement of the Port of London Authority, where it is safe, appropriate, 
practicable and viable to do so, access to and from the river along with features to facilitate its 
recreational usage should be provided as part of the development.  Where practicable and 
subject to viability, access should also be made available to and from the river itself on foot 

Page 296



105

and/or by boat. Where this is practicable but not viable at the time development takes place, 
the scheme should be designed to allow retro-fitting of any necessary equipment or features at 
a later date. Under these circumstances, the Council will seek to secure future public access 
by legal agreement.  
9.4.13. Where any scheme of improvement to the flood defences under the TE2100 or any 
other project is carried out, the Council will seek to achieve similar benefits as set out above, 
subject to the availability of funding.  Where funding is not available at the time of the delivery 
of the improved flood defences, the Council will expect them to be designed in such a way as 
to allow retrofitting at a later stage. Any scheme of improvement to the flood defences under 
the TE2100 project will also be expected to deliver the above features as a public benefit.

9.4.14. In addition, riverside developments will be expected to be supported by a proportionate 
assessment of their impact of the biodiversity as appropriate and secure improvements a net 
environmental gain to the biodiversity of the riparian environment where practicable and have 
regard to the potential for foreshore archaeology.

Page 297



106

10. Heritage Assets 

10.1. Heritage Assets 

Background 

10.1.1. Saved Local Plan First Review policies TC2, TC3 and TC7 set out the Council’s current 
policies on Listed Buildings, Development affecting Conservation Areas and Archaeological 
Sites respectively. Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework includes detailed 
policy guidance on conserving and enhancing the historic environment. Core Strategy Policy 
CS20 sets out our strategic approach towards heritage and the historic environment. The 
Core Strategy also sets out that we intend to produce a Supplementary Planning Document 
on heritage and the historic environment in due course. Amongst other things, this would 
create a list of non-designated heritage assets that are considered locally important. Given 
this, we are proposing to replace policies TC2, TC3 and TC7 with a suite of policies on 
heritage assets. This would be read in conjunction with the NPPF and Core Strategy Policy 
CS20. The proposed text and policy are set out below. 

10.1.2. Our Policies Map currently shows the locations of the Scheduled Monuments and the 
boundaries of the Conservation Areas in the Borough. The extent of Conservation Areas is set 
locally whereas Scheduled Monuments are statutorily designated. Currently, we do not show 
other statutorily designated heritage assets such as listed buildings or registered parks and 
gardens on our Policies Map. 

10.1.3. Following public consultation, some changes were made to the boundaries of a 
number of our rural Conservation Areas earlier in 2017. These changes affect the following 
Conservation Areas: 

 Chestnut Green, Shorne 
 Lower Higham 
 The Street, Meopham 

10.1.4. These changes are set out in further detail in a report to a Full Council meeting (21st 
February 2017) at Agenda Item 75 https://goo.gl/hDEENk 

Proposed Text 

10.1.5. The Council has already set out its strategic approach to heritage and the historic 
environment in Core Strategy Policy CS20. This recognises that heritage is a non-renewable 
resource and the Council will give high priority towards its preservation, protection and 
enhancement. 

10.1.6. The supporting text to Core Strategy Policy CS20 sets out information on the 
heritage interest which exists in the Borough and includes a list of Gravesham’s key heritage 
assets. Heritage assets which are designated under relevant legislation include: listed 
buildings; scheduled monuments; registered parks and gardens; and conservation areas.29 

29 Whilst there are none in the borough, designated heritage assets include World Heritage Sites, Protected 
Wreck Sites, and Registered Battlefields. Should any be designated in the future, these too will be treated 
as such under the policy that follows.

Page 298



107

The Conservation Areas and Scheduled Monuments are shown on the Policies Map. No 
designated heritage assets include: historic landscapes and parks; archaeological sites and 
areas of archaeological significance; and unlisted buildings of historic interest. 
10.1.7. In considering proposals which affect a listed building or its setting, the Council has 
a legal duty to have special regard to preserving the building, its setting, and its features of 
special architectural or historic interest. For proposals which affect conservation areas, the 
local planning authority must pay special attention to preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the area. These legal duties are contained in the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

10.1.8. As well as setting out information on the relative weight which should be given to 
the conservation of heritage assets in the decision-making process, national planning policy 
includes criteria based policies that should be applied where it is considered that proposals 
would result in either substantial or less than substantial harm to the significance of designated 
heritage assets. It also includes a policy for proposals that affect the significance of non- 
designated heritage assets. In this context significance is defined as the value of a heritage 
asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest. This interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from the asset’s 
physical presence but also from the contribution made by its setting. 

10.1.9. National planning policy also makes provision for enabling development and the 
need for local planning authorities to assess whether the benefits of a proposal for enabling 
development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies, but which would secure 
the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the disbenefits of departing from those 
policies. Historic England provides advice on enabling development, including the criteria 
against which proposals will be considered and the supporting evidence required, and the 
Council will use this advice when considering any proposals for enabling development. 30

10.1.10. The Council has adopted Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans 
for all its Conservation Areas and these will be taken into account in any decisions with the 
potential to affect these areas. In addition, the Council will also prepare a list of locally 
important buildings in due course, to assist in the application of policy in relation to non-
designated heritage assets. 

10.1.11. Historic England has produced guidance relating to such issues as making changes 
to heritage assets, the setting of heritage assets, and managing significance in decision taking 
in the historic environment. The Council will have regard to Historic England’s guidance as 
best practice when making decisions which affect heritage assets 

10.1.12. The Council will require a Heritage Assessment to be produced for all proposals 
which are likely to affect a designated or non-designated heritage asset. This will be in 
proportion to the significance of the heritage asset and the scale of impacts upon it. For assets 
with archaeological interest, this will include a desk-based assessment and, where necessary, 
a field evaluation carried out by an appropriate professional. In determining applications, the 
Council will consider the impact and degree of impact on affected heritage assets, having 
taken the applicant’s Heritage Statement into account. 

30 See Historic England – Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places (2008) at 
https:// content.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/enabling-development-and-the-
conservation-of-signifi- cant-places/enablingwebv220080915124334.pdf/

Page 299



108

10.1.13. In accordance with its priority of preserving, protecting and enhancing the heritage of 
the Borough, the Council expects proposals to avoid negative impacts on historic features. In 
cases where development which causes harm to a heritage asset is allowed, the Council will 
seek measures to minimise the impacts as much as possible. The Council would wish to see 
assets such as archaeological remains preserved in situ but recognises that this is not always 
possible. Where the loss of heritage features or assets are justified, these will need to be 
properly assessed and recorded. 

The Council will apply the following suite of policies as appropriate when determining 
planning applications that have the potential to impact upon heritage assets and their settings. 

• Proposed Policy DM 41: Development Involving Heritage Assets 
• Proposed Policy DM 42: Listed Buildings 
• Proposed Policy DM 43: Conservation Areas 
• Proposed Policy DM 44: Archaeology 

Policies DM42, DM43 and DM44 should be read in conjunction with policy DM41, which provides 
the framework within which applications involving heritage assets will be determined and the weight 
to be accorded heritage as opposed to other material considerations.

Proposed Policy DM 41: Development Involving Heritage Assets 

10.1.15. Proposals which protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment of the 
borough and the contribution it makes to local distinctiveness and sense of place will be 
supported. Encouragement will also be given to proposals that make sensitive use of historic 
assets through regeneration and re-use, particularly where these bring redundant or 
underused assets back into an appropriate use. Proposals involving enabling development 
which conflict with policy will be required to demonstrate that it is reasonably necessary to 
secure the future conservation of the heritage asset and that this outweighs the disbenefits of 
departing from policy. 

10.1.16. Development will be expected to conserve and enhance or reveal the significance 
of designated heritage assets and the contribution made to that significance by their 
settings. Development will not be permitted where it is likely to cause substantial harm to the 
significance of designated heritage assets, either directly or indirectly through development 
within their settings, unless it is necessary to achieve substantial public benefit that would 
outweigh the harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

a. The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b. No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
c. Conservation by grant-funding or some form of charitable or public ownership is 

demonstrably not possible; and, 
d. The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

10.1.17. Where a development will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, any harm will be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use. 

10.1.18. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
will be a material consideration in its determination. Those that affect the significance of non-
designated heritage assets will be carefully considered and a balanced judgment made having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the asset involved. Proposals 
which, on balance, have an unacceptable impact will not be permitted. 

Page 300



109

10.1.19 Any application affecting directly or indirectly the significance of a designated or non-
designated heritage asset should be prepared in sufficient detail to enable the Council to 
evaluate the impact of the proposal on that asset. A Heritage Statement will also be required in 
support of such applications to outline and provide evidence as to the significance of the 
heritage asset, the contribution made by its setting, and the likely impact of the development 
upon it and any alternatives considered that may impact lesser upon its significance. In 
determining applications, the Council will accord additional weight as appropriate where 
multiple heritage assets stand to be adversely affected.

10.1.20. Should permission be granted for the removal of part or all of a heritage asset, this 
will not be allowed to proceed until such time as a mechanism is put in place to ensure that 
any approved replacement development will proceed. Where permission is granted for such 
development, conditions will be attached requiring photographic or other recording of the asset 
to be removed with a report containing said information to be submitted to the Council as a 
public record. 

Proposed Policy DM 42: Listed Buildings 

10.1.21. Alterations and extensions to listed buildings and development within their settings 
that affect their significance should preserve and ensure enhance their character and 
appearance and the special features for which they were designated ensure that the 
significance for which they were designated is conserved and enhanced.  In evaluating 
proposals, the Council will have regard to any features that contribute to the special character 
of the listed building and the context within which it is appreciated and understood.

10.1.22. The re-use of listed buildings will be supported where they are at risk or under-used 
and the alternative use is demonstrated to be compatible with the character, appearance, 
fabric, interior and setting of the building. 

10.1.23. Applications for new works to listed buildings will be carefully assessed. Extensions 
will be required to be of an appropriate scale and design and be in materials that retain the 
special interest of the original building. The character and significance of the building should 
not be diminished by over-restoration. Existing architectural or historic features should be 
retained where they contribute toward the character of the building and its significance. 

Proposed Policy DM 43: Conservation Areas 

10.1.24. Development, in or adjoining a Conservation Area, which would enhance its 
character, appearance, or the contribution made to its significance by its setting will normally 
be permitted subject to other policies within the Local Plan. In evaluating proposals, the 
Council will have regard to its adopted Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans 
as a material consideration. 

10.1.25. New development in a Conservation Area should aim to preserve and enhance the 
character and local distinctiveness of the historic environment and respect its surroundings in 
terms of height, massing, volume, scale, form, materials, details, roofscape, plot width and the 
spaces between buildings. 

10.1.26. Development within, affecting the setting of, or views into and out of, a 
Conservation Area should preserve and enhance all features that contribute 
positively toward the area’s character and appearance. Particular consideration will 
be given toward the following:

Page 301



110

a. The retention of buildings, groups of buildings, existing street patterns, 
historic building lines and ground surfaces;

b. Retention of architectural details that contribute positively to the character 
or appearance of the area;

c. The impact of the proposal on the townscape, skyline, landscape and 
the relative scale and importance of buildings in the area;

d. The protection of trees and elements of landscape or townscape that 
contribute positively towards the character and appearance of the area;

e. Whether the proposals result in the removal of unsightly and negative 
features and their replacement by others that make an appropriate and 
positive contribution.

Where development is proposed within a Conservation Area, consideration should also be 
given to the possible existence of buried archaeology to which policy DM45 may apply.   Any 
Heritage Statement should therefore also provide evidence that this aspect has also been 
assessed.

Proposed Policy DM 44: Archaeology 

10.1.27. The archaeological and historic integrity of designated heritage assets and other 
important archaeological sites, together with the contribution made toward their significance by 
their settings, will be protected and, where possible, enhanced. 

10.1.28. Planning applications on sites where there is or is potential archaeological interest must 
be supported by an appropriate informed desk-based assessment of the asset and the impact of 
the proposal on its significance.

10.1.29 Where important or potentially significant archaeological heritage assets may exist, 
developers will may be required to arrange for field evaluations to be carried out in advance of 
the determination of planning applications in accordance with a specification to be agreed in 
writing with the Council. 

10.1.30. Where the case for development affecting a heritage asset of archaeological interest 
is accepted, the Council’s preference will be that the archaeological remains should be 
preserved in-situ. 

10.1.30 Where the case for development affecting a heritage asset of archaeological interest is 
accepted, a decision will be made on its treatment weighing the significance of the asset 
against the public benefits of the proposal.  Where the heritage asset is of demonstrably 
equivalent significance to a Scheduled Monument, any potential harm to that significance shall 
be evaluated on the same basis as if it were a designated heritage asset.

10.1.31. Where preservation in situ is not possible or justified, appropriate provision for 
preservation by record will be required. In such cases, a copy of the report detailing and 
interpreting findings shall be deposited with the Council and the County Historic Environment 
Record. for its records.

Page 302



111

11. Appendix 1 – Saved Policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994 to be superseded by the Gravesham Local Plan Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD 

11.1.1. The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was adopted in 1994. Many of its policies 
were saved by the Secretary of State in a Direction letter issued in September 2007. Some of 
these saved policies were replaced in whole or in part by policies in the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy, 2014. The remainder are listed below and are either deleted or replaced by new 
policies in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD. No saved policies 
will form part of the Development Plan. 

 

Page 303



112

Page 304



113

12. Appendix 2 – Neighbourhood and Local Centres 
Location Plans 

Page 305



114

Page 306



115

Page 307



116

Page 308



117

Page 309



118

Page 310



119

Page 311



120

Page 312



121

Page 313



122

Page 314



123

Page 315



124

Page 316



125

Page 317



126

Page 318



127

Development Management Policies Glossary 

Air Quality Action Plan: Under the Environment Act, 1995 and associated Air Quality 
Regulations, an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) has to be designated if air pollution is 
too high. Local authorities must then produce an Air Quality Action Plan and work with Partner 
Agencies to pursue an improvement in air quality. The aim of the Action Plan is to identify how 
existing powers can be used and to work together with other organisations in pursuit of the Air 
Quality Objective for Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate matter (PM10). In Gravesham, direct 
and general measures are proposed to improve air quality both within the seven AQMAs and 
across the Borough as a whole. 

Air Quality Assessment: The purpose of an air quality assessment is to determine whether 
the predicted impacts from a development on local air quality will impact on public health and/ 
or the local environment. 

Air Quality Strategy: The aims of an Air Quality Strategy are to address the wider air 
pollution issues in the Borough and prevent air quality deteriorating by taking action to improve 
air quality. The Air Quality Strategy provides a framework for future air quality issues and 
encourages partnership working within the Council and with the County Council, neighbouring 
local authorities, health authorities, transport operators, local businesses, community groups 
and members of the public to deliver air quality improvements. 

Article 4 Direction: Article 4 Directions allow local planning authorities to withdraw the 
‘permitted development’ rights that would otherwise apply by virtue of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (the ‘GDPO’). An Article 
4 Direction does not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that 
planning permission is first obtained from the local planning authority for that development. 

Page 319



128

CAMRA Public House Viability Test: A methodology for the assessment the viability of public 
houses, based upon a series of questions under the following headings: Local trade potential; 
customer potential; competition; site flexibility; parking; public transport; multiple use; partial 
loss; management past and present; and sale asking price. 

Community Asset: An asset of community value (ACV) is land or property of importance to a 
local community which is subject to additional protection from development under the Localism 
Act, 2011. Voluntary and community organisations can nominate an asset to be included on 
their local authority’s register of assets of community value. 

Conservation Area Appraisal: An assessment of the elements which contribute to an 
understanding of the historic and architectural importance of an area, which is used when 
considering the designation of a conservation area, the subsequent preparation of a 
management plan for the area and as evidence when amending a conservation area and when 
determining planning applications within a conservation area and its setting. 

Contaminated Land Strategy: The Environmental Protection Act, 1990, requires local 
authorities to inspect their areas to identify contaminated land. Statutory guidance makes clear 
that in order to carry out their contaminated land duties, Authorities must produce a formal 
contaminated land strategy document which clearly sets out how areas of land which merit 
detailed individual inspection will be identified in an ordered, rational and efficient manner, and 
in what time scale. Gravesham adopted its strategy in 2001 and the last revision was in 2013. 

Design Manual for Roads and Bridges: The “Design Manual for Roads and Bridges” 
(DMRB) is a comprehensive manual which contains requirements, advice and other published 
documents relating to works on motorway and all-purpose trunk roads for which Highways 
England is the relevant highway authority. It has been developed as a series of documents 
published by Highways England. 

Emissions Mitigation Assessment: The consideration of mitigation and off-setting required 
for all developments where air quality assessments are required for both construction and 
operational impacts. 

Exception Test: Where new development cannot be steered to areas with the lowest risk of 
flooding, development on areas of higher risk may be permitted providing that an exception 
test can demonstrate that its sustainability benefits to the community outweigh the flood risk 
and a flood risk assessment shows that the development and its occupiers will be safe, flood 
risk will not be increased elsewhere and where possible, overall flood risk can be reduced. 

Framework for Regeneration: Kent County Council’s Framework for Regeneration: 
Unlocking Kent’s Potential, sets out the issues, challenges and opportunities facing the County 
over the next 25 years and how they will be addressed. The main Issues include those relating 
to business and the economy, population change, homes and communities and transport. 

Key Shopping Area: A shopping area afforded a high degree of protection by the Council, 
because of the role it plays in helping people to meet their day to day needs locally, thus 
reducing the need to travel and providing a focus for the community. 

Locally Sourced Natural Species: These are tree species which have colonised the 
landscape of by natural processes since the last ice age. Over many generations, the 
successful species have adapted to local conditions and support a wide range of plants and 
animals. The particular soil, geography, micro-climate and other factors result in native plants 
that are uniquely suited to their environs. Species widely accepted as being truly native are 

Page 320



129

mainly broadleaved, deciduous species, including birch, oak, ash, willow, as well as 
evergreens such as holly, yew, scots pine and juniper. 

Major Development: For housing; development where 10 or more homes will be provided, 
or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development; additional 
floorspace of 1,000 sq.m. or more or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as otherwise provided in 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015. 

Manual for Streets: Manual for Streets is a design guide published in 2007 by the Department 
for Transport. It shows how the design of residential streets can be enhanced and advises 
on how street design can help create better places with local distinctiveness and identity. 
In addition, it establishes a common reference point for all those involved in the design of 
residential neighbourhoods.

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework: This sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It provides a framework within 
which local people and their councils can produce their own distinctive local plans, which 
reflect the needs and priorities of their communities. The Framework must be taken into 
account in the preparation of local plans and is a material consideration in planning decisions. 
Network and Hierarchy of Town Centres: The categorisation of retail centres according to 
their size and function and their distribution throughout the Borough as shown on the Policies 
Map. In Gravesham, the hierarchy consists of two categories: Gravesend is the highest order 
centre, having a sub-regional role; the second tier consists of neighbourhood centres in the 
urban area and village centres in the rural area, both serving a more localised need. 
Not Materially Larger: The size of a replacement building being no larger than the one it 
replaces, or any size difference not being readily discernible, nor having any greater visual 
impact due to its size nor creating any additional, useable space. 

PDL Previously Developed Land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, 
including its curtilage, and any fixed surface infrastructure. It excludes land that is occupied 
by agricultural or forestry buildings; land used for mineral extraction or waste disposal by 
landfill where provision has been made for restoration; land in built-up areas such as private 
residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and previously developed land 
where structural remnants have blended into the landscape over time. 

Permitted Development Rights: The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development ) (England) Order, 2015, sets out classes of development for which a grant of 
planning permission is automatically given, provided that no restrictive condition is attached a 
planning permission for that development removing the permitted development rights. 
Prior Approval: Certain changes of use do not require planning permission providing certain 
specified issues are agreed and a number of limitations and conditions are met, including the 
size of the unit and the commencement date. This is referred to as the Prior Approval process. 

Riparian Environment: Land consisting of a river bank. 

Saved Policies: The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was adopted in 1994. Many of its 
policies were saved by a Direction issued by the Secretary of State in September 2007 and 
therefore continue to be applied. Some of the saved policies were replaced by policies in the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, adopted in 2014. The remaining saved policies will 
continue to form part of the Development Plan until they are either superseded or cancelled 
upon the adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document. No First Review policies will continue to be saved after that 
adoption. 

Page 321



130

Settlement Hierarchy: The categorisation of settlements in accordance with the level of 
services and facilities available to identify which are most sustainable. 

Social Infrastructure: Facilities such as hospitals, health centres, GP surgeries, community 
centres, schools, libraries and places of worship which play a role in providing for the health, 
welfare, educational and spiritual needs of the community. 

Strategic Road Network: Nationally significant roads used for the distribution of goods and 
services, and a network for the travelling public. In legal terms, it can be defined as those 
roads which are the responsibility of the Secretary of State for Transport and managed by the 
Highways Agency. 

Thames Estuary Marine Conservation Area: Marine Conservation Zones are created 
under the Marine and Coastal Access Act, 2009, to conserve marine animals, plants and their 
habitats, together with areas of geological importance. A Thames Estuary Marine Conservation 
Zone has been recommended for designation. 

Thames Estuary Path: One of the aims of the Thames Gateway Delivery Plan, 2007, was 
to develop a continuous estuary path to run along both banks of the Thames and to improve 
waterfront environments. This was carried forward into the Thames Gateway Parklands 
Vision, 2008 and implemented by the Thames Estuary Partnership of local authorities, national 
agencies, industry, voluntary bodies and local communities. Overlain now by proposals, being 
currently developed by Natural England, for this section of the Coastal Path. 

Thames River Basin Management Plan: River Basin Management Plans are a requirement 
of the Water Framework Directive and a means of achieving the protection, improvement 
and sustainable use of the water environment. This includes surface freshwaters (including 
lakes, streams and rivers), groundwater, ecosystems such as some wetlands that depend 
on groundwater, estuaries and coastal waters out to one nautical mile. Plans must include: 
objectives for each water body; reasons for not achieving objectives where relevant; and the 
programme of actions required to meet the objectives. The Environment Agency prepared The 
Thames River Basin District: River Basin Management Plan in 2015. 

3G Pitches: 3G pitches consist of synthetic turf designed for football and rugby at both 
competitive and recreational levels. The pile (artificial grass blades) is supported by a thin base 
layer of sand and by an infill of rubber comb. 

Transport Assessment or Statement: A comprehensive and systematic process that sets 
out transport issues relating to a proposed development. It identifies what measures will be 
required to improve accessibility and safety for all modes of travel, including walking, cycling 
and public transport and what measures will need to be taken to deal with the anticipated 
transport impacts. A transport statement is a simplified version of an assessment where limited 
issues arise from proposed development. 

Transport Hierarchy: The concept of a hierarchy of users has been established by the 
Department for Transport for use in the planning and design processes for new developments 
and proposed traffic management schemes. This places pedestrians at the top, followed by 
cyclists then public transport, with unaccompanied private car-users last. The objective of such 
a hierarchy is to ensure that the needs of the most vulnerable road users are fully considered 
in all highway schemes, but not necessarily to give priority to pedestrians and cyclists in every 
location. Adoption of a hierarchy of users is recommended as one of the elements of good 
practice in Local Transport Plans. 

Vision for Kent: This is Kent’s Sustainable Community Strategy for the period 2012 to 2022, 

Page 322



131

produced by the Kent Forum consisting of the 14 Kentish Local Authorities. It sets out three 
countywide ambitions to grow the economy, tackle disadvantage and put citizens in control. 

Vitality and Viability: Vitality is a measure of how busy a centre is and viability is a measure 
of its capacity to attract ongoing investment for maintenance, importance and adaptation to 
changing needs. 

Water Framework Directive: The purpose of the European Union Water Framework Directive 
is to establish a framework for the protection of inland surface waters, estuaries, coastal 
waters and groundwater. The framework for delivering the Directive is through River Basin 
Management Planning. The UK has been split into several River Basin Districts and each one 
has been characterised into smaller management units known as Water Bodies. The surface 
Water Bodies may be rivers, lakes, estuary or coastal. 

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 07 October 2019

Reporting officer: Planning Manager (Policy) 

Subject: Local Plan - Local Development Scheme

Purpose and summary of report: 
The following report seeks Cabinet approval of the Local Development Scheme, attached at 
Appendix 2.

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a statutory duty on 
the Council to maintain an up-to-date Local Development Scheme. The revised Local 
Development Scheme attached to this report (Appendix 2) would fulfil this requirement.  

Recommendations:
1. Cabinet members are requested to approve the Local Development Scheme 

(Appendix 2) prior to its publication. 

1. Background

1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) places a 
statutory duty on the Council to maintain an up-to-date Local Development 
Scheme. The revised Local Development Scheme attached to this report 
(Appendix 2) would fulfil this requirement. 

1.2 The Borough’s Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted by the Council on 30 
September 2014. Following the adoption of the Core Strategy officers turned their 
attention to identifying whether or not a partial review of the Core Strategy was 
needed, as well as progressing work on the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document. The latter document being the second part of 
the Council’s Local Plan, which would allocate additional sites for development, 
designates sites / land for specific uses and would set out the detailed 
Development Management policies. 

1.3 Delays to the work programme due to a number of factors e.g. delays in evidence 
gathering, insufficient officer resources because of resources being directed to 
other Council priorities e.g. Lower Thames Crossing or leaving, has meant that 
the overall timetable has slipped. A revised programme addressing these delays 

Page 325 Agenda Item 8



2

and taking into account current resources is set out in the revised Local 
Development Scheme.

1.4 The Local Development Scheme is used to monitor the Council’s progress in 
producing planning policy documents as part of the Authority’s Monitoring Report.

2. Local Development Scheme

2.1 All local planning authorities are required to produce a Local Development 
Scheme. The Local Development Scheme outlines a public timetable for the 
preparation and adoption of Local Plan documents the Council intends to prepare. 
This revised Local Development Scheme would supersede the Local 
Development Scheme adopted in July 2017, and covers the period 2018-2021.

2.2 A Local Development Scheme is required to set out:

 The development plan documents that are to be developed

 The subject matter and geographical coverage of the documents being 
developed

 Whether any of the documents being developed are being prepared jointly 
with other local planning authorities

 The timetable for the preparation of the document(s)

2.3 Regulations require that the Council specify a date that the Local Development 
Scheme will come into effect, and it is proposed that the effective date for the new 
Local Development Scheme is 8 October 2019.  

2.4 The Government requires Local Plans to be kept up to date and reviewed on a 5 
yearly basis. During the preparation of the Local Plan Core Strategy, there were a 
number of legislative and policy changes that necessitated changes to the Local 
Plan Core Strategy during its preparation and during examination, such as the 
Localism Act 2011, which introduced Neighbourhood Planning and paved the way 
for the revocation of Regional Spatial Strategies and their replacement with a ‘duty 
to co-operate’ on strategic planning matters. 

2.5 The Government also introduced the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
in 2012 and the associated web based Planning Practice Guidance (NPPGs) in 
2014, numerous updates to these have taken place. For example, the most recent 
update to the NPPGs was 22 July and for the NPPF it was February 2019. Further 
changes to the planning system and the increased importance placed by 
Government on housing delivery means that Policy CS02 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy is in need of a partial review. This was set out in the Regulation 18 Stage 
1 consultation undertaken in 2018.

2.6 The current adopted Local Plan Core Strategy covers the plan period 2011-2028. 
The NPPF requires Local Plans to meet objectively assessed needs with respect 
to housing and economic development. With respect to housing, Local Plans are 
recognised as having to identify sufficient land to meet needs for a 10 year period 
and where possible 15 years. As a result, through the Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review officers are investigating whether the plan period should be 
modified and extended to 2036.

Page 326



3

2.7 While not a formal requirement, the Government encourages that the Local 
Development Scheme should also include information about other planning 
documents, such as the Supplementary Planning Documents the Council intends 
to prepare, the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule, updating 
the Statement of Community Involvement and producing the Authority Monitoring 
Report. These documents contain useful information that should be publicly 
available. 

3. Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 The attached Local Development Scheme (Appendix 2) has been prepared to 
meet the Council’s objectives of having an up-to-date Local Plan in place whilst 
taking into account the resources that are available. It is therefore recommended 
that the Local Development Scheme be approved and published on the Council’s 
website.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 327



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires a local 
authority to prepare, maintain and publish a Local Development Scheme (LDS), 
setting out the development plan documents it will prepare and/or review, together 
with details of those documents and a timetable for their production. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Provision is made annually within the revenue budget for contributions to the 
Planning Policy Reserve, which aims to spread the costs of producing the Local 
Plan and maintaining planning policy over the period to which it relates. 

Risk Assessment If the Council does not prepare a Local Development Scheme, there is a risk that 
the Council will contravene the legal requirement to prepare, maintain and publish a 
Local Development Scheme for the Development Plan Documents it proposes to 
prepare. This would put Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD at risk of being found 
legally non-compliant when submitted Examination in due course. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes
It will by ensure that stakeholders and the public are aware of the key 
consultation stages, where they are able to contribute 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objectives 1,2, 3 and 4

Page 328

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the Council's website will be updated with the revised Local 
Development Scheme 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DRAFT 

Gravesham Local Development Scheme (2019 – 2021)
Published October 2019

Page 331



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

2

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION .........................................................................................................4

2 CHANGES TO THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME...........................................4

3 GRAVESHAM’S CURRENT PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK ............................4

Gravesham Development Plan........................................................................................4

Evidence Base ..................................................................................................................5

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment ................................5

Policies Map......................................................................................................................5

Neighbourhood Plans ......................................................................................................6

Planning Guidance...........................................................................................................6

Procedural Documents ....................................................................................................7

Statement of Community Involvement...........................................................................7

Authority Monitoring Report and Housing Land Supply..............................................7

4. PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENTS ................................................................7

Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review .......................................................................8

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document .........................8

Evidence Base ..................................................................................................................8

Policies Map......................................................................................................................9

5. SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED LOCAL PLAN DOCUMENTS......................................10

6 TIMETABLE ..............................................................................................................14

7 SCHEDULE OF OTHER PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS .................................15

Statement of Community Involvement.........................................................................15

Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule ...................................................15

Supplementary Planning Documents...........................................................................15

Other Documents ...........................................................................................................15

Page 332



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

3

8 RISK ASSESSMENT AND MANAGEMENT.............................................................16

9 MONITORING AND REVIEW....................................................................................20

10. GLOSSARY ...............................................................................................................21

Page 333



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

4

1 Introduction
1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) requires the Council to 

prepare, maintain and publish a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  The first Gravesham 
LDS was published in 2005 and has subsequently been updated a number of times, most 
recently in 2017.  This LDS supersedes the adopted July 2017 LDS and covers a 2 year 
period to December 2021.  

1.2 The LDS sets out the development plan documents the Council is preparing or intends to 
prepare, a programme for their production and an indication of the opportunities the local 
community and stakeholders have to participate in their preparation.  This LDS focusses 
on a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy, the preparation of the Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies Document and an updated Policies Map.  The 
Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document will be the second 
document in the Gravesham Local Plan.  

1.3 This LDS recognises that there are a number of external factors which could influence the 
assumptions underpinning the evidence base for the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document, and consequently the timetable for its preparation.  
These include changes in national planning policy and significant external developments 
such as the London Resort Company Holdings’ resort at Swanscombe Peninsula, 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation and Lower Thames Crossing proposals.  An 
assessment of risks and contingencies is therefore included. 

1.4 Following legislative changes, there is no longer a requirement to specify the timetables 
for producing other planning policy documents such as Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs), the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The Council is aware that this is useful information for the 
public and section 7 includes further information on the other planning policy documents it 
is proposing to prepare/revise.  

2 Changes to the Local Development Scheme.
2.1 The 2017 LDS is being reviewed to take account of a number of factors that have 

impacted on the proposed timetable for producing the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial 
Review and the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document.  

3 Gravesham’s current Planning Policy Framework 
Gravesham Development Plan 
3.1 Following the adoption of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, the Development 

Plan for Gravesham comprises:

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014);

 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016), and

 Saved policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (adopted November 
1994)

 Draft South East Marine Plan (January 2019)

3.2 The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Local Plan First Review saved policies are 
available on the Council’s website via the following links:

Page 334



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

5

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (11 MB)
 Gravesham Local Plan First Review - Saved and Deleted Policies Version 

(September 2014) 

3.3 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2013-2030) is available on Kent County 
Council’s website along with further information about supplementary documents:

 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

3.4 The draft South East Marine Plan (January 2019) is available on the Marine Planning 
section of the Government’s website along with supporting documents:

 Draft South East Marine Plan

Evidence Base 
3.5 The Local Plan Core Strategy was supported by a comprehensive evidence base.  This 

included studies prepared specifically for the Core Strategy, along with more generic 
information, and also responses received during various consultations prior to its 
adoption.  The Local Plan Core Strategy evidence base can be found in the Document 
Library via the following link:

 Document library

3.6 Evidence gathered since the adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy is available on the 
Council’s Local Plan Consultation portal, via the following link:

 Gravesham Local Plan Consultation Portal

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment
3.7 Achieving sustainable development is at the heart of the planning system. In preparing all 

local plan documents, attention will be given to the expected economic, social and 
environmental impacts of proposed policies and plans.  

3.8 All local plan documents are subject to Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which has to meet 
the requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive.  The 
SA/SEA process assesses how policies and proposals within local plan documents 
contribute to sustainable development, based on economic, social and environmental 
objectives.  It is a continuous evaluation process which is used to inform decision making 
and the SA/SEA forms part of the evidence base.  Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) are not subject to SA/SEA as they provide additional information on planning 
policies already contained in a local plan document.

3.9 Where plans may have a significant effect on sites of international importance for wildlife, 
they are also subject to Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  As Gravesham has 
areas that fall within a Ramsar site, a Special Protection Area (SPA) and a Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) within its boundaries, HRA has and continues to form a 
fundamental part of the plan-making process.

Policies Map
3.10 The purpose of the Policies Map is to illustrate geographically the land use designations, 

policies and site allocations contained in the Gravesham Local Plan.  The adopted 

Page 335

http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/planning/Gravesham-Local-Plan-Core-Strategy-September-2014.pdf?_ga=1.105055687.590746805.1448633687
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/LPFR-1994/LPFR-Saved-and-Deleted-Policies-Version-Sept-2014.pdf?_ga=1.70122128.1018169922.1479296437
http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/Environment%20and%20Planning/LPFR-1994/LPFR-Saved-and-Deleted-Policies-Version-Sept-2014.pdf?_ga=1.70122128.1018169922.1479296437
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/south-east-marine-plan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/96321/Updated-List-of-Examination-Documents.pdf
https://localplan.gravesham.gov.uk/consult.ti/system/listConsultations?type=all


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

6

Policies Map (September 2014) updates the Proposals Map that accompanied the 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review following the adoption of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy. It is available on the Council’s website via the following link:

 Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map

3.11 It should be noted that there have been changes to the Policies Map as a result of the 
Kent County Council’s adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan, and Gravesham 
Borough Council’s review of Conservation Area boundaries in the rural area.  Details of 
the amended rural conservation areas can be found at:

 Conservation Area Boundaries

Neighbourhood Plans
3.12 The provisions in the Localism Act for neighbourhood planning came into force in April 

2012. They allow local parish or town councils or, where one does not exist, a community 
group to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan for their area. A Neighbourhood Plan has to be in 
general conformity with national policies and the strategic policies in the Local Plan.  
Timetables for the production of Neighbourhood Plans are produced specifically for each 
individual Neighbourhood Plan, and are determined by the body producing the Plan rather 
than Gravesham Borough Council.  A Neighbourhood Plan is subject to independent 
examination and a referendum.  Once adopted it forms part of the Development Plan and 
its policies are taken into account in development management decisions within the 
relevant area.

3.13 There are currently no adopted Neighbourhood Plans and no Neighbourhood Plans are 
currently under preparation in Gravesham.  

3.14 The Council will work with designated neighbourhood planning groups during the 
production of the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review, the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies Document and any future Local Plan Documents, and 
will take into consideration any relevant evidence and any emerging and adopted 
Neighbourhood Plans.

Planning Guidance 
3.15 The Council has prepared a range of Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / 

Documents (SPD).  While they are not part of the statutory development plan, they are 
considered as material considerations in the determination of planning applications and 
provide additional detail to policies set out in the Local Plan or national policy.

3.16 Additional documents have been prepared by Kent County Council and are adopted by 
the Council as Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents.

3.17 A list of the current SPGs and SPDs is available on the Council’s website via the following 
link:

 Supplementary planning guidance

3.18 Within Gravesham, the eastern part of the Borough from Shorne southwards to Vigo 
village, lies within the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  The 
Kent Downs AONB Partnership, of which Gravesham is a member, has prepared a 
Management Plan for the AONB.  The Council has adopted this document to fulfil its 

Page 336

http://selfservice.gravesham.gov.uk:8081/webdocs/planning/Gravesham-Local-Plan-Core-Strategy-Policies-Map-September-2014.pdf?_ga=1.83358486.1018169922.1479296437
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/heritage-and-conservation/conservation-areas
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/supplementary-planning-guidance/supplementary-planning-guidance


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

7

statutory duty under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act. It is available on the Kent 
Downs AONB Unit’s website via the following link:

 Kent Downs AONB Management Plan

Procedural Documents 
3.19 The preparation and monitoring of local plan documents is supported by a number of 

procedural documents, as follows:

Statement of Community Involvement 
3.20 Public participation is a key element in the preparation of the Local Plan and the Council 

are required to set out its policy for involving the local community and stakeholders in the 
preparation of the Local Plan and in the development management process.  The 
Council’s policy is currently set out in the Gravesham Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI).  This was adopted in March 2007 and can be viewed via the following 
link:

 Statement of Community Involvement

3.21 The Council is currently reviewing the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and a 
new Statement of Community Involvement will be published in late 2019.

Authority Monitoring Report and Housing Land Supply
3.22 The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) is produced annually and published in December. 

It monitors the following:

 Progress on plan preparation, 

 Duty to Co-operate activities in plan preparation 

 The implementation of the Local Plan Core Strategy policies 

 Progress on the delivery of development targets in the Local Plan Core Strategy 

 5 year land supply monitoring report

3.23 It will identify whether any management actions and/or contingency measures are 
required to address any changing circumstances that arise.

3.24 The latest version of the Gravesham Authority Monitoring Report and 5 year land supply 
reports can be viewed via the following link:

 Gravesham Monitoring and Housing Land Supply

4. Proposed Local Plan Documents 
4.1 The Council’s priority is to deliver an up to date Local Plan for the Borough.  The Local 

Plan will comprise of two documents, the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document.  Following the adoption of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy in September 2014, this LDS provides a revised programme 
for undertaking a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy and preparing the Site 

Page 337

http://www.kentdowns.org.uk/guidance-management-and-advice/management-plan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/statement-of-community-involvement
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/monitoring-and-housing-land-supply


Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

8

Allocations and Development Management Policies Document and an updated Policies 
Map.

Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review
4.2 Gravesham Borough Council commissioned a study to identify what the Borough’s 

revised objectively assessed housing need is going forward. This study, the Strategic 
Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (SHENA) identified that the Borough’s 
objectively assessed housing need had increased, since the adoption of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy. The Government’s standard method for calculating housing need, has 
reconfirmed this. Therefore a partial review of the Local Plan Core Strategy is needed to 
identify any consequential amendments to Core Strategy policies, including policy CS02 
(Scale and Distribution of Development).

Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document

4.3 The Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document will contain site 
allocations and detailed policies for guiding and managing development in the Borough.  
The document will be prepared in line with the strategic priorities and policies in the Local 
Plan Core Strategy, the requirements of the NPPF and planning practice guidance.  It will 
also take account of the Planning Inspector’s recommendations in his report on the Local 
Plan Core Strategy and will be informed by the evidence base (see paragraph 4.6 below). 

4.4 Once adopted, the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document 
will supersede the remaining saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review.  
Together with the Local Plan Core Strategy, it will form the new Local Plan for 
Gravesham.  

Evidence Base
4.6 The evidence base is being updated and extended to inform work on the Site Allocations 

and Development Management Policies Local Plan and consequential amendments to 
Core Strategy policies.  The key pieces of technical work will comprise:
 Strategic Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (SHENA).  This consists of:

o Strategic Housing Market Assessment
o Employment Land Needs Assessment
o Retail and Commercial Leisure Assessment
o Integrated Growth Needs Assessment
o Affordable Housing and CIL Viability Testing Report

 Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA)

 Development Capacity Study

 Green Belt 
o Green Belt Assessment
o Green Belt: Broad Locations Assessment
o Green Belt Stage 2 Study

 Landscape Sensitivity and Capacity Study

 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study – this is made up of:

Page 338



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

9

o Indoor Sport Assessment and Strategy
o Playing Pitch Assessment, Strategy and Action Plan
o Open Space Assessment and Standards

 Transport Study

4.7 A Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment will also be produced to 
inform the production of the Local Plan Core Strategy Partial Review and the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Document.

4.8 Based upon the results of the first round of consultation (Regulation 18 Stage 1), 
additional further technical work has been needed to inform the next consultation stage 
(Regulation 18 Stage 2). 

4.9 In parallel with additional technical work being undertaken, the Borough Council has and 
will continue to carry out Duty to Co-operate discussions with Planning Authorities within 
its Housing Market Area on major strategic issues, including housing land supply.  The 
Borough Council will need to demonstrate at Examination that it has fully explored a 
range of options for meeting its housing, retail and employment needs.  Failure to do so is 
likely to make the Plan fail the Duty to Co-operate test and be found unsound.

Policies Map 
4.10 The Policies Map will be updated following the adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy 

Partial Review and the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Document. This will include site allocations and additional policy designations.  If 
amendments to the Green Belt boundary are required, such changes will also be shown.  

4.11 In addition to the Policies Map, the Site Allocations and Development Management 
Policies Document will include individual plans of allocated sites. 

Page 339



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

10

5. Schedule of Proposed Local Plan Documents

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document

Policies Map

Document Details

Role and Content The Local Plan Core Strategy 
sets out the vision, objectives, 
strategy and core policies for the 
spatial planning of the Borough

Sets out the non-strategic land 
allocations and detailed policies 
for the consideration of planning 
applications

Depicts the strategic and 
non-strategic site 
allocations and areas of 
land to which policies apply 

Geographical coverage Borough-wide Borough-wide Borough-wide

Plan period 2011 – 2028 (Subject to review)

Document Details

Chain of Conformity National Planning Policy 
Framework, Planning Practice 
Guidance and Ministerial 
Statements

National Planning Policy 
Framework
Together with the Local Plan Core 
Strategy it will form the 
Gravesham Local Plan, replacing 
the saved policies in the 
Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review

This will be prepared and 
updated to accompany the 
Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies Document. Once 
adopted, it will reflect the 
site allocations, policies and 
land use designations in the 
Core Strategy and the Site 
Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies Document 

P
age 340



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

11

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document

Policies Map

Timetable – Key Stages

Evidence Gathering 
Key technical 
documents 

Completed:

 Strategic Housing and 
Economic Needs 
Assessment (SHENA)

 Affordable Housing and CIL 
Viability Testing Report

 Green Belt Assessment 
and Broad Locations 
Assessment

 Landscape Sensitivity and 
Capacity Study

 Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Study

On-going:

 Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA)

 Green Belt Review Stage 2
 Development Capacity 

Study
 Transport Study
 Sustainability Appraisal/ 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment

 Habitats Regulations 
Assessment

Completed:

 Strategic Housing and 
Economic Needs 
Assessment (SHENA)

 Affordable Housing and CIL 
Viability Testing Report

 Green Belt Assessment and 
Broad Locations Assessment

 Landscape Sensitivity and 
Capacity Study

 Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation Study

On-going:

 Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA)

 Green Belt Review Stage 2
 Development Capacity Study
 Transport Study
 Sustainability Appraisal/ 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment

 Habitats Regulations 
Assessment

P
age 341



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

12

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document

Policies Map

Consultation on draft 
Document (including 
revised policy CS02), 
draft Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment (at stage 
2)
(Regulation 18)*

This is a 2 stage public 
consultation:

Completed: 25 Apr 2018 to 11 
Jul 2018
Stage 1 – Issues and Options
Outputs from the SHENA; 
implications for Core Strategy 
policies including policy CS02, 
broad options for 
accommodating growth 

January 2020
Stage 2 – Preferred Approach
Revised Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policies. 

This is a 2 stage public 
consultation:

Completed: 25 Apr 2018 to 11 
Jul 2018
Stage 1 – Issues and Options
Draft Development Management 
Policies 

January 2020
Stage 2 – Preferred Approach
Draft site allocations based on 
outputs from the SLAA, the Green 
Belt Assessment and results of 
Duty to Co-operate discussions.  
Also any proposed revisions to 
draft Development Management 
policies. 

Timetable – Key Stages

Publication of the Pre-
submission Document, 
final Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment

September 2020 September 2020

P
age 342



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

13

Document Title Local Plan Core Strategy 
Partial Review

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 

Policies Document

Policies Map

(Regulation 19 and 20)* 

Submission of the 
Document and 
Sustainability 
Assessment
(Regulation 22 and 23)*

Feb 2021 Feb 2021

Pre-examination 
meeting

May 2021 May 2021

Hearing Sessions open July 2021 July 2021

Inspector’s Report-Fact 
Check

October 2021 October 2021

Inspector Report-Final 
(Regulation 25)*

November 2021 November 2021

Anticipated Adoption of 
SA and DMP Document
(Regulation 26)*

December 2021 December 2021 December 2021

* Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended

P
age 343



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

14

6 Timetable 

J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D J F MA MJ J A S O N D

Local Plan Core 
Strategy Partial 
Review

C C C E R A

Local Plan: Site 
Allocations and 
Development 
Management Policies 
DPD

C C C E R A

Policies Map A

Key 

Evidence gathering, analysis and plan development
Cabinet for review and decision C
Public Consultation  Stage 1 - Issues and Options (regulation 18)
Public Consultation  Stage 2 - Preferred Option  (regulation 18)
Public Consultation  Regulation 19 (statutory 6 weeks)
Submission  for  independent examination (regulation 22)
Note: Once the Documents have been submitted the examination and reporting timetable is set by the Inspectorate
Examination E
Receipt of Inspector’s Report R
Full Council followed by adoption and publication A

2021Document 2018 2019 2020

P
age 344



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

15

7 Schedule of other Planning Policy Documents 
7.1 More information about the preparation / revision of the planning policy documents 

listed below will published on the relevant pages of the Council’s website as it 
becomes available.

Statement of Community Involvement 
7.2 The current Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was adopted in March 2007.  

Regulations have since changed the scope of SCIs and the processes they go 
through.  A new SCI is currently being prepared; this document will reflect changing 
regulations and circumstances and will be consulted upon in late 2019.

Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule
7.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local authorities to collect financial 

contributions from developers towards infrastructure that is needed as a result of new 
development in the Borough.  CIL is not intended to pay for all infrastructure needs.  
It is intended to fill the funding gap that remains once other sources of funding have 
been explored.  It is not a means of addressing infrastructure deficiencies or a means 
to pay for the specific infrastructure requirements of an individual development.  This 
will be done through Section 106 Agreements.

7.5 The Council remains committed to ensuring that developers contribute as much as 
possible towards the infrastructure that is needed.  The Council is reviewing the 
evidence that has been gathered thus far and changes being made by Government 
to Planning Obligations before determining whether or not to proceed with CIL.

Supplementary Planning Documents 
7.6 The Council refers to the need to produce a number of Supplementary Planning 

Documents (SPDs) in the adopted Local Plan Core Strategy and the draft Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. As the Council’s 
priority is to deliver the Gravesham Local Plan, it is not proposed to progress these at 
the current time.  Any change in this position will be reported through the Authority 
Monitoring Report.

Other Documents
7.7 The Council has also to prepare and manage registers for Self and Custom Build, 

and Brownfield in accordance with appropriate regulations.

Page 345



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

16

8 Risk Assessment and Management
8.1 The process of preparing the documents within the Local Plan involves managing various work streams alongside internal and external 

factors that may provide challenges to the work programme.  It is therefore important to identify these risks that could affect the work 
programme and consider how they may be minimised and mitigated.

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation
National policy 
changes 

High Medium There have been a number of significant changes in the Planning system from the Housing and 
Planning Act (2016), Neighbourhood Planning Act (2017), the publication of the Housing and 
Planning White Paper (February 2017), the National Planning Policy Framework (2018 and 
2019) and these are set to continue.  Consideration will need to be given to the impact of the 
changes that are actually made (as opposed to those consulted upon) when they occur.  This 
comes about through primary legislation as well as new or amended regulations.  Court 
judgements and Planning Inspectors reports can also impact planning via their interpretation of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Development Plan.  

The result of the General Election in June 2017 and the ramifications of the decision to leave 
the European Union could have significant implications for the Planning System in the future.

Emerging legislation/policy will be monitored, and officers will work closely with the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) etc. 
and others as required.  Local Plan documents will be based on the best information available 
at the time of preparation. 

Impact of major 
development 
projects

Medium High Major development projects and their associated transport infrastructure are a major cause of 
the external uncertainty over which the Council will have an input, but little influence on precise 
timetables.  

Depending on decisions made by others there may significant implications for the preparation 
of the Local Plan which will need to be managed as and when circumstances dictate.  Major 
projects include:

P
age 346



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

17

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation

 Lower Thames Crossing 

 London Resort Company Holdings (LRCH) 

 Ebbsfleet Garden City 

Changes in local 
political 
control/leadership 

Medium Medium Ultimately Council policy is set by elected Members. This, quite properly, makes the Local Plan 
programme susceptible to change arising through political intervention.

Officers will work closely with the Leader and Portfolio Holder, and other members through 
existing groups, to understand and manage any policy changes required. 

Staffing and 
resources 

Medium High The programme has been matched to the currently available staff and other resources.

Government spending cuts will continue, placing more pressure on Council resources. The 
Council has robust plans in place to ensure that statutory services are maintained but the need 
to make additional budget savings within the Council are an on-going risk. 

Any significant change due to prolonged absence over and above normal levels arising from 
natural turnover could have an impact on the programme. 

The Council is taking a pragmatic approach to technical work to ensure it is resource efficient 
and effective and sometimes external consultants may be used. As a last resort, document 
preparation timetables may be adjusted. 

Resourcing of 
external agencies 

High Medium Spending cuts may also impact on Government agencies/bodies, including PINS and statutory 
consultees. If these organisations have insufficient resources, delays to document production 
timetables may result. 

Officers will work closely with external agencies to understand possible risks as early as 
possible and maintain positive working relationships. Officers will keep PINS informed about 
any timetable alterations 

P
age 347



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

18

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation

Legal challenge Low High External parties may seek to legally challenge all or part of Local Plan documents. 

Officers will seek to ensure that all local plan documents are legally compliant and sound, and 
will work closely with the Legal section and PINs to ensure that requirements are met.

External legal advice may also be sought.

High levels of 
public interest / 
high volume of 
consultation 
responses 

High Medium These risks place pressures on staff and other resources due to the need to respond to 
enquiries and process and consider representations. 

Officers will work closely with the Council’s Communications Team when issues that are likely 
to generate a high level of interest are consulted upon. 

While an online consultation system is in place, experience has shown to date that the majority 
of local people prefer to respond by email or letter.  Depending on the sensitivity of the issues 
raised through consultations, additional time may need to be programmed in should the number 
of representations received be above expected levels.  This will allow time for representations 
to be fully considered and entered into the consultation system.
 

Evidence base 
becomes dated 

Medium Medium External factors may lead to the Council’s evidence base becoming out of date. 

Additional delays to document preparation timetables as a result of other risk factors may also 
result in evidence documents becoming out of date. 

Officers will monitor changes and prepare or commission updated evidence studies where 
necessary. 

Joint working with 
neighbouring 
authorities 

Medium High Joint working with neighbouring authorities is a statutory requirement of the Localism Act 2011 
(the Duty to Cooperate). This covers preparation of evidence base as well as policy 
considerations and covers topic areas that have wider implications than the Local Planning 
Authority area.  Agreement on strategic matters, such as housing provision, across a number of 
Authorities is being encouraged, as well as consideration of joint Plans where appropriate.  

P
age 348



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

19

Risk Likelihood Impact Possible consequences and mitigation
Memoranda of agreement will be discussed with appropriate partners as to how this will 
operate, including technical evidence and Member involvement.

Different local authorities are at different stages in the plan making process, which means that 
joint working is not always straightforward. 

Officers will continue to work closely with neighbouring authorities and it is intended that the 
relationships between authorities at Member and officer level is formalised by a Memorandum 
of Agreement.

P
age 349



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

20

9 Monitoring and Review
9.1 The Council produces an Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) annually.  Among other 

things, this monitors progress in preparing the Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document against the key milestones set out in the LDS.  The 
AMR will identify whether the milestones have been met.  If they have not been met, 
it will set out the reasons for this and any proposed action as a result of these delays.  
It will also highlight whether there have been any changes in circumstances that may 
warrant amending the LDS.

Page 350



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

21

10. Glossary

Word or Term Explanation
AMR Authority Monitoring Report An annual report that assesses progress of Local Plan 

preparation against the published Local Development 
Scheme (LDS), as well demonstrating that the Duty to 
Co-operate is being met in the preparation of the local 
plan documents and progress on the implementation of 
policies in the Local Plan Core Strategy.  

CIL Community Infrastructure 
Levy

A levy allowing local authorities to raise funds from 
owners or developers of land undertaking new building 
projects in their area.

DCO Development Consent 
Order

Application to Planning Inspectorate, for ultimate 
decision by the Secretary of State, for permission to 
carry out a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project.

EDC Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation

Responsible for development control decisions and 
taking projects forward in the Ebbsfleet and part of 
Northfleet Embankment

GBC Gravesham Borough 
Council

The local planning authority responsible for producing 
Gravesham’s Local Plan

HRA Habitats Regulations 
Assessment 

An assessment of the impacts of policies and proposals 
on sites of international importance for wildlife, i.e. 
Ramsar Sites, Special Protection Areas, Special Areas 
of Conservation.

Local Plan Documents Local Plan Documents are the main elements of the 
Local Plan comprising the Core Strategy, Site Specific 
Development Allocations, and the Policies Map. These 
documents are subject to strict preparation and 
consultation rules, a sustainability appraisal and 
independent examination.

LDD Local Development 
Document

Comprises any document prepared as part of a Local 
Plan.  It includes Development Plan Documents and 
other documents which do not have Development Plan 
status, such as Supplementary Planning Documents, 
the Statement of Community Involvement, and 
Community Infrastructure Levy. 

LDS Local Development 
Scheme

A public statement identifying which local development 
documents will be produced, in what order and when.

NPPF National Planning Policy 
Framework

Government advice on how the Planning System should 
operate

NSIP National Strategic 
Infrastructure Project

Major projects that meet the criteria set out in sections 
15-30 of the 2008 Planning Act (as amended)

Page 351



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

22

Word or Term Explanation
Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004

The legislative basis for the current Development Plan 
system and introduced sustainable development as a 
core objective of the planning system.

PINS Planning Inspector Responsible for conducting the independent 
examinations on Development Plan Documents.  The 
Inspector’s report is binding on local planning 
authorities.  

Ramsar An internationally important wildlife site under the 
“Convention on Wetlands of International Importance 
especially as Waterfowl Habitat”

SA & 
DM

Site Allocations and 
Development Management 
Policies DPD 

This will contain non-strategic site allocations and 
detailed policies for guiding and managing development 
in the Borough.

SAC Special Area of 
Conservation

An internationally important wildlife site. These are 
areas given special protection under the European 
Union’s Habitat Directive, which is transposed into UK 
law by the Habitats and Conservation of Species 
Regulations, 2010

Saved Policies Policies from the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
which are “saved” for the transition period until they are 
replaced by new Local Plan policies.

SPA Special Protection Area An internationally important wildlife site. These are 
areas which have been identified as being of 
international importance for the breeding, feeding, 
wintering or the migration of rare and vulnerable species 
of birds found within the European Union countries. 
They are European designated sites, classified under 
the Birds Directive.

SCI Statement of Community 
Involvement

This sets out how the local planning authority will 
engage with all stakeholders in the preparation and 
production of the Local Plan.

SPD Supplementary Planning 
Documents

Documents which add further detail to the policies of the 
Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues, such as design. They are capable of 
being a material consideration in planning decisions but 
are not part of the development plan

SPG Supplementary Planning 
Guidance

Documents which are similar to SPD’s and were 
prepared under the previous planning system.  They 
elaborate on saved policies in the Local Plan. They 
have been subject to public consultation, and are a 
material consideration in determining planning 
applications. 

Page 352



Gravesham Local Development Scheme 2019-21                             October 2019

23

Word or Term Explanation
SA Sustainability Appraisal Assessment of the Environmental, economic and social 

impact of policies, to ensure that all policies and 
proposals reflect sustainable development principles.

SEA Strategic Environmental 
Assessment

A procedure set out in the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations, 2004, which 
requires the formal environmental assessment of certain 
plans and programmes which are likely to have 
significant effects on the environment

Page 353



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 354



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Wednesday, 11 September 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Colin Caller (Chair)
County Councillor Alan Michael Ridgers (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Peter Scollard
Bob Lane
John Burden
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)
Bryan Sweetland (KCC)

Also in attendance:: Cllrs Nirmal Khabra, Brian Sangha and Steve Thompson.

Kevin Gore District Manager – Gravesham (KCC)
Nick May Parking Services Manager (GBC)
Richard Shelton Project Manager - Major Capital Programme Team (KCC)
Annette Bonner Project Manager - Major Capital Programme Team (KCC)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

116. Chair's Announcement 

The Chair noted that since the elections in May there had been a number of issues that had 
been bought to the attention of the Board. The Chair intended that an email be sent to all 
Members, all County Councillors for Gravesham and Parish Council Chairs reminding them 
that bringing issues to the attention of the Board was a last resort. In the first instance, 
issues should be brought to the attention of the appropriate KCC or GBC officer. The 
proposed email would include the contact details of appropriate officers. If no response or an 
unsatisfactory response was received, then it should be bought to the attention of the ward 
Councillor, or appropriate County Councillor (if this had not already happened), only then 
should it be bought to the attention of the Board. The item “Any Other Business which by 
reason of special circumstances the Chair is of the opinion should be considered as a matter 
of urgency” should only be used for urgent matters for example, the accidents at The Hill, 
Northfleet which had involved a death and injuries to members of the public and had only 
happened just before the last meeting of the Board. The Chair would be strictly applying this 
interpretation at future meetings. The Chair also asked that the Committee Section 
(committee.section@gravesham/.gov.uk) be copied in to any emails to the Chair requesting 
that an item be placed on the agenda.

The Chair had also noted that there was no mechanism with regard to Matters Arising and 
he proposed the addition of an item on the agenda for the report back of items raised at 
previous meetings and this would include bullet points from previous minutes.

Page 355 Agenda Item 9

mailto:committee.section@gravesham/.gov.uk


Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

2

117. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Leslie Hills and Kent County Cllr Diane 
Marsh.

118. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 June 2019 were signed by the Chair.

119. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared a voluntary other interest in that he was a registered Hackney 
Carriage Driver in the Borough of Gravesham.

120. Redroute buses 

In the absence of Mr Jason Mee - Director (Transport Operative) for RedRoute Buses, the 
Chair deferred this item to the next meeting of the Board.

121. Bus Hub, Barrack Row and Garrick Street, Gravesend (For Information) 

Richard Shelton, one of the Project Managers from the Major Capital Programme Team from 
KCC Highways introduced himself as the technical support officer for the Barrack Row and 
Garrick Street Bus Hub in Gravesend. The Board was apprised of the outstanding key areas 
of the project which included the proposed layout. It had originally been proposed that old 
bus shelter and bus stop furniture would be re-used. However, Garrick Street would need a 
Fastrack canopy system as it was the intention to use two Fastrack buses with the Arriva 
services using Barrack Row. The Board was referred to the officer’s report which set out 
details of the project.

The following comments were made in relation to this subject:

 A request was made that taxis be allowed to go through the Bus Hub. It was 
explained that when clients were dropped off at the railway station, drivers had to 
travel round the long way to return to the rank. The same applied when collecting 
passengers at the station as they had to pay more for their taxi service because of 
the road layout. It was confirmed that taxis would not be allowed to use the Bus Hub. 
However, the officer undertook to look into this matter and would report back to the 
Board. However, there had been some concern about the number of taxis this would 
involve and the impact on the Hub,

 It was noted that queueing traffic on Darnley Road caused by abuse of the bus gate 
at the junction with Barrack Row and the layout of the associated roads meant there 
was additional pollution. It was suggested that taxis should be allowed to turn into 
Darnley Road. The Board was advised that Kent County Council was aware that 
there has been regular abuse of the bus gate that was putting additional demand on 

Page 356



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

3

the traffic light systems that were not working efficiently for traffic on the Ring Road. 
Consideration was being given how best to enforce the bus gate to assist with traffic 
flow. The officer advised that a detailed design was being produced and he would 
submit it to a future meeting of the Board. The layout of the Bus Hub had been 
challenging, especially fitting all required bus stops onto the site which had not been 
possible in such a limited area which also had to include adequate waiting areas for 
pedestrians, seating and soft landscaping.

 Enforcement had been mentioned and the issue experienced by car drivers in 
Chelmsford was raised. Enforcement cameras had been installed into a bus lane in 
Chelmsford and approximately 5,000 motorists had been fined in the 25 days after 
installation. This had led to criticism of Essex County Council in relation to 
inadequate signage. Officers were urged to consider signage when installing 
enforcement cameras.

 An issue was raised on how long the beautiful design of the Bus Hub would last if 
such things as the possibility of public toilets on the site was not factored into the 
design. It was noted there was an issue about who would maintain the public toilet if 
one were to be built on the site now or in the future. The Clive Road facility had been 
closed by the Borough Council. Arriva was considering whether this was something 
they could take on board but it was likely to only be toilets and a restroom for Arriva 
staff. It was noted that the Clive Road facility had been closed due to antisocial 
behaviour issues. However, it was a popular location because of the proximity of the 
Railway Station and the Bus Hub. It was suggested that the possibility of a future 
tram system should also be taken into account together with use by the walking 
public. Officers were asked to consider the possible future inclusion of a toilet facility, 
its possible location and who might offer to maintain the facility. 

 The Chair raised the issue with the markings at the end of Clive Road as there was 
nothing to stop motorists doing a U-turn if they did not want to use the Anglesey 
Centre.

Resolved that the report be noted.

122. The Crossing outside the Meopham Academy, Longfield Road, 
Meopham - Requested by Cllr Frank Wardle 

It was noted that Cllr Wardle was not present. It was requested that if a Member requested 
an item be included on the Board’s agenda then that Councillor should ensure they were 
present at the meeting.

County Cllr Sweetland advised that an issue with the location of the crossing outside the 
Meopham Academy had been raised because of the proximity to the corner of Longfield 
Road and Wrotham Road. Some cars were coming around the corner faster than they 
should and were subsequently unable to stop in time before reaching the crossing. 

The Board was advised that cars exiting the A227 travelled quickly. However, the problems 
were mostly experienced at the Academy’s drop off and pick up times. The crossing would 
be difficult to move as another, less risky location was difficult to identify not to mention the 
cost implication. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported he had asked the 
Planning Team to look into this matter. The Chair asked that the District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) report any findings direct to County Cllr Sweetland and Cllr Wardle.

Page 357



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

4

123. Parking Outside Shorne Woods Country Park - Requested by Cllr Bob 
Lane 

Cllr Lane reminded the Board that Park Pale had been built to provide access to an industrial 
site which was currently being used by Harlech Haulage Ltd and the golf club. The road had 
a traffic order in place to prohibit access and there were also parking restrictions on Brewers 
Road.  The users of Shorne Country Park preferred to park on the road rather than use the 
Park carpark where they had to pay parking fees. Car parking on the road caused it to 
become single track which was exacerbated by the size of the Harlech Haulage trucks. 
Parking restrictions were not enforced even though there had been a proposal to extend. It 
was noted that Kent and Gravesham Council officers had attended a meeting held two 
months ago with Harlech Haulage, Shorne Parish Council and Kent Police.

The Parking Services Manager advised that there was a Traffic Regulation Order in place on 
Park Pale in relation to a moving traffic restriction (access only) that was implemented by 
KCC Highways in 1989 and was the enforcement responsibility of the Kent Police who were 
not known for enforcement of access restrictions, as this type of issue was not a high priority 
mainly due to resources. However, the double yellow lines in Park Pale and Brewers Road 
fall within the remit of the Borough Council’s Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) to enforce. 
On receiving an email from Cllr Lane just before the last Board meeting in June, CEOs had 
been sent to check on the area two to three times a week and every Saturday and Sunday 
especially throughout the school summer holiday. It was noted that the double yellow lines 
had become very faint to the point of being invisible. As a result the lines had been repainted 
and since then, cars had not been seen parked on the double yellow lines when the CEOs 
had been in the area patrolling.

Parish Cllr Lindley advised that the principal problem was a safety issue as HGVs were 
using the road at the same time as pedestrians which included children and dogs. Staff at 
Harlech Haulage had expressed concern as they felt they may be held responsible in the 
event of an accident.

Following a question on the possibility of sending statistical information to parish councils on 
the date, time and location of Traffic Enforcement Officer’s visits to individual parishes, the 
Parking Services Manager advised that this information was not recorded unless the officer 
was ticketing a vehicle or was recording a visit to a time limited bay. Detailed recording 
would be very difficult due to the high level of detail needed and would take a high level of 
resources to download and plot GPS data. CEOs attended a daily briefing to plot their routes 
and to take account of any new issues raised. A record could be made of targeted areas but 
not for the wider Gravesham area as there would be too much information to record.

A suggestion was made that Parish Councils could offer to contribute via the Parish Council 
precept, to the funding of the whole of or a percentage of a CEO’s time as this service had a 
finite resource and would already divert resources to reported issues. If the parishes wanted 
more of the CEO’s time, then they would have to pay more. A reply was made that Parish 
Councils would need to know how much of the service they were allocated before a decision 
could be made on how much more of the service was required.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) noted that the issue with installing double yellow 
lines was that sometimes it rendered the road in question a raceway.

The Chair asked the Parking Services Manager to take away the ideas raised for 
consideration.

Page 358



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

5

124. Corner Protection (Yellow Lines) at the junction of Cob Drive and Forge 
Lane - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane 

Cllr Lane recognised that there were always traffic and parking issues outside schools. 
However, these particular issues meant that access on the main road into Shorne village 
was often blocked. Double yellow lines had been proposed in three areas and two had been 
agreed. Cllr Lane asked that the two agreed areas be implemented as nothing more had 
been done and also that the third option be reconsidered.

The Chair reminded Members that this question should have been put to officers before 
being bought to the attention of the Board.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that the issue was being looked into and 
it was intended that residents be consulted as parking in the village was already limited.  
County Cllr Sweetland asked that Kent Highways be consistent as six months ago, KCC had 
issued an edict that no more double yellow lines would be installed on street/road corners. 
The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) responded that a safety perspective would always 
be taken into account. The Highway Code stated that parking within 10 metres of a street 
corner was enforceable by the police although this was not a priority and police had the 
same finite resources being experienced by local government. It was noted that the police 
did not carry Fixed Penalty Notice books in their vehicles.

County Cllr Burden reminded the Board that last year the Government increased funding to 
increase police numbers. In addition, the Borough Council used to have an understanding 
with the Kent Police and other appropriate teams such as Environmental Services to enable 
them to swap out of hours powers. A question was raised as to whether this might still be a 
possibility.

County Cllr Sweetland advised he had a Member Highways Grant and would be happy to 
use this resource to pay for the installation of double yellow lines on the corner at the 
junction of Cob Lane and Forge Lane in Shorne. However, he only made this offer if the 
work could be carried out within a reasonable timescale of 4 months.

125. Regular Parking Enforcement - Requested by Cllr Bob Lane 

Cllr Lane noted that this subject had already been discussed and he would await information 
from the Parking Services Manager in relation to CEO visits to parishes.

126. Parrock Road, Gravesend - Speeding - Requested by Cllrs Marsh and 
Thompson 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported that a request for the installation of lines 
and bollards had been passed to the contractor together with the requirement for increased 
candela and the work should be completed within the next three months.

Cllr Thompson, who referred this issue to the Board, reported that he was very disappointed 
as, at its last meeting, the Board had agreed that the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
would conduct a full review of this stretch of road and bring all the possible solutions/options 
to make the road safer back to this meeting of the Board.

Page 359



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

6

The Chair requested that officers bring a formal report to the next meeting of the Board. The 
District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) agreed to this request and offered to invite the 
appropriate officers from Kent County Council to attend the meeting.

127. The Hill, Northfleet - Speeding issues and Accidents - Requested by Cllr 
Scollard 

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) reported that he had attended a meeting on the 
site with County Cllr Whiting, the Cabinet Member for Planning, Highways, Transport and 
Waste and County Cllr Sullivan. Plans had been put forward which included the increase 
and alteration of lining and refreshing the candela (creating a rumble strip effect). Plans had 
since been sent to the appropriate officer for implementation. This site also fitted the criteria 
for a safety camera which might take up to six months to installed should it be approved.

The Board noted that the decision to install a safety camera on this site would fall within the 
remit of the Kent Community Safety Partnership. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) 
agreed to share the appropriate officer’s contact details with County Cllr Sullivan.

A 20mph speed limit had been discussed at the site meeting but had not been favoured by 
the Cabinet Member. It was noted that Kent Police preferred not to enforce 20mph speed 
limits. However, a 20mph limit during school run times had been discussed. 

128. Highway Works Programme 2019/20 onwards 

The Board was presented with a report that provided an update on identified schemes 
approved for construction in 2019/20.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that:

 the footway improvement scheme at Newmans Road was now complete.

 Following the flagging of replacing flagstone with tarmac in the town centre, the use 
of a new system of concrete slabs printed with a flagstone pattern was to be used 
instead. All utility companies were on board with this suggestions and a report would 
be submitted to the next meeting of the Board on this subject together with samples 
and photos.

With regard to the replacement of flagstones in the town centre, County Cllr Burden 
expressed concern as to what would be used to replace the concrete system when 
they had to be lifted. IT was explained that it was intended to keep a stock of 
replacements so the slabs could be replaced like for like.

Cllr Scollard asked why unbroken flagstones could not be re-used and rebedded. 
Some of the slabs in the town centre had been there for a long time and were part of 
the town’s heritage. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) explained that the old 
slabs often constituted a trip hazard and it was KCC’s policy to replace them. The 
new concrete print system would be trialled outside Tesco’s.

 The street lighting at the Pepper Hill Roundabout had been largely resolved with only 
four lighting columns now not working. 

Page 360



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

7

The Vice-Chair reported that on driving past the roundabout last night, 17 streetlights 
had been out including the signage uplighters on the Pepperhill Roundabout. Some 
of the streetlights on the A2 slip roads were also not working but this was 
acknowledged to be the responsibility of Highways England. The District Manager – 
Gravesham (KCC) undertook to check this issue again.

 KCC and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation were trying to find out who was the 
responsible for the lighting at Church Path, Northfleet as they were not on the KCC 
asset list.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) was advised that this had been 
implemented by former County Cllr Leslie Christie and it remained a KCC footpath 
and he agreed to follow up of this matter.

 The meeting with Cllr Hills had not yet taken place in relation to the Lion roundabout.

 The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) and the Parking Services Manager had 
visited Ebbsfleet United Football Stadium in relation to commuter parking. 

County Cllr Burden reported that a juggernaut and its trailer had been permanently 
parked outside the stadium. The Dutch owners (identified by the name on the truck) 
had been contacted but had denied ownership. KCC and Kent Police refused to take 
any action. The location of the parked truck was causing chaos with vehicles trying to 
access the site. The Parking Services Manager offered to pass the issue onto the 
GBC Waste Management Team. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) noted 
that if informed, Kent Police would track down the owners. 

 The application for a BP Petrol Station at Tollgate had been rejected by the Council 
and would now be considered by a Planning Enquiry.

 KCC would be progressing Wimbourne House.

 The works to make Salisbury Road/Cecil Road/Northcote Road into one-way traffic 
should be complete.

County Cllr Sullivan reported that there had been a week of confusion after 
completion in that the signs had been installed but not lit, a sign was missing from 
Salisbury Road and another was too close to a building to enable good visibility. It 
was suggested that this sign be moved to the other side of the road.

Following a question from the Chair, the District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that 
the rollout of the new centrally controlled LEDs and auto fault reporting system was nearly 
complete and he undertook to get an update for the Chair from the Project Manager Richard 
Emmett.

The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) undertook to provide the Board with a report on 
the progress of smaller works twice a year starting with the next meeting in November 2019.

Page 361



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 11.09.2019

8

129. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

None.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.08 pm

Page 362


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Local Plan - Statement of Community  Involvement
	20191007 Appendix 2 Statement of Community Involvement

	7 Local Plan - Draft Development Management Policies Document
	20191007 Appendix 2 Cabinet - Development Management Policies Document Number of Responses
	20191007 Appendix 3 Cabinet - Draft Development Management Policies Document Consultation Responses
	20191007 Appendix 4 Cabinet - Draft Development Management Policies Document Proposed Modifications

	8 Local Plan - Local Development Scheme
	20191007 Appendix 2 - Local Development Scheme 2019

	9 Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 11 September 2019
	Minutes


